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PICTURE

or

EDINBURGH.

HISTORY.

The origin of Edinburgh, like that of most other
ancient cities, is involved in much obscurity. With=
out adverting to the fabulous accounts given by au-
thors of the derivation of its name, or their conjec~
tures about its first possessors, it may be remarked,
that it is situated in that part of the country which
formed, in the days of Agricola, the Roman province
of Valentia ; though it does not appear that there ex~
isted, at that time, any fort or town on the spot where
Edinburgh now stands. On the departure of the Ro-
mans from Britain, this district fell into the hands of
the Saxon invaders, under their leaders Octa and
Ebusa, in the year 452; and it continued in their
Kgsession till the defeat of Egfrid, king of Northum-

rland, by the Picts in 685. The Saxon kings of
Northumberland reconquered it in the ninth century ;
and it was retained by their successors till about the
year 956, when it was given up to Indulrhus, king of
Scotland ; or, according to Chalmers, till 1020, when
the Lothians were ceded to Malcolm 11 :

The natural situation of Edinburgh, on the ridge
of a steep hill, terminated at one end by an inacces~
sible rock, must early have marked it out as a fit

A



2 HISTORY.

place, either for security or defence, in a barbarous
age. Many of the most ancient forts in Scotland are
in situations such as this; and it is not to be sup-
sed, that a spot so easily rendered impregnable as
the site of Edinburgh castle, would be long unoccu-
pied by a fortress of some Kind or other, in a district
of country exposed to tpredatory incursions. An an-
cient writer (Simeon of Durham) mentions the town
of Edwinesburch as existing in the middle of the eighth
century. Without resorting, therefore, to Celtic deri-
vations, it is probable, that this city may have received
its first foundation and name from the Northumbrian
rince Edwin, during the possession of this part of
gcotland by the Saxon invaders.

B{ what prince Edinburgh was constituted into a
royal burgh is uncertain. It appears, however, to have
early enjoyed that privilege; for David I., in his
charter of foundation of the abbey of Holyrood«
house, in the year 1128, mentions the town by the
title of “ burgo meo de Edwinesburg.” As_this mo-
narch, however, is generally supposed to have been
the first who erected royal burghs im Scotland, it is
more than probable that Edinburgh is to him indebted
for this distinction. By the charter of erection of the
abbey above mentioned, David I. granted to the ca-
nons forty shillings yearly out of the revenues of
the town ; forty-eight shillings more from the same,
in case of the failure of certain duties payable from
the king's revenue ; the church or chapel of its castle;
the tithes of its mills; one half of the tallow, lard,
and hides of the beasts killed in the city ; and a spot
or piece of ground in his town of Edwinesburg.

or a long time after this period, Edinburgh seems
to have been a place of but little note. Situated on the
southern side of the Frith of Forth, and thus exposed,
without much defence, to the inroads of the English,
the inducements to reside in it in those unsettled
times must have been few, and the possession of pro-
perty very insecure. In the reign of Alexander II.,

1



HISTORY. 3

(anno 1215,) a parliament was held in this city for
the first time ; but it was not till after the year 1456,
when parliaments continued to be held in it regu-
larly, that Edinburgh came to be looked upon as the
capital of Scotland.

Owing to the want of written records, little is
known of the history of the city before this period.
The oldest charter in the archives of the town is one
Franted by King Robert I., May 28, 1829, in which
he bestows upon Edinburgh the town of Leith, with
its harbour and mills; and his grandson, John Earl of
Carrick, who-afterwards ascended the throne by the
name of Robert ITI., conferred upon the burgesses
the singular privilege of erecting houses in the Castle,
}lpon the sole condition of their being persons of good
ume.

In the year 1461, a considerable Erivilege was con=-
ferred on” the city by Henry VI of England. That
prince had been expelled his kingdom, and obliged
to take refuge in Scotland. The inhabitants of Edin-
burgh, during his residence in the city, treated him
with a kindness and hospitality which does honour to
the age ; and Henry, grateful for the favours he re-
ceived, granted them liberty, by his letters patent, to
trade to all the English ports, on the same ferms with
his subjects the citizens of London. As, however, this
unfortunate prince was never restored, this mark of
?}S gratitude was not attended with any benefit to the

ity,

The citizens of Edinburgh having distinguished
themselves, in 1482, in behalf of James III., when
that prince was at variance with his nobles, he grant=
ed them two charters, in which, among other privi-
1(‘{:68', the provost was made hereditary high sheriff
within the city, an office which is still enjoyed by the
chief magistrate. The town-couscil were, at the same
time, invested with the power of making laws and
statutes for the government of the city ; and the in~
‘orporated trades, as a mark of the royal gratitude for



4 HISTORY.

their loyalty, were presented with a banner or stand-
ard, with a liberty to display the same in defence of
their own rights, or in those of their king and coun-
try. This standard, which has since been known by
the name of the Blue Blanket, still exists, and is al-
ways placed in the possession of the Convener of the
Trades for the time beinﬁ.l

In the year 1497, sygu':is first made its appearance
in Edinburgh. A considerable degree of alarm was, in
consequence, excited ; it was accounted a species of

lague ; and measures were taken to prevent the spread-

ing of the supposed contagion. The privy council, on
this occasion, sent the magistrates a letter, in which
they ordered, * that all maner of personis, being
within the fredome of this burgh, quhilk are infectit,
or has bene infectit and uncurit of t%is said contagious
plage callit the grandgore, devoyd, red, and pasc
furth of this toun, and compeir upoun the sandis of
Leith, at ten houris before none, and thair sall have
and fynd botis reddie in the havin ordanit to thame
be the officaris of this burgh, reddelie furneist with
victualls, to have them to the Inch, and thair to re-
mane quhill God provyde for thair health.” The let-
ter further ordered, that if any infected persons were
found after this notice who did not comply with the
command contained in it, * thay and ilk ane of thame
" sall be byrnt on the cheike with the marking irne,

that they may be kennit in tyme to cam.” The place
to which the persons affected with this disease were
thus ordered was Inchkeith, a small island in the
middle of the Frith of Forth.

Three years afterwards, the magistrates, in r
to this disease, found it necessary to ordain, “ that all
maner of personis yat has ony guids closit in hous
within this towne, quhilk hes bene infectit or presumit
infect, that yai pas to the Pow burne to-morow, and
clenge yair guids and geir be fyre and wattir at ye
rymmand burne,” with intimation, that, if they failed
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to do s0, the goods supposed to be infected should be
destroyed. :

In the year 1504, the track of ground to the south-
ward of the city, called the Borough Moor or Myre,
seems to have g'een totally covered with wood, though
it now affprds no vestige of its ever having been in
such a state. “The quantity, however, was at that time
€0 great, that the town-council enacted, that whoever
should purchase as much of the wood as was sufficient
to make a new front to their house, might extend it
seven feet farther into the street. The effect of this
act was such, that in a short time Edinburgh was
filled with houses of wood instead of stone ; and the

rincipal street, the beauty of which consisted in the
eight of its buildings andy its spacious width, was re«
duced fourteen feet in breadth.

In the reign of James IV. the citizens of Edin«
burgh distinguished themselves by their loyalty and
heroism. James naturally possessed all that bravery,
and those romantic notions of honour, which are ca{
culated to procure esteem among a martialefeople 2
and perhaps no prince was ever more beloy by his
subjects. In the unfortunate expedition which these
notions inspired, such was the zeal of the people
for the king's glory, that he was followed by as gal
lant an army as ever any of his ancestors had led
upon the territories of England. A considerable
Dumber of the inhabitants of Edinburgh, headed by
the Earl of Angus, their provost, joined the royal
army, and shared in its defeat at the fatal field of
Flowden, in 1518. The news of this disaster soon
reaching the capital, the citizens were thrown into
some degree of consternation ; but, far from giving
Wway to tumult or despair, their spirits rose under the
Impending danger, and their conduct on this occasion
displayed a firmness and energy which has seldom been
exceeded. A proclamation was issued, ordering all
the inhabitants capable of bearing arms immediatel
to appear in their best military accoutrements, and to

AR
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march and join their provost, under the forfeiture of
life and ; that the citizens, at the tolling of the
common bell, should repair to the house of the tem-
porary president, left in charge of the town, in their
military dress, to defend the city against the attempts
of the enemy. All women were discharged from cry-
ing and clamouring in the streets, on pain of banish-
ment ; and it was recommended to them to repair to
the church, and pray for success to the army, and at
other times to mim{ their business at home, and not
incumber the streets with their presence. It was af-
terwards ordered, that every fourth man should ke
watch at night ; and five hundred pounds Seottis
money were raised to purchase artillery, and repair
the fortifications of the cit{.

The alarm occasioned by this defeat having sub-
sided, the inhabitants were relieved from the trouble
of watching at night ; but, to grevent surprise in fu-
ture, a militia was raised for the defence of the city,
long afterwards known under the denomination of the
Town Guard, and which was only finally disbanded
in the year 1817. In the general consternation which
succeeded the defeat at Flowden, the plague raged
with violence in Edinburgh, and carried off great num-
bers ;” which occasioned several acts of council being
issued, ordering various measures for stopping the pro-
gress of the contagion,

During the contest for power in the minority of
James V. the Earl of Arran and Cardinal Beaton, dis-
pleased at the influence gained by the Earl of Angus
from his marriage with the queen dowager, assaulted
him and his friends, who were partly prepared for the
fray, in the streets of Edinburgh, near the Nether-
bowsport. On this occasion, upwards of two hun-
dred and fifty men were slain, among whom were
Sir Patrick Hamilton and the Master of Montgomery ;
the remainder escaped through the North Loch, and
Douglas remained master of the town. This skirmish,
which was long after distinguished by the name of

4
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Clean ithe Causeway, took place in 1515. Bisho

(afterwards Cardina]y) Beaton, who was in arms with
Arran’s party on this occasion, having fled to the Black
Friars’ Church, was taken from behind the altar, where
he had taken shelter, * his rackit riven aff him,” and
would have been put to death by the victorious party,
had it not been for the intercession of the celebrated
Gawin Do , (brother to the Earl of Angus, and
translator :}5 Virgil,) who said it ¢ was shame to put

and on ane consecrat bishop.”

In 1542, Edinburgh was plundered and burnt
by the English forces under the Earl of Hartford.
Henry VIII. of Eungland was ambitious of joining
the Scottish crown to his own by the marriage of the
young Queen of Scots to his only son Edward. The
Earl of Arran, at that time regent, entered into a treaty
with Henry for this p ; but the intrigues of
Cardinal Beaton prevented it from being carried into
execution. The English monarch was too high-~
spirited tamely to bear this indignity ; two hundred
sail of vessels entered the Frith of Forth ; and, having
landed their forces, took and burned Leith and Edin-
burgh, plundered the adjacent country, and retired in
safety to the English borders. These towns, how-
ever, soon recovered from their ruinous state, and
Edinburgh rose more splendid than ever.

A few years after this, Edinburgh again fell into
the hands of the English under the Earl of Hartford,
after the defeat of the Scottish army at Pinkey ; but,
though exposed to pillage, it at this tiwe escaped con-
flagration,

The progress of the reformation of religion, which
had by this time spread over the greater part of Europe,
occasioned several disturbances in Edinburgh. That
brogress had been much facilitated by the regent
Arran, who in his first parliament consented to an act,
by which the laity were permitted to read the Scrip-
turesin their native tongue. Some of the more glaring
of the popish absurdities, which had long imposed or
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the ignorance and credulity of mankind, were thus
easily detected and exposed to publicridicule. Several
of the most powerful of the Scottish barons embraced
the reformed doctrines ; and, urged on by the bold
eloquence of John Knox, who had begun about this
time to ‘harangue publicly against popery, a great
majority of the nation soon declared in favour of the
reformation. For the defence of their new tenets, they
formed themselves into a body, known by the name
of the Congregation; and in spite of the efforts of
Mary of Guise, who 'had succeeded Arran in the re-
gency, they soon made themselves masters of the
principal cities in Scotland. + ‘The congregational army,
wherever it came, kindled or spread ti 1ee§ame of refor-
mation, and unfortunately, in the ardour of their zeal,
the utmost excesses of violence were committed upon
thepopish religiousestablishments. Atasolemn proces-
sion in Edinburgh, (September 1558,) in which the
statue of St-Giles, the tutelar saint of the city, was
carried through the streets in great pomp, the indignant
populace dispersed the priests and monks, and tore the
effigy of the saint in pieces. Then, as Knox expresses
himself, “ Dagon was left without head or hands;
down goes the cross’; off gothe surplices, round caps,
and coronets with the crowns. The grey-friars gaped ;
the bluck-friars blew ; the priests panted and fled ; and
happy was he that got first to the house ; for sucha
sudden fray came never among the generations of Anti-
christ within this realm before.”

The magistrates of Edinburgh, on hearing of the
approach of the army of the Congregation, had very
providently sent commissioners to Linlithgow to in-
treat the leaders of it that they would spare their
churches and religious houses ; the former to be em-
ployed in the Protestant worship, and the latter for
reformed seminaries. In the mean time, they ordered
all the gates to be shut, except those of the Netherbow
and Westport, which were guarded by twelve men
each. A guard of sixty men was likewise ordered for
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the security of St Giles’s church; aud the stalls in
the choir were removed to the tolbooth for their great-
er safety. But the Lords of the Congregtion having
arrived at Edinburgh, in July 1559, the dauntless
Knox was appointed minister of the city. Not satis-
fied that any of the religious houses should remain
entire, he daily harangued against the *‘ monuments
of idolatry” they contained, and easily urged on the
populace to destroy all the statues and ornaments of
the church of St Giles. He even insisted, * that
the true way to banish the rooks was to pull down their
nests.” In consequence of this most satisfactory argu-
ment, an act was passed by the states, for demolish-
in]g all cloisters and abbey churches in the kingdom.*
The reformation continuing to gain ground in Edin-
burgh, a number of the inhabitants of the city now
sent a message to the queen regent, in answer to a gen-
tle remonstranceshe had made, in which they asserted
their resolution of maintaining the doctrines they had

* The following is the copy of an order for the demolition of
the images and other ornaments of the cathedral church of
Dunkeld. s

¢ Traist Friends,
¢ After maist hartly commendation, we pray you faill not
' to pass incontinent to the kyrk of Dunkeld, and tak down the
haill images thereof, and bring forth to the kyrk-yard, and
byrn thaym oppinly ; and sicklyk cast doun the altairs, and
parge the k ﬁ of all kynd of monuments of idolatrye : And
this ye fail{:not to do, as ye will do us singular emplesur ;
and so comittis you to the protection of God.—From Edin-
bourygh the xii. of August 1560. ARGYLE.
(Signed) JAMES STEWART.
RuTHVEN.”
¢ Faill not but ye tak heyd that neyther the dasks, win-
docks, nor durris, be ony ways hurt or broken, eyther glassin
wark or iron wark.” .
This letter is addressed on the back :

‘“ To our Trayst Fryndis, the Lairds of Arntuly and
Kinwayd.”
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0
used, and asserted the ““mess and the papis haill

::E’:;ioun to be without the word of God, altogether

superstitious, damnable idolatrie, and of the devill.”

The queen regent, in the mean time, resided at
Dunbar, and prudently gave way to a torrent which
she was not able to resist. The leaders of the Con-

gation, conceiving the work to be already done, and
ﬁ;zled with the success which had attended their exer-
tions, soon dismissed their followers. Mary, who only
waited for such an opportunity, advanced unexpect-
edly by a sudden march in the night with all her
forces, and, appearing before Edinburgh, filled the
city with the utmost alarm. A considerable number
of troops also arrived to her assistance from France.
These she commanded immediately to fortify Leith ;
and, to bring that town entirely under théir command,
the French turned out a great part of the ancient in-
habitants, and took possession of' their houses. Edin-
burgh was also seized ; and the church of St Giles
being purified from the profine ministrations of the
reformers, by a new and solemn consecration, the rites
of the Romish church were re-established.

This conduct of the queen regent once more roused
the Lords of the Congregation ; they saw their error,
and to repair it had again recourse to arms. It was
but a smail part of the French auxiliaries which had
as yet arrived ; and the fortifications of Leith, though
begun, were far from being complete. Under these
circumstances of disadvantuge, they conceived it possi=
ble to surprise the queen’s party, and by one decisive
blow- to prevent all future bloodshed and contention.
Full of these expectations, they advanced rapidly to-
wards Edinburgh with anumerous army ; but thequeen
retived into Leith, determined to wait patiently the
arrival of new reinforcements. The leaders of the
Conizregation immediately called a convention of the
whole peers, barons, and representatives of burghs
who adhered to their party, in -which it was decided,
that the queen should be deprived of the office of
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regent, which she had exercised, in their opinion, so
much to the detriment of the kingdom..

The leaders of the Congregation soon found, how-
ever, that their zeal had engaged them in an under-
taking beyond their strength. In an attempt to as-
sault Leith, the French troops beat them back, and,
pursuing them to the gates of Edinburgh, were on
the point of entering it along with them. On this
occasion terror and alarm filled the city, and many
of the inhabitants began to consult their safety by
flight. The forces of the Congregation seemed also
dismayed and irresolute, and the queen’s partizans
in the town began openly to insult them. A few of
the nobles at length ventured to face the enemy, who,
after plundering some houses in the suburbs, retired
with their booty, and delivered the city from this dread-
ful alarm. This affair happened in October 1559.

A second skirmish, wﬁich happened a few days
after, was not more fortunate; and, not thinking
themselves secure within the walls of Edinburgh, the
army of the Congregation departed at midnight, and
marched without halting till they arrived at Stirling.
In this situation they resolved to apply for assistance
to England.  Elizabeth had observe({ the growing
power of the French faction with a jealous eye, and she
was not averse to any measures that might tend to
lessen it. A fleet of ships was sent to the assistance
of the Congregation, and an army of six thousand foot
and two thousand horse arrived to co-operate by land.
The French army in Leith was soon forced to capitu-
late, and leave the kingdom, and the Protestant leaders

came possessed of tge whole sovereign authority.

A parliament was soon after held, in which sanction
was given to a Confession of Faith presented to them
by the reformed teachers ; and, to keep pace with the
parliament, the town-council of Edinburgh passed an
act, in which they ordered, that all idolaters, (papists,)
whoremongers, and harlots, should be banished the
city ; the former, after being exposed at the market-



12 HISTORY.

cross for the space of six hours ; and the latter, after
being carried in a cart, as a public sﬂectacle, for the
first offence, should'be burnt on the cheek for the
second, and suffer death for the third. The fortifica-
tions of Leith were at this time demolished, by an
order of the council, to prevent foreign forces from
again occupying them to Sxe prejudice of the liberties
o%nthe kingdom. >

In the month of August 1561, Mary Queen of Scots
arrived at Leith from France, to take possession of
the throne of her fathers, and was received by her
subjects with every demonstration of welcome and re-
gargl. On the first of September she made her public
entry into Edinburgh with great pomp. Nothing was
neglected which could express the duty and affection
of the citizens towards tgeir sovereign. But, amidst
these demonstrations of regard, the genius and senti-
ments of the nation discovered themselves in a circum-
stance, which, though inconsiderable of itself, ought
not to be overlooked. As it was the mode of the
times to exhibit many pageants at every public so-
lemnity, most of these, on this occasion, were contriy-
ed to be representations of the vengeance which the
Almighty, according to the Sacred Writings, inflicts
upon idolaters. Even while they studied to amuse
and to flatter the queen, her subjects could not refrain
from testifying their abhorrence of the religion which
she professed.

On the Sunday after her arrival a crowd of disor-
derly people assembled at the palace, and could hardly
be restrained from interrupting the service, and taking
vengeance on the priest who officiated. And to show
still more clearly the state of public feeling, with re-
gard to the religion of their sovereign, the magistrates
of Edinburgh renewed a former eﬁ?ct, banishing all
“ idolaters and whoremongers” (for so they chose to
class these offences) from the city within forty-eight
hours from the date of the proclamation. Mary, iun ab
the disrespect shown to the religion in which she was
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educated, sent a letter to the town-council, complain-
ing of their conduct ; but this had no other effect with
the zealous citizens than to induce them to repeat their
proclamation, commanding all such persons to depart
from the city within twenty-four hours, on pain of be-
ing “ carted, burnt on the cheek, and banished the city
for ever.” But on the 5th of October, the queen
having sent a letter to the council and community
of the town, vequiring them to elect new office-bear-
ers in place of those who had shown so little regard to
her feelings, the fear of her resentment induced the
{usillzmimous authorities to lower their eonsequence,

y offering to elect as magistrates  whomsoever she
pleased.”

That freedom, in the choice of a form of worship,
however, which they claimed for themselves, the citi-
zens of Edinburgh refused to grant to their queen.
During her absence on a progress into the west, in
1563, mass continuing to be celebrated in the chapel
at Holyroodhouse, the multitude of persons who open-
Iy vesorted thither gave great offence to the inhabit-
ants, who, being free from the restraint which the
royal presence inspired, assembled in a riotous man-
ner, interrupted the service, and filled those pre-
sent with the utmost consternation. Two of the rm§l
caders engaged in this tumult were however seize
and a day appointed for their trial.

John Knox, who esteemed the conduct of these per-
Sons meritorious, considered them as sufferers in a
good cause ; and, in order to screen them from dan-
&er, issued circular letters, ‘requiring all who profess-

the true religion, or were concerned for the preser-
Vvation of it, to assemble at Edinburgh on the day of
trial, and by their presence to comfort and assist tfvwir
distressed brethren. One of these letters fell acci-
dentally into the queen’s hands. To assemble the
subjects without the authority of the sovereign was
construed to be high treason; and a resolution was
t2ken to prosccute Knox for that crime before the

'

>
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priv;;council. Hapxily for him, his judges were zeal-
ous Protestants ; and, after a long hearing, he was un-
animously acquitted. {

The town-council of Edinburgh, about this time,
caused the picture of St Giles to be cut out of the
town’s standard, and the Thistle to be inserted in its
stead ; and ordained, that no person should be cho-
sen into any office in the city but such as were of the
reformed religion. They likewise enacted, that all
g:rsons convicted of the crime of fornication should

ducked in a certain place of the North Loch, where
there was a pillar erected for that p

The feelings of the populace seem to have accorded
with the views of their rulers. One Carvet, a priest,
having been discovered in the Cowgate reading mass,
was arrayed in his sacerdotal vestments, tied to the
market-cross, and severely handled by a riotous mob ;
and the magistrates, so far from checking this disorder-
ly proceeding, next day, on the fact of his so reading
mass contrary to act of Parliament being legally pro-~
ven, sentenced him to a repetition of the punishment.
These proceedings were highly resented by the queen,
who threatened to punish the citizens in an exemp!
manner ; but the magistrates having sent a deputa-
tion to the court at Stirling, the matter terminated
in an admonitory letter, dated 24th April 1565.

The zeal of the magistracy for the reformed doc-
trines was powerfully seconded by the eloquence of
Knox. Soon after queen’s marriage to Darnley,
this nobleman was induced, for the p of allay-
ing the clamour occasioned by his attachment to
pery, to attend divine worship in the church ofp‘S);
Giles, (August 19, 1563.) Upon this occasion, Knox,
who was the preacher, expatiated upon the govern-
ment of wicked princes; and with the most pointed
reference to his royal auditor, said, that < raises
to the throne, for the offences and ingratitude of the
people, boys and women.” For this public attack he
was summoned to appear before the council ;—but
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from Mary’s lenity, or the fear of exasperating a party
to whom lrer religion was so hateful, he was dismis-
- sed ’k'sﬁth only a prohibition from preaching for several
weeks.

The murder of Rizzio, the favourite of Mary,
took place in the palace of Holyroodhouse on the 9th
of March 1566. On the 19th June of the same year
the queen was safely delivered of a son, in whose per-
son the rival erowns of Scotland and England were
united. On the 10th February 1567, Darnley him-
self, having been lodged in a solitary house, in a place
named Kirk of Field, near thesite of the present uni-
versity, was blown up with gunpowder ; and Both-
well, who was not without cause suspected of being
accessory to the murder, having divorced his wife,
was married to the Scottish queen, in the palace of
Holyroodhouse, on the 15th May 1567.

The nobles were roused to resistance by the exal-
tation of 2 man who was believed to be the murderer
of the king ; and a considerable body of the most
yowerful barons, under an apprehension that this
unprincipled nobleman wished to get the person of the
young prince James into his power, entered into
an association for the defence of his person. Mary
published a proclamation on this occasion, requir~
mng her subjeets to take arms, and to join her hus-
band by a day appeinted. The confederate lords,
n the meantime, raised an army, and advanced from
Stirling to Edinburgh, while Bothwell and the queen
Tetired to Dunbar. The Earl of Huntly endeavoured
In vain to animate the inhabitants to defend the city
against the army of the nobles ; they entered without
opposition, and were instantly joined by many of the
citizens, whose zeal became the firmest support of
their cause. « Mary soon after surrendered herself to
the nobles at Pinkey, near Musselburgh, and was con-
ducted to Edinburgh, where the strects were crowded
with multitudes, whom zeal or curiosity had drawn
together to behold such an unusual scenie. The queen,
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worn out with fatigue, covered with dust, and bedew=
ed with tears, was ex d as a spectacle to her own
subjects, and led to the provost’s house. ¢ But the
people beheld the deplorable situation of their sove~
reign with insensibility ; and so strong was their per-
suasion of her guilt, that the sufferings of their queen
did not in any degree mitigate their resentment, or
procure her that sympathy, which is seldom denied
to unfortunate princes.”

Mary was afterwards confined as a prisoner in the
castle of Lochleven, and forced to resign the crown
of Scotland in favour of her infant son.  On this oc-
casion the town-council sent three of their number
to Stirling, to represent the city at the coronation of
James VI.

A considerable riot took place in Edinburgh in
the year 1567, on account of the ,populace being pre-
vented from making a play called Robinhood. The
rioters seized on the city gates, and committed seve-
ral outrages on the principal inhabitants. One of
the ringleaders being committed to custody, was a-
bout to be Eunishcd for the offence; but a crowd
assembling, broke open the prison, released the cri-
minal, and assaulted the magistrates, who were as-
sembled in the Tolbooth, their wsual place of meet-
ing. The magistrates, apprehensive of the danger
to which they were exposed, and deprived of all
means of procuring to themselves relief, were under
the necessity of granting an obligation not to prose=
cute any person on account of this disturbance.

In the following year the plague seems again to have
visited Edinburgh, as appears from several regulations
issued by the council to prevent the progress of the
contagion.

During the commotions which distracted the coun-
try after Mary’s retreat into England, Edinburgh suf-
fered much from the divided interests of the different
factions, being sometimes in the possession of the one,
and at other times under the powcr of the other.® In
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¥he ‘year 1571, during the regency of Lennox, Kirkal-
dy of Grange, a brave officer, having in vain endea-
voured to form a coalition among the contending par-
ties, declared for the captive queen, and held the cas-
tle.of Bdinburgh, of awhich he was governor, in her
name. He then issued a proclamation, declaring Len-
nox’s authority to be unlawful and usurg«i and
commanded all who favoured his cause to leave the
town within six hours; seized the arms belonging
w the citizens ; planted a battery on the steeple of St
Giles ; repaired the walls, and fortified the gates of the
city ; and, though the affections of the citizens leaned
a different way, held out the metropolis against the
regent. Huntly, Home, Herries, and other chiefs of
that faction, repaired to Edinburgh with their follow-
ers; and, having received a small sum of money and
some ammunition from France, formed no contemp-
tible amny within the walls. On the other side, Mor-
ton fortified Leith, and the regent joined him with
a considerable body of men. The queen’s party was
not strong enough to induce them to take the field
against the regent with the prospect of success, nor
wvas his superiority so great as to enable him to under-
take thesiege of tﬁe castle or of the town.

A short time before Edinburgh fell into the hands
of his enemies, jthe regent had summoned a parlia-
ment to aneet inthat place. In order to prevent any
ahjection against the lawfulness of the meeting, the
members obeyed the proclamation as exactly as possi~
ble, and assembled in a house at the head of the Ca-
nongate, which, though without the walls, lies within
the liberties of the city. XKirkaldy exerted himself to
the utmost to interrupt their meeting ; but they were
0 stronﬂy guarded that all his efforts were vain.

The kingdom, in the meantime, was desolated by
all the miseries of civil war. Fellow citizens, friends,
brothers, took different sides, and ranged themselves
under the standards of' the contending factions. King’s-
men and Queen’s-men were names of distinction, which

B2
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the inhabitants of every count{', and of almost every
town and village, adopted. Political hatred dissolved
in a great measure all the ties of nature, and extin-
guished that rccigrocal good-will and confidence, which
are the sweetest bonds of society. Religious zeal, too,
mingled dtself with these political distinctions, and
contributed not a little to heighten and inflame them.*

For nearly two years was this kind of predatory
war carried on, with all the virulence which religi-
ous and political hatred could inspire. Nor wasit in
the field alone, and during the heat of battle, that
this implacable rage appeared; for both parties, at
one time, hanged the prisoners they took, of what-
ever rank or quality, without mercy, and without a
trial! At last a treaty was concluded between the
leaders of the two factions ; but Kirkaldy and seve-
ral others refused to be comprehended in it. Mor-
ton, now regent, therefore solicited the assistance of
the English queen, and Sir William Drury was sent
into Scotland with fifteen hundred foot, and a consi-
derable train of artillery. The castle of Edinburgh
was besieged in form, and, after a desperate resist-
ance, the garrison was forced to capitulate. Kirkal-
dy and his brave associates surrendered to the Eng-
lish commander upon promises of favourable treat-
ment ; but Elizabeth, without regarding the promises
made in her name, gave them up to the regent, by
whom Kirkaldy and his brother were hange«f at the
cross of Edinburgh.

* John Knox, whose exertions in the cause of reformation
were 50 eminently successful, died on the 24th November
1572. His last Public act was the admission of Mr James
Lawson as a minister of Edinburgh, and his own successor,
on the 9th of November. He was buried in the churchyard
of St Giles, now the Parliament Square; and, although more
than two centuries have elapsed, no monument has been
erected in honour of this distinguished benefactor of his coun-
try.
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The death of these men extinguished the remains
of Mary’s party in Scotland. James, a short time
after, having arrived at the years of maturity, assum=
ed the government into his own hands, and, on this
occasion, ordered the town-council of Edinburgh to
send one hundred of their choicest young citizens, to
guard his person during the sitting of the parliament
at Stirling. A parliament was afterwards appointed to
be held at Edinburgh ; and on the 17th of October
1579, James made his public entry into the city with
great pomp. The citizens received him with the loud-
est acclamations of joy, and with many expensive pa~
geants, according to the custom of the times. About
two years after, the Earl of Morton, formerly nt,
and one of the busiest actors in the transactions which
happened during the minority of the king, having fal-
len into disgrace at court, was, by the influence of his
enemies, brought to trial, and condemned for the sup-
posed concern in the murder of Darnley. This ve-
teran statesman suffered death with the intrepidity
which became the name of Douglas. *

The spirit of fanaticism which succeeded the re-
formation not having yet subsided, violent commo-

. * James scems wards to have become sensible of the
njustice done to n, as appears from the following letter
to the magistrates of Edinburgh, requiring them to remove
the head of this nobleman, which, according to the barbarous
custom of the times, had been affixed upon a conspicuous
Place of the old tolbooth.

** Provest and baillies of our burgh of Edinburgh, we greit
zou weill. :

““ It is oure will, and we command zou, that incontinent
after the sicht hereof, ze tak down the heid of James, some-
tyme Earl of Mortoun, of the pairt quhair it now is placit
Uipon the auld tolbooth, swa that the said heid may be bure-
it; for the quhilk purpose this oure lettre sall be to zou
sufficient warrand. S;g:cribit with oure hand at Halyruid-

hous, the 9th day of December, and of oure regne the sextein
zeiry, 1582.”
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tions continued to take place in Edinburgh. These
disturbances chiefly took their rise from the appli-
cation of the maxim, that the church is totally inde-
ndent of the state. This exemption from civil
Jurisdiction was a privilege which the popish ec-
clesiastics, admirable judges of whatever contributed
to increase the lustre or power of their body, had
long stmg§led for, and haso at last obtained, not for
their church only, but for her officers as individuals.
Their reforming brethren, however much they differed
from them in otherpoints, ilearl:ily concurred with them
in this. James, jealous to excess of his prerogative,
was alarmed at the daring encroachments of the cler-
gy; and, to prevent the revival of such a dangerous
crime, resolved to punish Melvil, one of the ministers,
and the head of the party, for some seditious doctrine
he had uttered in a sermon at St Andrews. Melvil,
however, avoided his rage by flying into England ;
and the pulpits resounded with complaints, that the
king had extinguished the light of learning in the king-
dom, and deprived the church of the ablest and most
faithful guardian of its liberties and discipline.

At a parliament held on the 22d of Mn{ 1584, the
king, resolving still more to humble the church, pro-
cured such laws to be passed as tended totally to over-
turn its constitution and discipline. The refusing to
acknowledge the jurisdiction of the privy-council ; the
pretending an exemption from the authority of the ci-
vil courts, were declared to be high treason. The hold-
ing of assemblies, whether civil or ecclesiastical, with-
out the king’s permission- or appointment ; the utter-
ing, either privately or publicly, in sermons or decla-
mations, any false and scandalous reports against the
king, his ancestors or ministers, were pronounced capi=
tal crimes.

When these laws were published at the cross of
Edinburgh, according to the ancient custom, Mr Ro-
bert Pont, minister of St Cuthbert’s, and one of the
lords of session, solemnly protested against them, be-
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cause they had been g:\ssed without the knowledge
or consent of the church., All the ministers of Edin~
burgh forsook their charges, and fled into England ;
and the most eminent clergymen throughout the
kingdom imitated their example. The people be-
- wailed the loss of pastors whom they esteemed ; and,

full of consternation at an event so unexpected, open-
ly expressed their rage against Arran, the king's fa-
vourite, and began to suspect the king himself to be an
cnemy to the reformed religion. But James, disre-
garding these complaints, enjoined all ministers, read-
ers, and professors in the colleges, within forty days
to subscribe a paper, testifying their approbation of
the laws concerning the church enacted in the last par-
liament, Many of these, overawed or corrupted by
the court, yielded obedience to the mandate ; others
fled the kingdom, and the judicatories of the church
were almost entirely suppressed.

James, at the same time that he was thus endea~
vouring to subdue the seditious spirit of the ecclesias-
tics, likewise directed his attention to compose the
personal quarrels and family feuds among the nobles
which had long distracted the country. After many
Preparatory negociations, he invited the contending
barons to a royal entertainment in the palace of Ho-
lyroodhouse, and obtained their promise for ever
10 bury their dissentions in oblivion. From thence
he conducted them in procession through the streets
of Edinburgh, each hand in hand with his new made
friend.* A collation of wines and sweatmeats was pre=
Pared at the public cross, and there they drank to each
other in token of reciprocal forgiveness and future
friendship. The populace, who were present at a
transaction so unusual, conceived the most sanguine

opes of seeing concord and tranquillity established in
every part of the kingdom, and testified their satisfac~
tion by loud and repeated acclamations.

In the year 1588, when the kingdom was alarmed
by the approach of the Spanisk Armada, the peaple
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entered into a bond for the maintenance of true reli-
gion, and the defence of the king’s person. This bond
or religious confederacy, which is known in history by
the name of the Covenant, was renewed at different
times during the reign of James; and the town-
council of Edinburgh, on this occasion, ordered three
hundred men to be raised for the defence of the city.
In December 1591, the citizens of Edinburgh had
the merit of defeating an atte'ms)‘tl of the Earl of Both-
well’s to seize the person of the king. That nobleman
had been admitted under cloud of night into the court
of the palace of Holyroodhouse. He advanced direct-
1y to the royal apartment ; but happily, before he en-
tered, the alarm was taken, and the doors shut.
‘While he attempted to force open some of them, and
to set fire to others, the citizens of Edinburgh had
time to run to their arms, and he escaped with the ut-
most difficulty, owing his safety to the darkness of the
night, and the precipitancy with which he fled.  Both-
well retired to the north; and the king having unad-
visedly given a commission to the Earl of Huntly to
pursue him with fire and sword, he, under colour of
executing that commission, gratified his private re-
venge, by the murder of the Earl of Murray. The as-
sassination of a young nobleman of such promising
virtues, and the Keir of the regent Murray, the dar-
ling of the people, excited universal indignation. The
inhabitants of Edinburgh rose in ¢ tumultuous man-
ner ; and though they were restrained, by the care of
the magistrates, from any act of violence, they threw
aside all respect for the.king and his ministers, and
openly insulted and threatened both. James, upon
this, thought it deent to withdraw from the city,
and fixed ﬁis residence for some time at Glasgow.
Presbyterian church government, for the support of
which, in the subsequent reigns, Scotland suffered so
much, was established by a solemn actof the legislature,
in the year 1592. But though James had been in-
duced to grant this boon to his subjects, mutual dis-
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trust prevailed between him and the clergy, which, in
the sequel, led to consequences nearly fatal to the su-
premacy of the Scottish capital.

In 1594 Bothwell, whose restless spirit did not long
allow him to be at peace, appeared suddenly within a
mile of Edinburgh, at the head of four hundred horse.
James was totally unprovided at this time for his own
defence, being accorpanied only with a few horsemen
of Lord Home’s train. In this extremity he implored the
aid of the citizens of Edinburgh. Animated by their
ministers, they ran cheerfully to arms, and advanced
with the king at their head against Bothwell ; but he,
notwithstanding his success in putting to flight Lord
Home, who hai rashly charged him with a far.inferior
- number of cavalry, retired to Dalkeith, without daring
~ to attack the king, and his followers, discouraged by
 this retreat, soon after abandoned him.

- In 1596, Edinburgh was distracted by a serious
- commotion, occasione§ by the differences between the
clergy and the king. One Black a minister had been
banished for what the court-party considered as sedi-
tious doctrine. The clergy espoused his cause as the
common cause of the order ; and the citizens of Edin-
burgh distinguished themselves in support of their
Ministers. James, ipgorder to put a stop to this insult
on his govemment%ued a proclamation, command-
Ing twenty-four of the principal citizens to leave the
town within six hours. A fictitious letter had been
sent to the ministers, (by some person who wished to
Widen the breach between them and the king,) in-
forming them that one of the popish lords had been
admitted to an interview with tgg ing, and had been
the author of the severe proclamation against the citi-
zens of Edinburgh. The letter came to.their hands,
Just as one of their number was going to mount the
pulpit, They resolved that he 5}0\1(1 acquaint the
People of their danger ; and he accordingly painted it
n all the glowing colours which men naturally em-
Ploy in describing any dreadful and instant calamity.
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When the sermon was over, he desired the nobles and
gentlemen to assemble in the Little Church. The
whole multitude, terrified at what they had heard,
¢rowded thither; they promised and vowed to stand
by the church; and they drew up a petition to the
king, craving the redress of those grievances of which
the clergy complained, and beseeching him to remove
such ofiis counsellors as were known to be enemies of
the Protestant religion. T'wo peers, two gentlemen, two
burgesses, and two ministers, were appointed to present
it. The king happened to be in the great hall of the tol-
booth, where the Court of Session was then sitting. The
manner in which the petition was presented, as well
as its contents, offended him. ¥e gave a haughty re-
ply ; the petitioners insisted with warmth ; and a pro-
miscuous multitude pressing into the room, James re~
tired abruptly into another apartment, and command-~
ed the doors to be shut behind him. The deputies
returned to the multitude, who were still assembled,
and to whom a minister had been reading, in their
absence, the story of Haman. When they reported
that the king had refused to listen to their petition,
the church was filled in a moment with noise, threa~
tenings, excerations, and all the outrage and confu-
sion of a popular tumult. Some called for their
arms ; some to bring out the wicked Haman ; others
cried, “ The sword of the Lord and of Gideon ;” and,
rushing out with the most furious impetuosity, sur-
rounded the tolbooth, threatening the king himself,
and demanding some of his counsellors, whom they
mamed, that they inight tear them in pieces. The
magistrates of the city, partly by authority, partly by
force, endeavoured to quell the alarming tumult ; the
king attempted to sooth the malecontents, by promis-
ing to receive their petition when presented in a regu-
lar manner ; the ministers, sensibﬁ: of their own rash-
ness in kindling such a flame, seconded both; and
the rage of the populace, subsiding as suddenly as it
had arisen, they all dispersed, and the king returned
to the palace.
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As soon as he retired, the leaders of the male-~
contents assembled in order to g]repare their petition
in a regular manner. The punishment of the popish
lords ; the removal of those counsellors who were
-suspected of favouring their persons or opinions; and
the repeal of all the late acts of council, subversive of
the authority of the church, were the chief of their
demands. But the king’s indignation was still so
high, that the deputies chosen for the purpose durst
not venture that night to present their requests. Be-
fore next morning, James, with all his attendants,
withdrew to Linlilﬁlgow; the session and other courts
of justice were required to leave a city, where it was
no longer consistent either with their safety or their
dignity to remain ; and the noblemen and barons were
commanded to return to their own houses, and not to
reassemble without the king’s permission. The vigour
with which the king acted struck a damp upon the
spirits of his adversaries. The citizens, sensible how
much they would suffer by his absence, and the re-
moval of the courts of justice, repented already of
their conduct. The ministers alone resolved to main-
tain the contest ; they endeavoured to prevent the no-
bles from dispersing ; they inflamed the people by vio-
lent invectives st the king ; they laboured to pro-
Cure subscriptions‘to an association for their mutual
defence ; and, conscious what lustre the junction of
some of the greater nobles would add to their cause,
the ministers of Edinburgh wrote to Lord Hamilton to
induce him to become their leader. Lord Hamilton,
mstead of complying with their desire, carried the
letter directly to the ing, whom this new insult irri-
tated to such a degree, that he commanded the ma-
8lstrates of the city instantly to seize their ministers,
4s manifest incendiaries and encouragers of rebellion.
he magistrates, in order to in the king’s favour,
were preg:ning to obey ; and the ministers, who saw
1o other hope of safety, fled towards England.
As the clergy had hitherto derived their chief credit
¢
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and strength from the favour and zeal of the citizens
of Edinburgh, James's first care was to humble them.
Though the maﬁistrntes submitted to him in the most
abject terms ; t ough they vindicated themselves and
their fellow citizens from the most distant intention of
violating the royal person or authority ; neither ac-
knowl ents nor intercessions were of the least
avail. The king continued inexorable, the city was
declared to have forfeited its privileges as a corpora-
tion, and to be liable to all tge penalties of treason.
The capital of the kingdom, deprived of its maii-
strates, deserted by its ministers, abandoned by the
courts of justice, and proscribed by the king, remained
in desolation and despair. The courtiers even threa-
tened to raze the city to the foundation, and to erect
a pillar where it stood, as an eyerlasting monument
of the king’s vengeance, and of the treasons of its in-
habitants. At last, in compliance with the wishes of
Elizabeth, who interposed in their favour, and moved
by the solicitations of his nobles, James absolved the
citizens from the penalties of the law, but at the same
time he stripped &em of their most important privi-
leges ; they were neither allowed to elect their own
magistrates, nor their own ministers ; many new bur-
dens were imposed on them; and a great sum of
money was exacted by way of a peace-offering.

On the Sanday previous to the departure of James
to take ion of the English throne, in 1603, he
repaired to the church of St Giles in Edinburgh to
take a formal leave of his northern subjects. After
the service was over, the king rose up, and, address-
ing himself to the people, made many professions of
unalterable regard towards them ; promised frequent-
1y to visit Scotland ; and assured them, that his Scot-
tish subjects, notwithstanding his necessary absence,
should feel that he was their native prince, no less
than when he resided among them. His words were
often interrupted by the tears of the audience, who,
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though they exulted at the king's prosperity, were
melted into tenderness by these declarations.

In 1609, the differences between the king and the
citizens of Edinburgh seem to have been entirely
buried in oblivion ; as in that year he conferred a
mark of his favour on the town, by allowing the pro-
vost to have a sword of state carried before him, and
the magistrates to wear gowns on public occasions. *
In 1618, James paid his last visit to the city, on which
occasion he was entertained with the greatest pomp
and magnificence.

A perfect harmony seems to have subsisted be-
tween the court an({ the city of Edinburgh in the
beginning of the reign of Charles I.; for in 1627
that prince presented the city with a new sword and
gown, to be worn by the provost at the times ap-
pointed by his father James VI. In the following
year Charles paid a visit to this metropolis, and was
received by the citizens with every demonstration of
loyalty and respect. But this good understanding did
not long continue. The establishment of episcopacy in
Scotland was a favourite object with Charles, in the
{’rosecution of which began those troubles which so
ong desolated the country, and at last ended in the
death of that unfoffunate monarch. Edinburgh was
at this time appointed the episcopal seat of a diocese,
in which the three Lothians and part of Berwick-
shire were included : the church of St Giles in Edin-
bur;.:,h was also appointed the cathedral, and a liturgy
having been prepared, was appointed to be read there
on the 23d of July 1637. On that occasion a consi-
derable tumult happened in- the cathedral ; the offi-

* King James, with that attention to little matters which
formed a striking feature in his character, had the condescen-
sion to send from London patterns of the gowns which he
thus authorized the magistrates to wear ; and if those now
n use be of the same form, he is entitled to much credit for
his taste in civic costume.
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ciating priest was interrupted in the service ; and Dr
Lindsay, bishop of Edinburtsh, was exposed to the ut-
most danger of losing his life.

Presbyterianism was now so deeply rooted in Scot-
land, that all the attempts of its enemies to supplant
it failed of success. The inhabitants of the countrg,
alarmed at these innovations, crowded to Edinburgh,
to concert measures for the common defence of their
rights. The privy-council, in order to stop the pro-
gress of these associations, thought proper to publish
two acts, by one of which the people were command-
ed, under a severe penalty, to leave the town in twen=~
ty-four hours, and by the other the Court of Session
was removed to Linlithgow. This last act so much
enraged the populace, that Lord Traquair and some of
the bishops were assaulted, and narrowly escaped with
their lives.

The combinations among the people were, however,
still carried on; the solemn league and covenant made
in King James’s time against popery was renewed, and
many new articles added ; each of the towns in Scot=
land had a copy ; and that which belonged to Edin-
burgh, the original of which is still preserved in the
archives of the city, is loaded with no fewer than five
thousand subseriptions.

Notwithstanding these differences between the king
and his sabjects on the score of religion, Charles,
when he visited Scotland in 1641, was sumptuously
entertained by the magistrates of the city. This en-
tertainment cost the town the sum of L. 12,000 Scot-
tish money, or about L.942 Sterling.

The transactions in which the city of Edinburgh
was engaged during the remainder of the reign of
Charles I., the Commonwealth, or the reign of CIE:rles
IL, are not such as to merit very particular no-
tice. :

Charles TL on his accession, had assured the pres-
bytery of Edinburgh of his determination to support
the church govermment as by law established, He
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had bound himself by his coronation oath to preserve
it; and yet one of t{e first acts of the parliament,
which metin January 1661, was to rescind thewholeacts
passed since 1633, those in favour of presbytery being
among the number. The attempt to establish episco-
pacy was again made, and attendance on its rites was
enforced by high pecuniary penalties ; the privy-coun-
cil assumed the power of banishing to the West Indies
persons who had rendered themselves obnoxious ; half
the clergy of Scotland were deposed for not conform-
ing to rites which their conscience disapproved of';
and enormous fines were imposed on those who were
accused of non-attendance on the established worship.
Irritated by those manifold oppressions, the western
counties rose in arms, and com%inations were formed
over all the country to resist the measures of the
court ; and though the nobility and parliament, with
the exception of the Earl of Arg&ll, bowed their heads
submissively to the yoke, yet the great mass of the
people showed the firmest determination to support
their civil and religious liberties. A ruinous civil war
was the consequence ; and proscription, imprisonment,
and all the evils attendant on intestine commotion,
disgraced the finals of Charles’s reign.

In 1680, the Duke of York, with his duchess, the
princess Anne, and the whole court of Scotland, were
entertained in the parliament house by the magistrates,
at the expence of nearly L.15,000 Scots. At this
time, it is said, the plan for building a bridge across
;be kNorth Loch was first projected by the Duke of

ork.

During the time of the civil war in 1645, the city
Was again desolated by the plague, which is the last
time, fortunately, that this dreadful distemper has
made its appearance in this country. The mortality
at this time was such, that the city was almost depo=

~bulated ; the alarm was so great, that the prisoners

confined for debt were discharged ; and Dr John Po-
ltius, a foreign empiric, received a salary of L. 80
c2
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Seots per month, for visiting those who were infected
with the disease.

The barbarous and unfeeling treatment which thegal-
Jant Marquis of Montrose met with after he was taken

risoner, in 1650, fixes an indelible stain on the civil au-
thoritics of Edinburgh at that time. He was met with-
out the city by the magistrates and town-guard, and
by them conducted in a kind of gloomy procession
through the streets, bare-headed, in an elevated cart
made for the purpose ; and other prisoners walking
two and two before him. At the pﬁtce of his execu-
tion he was attended by one of the city ministers,
who, according to his own account, did not choose to
return “ till he had seen him casten over the ladder.”

. In the year 1686, a disturbance happened on ac-
count of the public attendance upon mass of the
chief officers of state. The populace insulted the
chancellor’s lady and other ns of distinction
when returning from their chapel. A journeyman
baker being ordered by the privy-council to be whi
ped through the Canongate for being concerned in the
riot, the mob rescued him from the punishment, and
beat the executioner. The king’s foot guards and the
military in the castle were brought to assist the comi-
mon guard in the town in quelling this disturbance.
They fired among the rioters, and two men and a wo-
man were killed. Several others were seized, and next
day whipped for the offence.

Upon the accession of William, a serious commo-
tion was excited in Edinburgh. No sooner was 1t
known that he was landed in England, than the Pres-
byterians and other friends to the revolution crowded
to the capital from all quarters; and the adherents of
James having retired from the city, the government
fell entirely into the hands of the popular party.
tumult took place on this occasion ; the drums beat
to arms ; and the rioters proceeded to demolish the
chapel-royal of Holyroodhouse. They were opposed
by a party of about one hundred men, who were
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stationed in the abbey, and who adhered to the in«
terests of James. The mob pressing forward, were
fired upon by this party. About twelve were killed,
and a considerable number wounded. This warm
and unexpected reception made them instantly re=
treat ; but they soon returned with a warrant from
some of the lords of the privy-council. They were
now hegded by the magistrates, town-guard, trained
bands, and heralds at arms. Wallace, the captain of
the party, was required to surrender ; and, upon his
refusal, another skirmish ensued, in which James’s
party were defeated, some were killed, and the rest
were made prisoners. The populace then proceeded
to demolish the royal chapel, wﬁicb they despoiled of
its ornaments, and many of the houses of the Roman
Catholics were plundered. The Earl of Perth’s cellars
did not escape their fury ; and the wine they found there
served the more to inflame their zeal against popery.

The magistrates of the city, accommodating them-
selves to the times, hastened to pay their respects to the
Prince of Orange ; and those men who had so lately
declared to James ¢ that the,y would stand by his sa-
cred person on & occasions,” and who “ prayed the
continnance of his princely goodness and care,” were
now the first in offerin tﬁeir services to William,
“ complaining of the hellish attempts of Romish in-
cendiaries, and of the just grievances to all men, re=
lating to conscience, liberty, and proper:fvl.” 3

A company for trading to Africa and the Indies was
established in Scotland, and favoured with an act of
parliament, in 1695. The company be;:g thus form-
ed, I..400,000 Sterling were subscribed by gentle-
nen, natives of Scotland. Six ships of considerable
size and force, laden with various commodities, sailed
from the Frith of Forth in 1696. News of their ar-
fival and settlement on the isthmus of Darien were
received at Edinburgh on the 25th of March 1699,
and this event was celebrated by the most extraya=
Zant rejoicing. But the English were jealous that this
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company would rival their trade, and Kin, William
used all his influence to crush it both at home and
abroad. In consequence of this, the Dutch and Spa-
niards, under the patronage of the English themselves,
soon suppressed the Scottish colony. Many families
were ruined by this event, and the nation in general
were excited to a ferment, which had nearly termi-
nated in ver{edangerous consequences. Soon after
this, a ship belonging to the Scottish African Com-
pany was seized in the Thames. Solicitations to the
English for restitution were disregarded ; but the
Scottish government allowed the company to seize, by
way of reprisal, a vessel belonging to the East India
company, which had put into the Frith of Forth. Ac-
cidental circumstances led to the discovery of a piracy
and murder committed by this vessel on the master
and crew of a Scottish vessel in the East Indies. Se-
veral persons were tried and condemned for the crime
on the 16th of March 1705. But the evidence being
by many thought inconclusive, intercessions for roya
clemency were made in their behalf. The populace,
however, on the day appointed for their execution, to
Erevent the suspension of what they conceived to be
ut retributive justice, assembled round the prison,
and in the Parliament Square, where the magistrates
and the Scottish privy-council sat deliberating whe-
ther or not the sentence should be executed. The
magistrates, on being informed of this, assuted them,
that three of the criminals were ordered for instant exe-
cution. The Lord Chancellor, passing from the privy-
council in his coach, some one called out, * that the
magistrates had cheated them, and reprieved the crimi-
nals.” The fury of the crowd assembled was roused by
this assertion ;" the Chancellor’s coach was stopped at
the Tron Church, and himself dragged out of it ; but
he was rescued from this perilous situation by some
friends. The criminals were therefore immediately
execated to appease the enraged multitude.
T'he union of the two kingdoms in 1707, which has
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been attended with so many benefits to Scotland, oc~
casioned several disturbances in Edinburgh. During
the time the act was passing in the Scottish parlia-
ment, it was found necessary, so unpopular was the
measure at the time, that, besides the regular guards,
four regiments of foot should be introduced, to pre«
serve the peace of the city. On this occasion, the dis«
turbances were not a little heightened by the di

ment of the two members of parliament for the city ;
and, notwithstanding the victory gained at that time
by the court-party, Sir Patrick Johnston the provost,
who voted for the union, was afterwards obliged to
leave the country.

_ During the rz{)ellion in the year 1715, the city of
Edinburgh remained faithful to the cause of the house
of Hanover, and proper measures were taken by the
nagistrates for its defence. A committee of safety was
appointed, the city-guard increased, and four hundred
nen were raised at the expence of the town. The
fortifications were repaired, trenches were dug, and
the sluice of the North Loch was shut to raise the
water. Provisions were also laid in, and the trained-
bands were called outy,one hundred of whom mounted
guard on the walls,ggvery night. These precautions
revented the rebels from attempting the city. They,

owever, under Brigadier Mackintosh, made them-
selves masters of Leith ; but, fearing an attack from
the Duke of Argyll, who was on his march from Stirling
to meet them, they retreated during the night. Their
dttempt upon the castle of Edinburgh likewise failed.
The rebels had induced a serjeant of the garrison to
Place their scaling ladders, and some of them had even
20t up to the top of the walls before any alarm was
given ; but the plot being discovered by the serjeant’s
wife, her husband was hanged over the place where
he had attempted to introduce the enemy. The ex-
pbence of the preparations to defend the capital at this
time amounted to about L. 1700, which was repaid by
government in the year 1721.
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The loyalty of Edinburgh was still farther distin-
guished in the year 1725. At this period, when dis-
turbances were excited in almost every part of the
kingdom, particularly in the city of Glasgow, concern-
ing the excise-bill, all remained quiet in Edinburgh ;
and so remarkable was the tranquillity in the metro-
polis, that the magistrates afterwards received the
thanks of the government for their behaviour on this
occasion.

In the genr 1736, an occurrence happened in Edin-
burgh, which, perhaps, can scarcely gnd a parallel in
the history of any other city. This was the execution
by the populace of one Porteous, a captain of the city-
guard. This singular transaction had its origin in
the following circumstances :—1'wo smugglers of the
names of Wilson and Robertson had been convieted of
robbing the collector of excise at Pittenweem, and,
although the money was recovered to a trifle, they
were both condemned to suffer death. The crime was
Tocked upon as trivial, and a general murmur prevail-
ed among the people, which was much heightened by
an accident which happened. It had been customary,
at that time, for persons condemned to die to be car-
ried each Sunday to the church, called from that cir-
cumstance the Ta/booth Church. The two prisoners
Just mentioned were conducted in the usual way,
guarded by four soldiers, to prevent them from mak-
ing their escape ; but having once got thither a little
before the congregation met, Wilson seized one of the

ards in each hand, and the other in his teeth, cal-

ing out to his companion to run for his life, whic

he did, and effected his escape. The person who had
thus saved the life of his companion without regard to
his own, becaine an object of general commiseration ;
and in the morning of the execution, the magistrates,
apprehending, from the state of public feeling, that
an attempt might be made to rescue the prisoner, fur-
nished the city-guard, under the command of Captain
Porteous, with ball-cartridges. A detachment of' the
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king's troops, then quartered in the Canongate, were
also posted in the Lawnmarket, in case of the ordinary
city-guard being deforced. The convict was accordingly
hanged at the usual place of executiorrin the Grass-
market ; but the crowd, at the close of it, having ex-
pressed their feelings by pelting the executioner and
guard with stones, ﬁ; w{ich some of them were slight-
ly wounded, Captain Porteous unwarrantably gave or-
ders to his men to fire, and urged their compliance by his
own example. About twenty were killed and wounded.

For this fatal stretch of power, which seemed un-
called for in the circumstances of the case, Porteous
was put on his trial, was unanimously brought in
guilty of murder by a respectable jury of his coun-
trymen, and was sentenced to be executed on the
Sth of September 1736. At that time the king
Was absent at Hanover, having left the regency in the
hands of the queen. The case of the unfortunate
Porteous having been represented to her majesty, she
Was pleased to grant him a respite for six weeks; but
such was the inveteracy of the people against him,
that they determined not to allow him to profit by the
Yoyal clemengy. ~About nine o’clock of the night pre-
Vious to the day which had been appointed for his exe-
cution, therefore, a number of people quietly assem-

ed, shut the gates of the city, seized and disarmed
the city-guard, and proceeded to burst open the door
of the prison. This accomplished, the unfortunate
Porteous was dragged down stairs from the apart~
Ment where he was confined, and hurried along the
Streets to the common place of execution ; for, with
4 kind of retributive Jjustice, it was conceived ;l)roper
;0 execute him on the same spot where the people had
¢en killed by the fire of the soldiers under his com-
and. The magistrates, upon learning what was go-
g forward, attempted to reach the prison, but found
l}e Street so well guarded, and were met by such a
Shower of stones, that they judged it prudent to retire,
Withoug any further effort for the prisoner’s safety.
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‘When he arrived at the place where the gibbet was
usually placed, one of the spectators interceded with
the mob to give him time to pray ; but was answered
by them, that he did not give them he had killed time
to m, and he was hung up on a dyer’s sign-post with
sev circumstances of cruelty. ~As they had not
brought a rope along with them, they broke open a
shop where they knew they were to be had ; and, hav-
ing taken what they wanted, left the money for it on
the table. The persons concerned then retired, with-
out committing any other disorder, about twelve o’-
clock, after nailing the rope by which he was suspend-
ed to the post. And so paralysed were the proper au-
thorities on this occasion, that his body was allowed
to hang till seven o’clock next morning, without any
attempt to discover 'the perpetrators, or to rescue the
unfortunate individnal.

Such an atrocious insult on government could
not fail to be highly resented. A royal proclamation
was accordingly issued, offering a pardon to any ac-
comflice, and a reward of L.200 to any person who
would discover one of those concerned in the riot. The
proclamation was likewise ordered to be read from
every pulpit in Scotland, the first Sunday of every
month for one year ; but so divided were the people
in their opinions about this affair, that many of the
clergy hesitated exceedingly about complying with the
royal mandate. Those who refused to do so were in
danger of being turned out of their livings; while
those who complied became so unpopular, that their
situation was rendered still worse than the others.

All the efforts of government, however, were insuf-
ficient to produce any detection of the authors of this
outrage ; -and no discovery was ever made. It had
been concerted with a secrecy, and carried on with 2
prudence, not common in popular commotions. Dis-
appointed in their endeavours to discover the perpe-
trators, the court determined to punish the ma%i-
strates, and the city at large.  Alexander Wilson, wh
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was provost at the time, was committed to prison,
and confined three weeks before he was admitted to
bail ; after which, he and the four bailies, with the
lords of justiciary, were ordered to attend the House
of Peers at London. On their arrival there, a debate
ensued, whether the lords should attend in their robes
or not P—but at last it was agreed that they should
attend in their robes at the bar. This, however, was
refused by their lordships, who insisted that they
should be examined within the bar ; upon which the
affair of their examination was dropped altogether. *
A bill at last both Houses, by which it was
enacted, that the city of Edinburgh should be fined

- in the sum of L. 2000 for the benefit of Porteous’s wi-

dow, (though she was prevailed upon to t of

- L. 1500 for the whole ;) and the provost was declared

incapable of ever serving government in any capacity
whatever, T'o prevent such catastrophes in future,
the towu-counm}; also enacted, that, on the first a
pearance of an insurrection, the chief officers in the
different societies and incorporations should repair to
the council, to receive the orders of the magistrates
for the quq)'ﬁng of the tumult, under the penalty of
L. 100 Scots for each omission.

In the year 1745, upon the landing of the Pretend-

er’s eldest son in the north-west parts of Scotland, the

city of Edinburgh was much alarmed. On this occa~
sion, the town-council, sincerely attached to the go-
vernment, used all their efforts to put the capital in
the best possible state of defence. The city walls were
repaired, a trench dug from the northern side of the
castle to the North Loch, the town’s company of
guards augmented, and arms given out to the inhabit-

. The circumstances which took place at Porteous’s execu.
tion have furnished the author of Waverley and Guy Manner.
ng with the chief facts in the tale entitled ¢¢ The Heart of
Mid«Lothian,”

»
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ants of Leith. For the better defence of the city, a

iment was also raised of one thousand men ; and
;:%lscriptions were opened for volunteers, in the lists of
which many of the chief citizens enrolled themselves.
These were supplied with arms from the castle of
Edinburgh.

On the 13th of September, news were received that
the Pretender’s army had crossed the Forth above
Stirling, and was advancing into the southern parts
of the ingidom. The trained bands of the city were
immediately called out, and ordered to mount guard
in the Parliament House ; the volunteers, consistin
of six companies, in the Exchequer Chambers ; an
the Edinburgh regiment in the Justiciary Hall. Be-
sides these, there were three volunteer companies gf
dissenters from the established church, the town's
company of fuzileers, consisting of about one hundred
and twenty men, and about two hundred men from
the country parts, who volunteered in defence of the
capital. The money in the public banks was now
removed to the castle for the greater security, toge-
ther with the most valuable effects of the private ci-
tizens.

On the 15th, advices were received that the van of
the rebel army was advanced to Linlithgow, and de-
tachments of it within a few miles of Edinburgh.
Upon this, all the forces which were not on necessary
duty in the town, together with a regiment of dra-
goons from Leith, marched out to reinforce Colonel
Gardiner’s regiment at Corstorphine, a place about
three miles to the westward of the city. When, how-
ever, the advanced guard of the enemy came within
sight, the two regiments of dragoons marched off W_it_h
the greatest precipitation. This retreat of the wili-
tary threw the citizens into the greatest consternation-
A mecting of the principal-inhabitants was imme-
diately called, to deliberate on the measures 10
taken in this critical state of affairs, at which it w3
resolved, that, as it was impossible to defend the ¢itY,
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commissioners should be appointed to treat with the
Pretender, and to obtain the best terms they could.
In the midst of their deliberations, a letter was pro-
duced in council, addressed to the lord provost and
magistrates, which being ordered to be read, it began
as follows: ¢ Whereas we are now to enter the
loved metropolis of our ancient kingdom of Scot-
land.”—~Here the reader was stopped, and asked by
whom the letter was signed. Having told that it was
superscribed Charles, Prince of Wales, &c. it was im=
mediately refused to be heard.

All thoughts of defending the town being now laid
aside, the volunteers and city regiment returned their
armns to the castle ; but the trained-bands and the com-
pany of fuzileers mounted guard the following night.

The commissioners appointed to treat for the ci:ﬁ

met with some of the Highland chiefs at Gray’s Mi
for this purpose ; but what was concluded at this meet=
Ing was never known. However, the next morning,
about four o’clock, a party of the rebels had got before
the eastern gate of the city, called the Netherbow ;
and this gate being opened, at this time of danger, to
et out a coach, the Highlanders entered, secured the
gates, possessed themselves of the guard-house, dis-
armed the guard, and seized the artillery, arms, and
ammunition belonging to the city.

General Guest, governor of the castle, was no sooner
°Fl’l’lsed of the rebels having possessed themselves of
the city than he displayed the flag, and fired several
cannon, as a warning for the inhabitants not to ap«
Proach the Castle Hill.

The party of the Highlanders which had entered
the city in the morning, having secured the heralds,
E“f_sﬂlvants, &c. repaired about noon to the Cross of

dlnburgh, and, by sound of trumpet, read the Pre«
tender’s declaration’and commission of regency given
to his son ; and a manifesto was published, containing
& general pardon for all treasons committed before its
Publication, and ample promises to secure the people
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in the exercise of their religion, and in the full en-
Jjoyment of all their rights and privileges.

On the 17th of September, the main body of the
Highland army arrived in the King’s Park at Edin-
burgh, led by the young Pretender in a Jiighland
dress. He immediately took up his lodgings in the
apartments of Holyroodhouse ; and, on the 18th, pub-
lished a proclamation, requiring all the inhabitants of
the city, and neighbouring districts, immediately to
give up all the arms and ammunition in their posses-
sion, at the palace of Holyroodhouse, and declaring
such as should not comply with this order rebels to the

vernment.

On the 19th of September, an order was sent to
Edinburgh, demanding, on pain of military execution,
one thousand tents, two thousand ets, six thou-
sand pairs of shoes, and a proportionable number of
water-cantines, to be furnished for the use of the army
before the 23d of the same month, and promising to
pay for the same as soon as the present troubles were
over. There being no room for hesitation or delay,
the inhabitants ordered these articles to be instantly
provided ; and, to defray the expence, laid on a tax of
two shillings and sixpence Sterling in the pound, on
all lands and tenements within the liberties of the
city. A proclamation was also published soon after
by the Pretender, prohibiting the soldiers of the army
from pillaging or disturbing any of the houses of the
citizens, under the tPain of being tried by a court-mar-
tial, and punished for the offence.

Qn the 20th of the same month, the Highlanders
marched from their camp at Duddingstone to meet
General Cope, who was advancing with his army for
the relief of Edinburgh. General Cope’s army con-
sisted of about three thousand infantry and dragoons,
well su;}ported by artillery. 'The rebel forees were
nearly of the same number ; but consisted of undisci-
plined, half-armed Highlanders, without cavalry or
artillery. Both armies lay on their arms all night ;
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and, early next morning, the rebels attacked General
Cope near Prestonpans, a village about nine miles
from the metropolis, and, after a short engagement,
entirely defeated the king’s army, and got possession
of all their artillery and e. Next day the Pre~
tender, with his army, returned to their camp at Dnd=
dingstone ; and a messﬁe was immediately sent to the
ministers of Edinburgh, desiring them to continue
public worship as usual, but without mentioning
names when they prayed for the king or royal family.
But the pastors of the city had deserted their churches,
in order to provide for their personal safety. Only the
two ministers of St Cuthbert’s Church remained ; and
they, notwithstanding of the enemy’s presence, conti«
nued to pray for the king by name, and exhorted their
people, b chir instructions and example, to stem the
torrent of popery and of arbitrary power.

From the time of the Highlanders taking possession
of Edinburgh, they had as yet received no disturbance
from the troops garrisoned in the castle. But on the
2th of September, the garrison being alarmed from
some unknown cause, a number of cannon were dis«
charged at the guard which the rebels had placed at
the West-port, or gate of the town. This act of hos=
tility occasioned the Pretender to order a guard to be
Placed at the Weigh-house, (an old buildin& near the
termination of the street which leads to the castle,)
to prevent all intercourse between the city and garri=
son. The soldiers posted there being by this means
Prevented from getting a supply of provisions, Gene=
ral Guest, the governor, acquainted the lord provost

¥ letter, that, it the communication were not quickly
opened, he would, by his artillery, be obliged to dis-
lodge the rebels from their posts on the Castle Hill.
The citizens, to prevent the destruction that would
fal the city by this measure, sent a deputation to the
young Pretender, to lay before him the general’s let«
ter, but received no satisfactory answer. In this emer-
gency they applied to General Guest to grant them &
»e
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respite from hostilities, till they should endeavour
by some means to renew their intercourse with the
castle.

The communication with the garrison seems to
have been opened soon after, as several persons who
were carrying in provisions were, on the Ist of Octo-
ber, fired at by the Highland guard. This so en-
raged the military in the fort, that they fired upon the
guard, and several houses in th:jity were much da-
maged, and some people wound; The young Pre-
tender now determined to cut off' all communication
between the castle and the city ; and for this pu
guards were placed in the church of St Cuthbert’s
and in Livingstone’s Yards. A sally from the castle
being made, one of the guard-houses was set on fire,
a few of the rebels were killed, and some taken pri-
soners. \

These unimportant skirmishes, however, had not the
effect of raising the blockade. The governor, there-
fore, determined to proceed to ﬁmﬁzr extremities ;
and, on the 4th of October, gave warning to the inha~
bitants to remove from the northern side of James’s
Court, as some of the shot might happen to fall in that

uarter. A canuonading was then commenced against
&e rebel posts ; and in the following night a party
from the castle burnt some houses on the eastern side
of the Castle Hill, where the rebels used to shelter
themselves. This scene of destruction threw the citi=
zens into the greatest alarm ; those most exposed to
the fire of the castle left their houses, and many of
the people began to retire from the city. The Pretend-
er raised the blockade of the castle on the 5th of Oc-
tober ; and on the 31st of the same month left Edin~
burgh on his march to England. On the day follow-
ing he was followed by the last division of his little
army, now amounting to 6000 men ; and thus the ci-
ty was finally relieved from its apprehensions, as, on
tf;eir return from England, the Highlanders retreated
in a different direction.
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The young Pretender besieged Carlisle in the be-
ginning of November, which city in three days sur-
rendered to his arms. He afterwards took his route
for Manchester, where he was joined by about 200
men, and penetrated to Derby. Here he paused, and
not finding that support in England which was anti-
cipated, and being surrounded by hostile armies, it
was resolved, in a council of war, to retreat immediate-
ly to Scotland.

Charles accordingly abandoned Derby, and retired
before a superior force, and through a hostile country,
with his little band of Highlanders, in a manner which
reflects the highest credit on his military talents. He de-
feated the king’s forces, commanded by General Haw-
ley, at Falkirk, and proceeded to besiege the castle of
Stirling ; but, the country through which they pas-
sed being exhausted, and the royal army, under the
Duke of Cumberland, in pursuit, they relinquished
the attempt, and hastily retired to the north.

The battle of Culloden, which sunk for ever the
hopes of the Stuart family, was fought on the 16th
of April 1746. The king’s army, infinitely superior
in numbers and appointments, gained an easy victory,
which they sullied by their subsequent eruelties. Two
thousand of the rebels fell in the field of battle, and
the northern counties were delivered up to all the
horrors of a conquered country. Their unfortunate
leader, after a series of surprising escapes, at length
got safe to the continent ; and many of his friends
paid the forfeit of their attachment to his cause on
the scaffold. The Duke of Cumberland, with a little
ness unworthy of the cause which he supported, and
still more unworthy of a t general, caused four-
teen of the rebel stan which he had taken to be
burnt at the public cross of Edinburgh. The Pre-
tender’s standardl was carried by the common execu-
tioner, the others by chimney-sweepers, and the he-
ralds, in almost burlesque pomp, proclkaimed the names
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of the commanders to whom they had belonged, as
they were thrown into the fire.

Soon after matters were settled, the provost of
Edinburgh was brought to trial, first at London, and
then at Edinburgh, for not defending the city against
the rebels.  From the situation and extent of the
walls of the town such resistance would have been
unavailing ; and the retreat of the regular army ex-
culpated the chief magistrate from any share of blame
on this occasion. The trial, however, at the time ex-
cited considerable interest ; and in the course of it a cir-
cumstance happened, which attracted some attention.
The jury on the trial having sat two days, insisted
that they could sit no longer, and prayed for a short
rcs&ite. As the urgency of the case was apparent, and
both parties agreed as to the necessity of the measure,
the court, after long reasoning, adjourned till the day
following, taking the jury bound under a penalty of
L. 500 each, when' the court continued sitting two
days longer, and the jury were one day inclosed. The
c:(;-m was, that the provost was unanimously acquit-
ted.

At this time the city felt a temporary inconvenicnee
from the election of their magistrates not having taken
place at the usual time, on account of the presence of
the rebels. It became therefore necessary to apply to
his majesty for a power to the citizens to enable them
to choose their mn%istmtes as formerly. This was
readily granted ; and the burgesses accordingly return-
ed a new set of magistrates, all of whom were known
friends to the Hanoverian succession. The new coun-
cil, on their entrance into office, in gratitude for the
signal services done to the country by the Duke of
Cumberland, presented him the om of the city in
a gold box, with a suitable inseription.

This transaction was the last which happened in
Edinburgh of any general importance, or which re-
quires any very minute detail. Of the occurrences
which have happened since that period, the improve=
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ments in the city, and the extension of its boundaries,
form a principal and striking part.

Several tumults of inferior importance have, how-
ever, at times agitated the city. In 1740, on account
of a temporary scarcity of provisions, Bell’s Mills,
near Edinburgh, were attacked by the populace, and
afterwards Leith Mills. On that occasion the mili-
tary were called in for the preservation of the public
peace, and, being obliged to proceed to extremities,

ed upon the rioters, of whom three were severely
wounded.

In 1742 another tumult took place, occasioned by
the practice of raising corpses from the church-yards
in the city for the p of anatomical demonstra-
tions. The populace t to arms, surrounded the
houses of the surgeons who were suspected of being
concerned in this practice ; and, in spite of the efforts
of the magistrates, demolished the house of the beadle
at St Cuthbert’s.

The impressment of men for the war, which was
then commencing, occasioned a riot in 1756, which
was speedily checked by the appearance of a military
force. In 1760 a tumult happened in the theatre oc-
casioned by the performance of Garrick’s *“ High Life
Below Stairs.” This the footmen, who at that time
were permitted to attend their masters to the play,
and had a gallery allotted for their accommoda~
tion, considered as an intolerable satire on their or-
der, and resolved to interrupt the performance. The
consequence of this resolution was, that they were
turned out from the theatre with disgrace, and this
privilege was from that time withdrawn.

In the years 1763 and 1765, the tumults on account
of the price of provisions were renewed, and man{ of
the dealers in corn and meal had their houses broken
open and their shops destroyed. The magistrates were
under the necessity of calling in the military to quell
the disturbance ; but, at the same time, to put an
effectual stop, as far as in their power, to such pro-
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ceedings in fature, they gave security, that people who
brought grain or provisions into the market, should be
secured 1n their property. In 1784, a riot on the
same account happened, and the distillery at Cancn-
mills was attacked, on a supposition that the distillers
enhanced the price of meal by using unmalted grain.
The attack was repelled by the servants of the dis-
tillery ; but the mob were not dispersed until the she-
riff called the soldiers quartered in the castle to his as-
sistance. The same night a party set out for Ford, a
place ten miles to the southward of Edinburgh, where
there was likewise a large distillery, which, as they
met with no opposition, they soon destroyed. One
man was killed in the riot at Edinburgh, the fire
of a servant of the distillery, and several of the rioters
were secured and afterwards punished.

In the years 1778 and 1779, two very alarming dis-
turbances happened, which threatened a great deal of
bloodshed, though happily they were terminated with-
out any. The first was a mutiny of the Earl of Sea~
forth’s Highland regiment, who were at this time
quartered in the castle. Their services being requir-
ed in India, it was intended to send them thither with=
out consulting their inclinations ; but when the sol-
diers understood that this was to be the case, they did
not seem inclined to yield obedience. Certain arrears
were at this time due to them ; and these circumstan~
ces occasioned their concerting measures for their com=
mon safety, which at last terminated in mutiny. One
morning, as the regiment was at drill in Leith Links,
a clamour arose among the ranks on the subject of
their going abroad, and the payment of their arrears.
In an instant, as perhaps been before concerted,
the whole battalion shouldered their arms, set off at a
quick march, and took possession of the hill in the
neighbourhood of Edinburgh called Arthur’s Seat, on
the summit of which the Eed their quarters. Their
commanders endeavoured to win them with promises ;
but to these they paid no regard, knowing how for=
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mer ones had been broken. Threats were next used ;
but these they disregarded, because, in their situation,
foot soldiers would not dare to attack them, and caval-
1y could not approach them on this elevated ground.
It was represented to them, that the castle would fire
upon and dislodge them ; but they knew that this at-
tempt would be also vain, for they might retire be-
hind the hills out of its reach. An accommodation
was at last, as the only resource, proposed to them.
The late Lords Dunmore and Macdonald, on whose
honour the Highlanders could depend, were deputed
to enter into a negociation with the mutineers, which
was happily successful, and matters were finally set-
tled, They then returned to their allegiance, and
soon after embarked on foreign service.

The other disturbance alluded to happened on ac-
count of the attempt to repeal the penal laws against
the papists. The same cause gave rise to the riots in
London in 1780 ; and both were the consequence of
that intolerant spirit which, raised by designing indi-
viduals, demonstrates its zeal for truth by the violation
of the most sacred rights. On the 24 of Febru-
ary 1779, a mob assembled in the evening, burn* one
popish chapel, and plundered another. Next day they
renewed their depredations, destroying and carrying
off the books, furniture, &c. of several Catholic priests,
and others of that persuasion. The riot continued all
that day, though the assistance of the military was
called in to preserve the peace; but force was not
resorted to, and no lives were lost. The city was
afterwards obliged to make good the damage sustained

Y the Catholics on this occasion, which was estimated
at L. 1500,
. In April of the same year, a mutiny, which ended
I a very disagreeable manner, happened at Leith, the
seg gon town of Edinburgh. A party of about fifty
Highland recruits, on account of some misrepresenta=
tion as to the place of their destination, refused to
¢mbark., Two hundred of the South Fencibles, then
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quartered in the castle, accompanied by proper officers,
were immediately ordered to Leith, to enforce obe-
dience, or make the refractory party |;lrisoners. _The
Highlanders resisted ; a good many shots were fired
by both parties ; but the Highlanders were at last
obliged to submit, and were carried prisoners to the
castle of Edinburgh. About twelve of the mutineers
were killed in this affair ; and of the fencibles a cap-
tain and two privates fell. Several were wounded on
both sides.

The well-known Paul Jones, in this year, made his
appearance in the Frith of Forth with some armed
vessels ; but departed without attempting any thing
against the harbour or shipping. The alarm ex-
cited, however, occasioned a small fortification to be
afterwards erected, a little to the westward of the town
of Leith, which now serves as a station for artillery.

The revolutionary and equalizing principles inspired
by the French Revolution, occasioned in l,Edinbur'gh,
as well as in other parts of the kingdom, several dis-
turbances, and were the cause of the trial and condem-
nation of some designing individuals, who at that time
swayed, with too much success, the popular opinions.
But ideal notions of liberty have long since given way
to that real freedom, of which the British Constitu-
tion is the guardian ; and in the late protracted war-
fare, the lo%alty of the citizens of Edinburgh, and their
zeal in behalt' of the laws handed down to them by
their ancestors, have been gallantly demonstrated, by
the voluntary arming of all ranks for their preserva-
tion.

During the war, the partial failure of a crop occa-
sioned several tumults in Edinburgh, on account of
the high grioe of provisions ; but these disturbances,
were speedily checked, and the timely importation of
foreign grain removed all apprehensions of absolute
scarcity.

The murder of one Begbie, a porter to the British
Linen Company Bank, on the 13th November 1806,
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almost in open day, within a few paces of a centinel,
and adjoining a crowded street, by a single blow of a
knife, and robbing him of the bank notes which he
carried, created a considerable sensation i Edinburgh.
The greater part of the money was afterwards found,
but no trace of the murderer was ever discovered.
Previous to this, street murder had been a crime al-
most unknown in Edinburgh. On the 31st of De-
cember 1811, however, an outrage took place as unex-
pected as alarming, and for which the authorities of
the city had not been prepared. The new year is al-
ways introduced in Edinburgh, as in most parts of
Seotland, with mutual congratulations, and little fami-
ly parties ; and among the working classes it had been
an immemorial practice to visit one another, at as
early an hour on the commencement of the new year
as possible, as first foot,—a lucky or unlucky first vi-
sitor being generally looked upon as in some measure
the cause of the good or bad fortune of the next year.
On these occasions, a ket-pind, as it is called, formed by
the mixtureof ale, ardent spirits, eggs, and sugar, boiled
together, was carried by the persons visiting, of which
they drank to the prosperity of the coming year. This
practice, which had not been found hitherto to be at«
tended with any bad consequences, necessarily fill-
the streets with people as the hour of twelve ap-"
proached, Numberr:ss supper parties returning home
ncreased the crowd ; and all in the public streets at this
time, and for several hours, was noise and rude mer-
Tment. Kyery person was expected to shake hands, and
Teturn the salutation, echoed from a thousand voices, of
wish you a gude new year ; and all the women who had
the hardihood to be out of doors at this time were sub-
Jected to the penalty of a salute in no very ceremo-
Nous manner. It was among the actors in a scene of
this kind and its spectators that the outrage alluded
10 took place. On the 31st of December 1811, a band
Of young men, most of them under majority, but in
"uabers sufficient to set the regular guard of the city
B :
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at defiance, having armed themselves with bludgeons,
made their appearance upen the streets thus crowded
about eleven o’clock, and proceeded to knock down
and rob every person of decent appearance they met
with. Their numbers prevented resistance from those
whom they attacked ; the regular police of the city
was insufficient to stop the mischief; and the gang
kept possession of the streets till two o’clock next inorn-
ing.  One watchman was killed, a considerable number
of the inhabitants were robbed, and many of them
dangerously hurt. The activity of the police soon
traced out the leaders of this outrage. Several of the
rioters were seized on the spot, and the principal ring-
leaders were soon - after taken into custody. Four
were tried and convicted ; and three of these were exe-
cuted on a temporary gibbet, erected on the middle of
the High Street, on the 22d of April 1812, None of
them were above eighteen years of age.

Tue improvements of Edinburgh began in the year,
1753. At this time the city occupied the same space of
ground which it had done for centuries before. But
since that period a new city has arisen; the town
has been enlarged to more than thrice its former ex-
tent ; and farther enlargements are still in contempla-
tion, which will go far to render Edinburgh, in point
of external elegance and picturesque beauty, the first
city in Europe.

The public attention was first called to the state of
the city in September 1751, by the circumstance of @
side wall of a building, six stories high, having fallen
down, by which one person was killed. This occa-
sioned a general survey to be made, the result of which
was, that many houses were found insufficient, and
were ordered to be pulled down. It was now that the
idea of occupying the place of these old houses in the
principal streets by public buildings was first conceived;

10
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and a scheme for this purpose was laid before the Con-
vention of Royal Burghs which meton 8th July 1752.
The representatives of' the burghs approved of the de-
sign as a npational one, and stﬁ)scription papers were
ordered to be lodged with the magistrates of the coun-
~ ty towns. The public building first projected was to
contain a hall for the Convention of Royal Burghs—a
Council Chamber for the Magistrates—a Robing-room
for the Judges of the Supreme Conrt—a Library for the
Faculty of Advocates—a Hall for the Society of Writers
to the Signet, and other apartments for the registers of
public writings. IFor carrying the improvements into
execution, committees were appointed by the Magi-
strates, Lords of Session, Barons of Exchequer, Fa«
culty of Advocates, and Writers to the Signet, who, im=
Pproving on the former plan, resolved to commence the
projected improvements by the erection of an Exchan
on the site of the ruinous buildings on the north side
of the High Street. Accommodation for the courts,
registers, and advocates’ library, was to occupy the
place of the ruinous houses in the Parliament Square ;
and it was resolved to apply for an act for the purpose
of extending the royalty, as it is called, or the power
of levying taxes for the support of the city, over the
grounds to the north, the expence to be defrayed by a
national eontribution. "

The foundation stone of the Royal Exchange was
accordingly laid, on the 15th of September 1753, by
that patriotic magistrate George Drummond, Esq., and
the building was commenced on the 13th of June in
the following year.

The next object to which the magistrates of Edin-
"‘"g}n and the trustees appointed by parliament for
the improvement of the city turned their attention,
was the erection of a bridge over the North Loch, to
Communicate with the fields in that direction, over
Wwhich they proposed to have the royalty of the city ex-
tended. A draught of a bill was accordingly prepar-
ed in 1759 for this purpose, but which was not at that



52 f HISTORY.

time brought forward, in consequence of the threaten-
ed opposition of certain landholders of the county.
T'he scheme, however, was not on this account relin-
quished ; and the trustees having made over to the
magistrates a balance of L. 3000, which remained in
their hands after the erection of the Exchange, they
proceeded in 1763 to drain the North Toch, and re-
move the mud, preparatory to the intended erection.
The foundation stone of the North Bridge was laid
by the same public spirited individual who presided
at the foundation of the Exchange, on the 21st of Oc-
tober 1763, although the_ building was not begun
for two years afterwards, and, from some unaccount-
able error in the construction, was not rendered pass-
able till the year 1772.

Though repulsed in their first endeavours to pro-
cure an extension of the royalty, the magistrates did
not relingquish the attempt ; and the gentlemen of the
county having dropped their opposition, an act was
passed in 1767 extending the royalty over the fields to
the north. Competition plans were at the same time
advertised for, and every measure taken to secure the
uniformity of the buildings in the new town which
was now projected.

Among the plans in consequence given in, that of
Mr James Craig, architect, was approved of, and final-
ly adopted. The New Town was immediately com-
menced, and the building proceeded so rapidly, that,
in 1778, St Andrew’s Square and the streets connect-
ed with it were nearly completed. The dimensions of
. this sﬂuarc are 510 by 520 feet, and it was the first of

{)hnth enomination of any extent laid out in Edin-
urgh. .

The plan of 1767, terminating on the north lz
Queen Street, on the south by Prince’s Street, h
been long since completed. Tie buildings of Char-
Jotte Square, its western boundary, were designed by
the celebrated architect, Mr Robert Adam ; and the
house now occupied as the Excise Office, its easterl
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termination, was built from a design of Sir William
Chambers.

The unfortunate disputes between the magistrates
and their New Town feuars, which took place about
this time, had the effect of exciting speculation in an=
other direction. Twenty-six acres of ground to the
south, which the city might have purchased for L.1200,
were bought by a private individual, and laid out for
the erection of new buildings. George’s Square was
accordingly begun in 1766, and in twelve years three
sides of it were completed. The dimensions of this
square are 670 by 500 feet, the ground sloping gently
to the south.

The erection of the buildings in this quarter soon
suggested the necessity of a proper communication
between themand the Old Town ; andin 1775 a pro-
posal was made for erecting a bridge over the Cow-
gite, similar to that which had been erected over the
valley to the north. But this project being violently
opposed by the corporations and others, the plan was
at this time abandoned.

At last, however, an act of parliament was passed,
which included - this improvement. The foundation
stone of the South Bridge was laid on the Ist of Au-
gust 1785, and opened for carriages in March 1788,

The then Mound was commenced in 1783, and
while it furnished a ready communication with the
buildin, erecting to the westward of the North Bridge,
1t served, at the same time, as a central place of depo-
sit for the earth dug from their foundations.

The Register Oftice, a building intended for the pre-
fervation of the public records of the kingdom, was
founded on the £7th of June 1774, but not finished

Or many years afterwards.

The next great public undertaking was the erection
of the University. The buildings of the old college

aving become very inconvenient, and nowise suitable
to the celebrity of the teachers, or the number of stu=
dents who attended this seminary, the erection of an

E2



&4 HISTORY.

edifice, on a more extended scale, on their site, had
been pn:gosed as early as 17638, But nothing was
done in the matter till, in the year 1785, the subject
being a‘gnin brought before the public, the magistrates
set on foot a subscription for erecting a new structure,
and, considerable sums being obtained, the foundation
stone of the new college was laid on the 16th Novem-
ber 1789. This undertaking, which eventually turn-
ed out to be on a scale beyond the means possessed for

ing it into execution, stood for many years un-
finished ; till, in 1815, on the report of a committee,
the House of Commons granted L. 10,000 for its com-
pletion, and recommended the same sum to be given
annually for seven years. * The commissioners for ma-
naging this grant having met on the 4th December
1816, to receive plans for the completion of the build-
ing, that by Mr W. H. Playfair was adopted. By
this plan the exterior of the building, as design-
ed by Adam, is still to be retained, but the internal
arrangements are to be followed out according to the
design prepared by that ingenious architect.

The improvement of the buildings for the supreme
courts was the next of the suggested improvements
which was undertaken. A plan for these improve-
ments was accordingly made out by Mr Robert Reid,
architect, and the nlytentions on the old Parliament
House began by the erection of a court room and apart-
ments for the Barons of Exchequer, and an open arcade
in front of the old building. This plan also included the
erection of an additional court room for the Seco!
Division of the Court,—a library room for the Advo-
cates and Society of Writers to the Signet,—and 2
County Hall, all of which are now erected.

A new Prison, from a design by the same architect,
was founded a little to the westward of the Parliament
House, and in the lane called Forrester’s Wynd, on
the 8th September 1808 ; but the situation was after-
wards found to be inexpedient, and a smaller building
for the temporary confinement of criminals only Was

1
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erected. In 1814, after various suggestions about the
place most proper for an erection of this nature, the
Calton Hill was fixed upon as the most eligible in
many respeets; and an act of parliament was passed
in that year, appointing commissioners for that and
other proposed improvements.

The most important of these improvements was the
erection of a Bridge over the low lane and ground
which divided Prince’s Street from the Calton Hill,
and carrying a road along the brow of that picturesque
eminence which should join the great London road in
a less circunitous and more level line than the one for-
merly in use. By this means, not only was the ac-
cess to the hill, on which two public buildings were al-
ready erected, rendered easy, but an entrance to the city
procured of unequalled grandeur. The public spirit
of the then chief’ magistrate, Sir John Marjoribanks,
and the then sheriff, Sir William Rae, powerfully
sided the views of the citizens, in procuring the act
to be passed which sanctioned these improvements.
The act for the erection of a jail, which had been pas-
sed in 1808, was, on the petition of the magistrates
and commissioners appointed by that act, referred to a
committee in 1814; a new and amended one pro-
cured ; and the foundation stones of the Regent Bridge ;
and New Jail were laid in the following year.

. The survey of the road was made under the direc-
tion of Mr Stevenson, civil engineer ; and on the 7th
December 1813, a full meeting of the parliamentary
commissioners for executing this splendid access to the
city took place, for the purpose of deciding on the
comparative merits of three plans and elevations for
the projected bridge and adjacent buildingls, prepared
under their direction by three eminent architects. Of
these designs, that of Mr Archibald Elliot of London
Was finally adopted. In the Herculean task of cut-
ting through the hill, the expence of gunpowder
alone for blasting cost upwards of L. 1000 Sterling;
and more than 100,000 cubic yards of rock were
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removed, to bring the road to a proper level. On the
south, the road requiring a strong retaining wall, it was
built of the stones quarried out in making this commu-
nication, and a bridge of one arch was erected at the
Abbeyhill, across the Eastern road to Leith.

The foundation stone of the Regent Bridge (so
named in honour of the Prince Regent) was laid
on the 19th September 1815 ; the building was be-
gun in August 1816, and completed in March 1819.
The New Prison stands at its eastern termination,
and on the opposite side a handsome Hall for the meet-
ings of the Incorporated Trades of Calton has been
erected. On the south side of this bridge are apart-
ments for the Stamp Office and Post Office, and imme-=
diately opposite this last is a very handsome and ex-
tensive building, named the Waterloo Tavern and
Hotel. In the progress of the work, the Calton bury-
ing ground, which the new line of road intersected,
retﬁuired to be cut through to a considerable depth,
and the bodies removed ; but the bank is faced up
in a very elegant manner, and of corresponding archi=
tecture to the buildings and to the bridge.

In the act of parliament which senctioned these im=
provements, was a clause authorizing the magistrates
to remove a narrow lane on the westside of the North
Bridge, opposite to Prince’s Street, and known by the
nameof St Ann’s Street,and to bring forward the build-
ings in connection with the bridge. The houses of
St Ann’s Street were accordingly pulled down, and the
new building considerably advanced, when it was dis=
covered that this erection would injure the view of the
Register Office, and totally destroy that from Prince’s
Street, which commanded a prospect of the road and
new buildings on the Calton Hils’.e A meeting of the
inhabitants was accordingly called, for the purpose of
taking measures to stop the further erection of this line
of buildings, on the 2d December 1817. The result
of this meeting, which was numerously attended, was
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a subscription to enable the feuars of Prince’s Street, to
whose property the erection in question was extreme-
ly hurtful, to try the question before the Supreme
Court. Various measurcs were accordingly taken with
this view, and after some inefficacious procedure, and
the buildings being finished, the magistrates consent-
ed to an arrangement by which they should be re-
duced to one storey in height above the bridge. This
arrangement, which necessarily included the purchase
of a great part of the property, puta stop to all further
procedure in the business ; and the funds of the as-
sociation having been already spent in the law pro-
ceedings, the buildings of course remain as eriginally
erected. It might, perhaps, have been desirable that
the fine view of Prince’s Street, from the new road,
should have been preserved ; but it is not very evi-
dent that any thing else than the removal of the whole
houses to the south of Queen Street, including Canal
Street, according to the original plan, and laying the
gronnd out in gardens, would materially improve this
quarter of the city.
Previous to the idea being taken up of erecting a

ridge over the Low Calton, it was in contemplation
to carry a road round the north base of the hill, which
should join the London road near Jock’s Lodge, about
4 mile fom the city ; and several plans were made out™

Yy eminent architects for laying out the grounds into
Streets and squares along the intended road, and build-
Ing on the Calton Hill. This scheme, though a pre-
ferable and more direct line has been made over the
hill, is still to be carried into effect. The road is
now formed, and plans for laying out the adjacent
grounds have been prepared by Mr Playfair, archi-
tect, and submitted to publie inspection in the City
Chambers ; the former draughts having been put into
his hands, that he might avail himself of the excellen~
cles of each.

According to this plan, the ground to the north-

Ward of the Calton Hill is to be laid out in handsome
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streets. A lar?]e crescent is to be built fronting the
hill, from which three main streets are to diverge;
public buildings are proposed at the termination of
these streets ; and the base of the hill is (as suggest-
ed, we believe, by the late Mr William Stark, ar-
chitect) to be planted with trees. Above these build-
ings, and rising among the trees, a row of handsome
houses is proposed, which shall overlook the buildings
below, and have an extensive prospect of the surround-
ing country. This terrace is to sweep round the hill,
by an easy curve, into a long line of houses, which
it is proposed to erect along the road on the opposite
side of the hill, the space between the road and the
houses to be converted into gardens. The ground
along the road to Leith is laid out in the plan with
the same att¢ntion to general effect, into handsome
streets and squares ; and in addition to these improve-
ments, it is proposed to widen what is called the East-
ern road to Leith, and to plant rows of trees along its
whole length. But the nature of these improvements,
which may take many years to finish, will be best
seen from the map prefixed to this volume.

A new road leading from Hanover Street has also
been formed to connect the grounds on the north of
the Water of Leith with the extended buildings of
the New Town, at the termination of which several
neat streets have been built. A bridge over the mill-
lead, and another of three arches over the river, are
intended to facilitate this communication, the previ-
ou_s“road to these streets being by the village of Canon-
.mills.

At the village of Stockbridge, now almost joined to
the city by continuous buildings, many new streets
have also been built ; and farther to the north-west,
on the line of the road to the Queensferry, the ground
is laid out for the erection of houses which may combine
the advantages of town and country.

Among the improvements connected with Edin-
burgh, tgfxt of a Canal between this city and Glas
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gow requires to be particularly noticed. The idea of
a water communication between these two cities had
long been entertained, and various lines were survey-
ed for the pu of carrying this desirable measure
into effect, so long ago as the year 1793. These sur-
veys were in 1795 submitted by the magistracy of the
city to Mr Rennie of London for his opinion ; and
that eminent engineer, conceiving all of them to be
more or less objectionable, suggested a new line, which
he ascertained the practicability of executing on one
level, from Burntsfield Links, Edinburgh, to Hill-
head, within two miles of Glasgow. An unfortunate
collision of separate interests, however, and the cir-
cumstances of the country, prevented any thing fur-
ther heing done with regard to its completion at this
time,

In the year 1818, several proprietors of the Forth
and Clyde Canal set on foot a subscription for a colla-
teral cut from that canal to the city of Edinburgh, on
2 line surveyed by Mr Hugh Baird, civil engineer.
This line having been examined by Mr Henry Tel-
ford, he, in 1815, made such a report on the subject,
as to induce the subscribers to bring in a bill to par~

lament in the same year, for carrying it into effect.
This bill being opposed by the magistrates of Edin-,
burgh, ot the ground of its being of less general uti-
ity to the city than the line recommended by Mr
Rennie, was lost.

Mr Rennie was now again consulted, and the canal
recommended by him at this time to the magistrates,
as being the one most likely to be generally useful, was
E.h;llve its eastern termination ?t thedwct. docksl:ln

¢ith 5 and instead of carrying it forward, as originally
Proposed, to Hillhead, near sGlnsgow, he suggested a
Junction with the Monkland Canal, near Drumpellier.
The estimated expence of this canal was L. 470,000 ;

out leaving the extension to Leith to be done at some
future time, the expence would be L.330,000. The
€xpence of the Union Canal was estimated at L.250,000,
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and the revenue was calculated to afford no less than
twenty per cent. on that capital. \

Among the }n-oposed lines for a canal between Edin-
burgh and Glasgow, that of Mr Robert Stevenson
deserves to be particularly mentioned ; and, though
any water communication is better than none, it is,

rhaps, to be regretted, that any line, which did not
include the port of Leith as its termination, should
have been hastily adopted. The line surveyed by this
eminent engineer, at the request of the magistrates, in
1814, proposed to carry the canal upon one level, from
a basin on the west side of the North Bridge, Edin-
}él;rgh’ to Port Dundas, in the immediate vicinity of

OW.

This canal was to pass through the centre of the
valley which separates the New from the Old Town,
under the central arch of the North Bridge ; and was
proposed to join the harbour of Leith, opposite to the
entrance of the new docks. Another line, a little dif-
ferent, suggested by Mr Stevenson, was proposed to
set off from the west end of Maitland Street, and to
lock down by Canonmills to the wet docks, having a
wharf at Canonmills. The number of locks requir-
ed from the North Bridge to Leith harbour was four-
teen ; and the total expence of the canal was estimat=
ed at L.492,000, including a tunnel of three miles
through the high lands from the neighbourhood of
Broxburn to the neighbourhood of Pardovan, and the
lockage to Leith. The cost of this line is very little
different from that of Mr Rennie ; and there can be no
doubt, that, from the practical knowledge of these gen~
tlemen, had not the expence so materialfye exceeded the
Union track, the more extensive plan would have prov=
ed ultimately the most advantageous to the public.

A meeting, called by public advertisement, of those

ntlemen who were disposed to promote a canal on
the line proposed by Rennie, was held in Edinburgh
on the 26th of July 1815, and various resolutions re=
garding this measure were adopted by the meeting:



IMPROVEMENTS. 61

But after various communications between the sup-
porters of the different lines, and a second report by
Mr Telford, civil engineer, in 1817, it was finally a-
greed to adopt that proposed by Mr Baird, and an act
of parliament was accordingly procured in June of
that year for the purpose of ing it into execution.
The other arrangements having been made, the com-
mittee of management superintended the commence-
ment of the work at the west end of Gilmour Street,
the spot fixed for the terminating basin, on the 3d of
March 1818.

This canal, which is to be five feet deep, and at the
surface 37 feet wide, contracting to 22 fect at the bot-
tom, begins at the Lothian Road, on the west of Edin-
burgh, and, crossing the Water of Leith at Slateford,
Busses the villages of Ratho, Broxburn, and Winch-
burgh, and the towns of Linlithgow and Falkirk, and
Joins the Forth and Clyde Canalat Lock No. 16, near
the village of Camelon, after a course of 30 miles.
The principal aqueducts are, one over the Water of
Leith, at Slateford, 500 feet long and 50 feet high ;
and another of twelve arches of 50 feet span, over the
river Avon, two miles above Linlithgow Bridge, 835
feet long, and 90 feet in height above the bed of the
river.  Both of these are to be linuk?vith an iron
trough instead of puddle. About 28% miles from
Edinburgh, as the line passes Falkirk, there is to be a
tunnel through Prospect Hill, a third of a mile in
length, There will be nine locks in all on this canal,
close together, about a mile west of Falkirk; and to
Glasgow, from the point of junction, there are four
locks more, on the Forth and Clyde Canal; but it is
Proposed to carry a branch from the Union up to the
summit level of the other canal, by which four of the
Union locks and the four of the Forth and Clide, will
b}‘ saved to vessels going directly from Edinburgh to
Glasgow, leaving only five locks on that passage. The
“timate for the Union Canal was L. 240,500, which

48 been raised in shares of L. 50 each ; and it is not
P
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expected that the expence will exceed that sum. In
one year after its commencement 14 miles of the 30
were nearly excavated ; and the whole, it is conjectur-
ed, will be finished by September 1821. It has been
found, on survcr, that it may be continued on the
game level through East Lothian, by Dalkeith, Hadding-
ton, &c. A lockage of 250 feet would carry it down
to Leith. One great object of this work is to facilitate
the conveyance of coals to the city from the coal-fields
near Falkirk ; and a survey has also been made for the
P of laying down railways from the great coal
works to the south, which will ensure a plentiful
supply of this indispensable article at a moderate
rice.

5 Besides these leading improvements on the city and
its approaches, others of considerable importance have
at same time been carrying on. 'St George’s Church,
Charlotte Square, was finished in 1814 ; a neat chape!
for those of the Roman Catholic persuasion was
built in 1818 ; two elegant Gothic places of wor-
ship, for the members of the Episcopal Church, were
consecrated in 1818 ; a new Merchant Maiden Hos-
pital was finished in 1818 ; a Lunatic Asylum was
founded in 1808 ; a chapel for the Methodists in
Nicholson Square in 1815 ; the new Observatory was
founded in 1818 ; and a new Antiburgher meeting-
house, for Dr Jamieson’s congregation, was begun in
1819.

Towards the end of the year 1816, when, from the
failure of the crop and other circumstances, so many
people were in want of employment, large sums were
raised in Edinburgh, as in the other cities of the em-
pire, for the reliefof the lnbourin% goor. But the mo-
ney thus raised, in place of'being doled out in charities
to the idle or the worthless, was employed, with much
judgment, under the superintendence of a respectable
committee, in setting all those who were out of em-
ployment, and able for labour, to assist in works of
public utility. The fine walks round the Caltor
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Hill,—the levelling and improvements of Burntsfield
Links,=and other useful undertakings, were in this
way chiefly executed.

The O1d Town has likewise been much improved
by the final removal of the remains of the range of
old houses which encumbered the middle of the High
Street. The old Tolbooth and Creech’s Land, the
two extremities of this range, and the last of these
buildings, were removed in 1817 ; and the Weigh
House, it is hoped, will scon share the same fate. In
this part of the city, too, a very material improvement
has taken place by the laying of pavement for foot=
Passengers along the narrow lanes and streets. This
undertaking was carried into effect, while Mr Robert
Johnston, as Dean of Guild, had the superintendence
of this department of city business; and to the same
respectable magistrate the community is indebted,
among many other useful undertakings which have
been benefited by his active exertions, for the improve=
ment of the Meadows, the walks of which were form-
ed anew under his inspection.

The progress of Edinburgh in literature and science
las kept pace with its external improvements. An
dccount of that progress will be found in another part
of this yolume. Since the commencement of the pre-
sent century the establishment of the Edinburgh Re-
View in 1803,—the Wernerian Natural History So-
Clety in 1808==the Caledonian Horticultural Society
M 1809,—the Astronomical Institution in 1812,~the
Institution for Sacred Music in the year 1815,—and
fan annual Exhibition of Paintings by the ancient
Masters in 1819, have opened up new objects to Scot=
tish industry and genius; amf since that period, in
addition to the great charitable establishments former-
¥ In existence, numerous societies have been formed
4 the benevolent for ameliorating the condition of
¢ poor, and for affording relief to almost every spe«
¢les of wretchedness.
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DESCRIPTION.

EpINnurcH is situated in 55° 57” north latitude, and
in 8° 14" west longitude from London. It stands in
the northern part of the county of Mid-Lothian, about
two miles south from the estuary of the Frith of
Forth.

The situation of the city is elevated, and it may be
said, without much impropriety, to stand on three
hills. These run in a direction from east to west;
and the central hill, upori which the most ancient part
of the city stands, is terminated on the west by an in-
accessible rock, on which is placed the Castle.

Edinburgh is surrounded on all sides, except to the
northward, where the ground declines gemg' to the
Frith of Forth, by lofty hills. Arthur’s Seat, Salis-
bury Craigs, and the Calton Hill, bound it on the
east ; the Hills of Braid, and the extensive ridg;of
the Pentland Hills, rise on the south ; and the beau-
tiful eminence of Corstorphine Hill rears its summit
on the west. These hills form a magnificent amphi-
theatre, in which upon elevated, though on ground o
less altitude, stands the Scottish metropolis.

The old part of the city, as already mentioned,
stands on the central ridge of the three eminences on
which the city is built; the New Town occupies an
elevated plain on the north ; and the southern district
is situated on a risin f,gound in the opposite direc-
tion. The hill on which the Old Town is placed is
separated from the other districts by two varlies, one
of which, on the northern side, was formerly occu-
pied by a lake. In the course, however, of the im-

rovement and extension of the city, that lake has
Keen drained, and streets and bridges afford a ready
communication between every part of the capital,
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The Old Town has often attracted notice from the
peculiarity of itssituation. The principal street, which
occupies the flat surface of the central hill, extends
nearly in a straight line from the Castle, on the west-
ern extremity, to the Palace of Holyroodhouse on the
cast. This street, not improperly named the High
Street, measures in length, from the Castle gate to the
Palace gate, about 5570 feet, and is about 90 feet in
breadth. The upper part of this street is elevated
about 140 feet above the level of the drained morass
on the north side called the North Loch, and, on ac-
count of the ground which it occupies gently declin-
ing to the east, is about 180 feet above the Palace of
Holyroodhouse. The height of the houses in this
quarter has always rendered it an interesting object to
strangers visiting Edinburgh ; and, perhaps, the High
Street of this city is not equalled in grandeur by any
street in Europe.

Parallel to the High Street, in the valley on the
south, runs a street called the Cowgate, from 10 to
20 feet in breadth. The buildings in this street,
though lofty, are less elevated than those of the High
Street.  The valley on the north, except a part of it
to the eastward, where it joins the Calton Hill, is
laid out in grass and sloping walks.

From the High Street descend, in regular rows, nu«
merous narrow lanes, here called closes, on both sides
of the hill. Many of these lanes, from the abrupt
descent of the ground, are extremely steep, and diffi-
cult of passage ; and this inconvenience is not much
remedied by their width, which is rarely more than
six feet. Those of extent, and which admit of'
4 carriage, are called by'the distinctive name of wynds,
to distinguish them from closes, or those which only
admit of foot- ngers.

. The High Street has at different times received va-
Tous denominations. It was ancieutly called Market
Street, from the public markets of the city being held
on it, At present it receives various appellations,

F2
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That part of it which is situated next the Castle is
called the Castle Hill ; farther down it receives the
name of the Lawnmarket, from this division of it
being the place where that kind of merchandise was
sold.  Below this it assumes the name of Lucken-
booths ; and a little farther on, where the street is
widest, takes the name of the High Street. The re-
mainder of the strect, down to the Palace of Holy-
roodhouse, takes the name of Canongate, from its for-
merly being the property of the canons regular of the
abbey church of Holyroodhouse.

The most conspicuous object in the Old Town is the
Castle, which is separated from the buildings of the
city by a vacant space of about 350 feet in length, and
300 in breadth. At the eastern end of this space be-
gin the buildings of the city. The princi{ml reservoir
for supplying Edinburgh with water stands on the tgg
of the north side of this street, and, from “its elevat
situation, enables the water to rise through pipes to
the upper floors of most of the houses.

At a small distance, eastward, a narrow lane winds
down the steep hill to the south, and terminates in a
spacious street or square of an oblong form, called the
Grassmarket. The lane receives the name of the West
Bow, either from the direction which it assumes, be-
ing of the figure of a bow, or more probably from an
arched gate in the town wall which formerly crossed
it in the middle ; bow, in the Scottish dialect, being
the word generally used for an arch. In the Grass-
market the city markets for the sale of corns, and also
tor horses and black-cattle, are generally held.

Beyond the Grassmarket, a narrow street extends to
the westward called Portsburgh, or West Port, from
one of the gates or ports of the city having formerly
bounded it on its western extremity ; and beyond this
the town is terminated in this quarter, by rows of
houses along the roads which diverge from its western
extremity.

In the middle of the principal street, at the top of
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the West Bow, stands the town Weigh House, an old
building, of no very superior architecture. It is, how-
ever, fast hastening to decay, and its removal will add
much to the beauty of this division of the city. Here
the street, which receives the name of the Lawnmar-
ket, expands to a noble width, and the buildings rise
to a great height. On the north side of this street is
the entrance to the great Earthen Mound, which
stretches across the North Loch, and forms a com-
munication with the western part of the New Town,
situated on the opposite hill ; and at the head of the
Mound, at a little distance from the principal street,
stands an elegant building, the Bank of Scotland.

The Earthen Mound is 760 feet in length, its ave-
rage breadth is 160 feet, and its perpendicular height
78 feet. It was begun in 1783, in the morass which
divides the old from the new part of the city. It was
formed chiefly from the rubbish and earth dug from
the foundations of the houses in the New Town ; and
for a Jong time an average of eighteen hundred carte
loads of earth were laid upon it every day. While the
mound was' forming, its surface sunk considerably at
different times on the west side. This mound is cal«
culated to contain 500,500 cubic yards of earth, not
including that part of it which has sunk; and asa
cubical yard is equal to three cart-loads, the number
of these contained in the mound will amount to
1,501,500 cart-loads of earth in all. Had the work
been performed at the moderate rate of sixpence per
cart, digging, filling and carrying, it would have
amounted to the sum of L. 387,537 Sterling. But it
costlthe city nothing but the expence of spreading the
earth,

The idea of this useful undertaking is said to have
originated in the following manner. One George
Bo}Yd' a shopkeeper in the Lawnmarket, was extreme-
ly fond of visiting the New Town, and of marking the
progress of its buildings. Finding it rather inconve-



63 DESCRIPTION.

nient to go so far round as by the North Bridge, he
rrevailed upon some of his neighbours to join with
iim in contributing money to defray the expence of
placing stepping-stones across the North Loch at this
place, which, though drained, was still swampy. He
next prevailed upon some of the builders who were
erecting houses in the New Town to convey some of
the earth dug from their foundations to the spot. A
tolerable foot-path was soon formed by these means,
which for some time received the appellation of Geordy
Boyd's Brig. The utility of a communication of this
kind was soon perceived, and its advantages to the
public duly appreciated. The magistrates immediately
granted permission to the builders to lay down their
earth and rubbish on the spot, and the authority of
parliament was obtained for removing houses in the
Lawnmarket, to open a proper entrance to the mound.
Mr Boyd, the projector of the undertaking, had at the
same time the mortification to see his own shop pulled
down for this purpose.

Without detracting from the merit of Mr Boyd, it
may be noticed, that the idea of a mound of earth
being laid across the North Loch wa$ formed many

ears before. Maitland, in his History of Edinburgh,

p- 206,) has the following remark: ‘ There has of
late been much talk about erecting a bridge across the
Nord Loch, for a communication with the country on
the northern side ; which, or something better, may
easili be accomplished at little expence to the town,
by obliging all builders and others to shoot their rub-
bish, made at the building and repairing of houses,
into a part of the. said loch, as shall be agreed on ;
whereby, in a few years, a ridge or earthen bank might
be raised to the required height, which would answer
divers other good ends beside that of a bridge.”—But,
though the merit of the original idea belongs not to
Mr Boyd, yet perhaps the utility of the uncfez'taking
was first intruded on the public notice, from his ha=
ving given it ““ a local habitation and a name,”
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A little below the entrance to the Mound, in the
middle of the street, stood the Tolbooth, a mean«
looking inconvenient building. Here a range of old
houses formerly extended a considerable way along
the middle of the street. These, .however, were re«
moved about fifteen years ago, and the Tolbooth,
which formed the western extremity of this range,
was pulled down in 1817.

In this part of the High Street stands the ancient
cathedral church of St Giles, a large and irregular Go=-
thic building. The appearance of this edificc was for«
merly hurt by a set of paltry shops, of more modern
date, and wretched architecture, which were heaped
against its walls, but these have been recently re«
moved, and a plan is in contemplation for improving
the appearance of the whole building, according to
a design of Mr Elliot. The cathedral forms the
north side of a small area called the Parliament Close,
formed by a recess on the south side of the High
Street. This place received its name from the build«
ings in which the Scottish Parliament met being situ«
ated in it. These form the south-west corner of the

uare, and are at present used for the accommodation
of the Courts of Session, Justiciary, Exchequer, Ju«
ry, and Consistorial Courts. In the middle of the
sTmre stands a beautiful equestrian statue of King
Charles II. It was placed here by the magistrates,
after the Restoration, in honour of that event, instead
of one of Oliver Cromwell, which had been intended
to be erccted.* The buildings of this square are the
loftiest in Edinburgh : and though their front eleva«
tion does not appear much higher than the neigh«
bouring buildings, yet upon the other side, on account

* The statue of Oliver was actually blocked out, and was
lately to be seen in its unfinished state in the pleasure grounds
of Deanhaugh, at Stockbridge, where it was placed by the
late Mr Walter Ross.
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of the sudden declivity of the ground, some of them
contain not less than twelve floors or stories.

Not far from the Parliament Square, in the middle
of the High Street, formerly stood the Market-cross of
the city, which was removed in 1753. A radiated

vement marks the place where it stood, and all pub-

ic proclamations are still made at this spot.

Nearly oEposite this, on the north side of the street,
stands the Exchange, an elegant building, of a square
form, with a court in the centre, the principal part of
which is now occupied as the City Chambers. Here
the merchants and farmers might eujoy shelter ; but
though frequent attempts have been made to induce
them to meet in the Exchange, inveterate practice
still induces them to crowd the High Street on mar=
ket-days, and to expose themselves there to all the va«
rieties of weather.

Farther down the High Street, the central hill is
crossed by the North and South Bridges, the two
great lines of communication between these divisions
of the city, The Tron Church, an ancient building,
but now much modernized in appearance, occupies
the upper angle formed by the junction of the South
Bridge and High Street, having a considerable area
behind it, which is called Hunter’s Square.

The North Bridge was founded, and the first stone
of the building laid by that patriotic magistrate Pro-
vost Drummond, on the 21st of October 1763. In that
year, the North Loch, which separates the New from
the Old Town," was drained, and the mud removed.
But, though the erection of this great work was re-
solved upon at this time, the contract for building the
bridge was not signed till the 21st of August 1765.
The parties to this contract were the town-council of
Edinburgh, and Mr William Mylne, architect, brother
to the gentleman who built Blackfriars Bridge. The
sum agreed for was 1..10,140 Sterling ; the work was
to be completed before Martinmas 1769, and Mr Mylne
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was to uphold it for ten years. A difﬁcult{, however,
occurred in the course of the work, which had neither
been foreseen nor provided against.  As the north side
of the hill on which the old part of the city stands is
extremely steep, it had been found convenient, in early
times, to throw the earth dug from the foundations of
houses down this declivity, towards the North Loch.
On this account, the whole mass, to a considerable
depth, consisted entirely of what is called fravelled
earth., Mr Mylne and his workmen do not seem to
have been aware of this ; for, in di%‘ing the founda~
tion, they had stopped short where there were no less
than eight feet of this travelled earth between them
and the natural solid soil, which in that quarter is ge-
nerally clay. Another error seems to have been com-
mitte({ by Mr Mylne in not raising the piers of the
bridge to a sufficient height. To remedy this defect,
e raised from six to eight feet of earth upon the
vaults and arches, in order to give the street a re-
gular slope. The result was, that, on the 3d of
August 1769, when the work was nearly completed,
this part of the bridge gave way. The great mass of
earth having been swelled by the rain, burst the side
walls and abutments on the south end of the bridqe.
The vaults also yielded to the pressure ; five people,
who happened to be upon the spot, were buried
In the ruins; and eleven others considerably hurt.
Had the accident happened a quarter of an hour soon-
er, it would have occasioned the loss of many more
ives ; for at that time great numbets of people were
Teturning along the bridge from the Orrhan Hospital
Park, where a Methodist preacher had been haran<
guing. The bridge was repaired by pulling down the
side walls in some parts, and rebuilding them with
chain bars ; removing the vast mass of earth, and sup=
Plying its place with hollow arches, thrown between
the sides of the great arches ; by raising the walls that
Went across the bridge to an additional height, so that
the vaults springing from them might bring the road
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to a proper elevation, without much covering of earth ;
by throwing an arch of relief over the great south arch,
w%lich was much shattered: and, as there were some
rents in the walls, or at least as they had departed
from the line at both ends of the bridge, the whole
was supported by very strong buttresses and counter~
forts at the south end, on each side of the bridge.
Upon these houses are erected, which form a street 2
considerable way along the bridge. At the north end
there is only one counterfort, on the east side. The
expence of completing the whole amounted to about
L. 18,000 Sterling.

The North Bridge consists of three great central
arches, with several smaller ones at each end, of the
following dimensions: width of the three great arch-
es, 72 feet each ; breadth or thickness of the piers,
18} each ; width of the small arches 20 feet each.
The total length of the piers and arches is 310 feet;
and the whole length of the bridge, from the High
Street to Prince’s Street, is 1125 feet. The height of
the great arches, from the top of the parapet to the
base, is 68 feet ; the breadth of the bridge within the
wall over the arches is 40 feet ; and the breadth at
each end 50 feet. On the western side of the bridge,
and at the northern termination of the buildings,
stands the General Post-Office for Scotland ; but 2
new office for this establishment is now building on
the south side of the Regent Bridge.

The South Bridie, thrown over the street named
the Cowgate, which lies in the valley on the southern
side of the central hill, is in the same line with the
North Bridge. The Cowgate not being so low as the
North Loch, this bridge is on that account less elevat-
ed. To a stranger, the existence of the bridge is not
very apparent ; and, were it not that an nintphlb‘
left at the central arch over the Cowgate, :Y:eere at
street is seen at a distance below, it would present no-
thing but the appearance of a handsome street,

-
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"T'o form this bridge, which is now the principal line
of communication across the city from north to south,
the lanes called Niddry's Wynd, Merlin’s, and Peebles
Wynds, were pulled down ; and, among others, one of
the oldest stone buildings in Edinburgh was at this
time removed. "This was the house .in which Qucen
Mary lodged the night after the battle of Carberry-
hill.” It was then the house of Sir Simon Preston of
Craigniillar, Lord Provost of Edinburgh.

The foundation-stone of this bridge was laid on the
Ist of August 1785. The bridge, consisting of twenty-
two arches, was built; the old houses were removed,
clegant new houses on both sides were finished ; the
shops oecupied ; and the street opened for carriages
in March 1788 ; an operation of astonishing celerity,
when e¢ither the magnitude of the undertaking, or the
clegance of its exccution, is considered.

In digging the foundation of the central pier of the
bridge, which was no less than 22 feet deep, man
coins of Edward I. IL. and III. were found. The ol
buildings which were taken away to make room for
this public work were purchased at a trifling cost,
their value being fixed upon by verdicts of juries,
while the areas on which they stood were sold by the
city to erect new buildings on each side of the bridge
for 1. 30,000. It has been remarked, that, on this oc~
casion, the ground sold higher in Edinburgh than per=
haps ever was known in any city, even in Rome, dur-
Ing its most flourishing times. Some of the areas sold
at the rate of L. 96,000 per statute acre ; others at
L.100,000 per ditto; and some even as high as
L. 150,000 per acre.

At some distance to the eastward of the entrances
to the North and South Bridges, the High Street is
suddenly contracted to nearly one half of its breadth,

'his division of it takes the name of Netherbow, from
the city wall having formerly had an arched gate or
bow at’this place.

Here the central hill is again crossed by two streets,

G
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the one sloping to the south being named St Mary’s
Wynd, the other going down the hill to the northward,
Leith Wynd. Before the erection of the bridges, these
lanes formed the principal communication between the
city and the North and South districts; and that of
Leith Wynd formed the entrance to the suburb of the
Calton.

The main street from these lanes, down to the Palace
of Holyroodhouse, assumes the name of Canongate.
The buildings in this quarter are inferior to those of
the upper part of the High Street ; but there are two
handsome modern streets, which cross it at right an-

les ; the one called St John’s Street, running towards
the iouth ; the other, named New Street, towards the
north.

Nearly in the middle of the Canongate, on the north
side, stands the town-house and prison of this suburb ;
and a lttle farther down, on the same side, stands the
church, an ancient Gothic building, in the form of a
cross. The Palace of Holyroodhouse, and the ruins
of the adjacent chapel, form the termination of the
city in this direction. In this division of the town
there formerly stood two crosses, in the middle of the
street ; the one called St John’s Cross ; the other the
Girth Cross, so named from its being the boundary of
the Sanctuary of Holyroodhouse. It was at the last of
these that the gallant Marquis of Montrose met his
fate. Both crosses have been long removed, but their
site is marked by a stellated arrangement of the cause-
way stones.

The Southern District of the city occupies the rising
ground on the opposite side of the central ridge. The
buildings in this quarter contain a mixture of the an-
cient and modern styles of building. The suburbs
called Potterrow and Pleasance are of the former de-
seription ; the fine squares called George’s Square,
Brown’s Square, and Argyle Square, are of the latter.

George’s Square is by far the most extensive in this
quarter, being 570 by 500 feet. It is neatly laid out
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in shrubbery and flower borders, and is bounded on
the west and partly on the south b{ the public walk
called the Meadows. Buccleugh Place, a street of re-
cent erection, divides a part of the square from the
Meadows on the south.

. To the west of George’s Square, and separated from
it by the central walk of the Meadows, stands Watson’s
Hospital, and a little to the north-west of this last is
Heriot's Hospital, a very elegant Gothic building.
Westwardsfrom Watson’s [Tospital was lately erected the
Merchant Maiden Hospital ; and still farther on, on
rising ground west from Burntsfield Links, stands
Gillespie’s Hospital. A new street of neat little houses,
with small gardens attached, called Gilmore Street,
runs to the west from the Links till it nearly joins the
basin of the Union Canal ; and handsome villas border
the road which bounds this public property, till near
the ancient castle of Merchiston.

At the southern extremity of the South Bridge, in
a street which extends to the eastward, are situated
the commodious edifices of the Royal Infirmary and
High School ; and opposite to this street, on the north
side of the College, is the lane which leads to Argyle
and Brown’s Squares. ‘The new University stands at
tie southern extremity of South Bridge Street, on
the west ; and gives nawe to the streets, which, unfor-
tunately for the appearance of this building, are crowd-
ed around it.

_Beyond this building the line takes the name of
Nicholson’s Street, on both sides of which are several
stoall squares and streets, and the city on the east is
terminated by the ancient suburb called the Pleasance,
and some lately erceted streets running eastward from
1t towards Salisbury Craigs. On the west side of Nichol-
son’s Street, and near its termination, stands a handsome
Gothic building, the meeting-house of Dr Jamieson’s
tongregation.

Continued in the same line is St Patrick’s Square ;
and still farther south a road has been formed through
the grounds of Newington tojoin the London road by
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Carlisle, which, meeting other roads, forms the principal
entrance to the city in Sxis direction.  On both sides of
this road, and witzin a few years, elegant streets have
been formed, which, from the Jittle gardens and flower
plots attached to the houses, combine the advantages of’
town and country residences.

Though the houses in this division of the city are
less ele%ant than those in the northern quarter, and
not built with such a regard to uniformity ; yet in
cities where stone buildings are less common than in
Edinburgh, the edifices in this quarter would make 2
figure not a little conspicuous.

The Northern District of the city, generally called
the New Town, was first projected in 1752 but the
magistrates at that time being unable to procure an
extension of the royalty, the execution of the design
was suspended until the year 1767. In that year an
act of parliament was obtained, by which the royalty
was extended over the fields to the northward of the
city ; and the plan of the present buildings was de-
signed by Mr James Craig, architect, and adopted by
the magistrates.

According to this plan, a canal was to be made
through the North Loch, and the northern bank of it
was to be laid out in terraces. A considerable num-
ber of gentlemen, on the faith of this plan with regard
to the proposed canal,accordingly erected clegant houses
on the spot fronting the projected undertaking. The
magistrates, in the mean time, had thought proper to
alter this design, and feued out the spot intended for
the canal and terraces, and a number of mean irregular
buildings, and work-houses for tradesmen, were built.
This deviation was immediately complained of by the
proprietors of the houses in the New Town ; but as the
magistrates showed no inclination to grant any redress,
a law suit was commenced against them before the Court
of Session. In that court the cause was given against the,
pursuers, who thereupon appealed to the House ot
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Lords. Here the decision of the Conrt of Session
was reversed, and the cause remitted to the considera-
tion of their Lordships. Atlength, after an expensive
contest, matters were accommodated between theparties.
The principal basis of this accommodation was, that
some part of the ground was to be laid out in terraces
and a canal ; but the time of disposing of it in that
manner was reserved to the Lord President of the Court
of Session, and the Lord Chief Baron of the Exchequer.

The New Town may be regarded as consisting of
two parts: the one, the New Town which was de-
signed in 1767, and which is now completed ; the
other, the additional buildings erected or erecting to
the east, west, and north of the former.

The first of these divisions, which stands upon the
horizontal ridge on the north side of the Old Town, is

id out in the form of a parallelogram, whose sides
measure 3900 feet by 1090. The principal longi~
tudinal streets are three; George’s Street, Prince’s
Street, and Queen’s Street. George’s Street extends
along the centre of the New Town, and divides it into
two equal parts. This street, whichis 115 feet broad,
has no rival in Europe, or perhaps in the world, for
the grandeur of its appearance, the elegance of its ar-
chitecture, or its exact uniformity. It is terminated
on the east end by a beautiful square, called St An-
drew’s Square ; and on the west by another, of most
superb buildings, called Charlotte Square. On the
east side of St Andrew’s Square, in a recess from the
other buildings, stands an elegant edifice, occupied as
an office for the Excise, and opposite to it, at the
western termination of the street, St George’s Church,
a heavy building, with a miniature dome in imitation of
St Paul’s, On the north side of George’s Street is an
clegant church, with a handsome spire ; and imme-
diately opposite is the Hall of the Royal College of
Physicians. Farther westward, on the south side,
stand the Assembly Rooms, which have been lately

¢ 2
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decorated by ‘a posthumous portico extending over the
foot pavement.

Parallel to George’s Street, forming the sides of the
parallelogram, are Queen’s Street and Prince’s Street ;
the former a terrace overlooking the descending grounds
on the north ; the latter the North Loch, and having
a view of the back part of the lofty buildings of the
Old Town.

St John's Chapel, a light Gothic building of elegant
design, stands near the western termination of Prince’s
Street ; and the eastern continuation of Queen’s Street
has been lately ornamented by St Paul’s Chapel, a very
handsome Gothic structure. Both of these places of
worship were erected by subscription, by members of
the Scottish Episcopal Chureh.

There are also two other longitudinal streets, named
Thistle Street and Rose Street, the first running be-
tween Queen’s Street and George’s Street, the second
between Prince’s Street and George’s Street.  These
are built in a style of less elegance, for the accommoda-
tion of shopkeepers and others. Seven streets intersect
the parallelogram at right angles, from Prince’s Street
on the south to Queen’s Street on the north.

At the castern end of Prince’s Street stands the
Register Office, a most superb edifice ; and opposite
to it is the Theatre, a small mean building, which,
however neatly fitted up within, is externally unworthy
of the Scottish metropolis.

From this point, and in a line with Prince's Street,
the new approach to the city by the Regent's Bridﬁc'
commences. The act of parliament authorizing the
erection of this bridge, and the formation of the road,
the most splendid of the recent improvements of Edin-
burgh, was passed in 1814, The foundation-stones of
the Bridge and new Jail were laid on 19th September
1815, by Sir John Marjoribanks ; the work was begun
in August 1816, and finished in March 1819. It is
exccuted, as well as the connected buildings, in the

4
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Grecian style of architecture. ‘The arch over the Low
Calton is semicircular, and 50 feet in width, At the
north front it is 45 feet in height, and at the south
front 54 feet 2 inches, the difference of height being
occasioned by the ground declining to the south. The
height at the nortﬁr side of the arch from the Low
Calton to the street on the top of the bridge is 50 feet
9 inches, and at the south side 59 feet; the depth of
the arch from north to south 82 feet 6 inches. The
roadway of the bridge is formed by a number of re-
verse arches on each side, which support the rocky
materials with which the space was filled up, and of’
which the road is formed. The great arch is orna-
mented on the south and north by two open arches
supported by elegant columns of the Corinthian order,
that on the north having this inscription :—* Z%¢ Re-
gent’s Bridge, commenced in the ever memorable year
1815, Sir John Marjoribanks of Lees, Baronet, M. P.
Lord Provost of the City. Archibald Elliot, Architecl.”

The street along the bridge is named Waterloo
Place ; and the houses extend on the north side about
442 feet, and on the south side about 349 feet, and
53 feet deep on both sides. The width of the street
is 75 feet. 'The height of the buildings for the street
is 55 feet, from the bottom of the arch on the south
114, and on the north 105 feet.

The purchase of the old propert'y to oYen up this
communication was L. 52,000, and the building areas
sold for the immense sum of L. 85,000,

On the north side of the Regent’s Bridge, to the
east of the arch,'is the Waterloo Tavern and Hotel,
the funds for building which were raised by sub-
scription, and are held in shares, bearing interest.
This tavern contains a coffeeroom 80 feet by 40; a
large room for public dinners 80 feet by 40, and 34 feet
high, besides numerous other apartments. The esti-
mated expence of this building is about L. 30,000.

In the centre of the pile of buildings, to the west of

e arch, on the south side of the bridge, is the Stamp
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Office. 'The new Post Office is immediately to the east
ot the orch on the same side, and is estimated to cost
in erection L. 15,000.

At the extremity of the north side of the bridge,
and nearly opposite to the jail, the incorporations of
Calton have erected a handsome hall for their public
mcetinis, the dimensions of which are 60 feet by 25,
and lighted from the top. It was founded in October
1818, and finished in May 1819, and is of the same
height as the wall of the i;urying-grouud, to which it
forms an appropriate termination.

The New Prison, a neat pile of building in the
Saxon style of architecture, stands nearly opposite this
hall ; and on the high ground to the northward, and
within the walls, is tﬁe governor’s house, a picturesque
building in the Gothic style. A little farther to the
cast stands Bridewell, from which the new road winds
along the brow of the hill, overlooking the Old Town,
and having a view of the Castle and part of the New
Town, till it crosses the low ground by a bridge at
Abbey Hill, and joins the London road near the vil-
lage of Jock’s Lodge.

To the cast of Bridewell, a Jail for Debtors is ir-
tended to be erected, of which the massive Gothic
gate and surrounding wall are already built.

The New Town was begun to be built at its eastern
extremity. The houses in this quarter are infevior to
those in the {)nrts more recently erected. As the
streets proceed westward, however, the elegance of
the houses improves, and many of these are finished
in the best style of modern architecture,

In addition to the New Town, a farther plan has
been formed of extending the city on the northward
to the Water of Leith, and eastward towards the town
and port of Leith. Part of this plan is already exe-
cuted, and the remainder is rapidly going forward.
The streets of this part of the town are built on the
descending ground north of Queen’s Street, from which
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they are separated by a large open space, which, at
the extremities, is laid out in gardens. The direction
of these streets is similar to those of the first erected
streets ; that is to say, they run from east to west, and
are intersected from north to south by cross streets
corresponding to those which run in that direction in
the former streets. The very elegant street called
Heriot Row, and its continuation, Abercromby Place,
front Queen’s Street ; and Northumberland Street and
Great King Street are beautiful streets still farther to
the north.  In the plan of this part of the city, it is
proposed to build a Circus at the west end of King
Street, the Custom House forming the termination on
the east ; and, to vary the appearance, a curved or
crescent form has been adopted in laying out the prin-
cipal streets. .

Northward from these, and in a line with Hanover
and Dundas Streets, bridges over the mill-lead and
Water of Leith are intended to connect the New
Town with the streets built on the grounds of War-
riston. Farther west, the grounds in the neighbour«
hood of the village of Stockbridge have been laid out
into handsome streets ; and the sides of the great road
to Queensferry have been ornamented to a considerable
distance by neat villas, having all the advantages of
country residences. The situation of these, as well as
the contemplated extension, will be best understood
by a reference to the map prefixed to this volume.
Towards the east of tl:e parallelogram, the ground
rises gently, after which it descends rapidly towards
the Calton Hill on the south, and York Place, part of
the extended New Town, on the north. On the top
of this rising ground stands James’s Square, the
1ouses of which, not being brought within the compass
of the plan which regulated the other buildings, rise
to a considerable height.

At the north base of the high ground upon which
James’s Square is built stands the Circus, now named
the Pantheon, and immediately adjacent to it the new

»
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Roman Catholic Chapel. From this point Broughton
Street runs to the northward, and several elegant
streets, the principal longitudinal direction of which is
from cust towest, as in the former partof the New Town,
have been erected in this quarter. Picardy Place, a
continuation of York Place, is an elegant row of build-
ings, so named from being built on the site of a ma-
nufiactory which was long carried on by a colony of
weavers from the province of that name in France.

At this extremity of the town, the great road to the
port of Leith winds to the eastward ; and for a consi-
derable way on both sides, it is bounded by elegant
rows of buildings. About the middle of this road,
and on the west side, a street has been formed
through the lands of Pilrig, which leads to the fishing
village of Newhaven, a station for passage-boats, and
where a neat harbour has been lately bui%t.

The extent of Edinburgh from east to west is about
two English miles, and from north to south nearly
the same. The circumference of the whole is nearly
eight miles,

ANTIQUITILS.

Uxnper this title it is purposed to give an account
of such objects of ancient erection as do not come un-
der the other general heads of arrangement.

City Wall.
Edinburgh, for a long series-of ages, was open and
defenceless. Exposed so much to the attacks of ene-
mies from the northern parts of the neighbouring
kingdom, it is rather remarkable that it was not ear-
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lier fortified. But the Scottish princes, in these ages,
when enemies advanced into the country whom they
could not repel, retired to the districts of the king-
dom beyond the Forth, and sought their safety among
rocks and mountains, the insurmountable barriers of
nature.

It was not until the reign of James II. that the de-
sign of fortifying Edinburgh was first determined on.
That prince granted the citizens a charter, dated the
30th April 1450, which runs in the following terms:
“ Foralsmykle as we ar informit be oure well belo-
vettis the provost and communite of Edynburgh, yat
i’ni dreid Sle evil and skeith of oure ennemies of Eng-
and, we have in favour of yame, and for the zele and
affectioune that we have to the provest and commu-
nite of oure said burgh, and for the comoune proffit,
grauntit to thaim full licence and leiff to fosse, bul-
wark, wall, toure, turate, and uther wais to strength
oure forsaids burgh, in quhat maner of wise or degree
that beis scne maste speﬂc!'ull to thaim.” James also,
at the same time, to enable the magistrates to carry
the above design into exccution, empowered them to
lay a tax upon the valued rents of all property within
the city and suburbs.

In consequence of these grants a wall was erected
for the security and defence of the metropolis. It be-
gan at the north-east part of the rock on which the
Castle is situated. At this place a strong tower was
crected, denominated the Well-house Tower, (popu-~
larly corrupted into Wallace’s Tower,) from its vici-
hity to a well. This building, the ruins of which
still remain, was entered on the inside of the wall by
two doors, which led to the first and second Hoors.
It was of a circular figure; and, towards the west and
horth-west, was perforated with narrow lights and
loop-holes for defence. From this tower the wall ex-
tended eastward along the south side of the North
Loch, till it came nearly opposite to the place where
the reservoir for water now stands. Here it winded
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up the hill, at the top of which it was intersected by
a gate, forming a communication between the town
and the castle.  In going down the opposite side of
the hill, the wall went in an oblique direction to the
first angle in the West Bow, where there was a gate
named the Upper Bow Port, to distinguish it from the
Nether Bow, or eastern gate of the city.

From the Upper Bow Port the wall took an eastern
direction, on the south side of the town, on the brow
of the hill, till it came to the lane called Gray’s Close.
At this place was likewise a port or gate. It then pro-
ceeded in a north-east direction, and joined itself to
the buildings on the north side of the High Street.
Another gate, which formed the principal entrance to
the town on the east, was erected at this place, called
the Nether Bow Port. From this port to the foot of
Leith Wynd, the city was defended by a range of
houses ; and on the north side by the morass called
the North Loch, except the space from the foot of
Leith Wynd to the bottom of Halkerston’s Wynd,
where the loch terminated. How the city was de-
fended in this quarter at this period does not appear.

Soon after the erection of this wall, a new street
seems to have been formed in the valley on its south-
ern side, named the Cowgate. In the sixteenth cen-
tury this street was inhabited by the nobility, the se-
nators of the College of Justice, and other persons of
the first distinction. 3

The extension of the city, by the addition of this
street, soon rendered an enlargement of the fortifica-
tions necessary. _After the battle of Flowden, accord-
ingly, in 1513, the town-council being alarmed for the
safety of the city, and in particular that part of it of
late erection which lay without the wall, raised mo-
ney to erect a rampart on the south side of the new
buildings. y

This wall bégins at the south-east part of the rock
on which the Castle stands. From thence it descends
obliquely to the West Port ; then ascends part of the
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hill on the opposite side called the High Riggs ; after
which it runs eastward, with but little variation in its
course, to the Bristo and Potterrow Ports, and from
thence to the Pleasance. Here it takes a northerly
direction to the Cowgate Port, situated at the eastern
extremity of that street ; and, ascending the lane call-
ed St Mary’s Wynd, joins the old town wall a little
to the south of the Nether Bow Port. This wall in-
cluded within its circuit the ground on which the pre-
sent buildings of the University, the Infirmary, and
the High s«:Tmol, are erected, and parts of it may be
still seen in their neighbourhood:

In 1560, the common council agreed with one Mur-
doch Walker, a mason, to build the town wall from
Teith Wynd to the eastern end of the North Loch,
with a house at the western end for the keeper, which
finished the defences of the town in this quarter.

In the year 1620, the common council having pur-
chased the lands called the High Riggs, extending to
ten acres, resolved to inclose them likewise within the
town wall ; in consequence of this, a new rampart was
built, which extends from the West Port to the So-
Clety or Bristo Port, including the grounds on which
Heriot’s Hospital and the Charity Work House now
stand. This well, in the part of it which runs up the
hill southward from the West Port, and in the vici-
hity of the Charity Work House, is still pretty entire.

"The ports or gates in the original and first erected
wall of Edinburgh were four in number. That on
the Castle Hill was pulled down on the extension of
the wall which included the Cowgate ; the one in the

Vest Bow stood for a much longer time, and was only

femoved about the beginning of the last century.
The two other ports were the Nether Bow Port, and
that in Gray’s Close, the latter of which seems never
to have been of much importance.

In the last extended wall, the gates were nine in
Number, Of the most conspicuous only of these we
shall take particalar notice.

i
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The West Port or gate, which received its name
from its situation at the western extremity of the city,
stood at the lower end of the Grass Market, in the
valley between the Castle Hill on the north, and that
of the High Riggs on the south. It was erected
about the year 1514, and still retains its ancient name.
Though the gate itself is now removed, yet the wall
on both sides may be seen. Through tKis entrance
lie the roads to the southern, western, and northern
parts of the kingdom. Without the wall, in this quar-
ter, is a large suburb called Portsburgh, of which the
magistrates of Edinburgh are superiors.

Bristo Port.—To the south-cast of the West Port
stands that of Bristo, so denominated from the pre-
sent suburb of this name. At its first erection in 1515,
it was from its vicinity to the monastery of Greyfriars
called the Greyfriars’ Port ; afterwards, at the erection
of the Society of Brewers in its neighbourhood, it re-
ceived the name of the Society Port; and at last the
name which it now holds. The sauburb of Bristo an-
cieng( went by the name of Gallowgate, but at what
period, or on what account its neme was changed, is
not now known.

The Petterrow Port is situated a little to the cast-
ward of the Bristo Port. It was at first known by the
name of Kirk of Field Port, from its vicinity to the
Collegiate Church of St Mary in the Field. After-
wards it went by the name of St Mary’s Port from the
said church ; and it received its present name from a
gottery, or manufacture of earthenware, being esta-

lished in its neighbourhood.

The Cowgate Port stood a_considerable way to the
north-east of the Potterrow Port, at the foot of the
street called the Cowgate. It was erected about the
year 1516, and still retains its first name.

At a short distance northward from the Cowgate
Port, on the top of the hill, stood the Nether Bow
Port, so called from its situation at the eastern and
lower end of the city. The first port or gate of this
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name stood at the bottom of the High Street, at the
place where it begins to contract in width. This
original port, standing so far in an area within the
wall, not being convenient for defence, was pulled
down, and a new one built, by the adherents of Queen
Mary, in the year 1571. This second gate was also
removed, and in 1606 a building was erected a little to
the east of the formey.

In the proceedings which followed the execution of
Captain Porteous by the populace in 1736, this port
was, by a bill passed in the House of Lords, ordered
to be demolished, and the city laid open on that side.
But representations being made in the House of Com-
mons against the bill, the Nether Bow Port at this
time escaped demolition. It was removed, however,
by order of the magistrates, in 1764, being found
to encumber the street. This port was the most
ornamented of any of the city gates. It consisted
of two floors, and was surmounted with a hand-
some spire, Though the architecture was of an infe-
rior kind to what the metropolis can now boast of, yet
this port formed, from its situation, a considerable or-
Nament to a city almost destitute of spires.

Through this gate lay the roads to the eastern and
northern parts otslt‘he kingdom.

The other ports or gates of Edinburgh were of
smaller size, and not so much frequented as those just
mentioned. - At the foot of Leith Wynd was a gate
known by the name of the Leith Wynd Port, and adja~
cent to it was a wicket, giving access to the TFrinity
Chureh and Hospital, which still remains. At the
foot of the lane called Halkerston’s Wynd was ano-
ther, which, as well as the former, was built about the
year 1560. Both of these were pulled down some
i"""s ago ; the others noticed above were removed in

785.

A small arched gate, at the bottom of the Canongate,
and which gave entrance to that suburb, is still stand«
ng. It is known by the name of the Water Gate,
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Cross of Edinburgh.

Edinburgh Cross was an ancient structure of an oc«
tagonal form. It was composed of Gothic and Gre-
cian architecture, and measured sixteen feet in diame-
ter, and fifteen in height, exclusive of a column which
rose from the middle. = A small Ionic pillar ornamented
each corner from the base, on the top of which pro-
jected a kind of circular bastions, with modern arches

tween them. The city arms were placed over the
tog of the arch which faced the east; and over the
other there were as many heads, cut in the form of
medallions, as was the town arms ; but the heads ap-
peared to be of much older workmanship than any
other part of the fabric. It cunnot now be discovered
whom these heads were designed to represent; but
the Gothic barbarity with which they were executed
bears the appearance of the lower empire. The entry
to the building was by a door facing the east, from
which a stair i;ed up to the platform on the top. From
the centre of the platform rose a column of a single
stone, twenty-one feet high, and eighteen inches di2-
meter, curiously spangled with thistles, and orna-
mented on the top with a Corinthian capital ; above
this there was a unicorn, very well executed in
stone.

This building was pulled down in the year 1756,
on account of its incommeding the street. ~The mid-
dle pillar is still preserved in the pleasure grounds at
Drum, four miles east from Edinburgh, on the road
leading to Dalkeith ; and four of the heads are in the
tower built by the late Mr Walter Ross, at Deanhaugh,
Stockbridge. One ‘of them has a casque ; another i
crowned with a wreath resembling a turban ; the th}l'd
has its hair turned upwards, with the ends standing
cut like points from the back part, and has over the
shoulder a twisted staff, as if intended for a sceptre-
The fourth resembles the head of a woman, with folds
of linen artlessly wrapt round it.
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_ At this cross formerly all public proclamations were
issued, and rejoicings held. It was the place where
titled criminals suffered the punishment due to their
crimes. Here also merchants and others met on the
market-days to transact their business ; and, though a
more commodious place has been since erected by the
magistrates of the city for this tPurpose, (the Ex-
change,) yet, either through the force of habit or at-
tachment to the place, the merchants still continue to
meet on the radiated pavement which marks the site
of the ancient Cross.

In the suburb of the Canongate, there formerly stood
two crosses, both of which have been long since re-
moved. One of these, however, consisting of a small
column on a base of a few circular steps, is erected
against the wall of the Canongate Town House, and
serves the purpose of a pillory for that district.

Among the antiquities of Edinburgh may be men-
tioned the house of the great Scottish reformer John
Knox. It stands on the north side of the foot of the
High Street, and, projecting into the street, reduces
it nearly one half of its width. On the front to the
west is a figure in alfo relievo, pointing up with its
finger to a radiated stone, on which is sculptured the
name of the Divinity in three languages :

©EO=
DEUS
GOD

The edifice itself is one of the oldest stone houses in
Edinburgh. But it is said that it is to be sreedily re-.
moved, for the purpose of erecting a new church, and
opening a view of the picturcsque buildings on the
Calton Hill.

Roman Sculpture.

Immediately opposite to the house of the Reformer,
on the south side of the street, and in the front wall
of a house, are two heads in alto relievo, supposed by

H2
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antiquaries to be of Roman sculpture. Between the
heads, on a square tablet, is engraved the following

inscription :
qn . fudote
bult? tui.ve
cerig. pane
ano. 63

“ In sudore vultus tui vesceris pane. Anno——
From this inscription many have lf:en led to suppose,
that these figures were intended to represent the first
pair ;* but this is now generally believed to be a mis-
take, the middle stone tablet, on which is the inserip-
tion, being discovered to have been inserted at a pe-
riod long subsequent to that in which the figures are
supposed to have been formed. These heads were
formerly in the wall of a house on the north side of
the street, (according to Maitland,) over the door of
a baker’s shop. From whence they came before that
period is not known. But the honest baker, whose
readinﬁ in history extended not perhaps much farther
than the Sacred Volume, and probably supposing them
to be representations of Adam and Eve, might have
added this inscription in allusion to his trade. The
sculpture of these figures is uncommonly fine ; and
they are conjectured by antiquaries to be likenesses of
the Roman emperor Severus, and his consort Julia,
from their resemblance to the heads on the coins
that prince,

The Hare Stone,

From which the standard of James I'V. was display-
ed at the muster of his army before he marched to the
battle of Flowden, may still be seen built into the wall

* Gen. iil. 19.—ln the sweat of thy fuce shalt thon
bread.
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on the left hand of the high road to Boroughmoorhead,
not far from Burntsfield Links. This remnant of an-
tiquity has acquired an additional interest since the
publication of * Marmion” by Walter Scott, Esq.
Highest, and midmost, was descried
The royal banner floating wide,
The staff, a pine-tree strong and straight,
Pitched deeply in a massive stone,
Which still in memory is shown,
Yet bent beneath the standard’s weight,
‘Whene’er the western wind unrolled,
Witk toil, the huge and cumbrous fold,
And gave to view the dazzling field,
Where in proud Scotland’s royal shield
The ruddy lion ramped in gold.

Dhe Wryte's House

Was a large building which stood nearly where
Gillespie’s Hospital now stands. A great” deal of
sculpture was lavished on this house, which, it is to
be regretted, was not preserved when the building was
taken down. The western part of it bore the date
1376,—the wing at the eastern side was built in the
reign of Robert ITT.—and the centre building, connect-
ing the wings, in the reign of James VI. Arnot says
1t was built for a mistress of James IV. Over the top
windows of this central part, and fronting the north,
were two rude figures, one with a distaff and spindle,
and antother with a spade, and the best edition of the
following distich we have seen, viz.

Quhan Adam delvit and Evah span,
Qubhar war a’ the gentles than ?

A few hundred yards to the west stands Merchiston
Custle, rendered famous as having been the residence

of Baron Napier, the celebrated inventor of the loga-
Yithms, !

A house, said to have been that of the Regent Mur-
ray, may still be seen in a narrow lane called Croft-



92 ANTIQUITIES,

angrie, near the Palace of Holyroodhouse. There is
nothing very remarkable in its appearance.

St Mergaret’s Well is an ancient Gothic structure
of beautiful workmanship, a little to the south of the
village of Restalrig. It is of a circular form, and sup-
ported in the centre by a handsome pillar. Another
well, which was once in great repute for the cures
which its waters were said to have accomplished, may
still be seen at the house of St Catherine’s, three miles
from Edinburgh.

Religious Houses.

Of the religious houses in Edinburgh at the period
of the Reformation, it will not be necessary, as few re-
mains of them now exist, to give a very minute ac-
count. The most considerable of these was the Mo-
nastery of Black Friars, which occupied the area where
the High School at present stands. This monastery
was founded by Alexander II. in 1230, and was an-
ciently denominated Mansio Regis, from having at one
time been the residence of that monarch. The buildings
connected with the monastery, church, and the attached
§ardcns, extended, on the south side of the Cowgate,

rom the Potterrow to the Pleasance. The lane called
Blackfriars Wynd belonged to this body ; and the re-
mains of the episcopal house of the Archbishop of St
Andrews may still be seen at its south-east corner.
A part of another building, connected with this
religious establishmént, stili; exists in the College
Wynd, with the following inscription in Saxon cha-
racters over the entrance, Ave Maria, gratia plena,
Dominus tecum.

This monastery was burnt down in 1528 ; and was
scarcely rebnilt, when the Reformation occasioned the
separation of its proprietors. The provost of the col-
Jege sold his interest in the lands to the magistrates ;
and they afterwards obtained from Queen Mary a gift
of all the rcligious houses and chapels in the city,
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with their lands and revenues, for the purpose of
building an hospital and supporting their poor. But
James V1. dispensed with this erection, and authorized
them to apply those funds to other purposes.

The Church of St Mary in the Field, connected with
the monastery of Black I‘riars, stood near the site of
the present university. It was a large and handsome
building, in wiich a provost and ten prebendaries of-
ficiated. In the provost’s house was perpetrated the
murder of Darnley. This church was celebrated as
being the place where the meeting of Scots ecclesias-
tics was held, convened by Cardinal Bagimont, the
papal nuncio, for ascertaining the amount of’ the church
benefices. This valuation, afterwards called Bagi-
uiont’s roll, was the standard by which the court of
Rome taxed the Scottish church.

The Monastery of Grey Friars was situated on the
south side of the Grass Market, nearly opposite to the
West Bow. It was founded by James I. for the re-
ception of monks of the Franciscan order, who, at his
rulucst, had come from Cologne, to tenant it. Cor-
nelius of Zurich, a man of some reputation for learn-
ing, was the head of the order; and it formed
the chief school for divinity and philosophy in the
metropolis, till the demolition of the ancient convent
at the Reformation. The gardens belonging to this
order have been long occupied as a public cemetery.

Eastward from this convent stood an hospital called
MMaison Dieu ; which, about the beginning of the six-
teenth century, had become ruinous, as on its site a
chapel and hospital, dedicated to St Mary Magdalen,
was at that time erected by a citizen of Edinburgh, of
the name of Macqueen. This foundation was design-
ed to support a chaplain_and seven poor men, and the
Mmanagement of the jﬂféﬁf was left to the Incor-
voration of Hammermen. The funds of this hospital

\ y
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are now, it is believed, applied towards the support of
the poor of that body; and the chapel, to which a
new entrance has been lately built, is used as the hall
of that incorporation. Itstandsin the Cowgate, near-
ly opposite to the lane called Libberton’s Wynd.

On the north side of the street called Castle Hill,
and in the lane called Blyth’s Close, are the remains of
a private oratory and house of Mary of Lorraine,
Queen Dowager of Scotland. Over the door, in Saxon
characters, is inscribed, “ Laus et honor Deo,” and the
c{pher of Maria Regina. In several of the adjacent
closes were similar oratories or buildings set apart for
religious purposes, which may still be recognized by
their vacaut niches and inscriptions.

The Chapel of Holyrood stood in the lower F‘ll‘f
of the old churchyard of St Giles, now occupied by
what is called the Back Stairs. It was erected in comn-
memoration of Christ crucified, and was demolished in
the end of the sixteenth century. At the head of
Bell’'s Wynd was also a chapel and hospital, known
by the name of Maison Dieu, now occupicd by 2
building called the Clam Shell Turnpike.

St Mary’s Chapel, founded by Elizabeth Countess
of Ross in 1505, stood near the middle of Niddry’s
Wynd, andd was taken down at the building of the
South Bridge. Niddry Street still retains the name
and ncarly the situation of the old wynd. The Incor-
poration of Wrights and Masons having acquired the
property of this chapel in 1618 for a hall, were, from
this circumstance, known by the name of the United
Incorporations of Mary’s Chapel; but their new hall,
which still goes by the ancient name, is situated in
Burnet’s Close, High Street.

Farther down the street, upon the west side of St
Mary’s Wynd, stood a chapel and convent of Cister-
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tian nuns, and an hospital dedicated to the Virgin
Mary, of which little further is known, but the
circumstance of having given the name to the lane
in which it stood, unﬁ which was then one of the
principal entries to the city from the south.

The Hospital of our Lady, founded in 1479, by
Thomas Spens, Bishop of Aberdeen, for the reception
of twelve poor men, was situated in Leith Wynd. It

e the property of the town-council of Edinburgh
at the Reformation, who, in 1619, converted this hos-
pital into a work-house for the manufacture, by its
inmates, of coarse woollen stuffs. It still retains the
name of Paul's Work.

North from this hospital was a chapel dedicated to
St Ninian. When it was founded is unknown; but
n{mrt of the building was in existence in 1778, at
which time the baptismal font was removed for pre-
servation, by Mr Walter Ross, to Deanhaugh, Stock-
bridge, where he erected a tower, still to be seen,
chiefly formed of the ornamented stones of ancient
buildings.

St Thomas's Hospital, founded in the reign of James

. by George Creighton, Bishop of Dunkeld, stood at

the foot of the Canongute, immediately to the west of
the Watergate. The patronage of this hospital was
vested by the founder in a certain series of heirs named
by him,” In 1617 the chaplains and beidsmen, with
consent of the patron, sold their right to the bailies
of Canongate, who rebuilt the hospital, now become
Tuinous, for the use of the poor of the district. In 1634,
the magistrates sold the patronage to the kirk-session
of the parizh ; but its revenues having been dilapi-
dated, tﬁe building was in 1747 converted into coach-

louses, and was finally pulled down in 1778.

A chapel, dedicated to the Virgin Mary, was situate
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ed at the foot of a lane in the suburb, named Ports-
burgh, called Lady Wynd ; but no remains of it are
now to be traced.

The Chapel of St Roque (of which a ref)resenmion
is preserved in Grose’s Antiquities of Scotland, and in
Arnot's History of Edinburgh) stood in the lands of
Canaan, formerly the Boroughmoor, about a mile to
the south of the city. Around it was a public ceme-
tery, where those who had died of the plague were in-
terred. About the year 1748, the proprietor of the
ground employed workmen to remove this chapel ;
but the scaffolding having given way, by which some
of them were killed, the attempt was looked upon as
sacrilege, and the building remained till the year 1803,
when less scrupulons workmen finally removed it.
On the ground where it stood, and the adjacent lands,
neat villas have been erected. To the cast of the chapel
of St Roque was a chapel dedicated to St John the Bap-
tist,elgng since removed, and of which nothing is re-
corded.

The Monastery of St Catharine of Sienna, found=
ed by Lady St Clair of Roslin, and dedicated to St
Catherine of Sienna, stood a little to the south of the
east end of the Meadows. A fragment of the wall still
remains. At the Reformation, the magistrates seized
upon the revenue of this convent, and it was wit
some difficulty that they were compelled to allow the
unprotected inmates some part of their own funds for
their future maintenance. The narrow lane which
led to this religious establishment still retains the
name of Sciennes, or Sheens.

Opposite to the convent of Sienna, on the east side
of Newington, was a chapel, erected on a little emi-
nence, called the Holy Mount, or Mount Hooly, be-
longing to the Knights Templars. In aﬂerward'g dig-
ging the ground, several bodies were found buried
cross-legged, with swords by their sides.
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St Leonard's Chapel and Hospital were situated on
the east side of the road to Dalkeith. The lands be-
longing to this chapel were granted to the magistrates
of Canongate, by James VI., for the support of St
Thomas’s Hospital ; and were lost in the wreck of the
funds of that charitable establishment. The ground in
t}]Illc] lneighbourhood still bears the name of St Leonard’s

Still nearer to the eity, a little distance from the
town wall, and on the west side of the street called
Pleasance, was a convent dedicated to 8¢ Mary of Plu-
centia, from which the street seems to have taken its
name ; but no vestige of this house now remains.

The ruins of the Chapel and Hermitage of St An-
thony are situated on the north side of Arthur’s Seat,
I view of the road called the Duke’s Walk. The
chapel was 43 feet long, 18 in breadth and the same in
height. At its west end was a tower 19 feet square,
and upwards of 40 in height. But this has long
since fallen down, and the remainder of the building
's hastening to decay. The cell of the hermitage
still remains, a few yards to the west of the chapel. It
15 16 feet long, and about 12 broad. At the foot of
the rock, and at a little distance, is the spring, cele-
brated in an old Scottish ballad by the name of St
Anton’s Well. The monastery of St Anthony, to which
this chapel was an appendage, stood a little to the
north-west of the present church of South Leith, upon
the west side of the lane still denominated St An-
zhopy's Wynd. The seal of the monastery is presery-
¢din the Advocates’ Library.

A Monastery of Carmelite Friars was founded by
the magistrates o Edinburgh in 1526, at Greenside,
nd dedicated to the Holy Cross. But these establish-
nents being suppressed at the Reformation, the build-
g was converted into an hospital for persons affected

1
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with leprosy, and which had heen endowed by John
Robertson, a merchant in Edinburgh, in 1591. No
trace of the hospital now remzins.

The ruins of the Church of Restalrig stand about a
mile east from Edinburgh. It was founded by James
I1I. in honour of the Trinity and the Virgin Mary,
and was endowed by the two next succeeding mo-
narchs. Jawmes V. p{aced there a dean, nine preben-
daries, and two singing boys. It was ordered by the
General Assembly to be demolished as a monument of
idolatry at the commencement of the Reformation. The
great eastern window is still pretty entire. In the
cemetery is a vaulted njausoleum, surmounted with
yew trees, originally the burying place of the Logans
of Restalrig.

POLITICAL AND CIVIL ESTABLISHMENTS.

Edinburgh Castle.

The Castle of Edinburgh is situated on the western
and rugged extremity of the central hill on which the
ancient part of the city is built. As before observed,
itis separated from the buildings of the city by a space
of about 350 feet in length and 300 in breadth. A
parapet wall and railing were erected on the north side
of this terrace in 1817. Thearea of the rock on which
the Castle stands measures about seven English acres.
1t is elevated 383 feet above the level of the sea, and is
accessible only on the eastern side, all the others being
nearly 1|]7rel'pcndicu.lar. : ¥

At the western termination of the Castle Hill is the
outer barrier of the Castle, formed of strong pallisadoes.
Beyond this is a dry ditch, with a draw-bridge and
gate, which is defended on the flanks by two small

12
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batteries, ‘Within the gate is a guard-room, andare-
servoir to supply the garrison with water. Beyond
these on a road “winding upwards, towards the north,
- are two gateways, the first of which is very strong,
and has two porteullises. A little from the gateway,
to the right, is a battery, called Argyle’s Battery, near
which there are store-houses for gun-carriages, and
other implements of artillery. On the northis a grand
store-room and arsenal, which, toEether with the other
magazines in the fort, are capable of containing up-
wards of 80,000 stand of arms. A little farther on
stands the governor’s house, from which the road as-
cends to the chapel of the garrison, which was rebuilt
in 1818. Near the chapel is the main guard-room,
and beyond it on the east a large semicircular plat«
form, called the Half-moon, mounted with twelve,
cighteen, and twenty-four pounders. On the top
of this rampart is erected the flag-staff; and near
it is the ancient well of the garrison, cut through the
solid rock to a great depth. In addition to the battery
mentioned there are several others at different parts of
the circumference of the rampart or wall by which
the brow of the rock is encirc']ti But the fortifica~
tions of the Castle correspond with none of the rules
of art, being built according to the irregular form of
the ﬁrecipice on which they stand.

The highest part of the Castle, which is towards
the south-east, consists of a number of houses in the
form of a square. "This square is nearly 100 feet in di-
ameter, and is used for mustering and exercising the
Soldiers, The houses are chiefly laid out in barracks
for the accommodation of the officers. 'I'he buildings on
the east side of the square were formerly used as the
Yoyal apartments. These apartments are of consider-
able antiquity ; and, from the date 1556 appearing in
the front wal{, seem to have been either built or repaired
atthat period. In a small room on the ground floor in
the south-east corner of the edifice was Mary Queen
of Scots delivered, June 19, 1566, of her only son, James
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V1., afterwards James I. of England, a prince whose
birth was fortunate for the wholeisland, as in his per-
son the crowns of two nations, opposed to each other
from the earliest ages, were at last united. The roof is
divided into four compartments, with a thistle at each

corner, and an imperial crown in the centre, with the
initials M. R.

The Scottish Regalia.

In an apartment in this quarter called the Crown-
room, immediately under the square tower, are de-
posited the Scottish Regalia. T'hese, consisting of the
crown, sceptre, and sword of state, were placed here
on the 26th of March 1707.

It was long doubted, however, whether these ensigns
of Scottish royalty had not been removed ; for, on a
search in this apartment in the year 1794, the commis-
sioners appointed by the royal warrant, in doubt of their
powers, did not cause the chest in which they were
Sflld to be deposited to be opened, and the general be-
lief was, that they were not to be found. Other com-
missioners, however, were appointed by the Prince Re-
gent with the necessary powers ; and on the 5th Fe-
bruary 1818, ‘the large oaken chest in the Crown-room
was forced open, and the relics of the Scottish mo-
narchy were discovered. These were found to consist
of a crown, sceptre, and sword of state, of elegﬂn‘
workmanship, and in perfect preservation.  There
wa:d ml’:;‘or a silverrod of office, said to behthat of the
Lord-Treasurer. A Keeper of the Regalia has been ap-
pointed, and' the public can now beegg:alftiﬁed with the
sight of these venerable and valued relics.

The Crown is of pure gold, and is composed of @
broad fillet which goes round the head, adorned with
twenty-two precious stones ; and between each of thesc
stones is a-large oriental pearl. Above the great circle
is another smaller one, fronted with twenty points,
with diamonds and imitation sapphires alternately-
The points are topped with pearls. The upper cir-
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cle is elevated or heightened into ten crosses-floree,
each having in the centre a large diamond between
four pearls, placed in cross saltire ; and these crosses-
floree are interchanged with_other ten high fleurs-de~
lis, which top the points of the second small circle.
From the upper cirele rise four arches, adorned with
enamelled figures, which meet and close at the top,
surmounted with a globe and cross-patee. In the cen-
tre of the cross-patee is an amethyst, which points the
front of the crown; and behind, on the other side,
is a large pearl. Below this last are the initials J. R.
V. The crown is nine inches in diameter, and in
height, from the under circle to the top of the cross,
six inches. It is turned up with ermine, and the cap,
which was formerly of purple velvet, was changed
to crimson in 1685. The precious stones in the crown
are diamonds, jacinths, oriental garnets, chrysoprises,
and amethysts. The emeralds are doublets, and the
sapphires are imitated in enamel.
. The Sceptre is of silver, double gilt ; the stalk of it
is two feet long, of a hexagonal form, and divided by
three buttons or knobs. Between the first and second
button is the handle ; from the second to the capital
three sides are engraved, the other three are plain.
Upon the top of the stalk is an antique capital of em-
1 leaves, upon the abacus of which are several fi-
gures of Saints. Under these figures are the letters
J. R. V. The sceptre is surmounted by a crystal
globe 2} inches in diameter, and topped with a large
oriental pearl. The whole length of the sceptre is
thirty-four inches. :

The Sword of State is five feet long, and of elegant
workmanship. = The handle and pommel are silver
gilt, and fifteen inches in length; the traverse or
cross seventeen inches and a half. On the blade is
indented in gold letters Jurius II. P. and it was a
present from that pope to James IV. The seabbard
1s of erimson velvet, and richly ornamented.

The Lord-Treasurer’s Rod of Qffice, though not in

12
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the inventory, was found in the chest along with the
regalia, It is of silver gilt, and seems of elegant work-
manship. The large oak chest itself, in which the
whole were contained for so many years, is worthy of
observation.

The Crown-room is neatly fitted up for the exhibi-
tion of these relics of Soott.isrl royalty. They are plac-
ed on a table in the centre of an oval space, inclosed
by an iron railing, and the crown is placed on the ori-
ginal square cushion of crimson velvet found along
with it. The room is lighted by four lamps, and hung
with crimson.

Two persons in the dress of the wardens of the Tower
attend to show the Regalia.

There was formerly a room for the meeting of the
Scottish parliament in the great square on the top
of the Castle ; and the royal gardens were situated in
the marsh afterwards called the North Loch. The
king’s stables were on the south side, where the houses
still retain the name, and the place to the south-west,
where the barns were established, is known by the
name of Castlebarns.

The Castle of Edinburgh being a place of little
stren%]th, is princiﬁally used as a station for soldiers.
But the old barracks not being sufficiently large to ac-
commodate the number thought necessary to be station=
ed in this partof the kingdom, a large range of new bar-
racks was begun to be built on the south-west side in
1796, sufficient to quarter about twelve hundred men.
This new building is 120 feet in length, by 50 in
breadth, and contains five floors or stories. A spire
and clock was also erected on one of the old buildings
in 1795; which has since been repaired and altered ;
and a new chapel for the accommodation of the garrison
has been lately built, Though the new barracks
are perhaps constructed on the best plan for the ac-
commodation of the soldiers, yet the picturesque effect
of the ancient buildings of the Castle, when seen from
the west, is much hurt by the contrast of the plain
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and ponderous new buildings, with the turreted re=
mains of the ancient fortifications. The view from
the ramparts is very extensive, and is much admired.

Edinburgh Castle has a governor, generally a Scot=
tish nobleman, a deputy-governor who resides in the
garrison, a fort<major, a store-keeper, master-gunuer,
and chaplain.  With its present extended buildings it
ean accommodate upwards of 2000 men.

The antiquity of the Castle is at least equal to that
of the city, and perhaps the security derived from the
protection of the one, might have been the chief cause
which gave rise to the other. A situation like this
must have been occupied as a strong-hold from the
earliest times.

In the first account given of this fortress, the rock is
by Hector Boece called the Hill of Agnes, whence some
have inferred, that the town did not at that time exist,
or was not then of sufficient consequence to give name
to the spot. - It is also supposed, that the Agnes here
mentioned was a saint of that name, and, therefore,
that this account does not carry the antiquity farther
back than the Christian era. Buc the many fables of
Boece prevent much reliance being placed on his au-
thority. Long after this, according to Fordoun, this
castle ‘was called Castrum Puellarum, from the daugh-
ters of the Pictish kings and chiefs being kept and
educated there, as being aplace of security in these
barbarous times. From its height it was also styled
the Winged Castle.

But without claiming an antiquity for this fortress,
which strains credibility, its origin may be referred
to the same source as that which gave rise to the city,
of which the Castle was perhaps the beginning, and
first bore the name.

The first historical fact concerning this Castle is
found in Fordoun, who relates, that, in 1093, Queen
Margaret, the widow of Malcolm Canmore, died here
a few days after her husband was slain; and that in
the same year it was besieged by Denald Bane, bro=
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ther to King Maleolm, assisted by the Norwegian mo-
narch.

In the year 1174, King William I. of Scotland, sur-
named the Lion, being taken prisoner by the English
in the neighbourhood of Alnwick, his subjects pur-
chased his freedom by surrendering the independency
of his kingdom. Many hostages, and some of the
chief garrisons, among the latter this castle, were
delivered to King Henry II. as pledges for the per-
formance of the treaty ; but on the marriage of Wil-
liam with Ermengarde, cousin to the King of’ England,
Edinburgh Castle was given back as a dower to that

ueen.

In 1239 Alexander III. was betrothed to the daugh-
ter of King Henry III. of England, and the young
queen had this castle assigned for her residence.

During the contest for the crown between Bruce
and Baliol, the castle was, in 1296, besieged and taken
by the English, and it remained in their possession
near twenty years ; but it was, in 1818, recovered by
Sir Thomas Randolph, Earl of Murray, when King
Robert Bruce caused it, and the other fortresses reco-
vered from the English, to be demolished, that they
might not again be occupied by them in any future
incursions. It was in ruins in 1336, when it served
for the retreat of part of the Count of Namur’s forces,
defeated by the Earl of Murray, who held it but one
day.

%ing Edward ITT., on his way from Perth in his re-
turn to England, visited Edinburgh Castle, and gave
orders for its being rebuilt, and for placing a strong

ison in it. In was nevertheless, in 1341, surpris-
ed by William Douglas, who, for that purpose, made
use of the following stratagem. Douglas, with three
other gentlemen, waited on the governor. Une of
them, pretending to be an English merchant, inform-
ed him that he had for sale, on board of a vessel then
just arrived in the Forth, a cargo of wine, strong-beer,
and biscuit, exquisitely spiced ; at the same time pro=~
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ducing, as a sample, a bottle of wine and another of
beer. The governor, tasting and approving of them,
agreed for the purchase of the whole, which the feign=~
ed captain requested he might deliver very early next
day, in order to avoid interruption from the Scots. He
came accordingly at the time appointed, attended by
a dozen of armed followers, disguised in the habits of
sailors ; and the gates being opened for their reception,
they contrived, just in the entrance, to overturn a car<
riage, in which the provisions were supposed to be
loaded, thereby preventing the gates from being sud«
denly shut. They then killed the porter and guards,
and, blowing a horn as a signal, Douglas, who, with
a band of armed men, had lain concealed near the
Castle, rushed in and joined his companions. A sharp
conflict ensued, in which most of zﬁi garrison being
slain, the Castle was recovered for the Scots, who, a=
bout the same time, had also driven the English en<
tirely out of Scotland.

During the reign of John Earl of Carrick, who as-«
sumed the name and title of Robert ITI., from a super«
stitious notion that the name of John was unfortunate
for monarchs, the burgesses of Edinburgh had the sin=
gular privilege conferred on them of building houses
for themselves within the Castle, and of free access to
them without paying any fees to the constable, subject
to no other limitation than that they should be persons
of good fame.

The Castle of Edinburgh has, at different times,
served not only as the residence of the kings of Scot«

nd, but also for their prison. The Scottish barons,
under the feudal system, almost equalled their kings
In riches and in power; and sometimes possessed
themselves of the royal person to sanction their ambi=
tious designs. Thus James IL. in the year 1438, was
held here in a sort of honourable durance, by Sir Wil-
liam Crichton the chancellor ; ill, by a stratagem con=
trived by his mother, he was conveyed from hence one
morning early in a trunk. But he did not long enjoy
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his enlargement ; for he was taken by a band of armed
men while hunting in the woods of Stirling, and re-
conveyed to this castle. It was here also that William
the sixth Earl of Douglas, with his two friends, were
basely murdered by the command of Crichton, who
envied his riches and dreaded his power.

Jawes III. was also confined here by his subjects
for the space of nine months, till released, in the year
1482, by the Duke of Albany, assisted by the citizens
of Edinburgh, who surprise! the castle.

In the year 1573, during the troubles which agitat-
ed the kinfdom in the reign of Queen Mary, this for-
tress was defended for the queen, at_that time a pri-
soner in England, by Kirkn1dy of Grange. When all
the rest of Scotland had submitted to the regent’s
authority, Kirkaldy alone, with a few brave associates,
still continued faithful to the cause of his unfortunate
mistress, Morton, the regent, unable to reduce the
garrison with his own forces, applied to Elizabeth for
assistance, who sent Sir William Drury to his aid with
fifteen thousand foot, and a considerable train of ar-
tillery. Trenches were now opened, and approac]lcs
regularly carried on against the (?:stle. Five batteries,
consisting of thirty-one guns, were erected against it-
But Kirkaldy defended himself with the utmost cour-

, fostered by despair. For three and thirty days
did he resist all the efforts of the Scots and English ;
nor did he demand a parley till the fortifications were
battered down, the spur or block-house on the east
taken- by assault, the well dried up, and every other
supply of water cut off. Even then his spirit was
unsubdued, and he determined rather gloriously to fall
behind the last intrenchment than to yield to his in-
veterate encmies. But his garrison were not animated
with the same heroic and desperate resolution, and,
rising into a mutiny, they forced him to capitulate.
He accordingly surrendered himself to Sir William
Drury, on the 29th of May 1573. The English gene-
ral, in the name of his mistress, promised that he
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should be honourably treated ; but Elizabeth, with«
out regarding hier own honour, or that of Drury, de-
livered him up to the vengeance of the regent, who
caused him to be hanged, on the 3d of August 1573.

In the year 1577, though Morton had found it ne-
eessary to resign the government into the hands of the
Eoung king, he still held the Castle of Edinburgh in

is hands. But a supply of provisions being intercept-
ed by the inhabitants of the city, he was forced to
give up this important fortress without resistance.

In 1650 the Castle sustained a siege of above two
months against the parliamentary army commanded
by Cromwell, and at last surrendered on honourable
terms. At the Revolution it was long held for King
James by the Duke of Gordon, with a weak and ill
provided garrison. In the rebellion of 1715, an un=~
suceessful attempt was made by the rebels tosurprise
this fortress ; and in 1745, notwithstanding that the
Highlanders were masters of the town of Edinburgh,
they did not venture to attack the Castle, nor did they
even succeed in entirely cutting off' the communication
between it and the city.

Since that time the history of this fortress consists
only of a series of internal improvements, for the ac-
commodation of the soldiers stationed in this part of the
country, During the period of the late war, a num=
ber of French prisoners were confined in it ; butit is
to be hoped, that the inhabitants of the city will no
more be alarmed at the desolation made by its cannon,
and that, for the purposes of destruction, their thundex
is hushed for ever.

Palace of Holyroodhouse.

The Palace of Holyroodhouse stands at the eastern
€Xtremity of the city of Edinburgh, and at the bottom
of that part of the High Street named the Canongate.
Itis a beautiful building, of'a quadrangular form, with
an open court in the centre, 94 feet squave. The
Western front consists of two large castellated square
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towers, four stories in height, which are joined by a
lower building or gallery of two stories, with a flat
roof and double ballustrade. The towers have each
three circular turrets at their exterior angles, rising
from the ground to the battlements, the fourth angle
of each great tower being concealed by the buildings
which surround the inner court. In the middle of
the low gallery is the entrance, ornamented by four
Doric columns, which support a cupola in the form of
an imperial crown.  Underneath the cupola is a clock ;
and over the gateway are the royal arms of Scotland.
The front to the east is of equal eregance. Round the
area in the inside is a handsome arcade, faced with
pilasters of the Doric order. On the entablature of
these are cut the ensigns of Scottish royalty ; the thistle
and the crown, the sword and the sceptre. Between
the windows of the second floor are a range of Ionic
pilasters ; and above these an equal number of the
Corinthian order. On a pedimentin this area, front-
ing the west, are the royal arms. At the south-west
angle of the piazza is the large staircase, which leads
to the royal apartments; and on the north side of the
building is the great gallery, which is 150 feet long,
24 in breadth, and nearly 20 in height. This gallery
is hung with the fancif; rtraits of one hundred l{nd
eleven monarchs of Scotfn‘:ld, painted by De Witt.
Here are held the elections of the Scottish peers. Ad-
joining to the gallery is a drawing and state bed-cham-

r, wainscotted with oak. The festoons of flowers
over the doors and mantle-pieces in this apartment arc
executed with a considerable degree of elegance, but
the stucco ornaments of the roof are rather heavy. Near
to this, in what are called Lord Dunmore’s lodgings,
is a celebrated painting of Charles I. and his queen,
going a hunting, painted by Mytons. A horse for his
ma{'csty, and a palfrey for “the queen, are introduced,
and the celebrated dwarf, Jeffrey Hudson, holding 2
spaniel in a string, and the whole is executed in very
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good style. Here also are full length portraits of George
IIL. and his Queen by Ramsay.

Strangers visiting the palate are usually led to Queen
Mary’s apartments, in the second floor of which her
own bed still remains. It is of crimson damask, bor-
dered with green silk fringes and tassels, but is now
almost in tatters. The cornice of the bed is of o
figured work. Close to the floor in this room is a
small opening in the wall, which leads toa and
4 trap-stair, communicating with the apartments below.
Through this passage Darnley and his accomplices rush-
ed in to murder the unhappy Rizzio, on the 9th of
March 1566. The queen, when this outm%;(took place,
Was at supper, in acloset adjoining to her bedchamber,
with the Countess of Argyle, Rizzio, and a few domes=
tics. Rizzio, on perceiving the conspirators enter, head-
«d by Lord Ruthven in complete armour, instantly
supposed he was the vietim, and took refuge behind
the queen.  But, in spite of her tears and entreaties, he
was torn from her presence, and, before he could be
dragged through the next apartment, the rage of his
enemies put an end to his life, piercing his body with
fifty-six wounds. The closet in which Mary was at
supper when this tragical scene was acted is about
twelve feet square.

. The more ancient parts of the present , CON=
sisting of the north-west towers, were built by James
V. about the year 1528, as a royal residence, though
for ages before the Scottish kings seem to have occa=
Sionally resided at this place. Below a niche in one of
these towers his name is still to be seen, Jac. REX
V.scororum. Duringthe minority of Queen Mary,
the Palace of Holyroodhouse was burnt along with
the city, by the English forces under the Earl of
Hertford. Soon after this period, however, it was re=
baired and enlarged beyond its presentsize. At that:
time it js said to have consisted of no fewer than five
‘ourts, the most westerly of which was the largest.
K
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It was bounded on the east by the front of the palace,
which occupied the same space as it does at present ;
but the building extended itself farther towards the
south. At the north-west corner was a strong gate,
(the gate of the ancient adjoining abbey,) with Gothic
pillars, arches, and towers, which was taken down in
1755.

Great part of the Palace of Holyroodhouse was burnt
by the soldiers of Cromwell. At the Restoration,
however, it was again repaired, and altered into its
present form by King Charles II. These alterations
and reparations were designed by Sir William Bruce,
a celebrated architect, and the work was executed by
Robert Mylne, whose name ap) on a pillar in the
north-west angle of the inside og the square. FvVN. BE
RO. MYLNE M. M. 1VL. 1671.

The paintings of the monarchs of Scotland in the
gallery were much defaced by the English soldiers

uartered there in the year 1745. They seem to have

ought that, by destroying the inanimate effigies of
the House of Stuart, they eminently displayed their
loyalty to the House of Hanover. Prince Charles
Stuart, (the young Pretender,) in that year also, took
up his residence for some time in this mansion of his
fathers; and thither the inhabitants of Edinburgh
repaired to him, to pay the assessment laid on the city-

Of this palace, which is now almost the only entire
regal residence which remains in Scotland, the Duke
of Hamilton is heritable keeper. He has alodging
within it, as have also sev: others of the Scottish
nobility, in which are a number of portraits, some of
them of considerable merit. Notwit standing of this,
a great part of the building remained uninhabited, and
was hastening to decay, till, in 1793, apartments were
fitted up for the residence of the Count D’Artois, bro-
ther of the Srcnent King of France, the Dukes D’Au-
goulemne and Berri, and others of the French exiled
nobility.
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Abbey of Holyroodhouse, and Royal Chapel.

Adjacent to the Palace stand the ruins of the
Church of the Abbey of Holyroodhouse. This Ab-
bey was founded by David I. in 1128. The tradi-
tionary accounts which occasioned its erection are thus
related :—King David I., its founder, being on a
hunting match in the forest of Drumselch, near Edin-
burgh, on rood-day, was attacked by a large hart, and
his life was in the utmost danger. ~ While he was en-
deavouring to defend himself against the furious as-
saults of the animal, a miraculous cross from Heaven
slipped into his hand, which so frightened the stag,
that he retreated immediately. This wonderful cir-
cumstance having, of course, put an end to the chace,
David repaired to the castle of Edinb , where, in
2 dream, he was instructed to erect an abbey or house
for canons regular, on the place where the celestial
cross was put into his hand. In obedience to this vi-
sionary command, the king erected an abbey for the
said canons, dedicated it to the honour of the Holy
Cross, and deposited the same therein, where it is said
to have remained till the reign of David II. That
prince, whom the cross scems not to have protected as
1t did his predecessor, was taken prisoner by the Eng-
lish at the battle of Durham, amr with him the cross
fell into the hands of the enemy. It remained in that
city for several ages, where it issaid to have been held
in great veneration.

Such is the fabulous account given of the circum-
Stance which occasioned the erection of this abbey. It
1s a miracle near a~kin to many of those which popcl"{
has often since imposed on the credulity of mankind.
David I., who was a pious prince, seems to have been
much under the guidance of his spiritual instructors,

@ sair sanct to the crown, as James VI. termed him
for his liberality to the religious orders ;) and it is not
to be wondered at, when their interest was so nearly
toncerned, that they should procure the sanction of n
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miracle to a work of such a nature as the endowment
of an abbey.

However this may be, the abbey was founded by @
charter in the year 1128, the original of which is in
the archives of the city. It was bestowed on the ca-
nons regular of St Augustine, who were brought
thither from the priory of St Andrews in the county
of Fife. They had granted to them the church of
Edinburgh Castle, with those of St Cuthbert’s, Corstor-
phine, and Libberton, in the county of Mid-Lothian,
and of Airth in Stirlingshire ; the priories of St Mary's
Isle in Galloway, of Blantyre in Crydesdale; of Rowa~
dill in Ross, and. three others in the Western Isles.
To them David also granted the privilege of erecting
a burgh between the town of Edinburgh and the
church of Holyroodhouse. From these canons the
street which they erected had the name of Canongale,
which it still retains. In this new burgh they had
a right to hold markets. - They had also portions of
land assigned them in different parts, with a most ex-
tensive jurisdiction, and right of trial by duel, and fire
and water ordeal. They had also certain revenues
par;ble out of the Exchequer and other funds, with
fishings, and the privilege of erecting mills on the
Water of Leith, which still retain the name of Canon-
mills. The arms of the Canengate are a hart’s
head surmounted by a cross, in remembrance of the
miracle which procured the erection of the abbey.

Other grants and privileges were bestowed upon
this monastery by succeeding sovereigns, so that it was
deemed the richest religious foundation in Scotland.
At the Reformation, its annual revenues were 442
bolls of wheat, 640 bolls of bear, 560 bolls of oats,
500 capons, 24 hens, as many salmon, twelve loads ot
salt, besides a great number of swine, and about L.250
Sterling in money.

In 1177 a national council was held in this abbey,
on the arrival of a legate to take coguizance of a dis-
pute between the English and Scottish clergy, as to the
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submission of the latter to the church of England. In
August 1332 the army of Edward ITI. plundered it, car«
rying off the church plate; and was burnt in 1385 by the
forces of Richard 1I. In April 1544, during the irrup-~
tion of the Earl of Hertford, this abbey was nearly re-
duced to ashes. The choir and transept of the church
were then destroyed, and nothing left standing but
the nave, of which the ruins now remain. A large
brazen font was carried away at this time by Sir Rich-
ard Lea, captain of the Enﬂ;h pioneers, who present-
ed it to the church of St Alban’s in Hertfordshire, after
he had caused the following inscription to be engraven
on it :—< Cum Leathia, oppidum apud Scolos non in=
celebre, et Edinburgus, primaria apud eos civitas, in-
cendio conflagrent, Ricardus Leus, eques auralus, me
JSlammis ereptum, ad Anglos perduxit.” Hujus ego tanti
beneficii memor, non nisi regum liberos lavare solitus,
nunc meam operam etiam in fines Anglorum libenter
condizi. Leus victor sic voluit. Vale. Anno Domini
M,D,XLI11, ef anno Henrici Octavi xxxvr.” This font,
during the civil war in the reign of Charles I., was
melted and converted into money.

Along with the other religious houses, the buildings
of the Abbey suffered much at the Reformation ; the
ornaments were despoiled by the populace, and no-
thing was left but the walls. ~ At this time, and down
to the reign of James VIL., the church was occupied
as the parish church of Canongate; but, on the acces-
sion of that prince, it was repaired in a very elegant
manner as a royal chapel. A throne for the sovereign,
and stalls for the knights companions of the order of the
Thistle, were erected ; the floor was paved with marble
of different colours, and a fine organ was put up. But
at the Revolution, which soon after took place, the po-
Pulace, whose hatred of popery, and antipathy to episco-
Pacy, often carried them toextremes in their resentment,
once more despoiled this ancient edifice, tore down its
ornaments, and even carried off many of the mar~

A K52
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bl(:l stones of the pavement, which had been so Jately
lai

In this situation it long stood meglected, till the
Duke of Hamilton, the hereditary keeper of the palace,
represented its situation to the Barons of Exchequer,
and craved that the roof, which was now become ruin-
ous, might be repaired. The Barons ordered a plan
and estimate for the work to be given in, which was
accordingly done, and the plan being approved of,
L. 1003 was granted by them for this purpose, on the
7th August 1758. The architect and mason who were
employed to repair the roof injudiciously covered it
with large flag-stones. But the walls being insufficient
to bear this weight, or the timbers which supported
the stones being too slender, it was soon observed that,
were the stones not removed, the building must una-
voidably fall to ruin. A representation of its state was
again made to the Barons by another architect in 1766,
which does not seem to have been regarded, and the
roof fell in on the 2d of December 1768. In 1773 the
rubbish occasioned by the roof giving way was sold,
and a house in the lane called Baxter’s Close was built
with the figured stones, after defacing the carvings and
cornices.

The Royal Chapel is built of freestone, and is of an
oblong form, about 148 feet from west to east, and 66
feet from north to south. 'This was the nave of the
original church, which, when entire, consisted of @
centre and two side aisles, communicating by a double
range of eﬁuilateml pointed arches, springing from
clustered columns, with ornamented capitals. Above
each of these rows a second range of smaller pointed
arches, double in number, formed the front of a gal-
lery over the stone vaulting of the side aisles ; and op
the top of these second rows was a third range of small
arches, forming a gallery or ge in the thickness of
the wall. In the outside of this upper gallery, which
was a story higher than the side aisles, were a number
of long narrow windows, which conveyed light into the
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upper part of the middle aisles ; and this part of the
building was vaulted with intersecting stone ribs, si-
milar to the roofs of St Giles and Trinity College
Church.

The flying buttresses, of which the under range of
the south side still remains, were added by Abbot
Crawford in 1483. A range of upright buttresses, with
canopied niches and pinnacles of a more recent date,
may be seen on the north wall. The principal en-
trance to this church was by a large arched door at
the western extremity, now built up. In the north
wall is another door, ornamented with niches, &ec.
Two doors also entered from the cloister; at the
west end is a door opening into a stair leading to the
rood-loft, and another now shutup ; and in this quar-
ter, in the south wall, is the commuuication with the
palace by which strangers are usually conducted into
the chapel.

The great east window occupies the western and
only remaining one of the four large arches on which
the central tower of the church had rested. This win-
dow is of modern execution, and probably was first
formed in the reign of Jaes VI. or Charles I., by
the latter of whom the chureh, as appears from the
mscril)u'on over the west door, seems to have been re-
paired. The mullions of this splendid window fell in
the severe winter of 1795.  But the Barons of Exche-~
quer, in 1816, caused the window to be again put up
in its original form,—the base of the walls to be clear-
ed out,—the windows and northern arched door,
which had been built up, to be re-opened, and the
ground inclosed. -

. The north-west tower of the Conventual Church is
in good preservation, and was covered in with lead in
1816. 1In this place is the monument and recumbent
statue of Robert Viscount Belhaven, who died in
1639. Itis of elegant workmanship, and the whole
Is of Parian marble. The height of this tower is 52
feet, It was latterly used as a vestry. Of the bells
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which belonged toit, one is said to be hung in the stee-
pleof theTron Church, another in St Cuthbert’s Chapel
of Ease, and a third in one of the towers of St Paul'’s
Chapel, York Place, having been formerly given to
the congregation of that chapel when their former
place of worship in the Cowgate was erected.

In the south-east corner of the chapel is the royal
vault, in which were deposited the remains of David
il., James II., Prince Arthur, third son of James 1V.,
James V., Magdalen, Queen of James V., Arthur
Duke of Albany, second son of James V., and Henry
Lord Darnley. This repository of the royal dead did
not escape the fury of the mob at the Revolution.
Part of the leaden coffins were at that time carried
away, and the remainder at clearing out the rubbish
after the roof fell in 1768. A few bones, among
which were some of large size, said to be those of Darn-
ley, were long exhibited, but are now locked up in
the royal vault. The area of the church is used as 2
cemetery.

The precinets of the Abbey of Holyroodhouse, in-
cluding an extensive park inJosed by James V., are 2
sanctuary for insolvent debtors. That part of the park
through which the road passes, and which is now cal-
led the Duke’s Walk, from its having been the fa-
vourite promenade of the Duke of York, was once co-
vered with tall oaks, of which, however, no vesti
remains. From this walk rises Arthur’s Scat, to the
height of 822 feet above the level of the sea; and on
the west the hill is terminated by a precipitous front
of rocks ‘called Salisbury Craigs. St Anthony’s Chapel
stands on an eminence overlooking the road.

A full and well drawn up account of the Abbey, Pa-
lace, and environs, may be had of the person who
shows the chapel and royal apartments.

The Scottish Mint.

In the lane called Gray’s Close stands the little
court of buildings, formerly occupied by the Mint of



SCOTTISH MINT. 117

Scotland. "T'hey were erected in 1574 ; but no money
has been struck here since the union of the kingdoms.
The officers are, however, still kept up. This place
was formerly, as the Abbey of Holyroodhouse now is,
an asylum for insolvent debtors.

_ There seems to have been no mint or coins struck
in Scotland before the time of Alexander I., who com-
menced his reign in 1107, although Boece and Leslie,
without proper authority, state the origin of the Scot-
tish Mint some ages eari'ier. The first coins were, as
in England, thin silver pieces called pennies, of the
weight of 24 grains, divided by a double cross, and
for a long period this was the only circulatin%‘medium
of native manufacture in both countries. The groat,
(‘from the French gros, or German grosche,) a coin of’
four pennies in value, was first coined in Scotland by
Robert Bruce, or by his son David II., and this was
the silver coin in use till the reign of Queen Mary,
who, after her marriage with Darnley, introduced reals,
or royals, afterwards called crowns.

The oldest gold coins found in Scotland bear the
name of Robert ; but whether the first king of that
name is not, it is believed, fully ascertzined. Before
the reign of James I. of Scotland, however, there ‘is
nothing found in the public acts regarding gold mo-
ney.  But, in 1424, when that prince returned, from
his captivity in England, it was enacted in parliaaent,
that both the gold and silver coin should be similar to
that of England in fineness and weight. The Scottish
gold coins were at first, as in England, struck of a
broad and large surface, but very thin. James V. was
the first sovercign who contracted their figure by in-
Creasing their thickness ; and the bonnet picces of that
Prince are said, by Ruddiman, to equal the best Ro-
nan coins in elegance of workmanship. The general
Name for gold coin in Scotland was florins, or nébles,
and Zions ; and in Englavd rose-nobles, angels, reuls,
;“']hl sovereigns, often according to the device adopt-
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‘When copper money was first coined in Scotland is
uncertain. James I1I., however, in his first parlia-
ment, 1466, procured an act, ordaining, ‘“ that for
sustention of the kinE’s lieges, and almous-deeds to be
done to the pure folk, there be cuinzieit copper mo-
ney, four to the penny, havand on the tae part the
croce of St Andrew,and the crown on the other part,
with the subscription of Edinburgh, and an R., with
James, on the other part.” The same monarch also
issued a depreciated silver coin, containing a very
lnge alloy of' copper, which was called black money ;
and the same example was afterwards followed during
the regency of Morton, the coins at which time, from
the name of the master of the mint, were known by
the name of ditchisons. The very small copper coins
called pennies, worth 1-12th f)?an Eng nny,
with the inscription, *“ Nemo me impune lacesset,” were
first coined in the reign of James VI.; and the copper
coins of two pennies, called zwo~penny piecces, boddles,
or turners, and also babees, contaming six Scots pen-
nies, and equal to an English halfpenny, began to be
coined after the Restoration.

Of medals, or those coins of larger size not intend-
ed for circulation, the first are rg‘em of David II.,
struck in England during his cuptivietx, 1330-1370-
They are of gold, and are the earliest medals of modern
Europe. Another Scottish gold medal occurs of James
IIL in 1478, weighing nearly two vunces. A third
was struck in the reign of James IV., and others In
the reign of Mary. The last Scottish medal, perhaps,
struck in Scotland is the coronation one of Charles I
when he was crowned at Edinburgh in June 1633.

In Scotland the prince alone possessed the exclusive
right of coining money. To him also all mines of
gold and silver were acknowledged to belong. Nor
was the manufactvre of currency confined to the capi-
tal, for many coins bear the names of Aberdeen, Perth,
Stirling, Dundee, Linlithgow, and Dumbarton.

The chief inscruments used in coining, till no dis
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tant J)eriod, were a hammer, and steel dies upon which
the deviée was engraved. The metal being previously
prepared of the J)roleer fineness and thickness, was cut
nto longitudinal slips, and a square piece being cut
from the slip, it was afterwards rounded and ad-
Jjusted to the weight of the money to be made. The
blank pieces of metal were then placed between the
two dies, and the upper one was struck with a ham-
mer. This money was necessarily imperfect from the
inequality of the force employed ; and it was not till
after the Restoration of Charles II. that the introduc-
tion of the mill and screw took place.

The Scottish currency, in circulation at the Union,
being called in by an act of the Privy Council of Scot-
land, preparatory to making the coin of a uniform
standard over. the two kingdoms, the following sums
were paid into the Bank of Scotland, in 1707, for the
purpose of being recoined :

Of foreign silver money, (Sterling) L. 132,080 17 0
Milled Scottish coins, = % 96,856 13 0
Qoius struck by hammer, - 142,180 0 0
English milled coins, S 4000 0 ©

L.411,117 10 ©

And, as it appears from the acts of the Mint of
Scotland, from 16th December 1602 to 19th Jul

1606, and from 20th September 1611 to 14th April
1613, that the proportion of gold coin issued was great-
er than that og the silver, it has been conjectured,
that the total sum of money in circulation at the
Union amounted to upwards of L. 900,000 Sterling.

Court of Session.

The Court of Session, the supreme civil judieature
of Scotland, was established by King James V. in
1532, after the model of the ancient French parlia-
Ments, Before this period civil causes were tried by
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an ambulatory committee of parliament, who assumed
the title of Lords of Counci]“nnd Session ; but this
mode of administering justice being found inconve-
nient, it was abolished, and regular judges appointed.
At its establishment the Court of Session consisted of
fourteen ordinary judges, seven of whom were clergy-
men and seven laymen ; and an ecclesiastic, the Abbot
of Cambuskenneth, was their first president. The
king had also the power of adding to this number cer-
tain lords of his council, under the title of Extraordi-
nary Lords; but these had no salary, nor were obliged
to attend but at their own pleasure, or to gratify the
wishes of the Court by their influence or their votes.
This very objectionable part of the institution was,
however, abrogated by 20th Geo. I. c. 19.

Before the Reformation the President of this Court
was generally an ecclesiastic ; but the clergy were fin-
ally excluded from a situation so foreign to their ha-
bits by an act of Parliament passed in the year 1584,
which directed, that no parochial minister should ever
atterwards bear an office in any court of justice. The
Jast ecclesiastic who held the office of an ordinary Lord
of Session was Robert Pont, minister of the parish of
St Cuthbert’s.

The College of Justice, of which the Court of Ses-
sion forms tic leading part, was erccted intoa body
corporate by James V. This body consists, not only
of the judges, but also of the Faculty of Advocates,
the Writers to the Signet, Clerks of Session, and some¢
others: The individuals composing this body enjoy
many valuable privileges. '1‘1‘))g;~ate not subject 0
the jurisdiction of any inferior judges,—are exemptc

from paying the taxcs imposed upon the other inha-
bitants of Xdinburgh, for ministers’ stipend, and the
impost on liquors, &c.—and are not liable to be called
on for any services within the burgh. Nay, by seve
ral statutes, they are exempted from paying land-taX,
and from all public taxes and contributions what-
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ever ; but this privilege has not been exercised since
the Revolution.

. The judges of the Court of Session, who sit both as
Judges and jury, are, as has already been observed, fif-
teen in number. - These are generally appointed from
the Faculty of Advocates, (the barristers of the Court;)
but members of the Society of Writers to the Signet
(the highest class of attorneys) miay be chosen, under
certain regulations, to this office. Prior to the year
1808, the whole fifteen judges sat as one court, with
the exception of one of tgte ourteen ordinary judges,
who, in an outer hall; under the title of the Lord Or-
dinary, forwarded, in weekly rotation, the cases
through successive steps till they came in course to
be ripe for the decision of the lords in the Tnner-house.
The increase of business, which, in the progress
of commerce and manufactures, came before this court,
lowever, pointed out obstacles to the speedy adminis-
tration of justice, the natural eonsequences of a body
50 constituted ; and accordingly various plans, by emi~
nent individuals, were laid before the public, for the
Improvement of the Supreme Civil Court of Scotland.
Among these, that which propesed dividing the Court
nto two or more chambers or divisions, seemed the
most likely to meet the wishes of all parties.

A bill for this purpose was brought in by Lord Gren~
Ville to the House of Lords on the 18th of February
1807, the basis of which was, to divide the Court into
three chambers of five Jjudges epch ;—to have an inter-
Mediate Court of Review, consisting of the presidents
of the three chambers, the Lord Chief Baron, and a
Presiding Lord, from which only appeals were to lie to
the House of Lords,—and an establishment for the
'rial by jury of civil causes. The heads of this bill
vere approved of by the Faculty of Advocates and
W Titers to the Signet, but it was finally lost by the re-
\ring of Lord Grenville from the administration in
March 1807,

v
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A new bill was, however, again brought in by Lord
Chancellor Eldon, entitled, “ An act concerning the ad-
ministration of justice in Scotland, and concerning ap-

s to the House of Lords,” which, after some mo-
ifications, was finally passed into a law in the year
1808. 'This act divided the judges into two chambers
or divisions, of which the Lord President was to pre=
side in the First Division of seven, and the
Justice Clerk in the Second of six ordinary lords. Each
division was declared to have the same powers and pri-
vileges possessed by the whole Court,—K':n- to be a quo-
rum. In the event of an equality of votes the senior
Lord Ordinary to be called in to give a casting vote-
Commissioners were also appointed to inquire into the
administration of justice in Scotland,—as to the form
of process in the Court of Session,—and in what cases
J trial could be usefully established, and wiva voce
evidence more extensively introduced. The division
of the Court was provided to take place at their meet~
ing for the winter session on 12th November 1808.

The judges previously met on the 20th October
1808, and framed what is called an act of sederunt,
n‘e‘gulating the division of the causes and distribution
of office-bearers, and enacting regulations for the pre-
paratory business under the management of the ordi-
naries, and appointing that one sgrom each division
attend in the outer hall weekly, for forwarding the
causes through the necessary stages.

By subsequent acts and “parliamentary regulations,
there are now four permanent Lords Ordinary, t¥°
from each division, who do not judge in cases before
the Inner Court unless specially called on for the pur-
pose, but decide in all causes in the first instance 1
the Outer Court, and prepare cases for the Inmer-
The junior judge of the Court, other than the four last
mentioned, “takes charge of all the business in the Bill
Ghamber (which chiefly consists of summary appeals
from inferior courts) dnring Session time, and jud
in matters of teinds or tithes, and in special cases that
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may be remitted to him by either division. On the
death of any of the judges of the Inner Courts, the se~
nior permanent Ordinary steps into his place, and the
Junior judge falls into the rtment of one of the
permanent Lords Ordinary, while the new appointed
Judge takes the Bill-Chamber.

_ At the first meeting of the Court after the division
mto two chambers, tﬁe judges of the Second Divi-
slon occupied the apartment above the lobby, now the
Exchequer Court. But a new hall having been erected
to the west of the Old Parliament Hall, or Outerhouse,
the judges, as authorized by his Majesty’s warrant,
dated the 6th, proceeded to business there on the 14th
November 1809.

In the Court of Session are tried, not only all actions
of debt and trespass, and all causes in civil affairs, but
all matters of equity, there being no Court of Chan-
cery in Scotland. They also hear and decide ap

om all inferior courts ; but the decisions of the Court
of Session may be brought under the review of the
'Honse of Lords, the supreme judicatory of Britain.
The judges of both divisions united likewise form ano-
ther “court, which supplies the place of a committee
of the Scots Parliament, designated by the name of the
Commissioners for Plantation of Kirks and Valuation
of Teinds ; and, in this capacity, judge concerning the
itlh‘“ngs of the clergy, tithes, and points connected with

ese.

This court holds two terms. or sessions in the year ;
the first of two months, called the Summer Session,
‘ommencing on the 12th of May, and ending on the
11th of July ; and the second, of four months, named

e Winter Session, beginning on the 12th of Novem-

> and ending on the 11th of March, with the ex-
o3}lon of three weeks of recess during the Christmas
holidays. During the vacations between the terms,
however, one of the judges, weekly by rotation, called
the Lord Ordinary on the Bills, attends for the discus-
Slon of summary causes.

The business of the Court is chiefly carried on in
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written pleadings, prepared by the advocates, first be~
fore one of the Lords Ordinary, and after his decision
before one of the Inner Courts. When it is brought
before the litter, a printed copy of the pleadings is fur-
nished to every judge, and put into boxes appropria
for this purpose, (each individual judge having a box for
liis own papers, ) several days before the cause is taken
up. At the calling of the cause the advocates and attor-
neys likewise attend, and support the statements in the
printed pleadings, by viva voce debates ; and, in cases
of weighty importance, these pleadings last for several
days. After the tirst decision of a cause in the Inner
Conrt, the party who thinks himself aggrieved may
again bring the judgment before the Court, by what is
termed a reclaiming petition ; but this must be given in
by a certain specified time, while the circumstances of
the case are recent in the memory of the judges. If no
petition be presented within this space allowed, the
decision becomes final, and the only resource in this
case is an appeal to the House of Lords. i

' The judges of the Court of Session, from the time
of their nomination by the Crown, both in their pri-
vate and in their official capacity, take the title of Lord,
and have in court purple robes, turned up with crim-
son velvet. The salary of the Lord President is L. 4300,
and of the ordinary judges L. 2000 per annun.

Jury Court.

The commissioners appointed by parliament in 1808
to inquire into the fitness of introducing trial by jury
in civil cases, into the Seottish judicial establishment,
reported in May 1810, that if care was taken,  that
no alteration of the municipal law of Scotland should
be affected by the institution, that the enabling the
Court of Session to direct issues of fact to be tried by
jury, might afford asafe foundation on which import-
ant experiments might be made.” This report lay un-
touched for several years, till, on the 30th of November
1814, the Lord Chancellor introduced a bill for esta
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blishing this mode of trial in civil causes in Scotland.
This was withdrawn, and another amended bill brought
under consideration, on 16th February 1815, in the
House of Lords, which, after passing through the
House of Commons, received the royal assent in April
1815. The Court was opened at Edinburgh on 22d
January 1816, by the Lord Chief Commissioner Adam,
Lord Meadowbank, and Lord Pitmilly. Some further
modifications for extending the practice of this Court
were sanctioned by an act of parliament passed in 1819.
The principal object of this act is to bring the cases
more particularly adapted for trial by jury into court
at once, at least nearly so, without waiting the preli-
minary discussions in the Court of Session, and thus
to avoid the dela{ which the forms of that court neces-
sarily oppose to the speedy decision of law suits. The
act also authorizes the erection of a court room, and
the necessary offices. The judges of this court hold
cirenit courts in the vacation between terms, at the
principal townsin the country. The Lord Chief Com-
missioner has a salary of L.2000, and the two Lords
Commissioners I.. 600 each. The two latter have hi-
therto been named from the judges of the Court of Ses-
sion ; but a member of the Faculty of Advocates, of
4 certain number of years standing, may be appointed.

Court of Justiciary.

_The Court of Justiciary is the supreme criminal ju-
dicature in Scotland. It is composed of a Lord Justice
General, a Lord Justice Clerk, and five Lords Commis-
Sioners, The office of Lord Justice General is merely
& nominal one, and is now, it is believed, to be abolish-
o altogether. The other judges, of which the Lord
Justice Clerk is president, hold at the same time the
office of judges in the Court of Session. The causes
which come before this court are tried by a jury of

‘en citizens, and the prosecutions are carried on in
the name of the Lord Advocate, for his Majesty’s in-
terest, as public prosecutor, and are conducted in Court

L2
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by his Lordship and deputes, the Solicitor-General, and
the Agent for the Crown. A majority of the jury ei-
ther acquits or condemns the delinquent, unanimity in
opinion not being essential. During the recess of the
Court of Session, the judges of this court, twice in
the Kfnr, go on circuits through the different parts of
the kingdom. One judge can hold a circuit court;
and it has been found, by a decision in 1763, that the
Jjudgments of circuit courts are not liable to be review-
ed by the High Court of Justiciary. ~The jurisdic-
tion of the court itself in criminal cases is supreme,
and from their sentence there lies no appeal. The
Lord Justice General has a salary of L.2000, the
Lord Justice Clerk L.2000, and the other judges 1..600
each. All of them, with the exception of the Tord
Justice General, enjoy at the same time salaries as
judges in the Court of Session, and any of the five or-
dinary Lords of Justiciary may also be commissioners
of the Jury Court, thus holding the situation of judges
in three Supreme Courts.

Court of Exchequer.

At what time this court was erected in Scotland is
not known. It seems, however, to have been formed
on the plan of that of England, the constitution,{l“l
practice of both courts being nearly the sume. The
name Exchequer seems to be derived from the French
Echiquier, a chequered cloth, with which the table
at which the judges sat was formerly, and is still, co-
vered. This court is com 1 of five judges, onc
who sits-as president, with the title of Lord Chief Bi-
ron, and four ordinary barons. They have four terms
in the year, and all revenue causes are here tricd:
The cases are. decided by a jury of twclve; and the
Court of Exchequer, till very lately, was the only on¢in
Scotland where matters of civil right were tried i lhl?
manner. The Lord Chief Baron has L. 4000 a years
one of the barons, who is generally from the Eng
bar, 1..2865, and the other three 1.2000.
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Faculty of Advocales.

The Faculty of Advocates hold the same situation
as Barristers or Counsel in England. The affairs of
this Faculty are managed by a Dean, or president,
a treasurer, clerk, and council, selected from the
members.  Besides the usual branches of a liberal
education, those who are admitted as advocates must
have gone through a regular course of civil and Scots
law ; and if, after due examination in public and pri-
vate by a committee appointed by the faculty, the
candidate be found qualified, he obtains permission to
practise as one of their number. Every advocate be-
sides pays to. the society, on being admitted, a sum,
which has at various periods been augmented, and is
now L. 200 Sterling. One half’ of this money goes to
the support of the library belonging to the faculty,
which is by far the most valuable in Scotland.

_The Faculty of Advocates are subject to the autho-
rity of the judges of the Court of Session; and from this
body the bench is supplied with judges. The Sheriff-de-
putes of the different counties of Scotland are likewise
nominated from this socicty; and, since the union of
the kingdoms, this profession has become in Scotland
almost the only road to eminence and to wealth.

Though the proceedings of the court to which they
are principally attached do not give the same oppor-
tunity of cultivating public speaking as the courts of
the sister country; yet this is, perhaps, abundantly
compensated by the means it affords of acquiring fa-
cllity and correctness in writing. That provincial
ode of speaking, which long characteristically mark-
ed the Scottish bar, has now almost totally vanished,
and, in another age, will be unknown. The nature
of the Jury Court has brought the qualifications of
this body more before the public ; and their appear-
duce in the capital, in the court of last resort, has of-
ten demonstrated their claims to the highest honours
9feloquence. The advocates are, perhaps, the most
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wealthy communit{min Edinburgh, and to the pre«
ponderance of this body, and that of the Writers to
the Signet, the society in this city owes much of its
peculiar character. The number of advocates at pre=
sent on the roll is 314.

Society of Wrilers to the Signet.

Connected with the Court of Session are the Society
of Clerks or Writers to his Majesty’s Signet. Their
business is to subscribe the writs that pass the royal
signet in Scotland, and practise as attorneys before
the Courts of Session, Justiciary, and Jury Court.
The members also possess the exclusive privilege of
directing other branches of legal practice, and are the
principal conveyancers of the country. The office of
Keeper of the Signet is very luerative ; but the busi-
ness is performed by a deputy and clerks. The qualifi-
cations for admission into this body are an apprentice~
ship for five years with one of the members, after two
years attendance at the university, and attendance on
a course of lectures on conveyaneing, given by a lec-
turer appointed by the society, and also on the Scots
law class in the University.

The Widows” Scheme of the Society of Writers to
the Signet was found upon a plan similar to that of
the clergy, and received the sanction of parliament in
1803. Some further improvements were made on
this plan b{ an act procured in 1817. The capital for
every hundred mcml;)ers is, by this act, to be L..20,000.
"The number of members on the roll is at present 430.

Solicitors before the Supreme Courts.

Besides the Writers to the Signet, who enjoy the
right to conduct exclusively certain branches of legal
procedure, there is another society of practitioners,
who act as attorneys before the Session, J usticiary, and
Jury Courts. They are of very long standing in_the
courts, and were lately incorporated under the title of
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Solicitors before the Supreme Courts. The society is
pretty numerous.

The judges of the Courts of Session, Justiciary, and
Exchequer, with the members of' the Faculty of Ad-
vocates, and Society of Writers to the Signet, and So-
ciety of Solicitors, with the officers of court, form, as
before mentioned, an incorporation, instituted by James
V.,-called the College of Justice; of which the judges
of the Court of Session enjoy the title of Senators.

Parliament House.

This building, which is now occupied by the Court
of Session, at least what is called the Outer House, was
formerly the place where the Scottish Parliament met.
It was begun to be erected in the year 1632, and was
completed in 1640, at an expence of L. 11,600 Ster-
ling. It occupies part of the south and the whole
of the west sides of the square to which it gives its
name. The old building is 133 feet long, by 98 broad in
the widest end, and 60 in the narrowest. In the back
part it is 60 feet high, but, on account of the inequa~
Iity of the ground, the north and east fronts are only
40 feet. Over the original entrance from the east were
the arms of Scotland, with allegorical figures of Mercy
and 'Pruth for supporters, and this inscription, Stant his
Jelicia regna ; under the arms the motto Uni unionem.
But the whole front of the ancient building was faced
up, and covered by an open arcade in the Grecian style
of architecture, begun in 1807, and the only part of
the building which remains in its former state is
the great hall where the Scottish Parliament met.
This hallis 122 feet long by 49 broad. The roof
is of oak, arched, and elegantly finished. On the
walls are full length portraits of King William IIL.,
Queen Mary his consort, and Queen Anne, painted by
Sir Godfrey Kneller ; and of George 1., John Duke of
Argyle, and Archibald Duke of Argyle, by Mr Aik-
man of Cairney. The Court of Session, before its di-
vision into chambers, sat in an adjoining room, of
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much smaller dimensions, which was formerly. appro-
priated for the meetings of the Privy-Council. This
apartment, after the division of the Court, was en-
larged and neatly fitted up for the judges of the First
Division, and a marble statue of the late President
Blair, by Chantry, was, in 1818, placed behind the
chair of the presiding judge.

A new room, finished in 1808, was likewise erected
for the judges of the Second Division, entering from
the west side of the great hall; and the statue
of President Forbes, which formerly stood in a niche
in the Outer Hall, was removed to this Court-room,
and placed behind the chair of the Lord Justice Clerk.
This statue was executed by Roubiliac at the expence
of the Faculty of Advocates.

In the great hall was also erected, in 1818, a statue
of the late Lord Viscount Melville by Chantry. It
stands upon a pedestal near the north end of the
room.

An addition has likewise been recently built to the
south end of the Parliament House, containing, in the
lower story, a new library room, 41 by 39 feet, for the
Faculty of Advocates, communicating with their old
apartments on the ground floor, and two court rooms
on the floor above, upon a level with, and entering
from the large hall, for two of the Lords Ordinary-
These rooms are 30 feet by 19 each, and are lighted
from the top by lantern lights. The windows of the
great hall have been altered to correspond with the
style of the apartment, which is to be lined with oak
about six feet high dll around. The other two Lords
Ordinary still remain in the Outer Hall, and
niches have been made for their accommodation.

The Scottish Court of Exchequer occupies the apart=
ments above, and to the east of the Parliament House,
in the second floor. The Court-room is nearly semi-
circular.  The Jury Court also hold their sittings in
this room.

The Court of Justiciary, in their sittings at Edin-

1
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burgh, meet in the Court-room of the Second Divi-
sion of the Court of Session. The valuable library of
the Faculty of Advocates occupies the ground floor of
the Parliament House.

Register Office.

The idea of erecting a building for preserving the
public records was first suggested by tﬁe late Earl of
Morton, Lord Register of Scotland. The Scottish re-
cords have been left imierfect from a variety of causes.
Edward I. is said to have carried off or destroyed
many of them ; and afterwards Oliver Cromwell car-
ried off' the remainder. At the Restoration some of
those which had been taken by Cromwell were sent
back to Scotland by sea; but unfortunately one of the
vessels which brought them was shipwrecked ; and
the records brought by the other had not then
been properly arranged. The place where they were
<ept, too, was such as did not insure safety from acci-
dents by fire. The Earl of Morton, therefore, to pro-
vide a place where they might be kept in safety in fu-
ture, obtained from his majesty a grant of L. 12,000
Sterling, out of the money arising from the sale of the
forfeited estates. The plan of the present building
was accordingly designed by that celebrated architect,
Mr Robert Adam, and the foundation stone was laid
on the 17th of June 1774, The ceremony was per-
formed under a discharge of artillery, in presence of
the judges of the Courts of Session and Exchequer,
and in the sight of a multitude of spectators. A brass

late was put into the foundation-stone, with the fol-
owing inscription engraven upon it :=~Conservandis
Tabulis Publicis positum est, anno M,DCC,LXXIV, mu=
nificientia optimi et pictissimi principis Georgii Tertii.
In a glass vase, hermetically sealed, which was also plac-
ed in the foundation-stone, are deposited specimens of
the different coins of his present Majesty.

This noble edifice stands at the east end of Prince’s
Street, about 40 feet back from the line of the street,
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and its front looks southward along the North Bridge.
The length of the front, from east to west, is 200 feet;
the breadth, including the diameter of the dome, is
120 feet. The part of the building erected is only half
of the plan which was intended. It is sufficient, how=-
ever, for the accommodation of the records at present ;
and it will probably be a considerable time before the
increase of these make a farther extension of the build-
ing necessary. According to the original plan, the
building is to consist of a square of 200 feet, with a
dome of 50 feet diameter in the centre. The front,
and one half of each wing, is only erected.

In the centre of the edifice is the large dome, 50
feet in diameter, and 80 in height. This dome is
lighted from the top by a window, 15 feet in diame-
ter, the frame of which is of copper. A statue of his
present Majesty, in marble, by the Hon. Mrs Damer,
stands under the dome. At each corner of the front
is a little projection with a Venetian window, and
on the top a beautiful stone ballustrade, with 2
small cupola. In the middle is another projection,
three windows in breadth, and four Corinthian pilas-
ters, supporting a pediment, within which there is in
composition the royal arms of Great Britain. These
arms are by far too small, considering their elevation,
and the magnitude of the building, and, to a tator
who views them from the street, convey rather the
idea of a large medallion, than an appropriate orna-
ment for such a building as the Register Office. The
front is ornamented with a fine entablature of the
Corinthian order ; and the grand outer staircase is par-
ticularly elegant. )

In the walls in the inside of the building are nu-
merous arched divisions, disposed into presses for
holding the records, the access to which is by a hang-
ing gallery, which encircles the whole edifice. Two
elegant staircases lead to the chambers where the re-
cords are kept, and the apartments of the clerks. The
number of these apartments, when the criginal plan
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shall be completed, is (exclusive of es, staircases,
and water-closets) ninety-seven, all of which are arch-
ed below, and accommodated with fire-places. This
edifice, which is the most beautiful of Mr Adam’s de-
signs, is sufficient to perpetuate his name, were there
no other monuments of his taste, as an architect of’
the first merit. Its erection cost nearly L. 40,000
Sterling.

The Lord Register has the chief direction of the
business carried on in this office, and the principal
clerks of the Court of Session are his deputies. These
have a vumber of inferior clerks under tﬁem for carry-
ing on the affairs of the Court of Session, and other
matters which belong to the institution. The Lord
Register is a minister of state in this country. He
formerly collected the votes of the parliament of Scot~
land, and still, by himself or his deputies, collects those
of the peers, at the election of the sixteen who repre-
sent the body of the Scottish nobility in the British
parliament.

The internal arrangements of this office have of
late years been much improved, and every thing
conneeted with the arrangement and preservation of
the public records of the country put on the best foot-
ng, under the superintendence of Thomas Thomson,
Esq. advocate, the present depute-clerk register.

Court of Admiralty.

The Scottish Court of Admiralty is very ancient ;
but the form of their proceedings of old is not much
Xnown, as most of their ancient records are lost. The
L9r(1 High Admiral was, before the Union, his Majes-
‘f’ s lieutenant and justice-general on the seas, and in
all creeks, harbours, and navigable rivers beneath the
first bridge. He exercised his jurisdiction by deputies,
the judge of the High Court of Admiralty, and the
Judges of the inferior courts in different districts. By
an article of the Union, the jurisdiction of the Admi-
ralty in Scotland is said to be under the Lord High

M :
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Admiral of Great Britain; but this does not seem to
infer jurisdiction in a judicial capacity; for the de-
erees of the Admiralty Court are in civil cases subject
to the Court of Session, and in criminal to that of the
Justiciary.

The judge of the High Court of Admiralty is ap-
pointed by the Lord Vice-Admiral of Scotland, an
officer of stute nominated by the crown; and those of
the inferior courts by the judge of the High Court.
They have a jurisdiction in all maritime cases, civil
or criminal ; and, by prescription, the High Court has
acquired a jurisdiction in mercantile causes, nowise
maritime, at least where both parties prorogate, or
agree to the jurisdiction. The Lord Vice Admiral
has a salary of L. 1400, and the Judge Admiral a sa-
lary of L. 800 a year.

Commissary Court.

This court was instituted by Queen Mary, in the
year 1563, in place of the jurisdiction exercised by
the officials of bishops, before the reformation of reli-
gion in Scotland. It consists of four commissaries or
judges ; and its original establishment has been con-
firmed by several acts of parliament. In this court
are judged all matrimonial cases ; and its jurisdiction
in these extends over Scotland. Other cases are also
judged here, such as testamentary causes, &e.; but
the jurisdiction of the commissaries extends in these
only over the three counties, East, West, and Mid-
Lothian. To this court also belongs the privilege of
confirming the wills or testaments of natives who die
abroad, and those of persons who die in Scotland with-
out any settled residence. From the decisions of the
judges of this court an appeal lies to the Court of Ses-
sion. The court, having no recess, is always open for
hearing and determining consistorial causes, The
judges have a salary of L. 600 each ; but their situation
does not preclude them from practising as barristers
before the Court of Session.
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Lyon Court.

The principal officer in this court is Lyon King at
Arms, whose office, before the Union, was to arrange
the ceremonies of the coronations of the Scottish prin-
ces, and on other public occasions ; to inspect the
arms of the nobility ; and to grant supporters to the
arms of new created peers. Under the Lyon King
at Arms are six heralds and an equal number of pur-
suivants. These, in their dress of ceremony, and at-
tended by the other officers of this court, publish at
the Cross of Edinburgh all proclamations issued by
his Majesty. This court has a liberty of visiting the
arms of the nobility and sentry, to distinguish them
by proper differences, and to register them in their
books. ~ The fees for registration are for those of a no=
bleman twenty merks Scottish ; of a knight ten merks ;
and k(;t.‘ all others who have a right to bear arms, five
mer

Sheriff Court.

As Scotland is divided into countics, shires, or stew=
artries, the sheriff or steward, the king’s lieutenant,
anciently enjoyed an extensive jurisdiction, civil and
criminal.  He reviewed the decrees of the baron courts
within his territories ; he mustered the mili com-
Panies or militia, whose exercises were known by the
hame of weapon shawing ; and  the same office is now
renewed in the establishment of the militia of Scotland,
the officers of which receive their commissions from the
lord lieutenant and high steward, or sheriff of the
county.

The sheriff-depute is a legal officer, wholly distinct
from, and independent of} the high sheriff. The office
Was established by act 20 Geo. II. c. 43, by which it
was declared, that a sheriff-depute should be appoint-
td 1o every county of Scotland, who must be an advo-
Cate of three years standing. The sheriff-depute is ap-
Pointed by the crown. He receives the royal revenues
from the collectors within his district, which he pays
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into the Exchequer : he summons juries for the trials
before the Court of Justiciary ; and returns, as a mem-
ber of parliament for the county, the person who has a
majority of suffrages upon the roll of the freeholders.
The sheriff has also a civil jurisdiction in all cases, ex-
cept in a contest for the property of a landed estate ;
and a criminal one in cases of theft and other smaller
crimes. The office of sheriff was formerly hereditary
in the great families ; but, by the above act of Geo. I1.,
this and all other hereditary offices were dissolved or an-
nexed to the crown. The sheriff-depute is entitled to
name a substitute, for whom he is responsible. The
decrees of sheriff courts are subject to review by the su-
preme Courts of Session and Justiciary. The salaries
of the sheriff-deputes vary from L. 300 to L. 500. The
sheriff of Edinburghshire only has L. 800.

The Justice of Peace Court.

The office of Justice of Peace is of no earlier origin
in Scotland than 1609. At that period the king was
authorized by parliament to name commissioners for
binding over disorderly persons to appear before the
justiciary or privy-council. By subsequent acts these
Jjustices were empowered to judge in riots and breaches
of the peace ; to re&ulnte highways, bridges, and fer-
ries ;—to execute the law against vagrants and beg-
gars ;—to judge upon transgressions :;;:;e game laws,
and frauds against the revenue, besides many other
branches of jurisdiction. But in Edinburgh, most ot
the causes which come before justices in the country
are decided by 'thc'ma%istratm and sheriff; and the

rincipal business of the justices of peace in Edin-
gurgh comes before them as a’ court for the speedy
settiement of debts under L. 5, commonly called ke
Small Debt Court. This court sits weekly in Edin-
burgh, and at intervals in the different vilin?m of the
county ; the parties state their cases themselves, and
the expences of a suit are provided not to exceed 55
U pwards of 4000 cases are annually decided by this
court. The justices attend in rotation. This cowrt,
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as well as that of the Sheriff, is held in the new build-
ings for the county lately erected.

New County Hall.

This building, for the meetings of the county, stands
at the western termination of the new library rooms
of the Advocates and Writers to the Siql;et. The plan
is taken from one of the finest models of antiquity,
the temple of Erectheus in the Acropolis of Athens.
A modefof this temple hnvinﬂg been seen in Paris by
Sir William Rae, then sherift’ of the county, he re-
commended it to the county and to the commission-
ers ; and that eminent architect, Mr Archibald Elliot,
who had previously furnished a design in the Grecian
doric style, having examined the fragments among the
Elgin marbles, prepared a plan, in which he adhered
most serupulously to the proportions, and otherwise
assumed as much of the ancient temple as could with
propriety be introduced into a modern building, in-
tended for a different purpose.

The principal entrance is taken from the Choragic
monument of Thrasyllus. The portico in front is
supported by four very large fluted Ionic columns;
and two columns of the same order ornament the
north front to the Lawnmarket.

The length of the eastern front of this building is
102 feet 10 inches, and the northern front is about 57
feet. The interior is laid out in a large hall, 50 feet
by 27 feet ; a court room 44 feet by 30, both 28 feet
high ; a committee room, &e. in the principal floor.
The other floors are laid out in offices for the sheriff,
sheriff-clerks, &c. It was begun in February 1816,
and finished in the spring of 1819. The expence of
the erection amounted to L. 15,000.

Convention of Royal Burghs.

This court was instituted in the reign of James III.,
and was appointed to be held at Inverkeithing ; but
it does not appear that it met earlier than 1552. Since

M2
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that period, its constitution has been considerably al-
tered, not only by acts of parliament, but also by its
own decrees. The Convention at present meets annu-
ally in Edinburgh, and consists of" two deputies from
each burgh. The Lord Provost of Edimburgh is *
perpetual president, and the city clerks of Edinburgh
are clerks to the Convention. The powers of this
court chiefly respect the establishment of regulations
concerning trade and commerce ; and to this purpose
the Convention has established, and from time to time
renewed articles of staple contract with the town of
Campvere in Holland. As the royal burghs pay a sixth
part of the sum imposed as a land-tax upon the countics
of Scotland, the Convention is empowered to consider
the state of trade and revenues in the individual
burghs, and to assess their respective proportions.
‘This court has also been in use to examine the conduct
of magistrates in their administration of the burgh
revenue, although this groperly comes under the ju-
risdiction of the Court of Exchequer, and to give sanc-
tion, upon particular occasions, to the common-council
of burghs, to alienate a part of the burgh estate.
The Convention likewise consider and arrange
the political setts or constitutions of the different
burghs, and regulate matters concerning elections
brought before them. The Convention meet in an
aisle of the cathedral church of St Giles, Edinburgh.

Board of Customs.

The Board of Customs consists of five commission-
ers, who manage the collection of his Majesty’s cus-
toms in Scotland. Under these are a secretary, and &
number of other officers for conducting the different
departments of business. This Board formerly occupi
the back part of the buildings of the Royal Exchange;
now occupied as the City Cﬂmbers ; but they remov-
ed some years ago to the beautiful mansion of Bellevue,
which is now included in the extended New Town of
Edinburgh, and forms-the eastern termination of Great
King Street. ;
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Board of Excise.

The Board of Excise for Scotland is managed by five
commissioners, a secretary, and a number of other
officers. The building which is occupied as an office
by this Board stands in a conspicuous situation in a
recess on the eastern side of St Andrew’s Square.
This edifice was built by the late Sir Laurence Dun=-
das for his own residence. It is a very handsome
building. A pediment in front, supported by four
Corinthian pilasters, is ornamented with the royal
arms. This building was designed by Sir William
Chambers.

Post Office.

The General Post Office of Scotland was establish-
ed in its present form by an act of parliament in 1710.
Before this period, there were regular posts in the
country to a few of the principal towns; but the ad=
vantages of such an establishment seem not to have
been duly appreciated in a nation at that time without
much trade. In the year 1698, Sir Robert Sinclair of
Stevenson had a grant from King William of the
whole revenue of the Post Office of Scotland, with a
Pension of 1..300 per annum to keep up the post. But
Sir Robert, after deliberation, gave up the grant, as
thinking it disadvantageous. In 1763 the revenue of
the Post Office of Edinburgh was L.11,942 per annum ;
and in 1788, owing to the increase of trade and corre~
Spondence, the same revenue was upwards of L. 40,000.
In 1818, after defraying every expence, the clear in=
come amounted to L. 150,000.

The Penny Post, a considerable branch ofthis esta«
blishment, was first established in Edinburgh, by an
individual unconnected with the Post Office, about
the year 1776. This singular individual, Peter Wil-
liamson, whose Life, published by himself, contains an
account of his being kidnapped when a boy, and sent
to America, and his residence, for years, among the
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North American Indians, by whom he had been
taken prisoner, kept a coffee-room in the great hall of
the Parliament House, part of which was then parti-
tioned off for shops, about the year 1775. In the
course of his business he was frequently employed by
the gentlemen attending the courts to send letters
for them, and he kept a man delivering these letters
for a trifle to his customers for some time before he
seems to have formed the idea of a regular establish-
ment for mking in letters for delivery to any part of
the town. In the year 1779 he removed to the {‘ucken-
booths, a ridge of buildings in the centre of the High
Street, now taken down ; by which time he had esta-
blished a regular penny post. Mr Williamson had
at this period four men constantly employed in deliver-
ing letters. They went about the streets, in a uni-
form dress, ringing a bell, to apprize those who wished
to employ them of their approach. But the regular
post establishment soon became sensible of the import-
ance of this branch of business to their revenue ; and
entered into a transaction with Mr Williamson for the
transference of his right to the General Post Office. *

* Peter Williamson, who first established a penny post
office in Edinburgh, was also the first who published in this
city that useful k called a Directory. At one time of
his life he was a printer, and, with a portable press of his own
manulacture, was in use to travel through the country, and,
at the different fairs, exhibit the wonders of printing to the
astonished rustics. His Directory was printed by himself;
and he carried on a business in the printing of burial letters
and small matters in Edinb for a oonai%mblc time. At
the period when his post office was in its full run of bu-
siness, Peter’s four men were numbered in conspicuous fi-
gures, 1,4, 8, 16 ; and as two never appeared together, his
business, which was good, scemed immense. In his later
days, he kept a small ale-house in the Lawnmarket, with a
sign board exhibiting him in the dress of gn Indian chief, and
the inscription, allu\:g.ngw his residence in Awerica, *¢ Peter
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The business of the General Post Office is managed
I by a Postmaster-General, a secretary, and a number of
clerks. - The building occupied by the Post Office is
situated at the nonﬁcm extremity of the western
range of buildings on the North Bridge ; which, from
its centrical situation, affords a y conveyance of
letters to any part of the metropolis. But, being too
small for the establishment, a new Post Office is erect-
ing in Waterloo Place, to the east of the arch of the
Regent Bridge, with extensive accommodations for the
business of this important public office. Besides this
there are in different parts of the city places appoint~
ed for the reception of letters, under the superintend=
ence of the General Post Office.

S——

MUNICIPAL ESTABLISHMENTS.
Magistracy of Edinburgh.

Epinsurcn is governed by a town-council of thir-
ty-three members, who have the direction of all pub-
lic affairs within t! isdiction of the city. The or~
dinary council, however, consists only of twenty-five
members ; the remaining eight are named extraordi-
nary,  The whole is composed of merchants and
tradesmen, whose respective powers and interests were,
by the constitution of the burgh, intended to be so
lnterwoyen, that an equal balance should be preserved
between the two parties.

The chief magistrate, whose office is much the same
with that of the Lord Mayor in London, is here styled

Willismson, from the other world.” Peter died at Edin-
burgh 19th January 1799, at a very advanced age.
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the Lord Provost. He is high sheriff, coroner, and
admiral, within the city and liberties, and the town,
harbour, and road-stead of Leith. He has a jurisdic-
tion in matters of life and death, now in desuetude ;
and, before the Union, was an officer in the Scottish
parlianment. He isalso President of the Convention of
Royal Burghs. In the city he has the precedency of
all the great officers of state, and of the nobility ; walk-
ing on the right hand of the king, or of his majesty’s
commissioner and representative, and enjoys the pri-
vilege of having a sword and mace carried before him.
The salary of the Lord Provost is, it is believed, 1.800
per annum. N
Beside the provost are four magistrates, called Bai-
lies, whose duty is nearly equivalent to that of the al-
dermen in London. There is also an officer, with the
title of Dean of Guild, who has the charge of the pub-
lic buildings, and without whose warrant no house
can be erected within the city. The other members of
the council are a treasurer, whose office is only nomi-
nal, (the money of the city being kept by a person
with the title of Chamberlain,) three merchant, and
two trades’ councillors, and the fourteen deacons o
the incorporated trades, who, with seven members
of the council of the foregoing year, complete the
?&.agistmcy by which the city and suburbs is govern-

The Merchant Company, from whom the principal
gart of the town-council are chosen, were incorporatec

y a charter from King Charles II. on the 20th of
October-1681. Before this period, the merchants of
Edinburgh formed a corporation called the Guildry ;
from which, for several ages, the magistrates were sole-
lti elected, to the exclusion of the persons belonging 10

e Crafts or incorporated trades.

By an act of parliament, however, in the reign of
James I1I., each of the incorporated trades were enm-
powered to choose one of their number to vote in the
election of officers for the government of the city;
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and by a decreet-arbitral, dated the 22d of April 1588,
in which Kirg James VI. himself was umpire, the pre-
sent seff or constitution of the burgh was finally es-
tablished.

The fourteen incorporated trades of Edinburgh are
as follows :—

1. Surgeons.~This incorporation was erected by
the magistrates on the 1st of July 1505. As in other
countries of Europe, the profession was, at its first erec~
tion, conjoined with the barbers, and both these occu-~
pations were exercised by the same 1{)erﬁom;. In the
charter of incorporation it was provided, that none of
the members should take an apprentice, * without he
can baith wryte and reid ;” and the sole privilege
was conferred upon them of making and selling agua-
vite within the city.

The charter of erection was confirmed by James IV.
on the 18th of October 1506 ; and Queen Mary, to
enable the members to attend more closely on their
Patients and studies, did, by her letters-patent, of the
1th May 1567, exempt them from attending juries,
watching and warding within the city and liberties of'
Edinburgh. These grants were confirmed by James
VL in 1618, as they likewise were by parliament on
the 17th of November 1641.

_In the year 1657, the town-council, on the applica<
tion of some of the’members of this incorporation,
crected the surgeons and apothecaries into one coma
Munity. This erection was confirmed by Charles II.
n 1670, and by William and Mary in 1694, with an
additional grant of liberty to practise in some of the
beighbouring counties. ~The arts of surgery and
Pharmacy being thus united, the corporation laid aside
| the profession of the barber art. They continued,
- lowever, to supply the necessities of the town in this
lepartment, by appointing a sufficient number of per-
f;':s qualified to shave and dress hair, under their in«
*Pection.

The incorporation continued in this state till the
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year 1722, when the Court of Session by a decree en-
tirely sel;mted the barbers from the surgeons. The
former, however, are still obliged to register their ap-
})rentices along with those of their more elevated col-
ea%ll.les: but the two professions, so widely different
in the qualifications required for each, are now separat-
ed f(;:- ever. ¢

The surgeons were again incorporated by a roy:
charter, dated the 14-3?30{‘ Marc?o 1778, \¥nder the
title of The Royal College of Surgeons. The hall for
the meetings of thissociety stands in Surgeons’ Square.
In it are a number of portraits of celebrated characters
connected with the society. Here is also a theatre for
dissections, and a small museum. ;

2. Goldsmiths.—~The society of Goldsmiths was in
ancient times attached to the ‘incorporation known by
the name of Hammermen. From this society they
were separated by the magistrates of the city in 1581,
and erected into a distinct body. This erection was
afterwards confirmed by royal charters. The gold-
smiths of Edinburgh had a power of inspecting and
regulating all the vessels of silver and gold, manufac-
tured not only in the city, but in other parts of Scot-
land ; and likewise to destroy all that was found false
or counterfeit, and punish the offenders by fine or
imprisonment. This community had formerly a hand-
some hall in the Parliament Square for transacting
their business ; but it was destroyed by fire, and has
10t since been rebuilt. The hall of the corporation 15
now in South Bridge Street.

8. Skinners.—Thesociety of Skinners or Glovers wa$
formed into a corporate hody about the year 1586, and
their charter was confirmed by the magistrates, with
some restrictions, in 1630. The hall of this incorpo-
ration is in the lane called from it Skinners’ Close.

4. Furriers~The society of Furriers is veryancient;
but their original charters being lost, it is impossible
to ascertain with accuracy the time of their first erec
tion into an incorporation. By a petition of this body

4



INCORPORATIONS. 145

to the magistrates, however, in the year 1593, com-
plaining of the encroachments of the tailors and skin-
ners on this branch of art, and in which they state
themselves to have been at that time a ¢ calling of ane
verie antient standing within burgh,” we may justly
rate them to have existed asa body a considerable time
prior to this date.

5. Hammermen.— The Hammermen were first
erected into a body corporate by the town-council in
1483, At this time they consisted of the arts of black=«
smiths, goldsmiths, lorimers, saddlers, cutlers, and
bucklers or armourers. The goldsmiths were separat-
ed from the hammermen (as already mentioned) in
1581 ; but they have since received an addition to
their number of several other branches of art, such as
founders, coppersmiths, &c. which has increased the
number of trades belonging to this incorporation to
seventeen. In its corporate capacity, this society are
gntrons of the Hammermen in the suburbs of Ports-
burgh and Potterrow, as they formerly were of those
in the town of Leith. Their hall of meeting is in the
small ancient Chapel of St Mary Magdalen, in the
street named the Cowgate.

_6.and 7. Wrights and Masons.—These two branches
of art were first formed into an incorporation by an act
of the magistrates (of; Edinburgh in 1475, and their
charter was confirmed by sevens successive sovereigns.
At this time it consisted of these two professions on«
ly ; but several others at different times were added.
By a decree of the Court of Session in 1703, the bow=
makers, glaziers, plumbers, and upholsterers, were
added to the masons ; and to the wrights were attach-
ed the painters, slaters, sievewrights, and coopers. This
Incorporation had formerlya hall in the lane named Nid-
dry’s Wynd, which, having been builton the site of an
ancient chapel dedicated to the Holy Virgin, was called
St Mary’s Chapel. In the course of the improvements
of the city this hall was pulled down ; but the incor«

N
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poration erected a new one in Burnet's Close, which
still retains the ancient name.

A picture, which was painted for the incorporation
in 1721, b{ one Chalmers, herald painter, and contain=
ing a full length portrait of a freeman of each of the
trades in the habit of their profession, had been re-
moved when their old place of meeting was taken
down. This picture, unaccountably mislaid, was af-
terwards purchased at a public sale by the Earl of
Buchan for seven guineas ; but his Lordship, on learn=
ing the wish of the incorporation to have it replaced in
their hall, very handsomely presented it to them, for
which his Lordship rcceivedp the thanks and the free-
dom of this body on 16th May 1814.

8. Zhilors.—his society first applied to the ma-
q:strates for their sanction to the laws of the body in
the year 13500; but they seem to have been formed
into a regular corporation before this period. Subse-
quent grants, with ample privileges, were conferred

m the tailors by the magistrates, in 1531 and 1584,
which were confirmed by Kings James V. and VI. To
this incorporation anciently belonged the superiority
and direction of all the tailors within the suburbs of
Edinbuargh and town of Leith ; and they still retain the
s;ﬁ)eriority over those in the more ancient suburbs.

is body had the honour to receive a letter from
James VL., requesting the freedom of the incorpora-
tion for one Alexander Millar, gratis, on account of
his ““ gude service in making and worldn[i the abulzie-
ments of.oure awin persone.” The hall where they
formerly met to transact business is in the street called
Cowgate, and has this inscription over the entrance:

ALMIGHTIE GOD WHO FOUND-
ED BUILT AND GROUND
THIS WORK WITH BLESSINGS
MAK IT TO ABOUND.

9. Bakers~The time when this fraternity were
erected into an incorporation is unknown. It must
01
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have been, however, before the year 1522, as, by a
grant from the common-~council in that year, concern=
ing the grinding of corn at the town mills, they ap«
pear to have hag a deacon and master, The members
of this corporation have the sole privilege of baking
bread within the city ; but the Court of Session has
lateli found that bread may be sold within the city
and liberties, provided it has been baked without the
same,

10. Fleshers,—The Fleshers or Butchers are a ve
ancient incorporation ; but the precise time of their
being established into a society is not with certainty
known. The first laws and regulations for this body,
however, were granted by the magistrates of the i«
1y in 1488 ; which makes it prob:ﬂe that they had
1{!:1 been long formed into a fraternity before that pe«
Tiod,

11. Cordiners~—The Cordiners or Shoemakers were
erected into an incorporate body by a charter from the
town-council in the year 1449. Their charter was
confirmed by an additional one in 1536, and received
the royal sanction of James V1. in 1598. The hall
Where this company meet is near the head of the lane
called the Horse Wynd.

12. Weavers.—~The Websters or Weavers of Edin-
burgh were formeddnto a fraternity by the magistrates
on the 31st January 1475.

. 13. Waukers.~This society seems to have been

incorporated by the m:fimm of the city about the

year 1500. The trade of Hatters was conjoined

::lt;h them in 1672, and they now form one incorpo-
on, :

14. Bonnetmakers.~This trade was anciently ate
tached to the incorporation of Waukers; but from these
they were separated, and erected into a distinct body

Y the magistrates in the year 1580. About the mid-
dle of the sevententh century, by the introduction of
€ wearing of hats in place of bonnets, this society
#as nearly dissolved ; but, upon an application to the
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town-council in 1684, the trade of a Litster or Dyer
was united to them, although the incorporation still
goes under its former name.

Candlemakers.—The Candlemakers form an incor-
porated trade in Edinburgh, though they have not the
privilege of sending a member to the common-coun-
cil. They lost this privilege in 1582, by not produc-
ing their ‘charter and signing the reference made in
that year to the arbiters appointed by James VI., at
which time the present sef or constitution of the
burgh was established. The Candlemakers, however,

all the other rights and privileges which are
exercised by the incorporated trades. The time of
their original erection is unknown, but their privi-
leges were confirmed by a eharter from the magistrates
in 1517.

Such are the bodies from which the magistrates of
Edinburgh are elected. The election is conducted in
the following manner :—A leet or list of six ns 15
made out by each incorporation, from whicE number
the deacon belonging to that incorporation is to
chosen. These lists are then laid before the common-=
council of twenty-five, who ¢ shorten the leets,” by
striking out one half of the mames from each; and
from the three remaining ones the deacon is to be
chosen. When this election is over, the new deacons
are presented to the council, who choose six of them
to be ordinary members of their body, and the six dea~
cons of the former year leave their places. The coun-
cil of twenty-five next proceed to the election of three
merchant and two trngcs councillors. ZLeets or lists
are then made out, from which the lord provost, dean
of guild, treasurer, and bailies must be chosen. The
candidates for each of these offices are three in num-
ber ; and the election is made by the thirty members
of council, joined to the eight extraordinary council-
deacons.

This manner of election, by the magistrates having
the power of shortening the lists, and, of course, con-
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trolling thewhole, has long been complained of; and, for
the purpose of procuring a new and mtxgroved constitu~
tion to the city, better adapted than the former to the
present state of the community, the election of 1817 was
challenged, and its merits brought before the Supreme
Court, This action is still in dependence, and a com=
mittee of parliament, whom most of the burghs of
Scotland had petitioned, has been appointed to inves~
tigate their claims. Whatever be the result, the inves«
tigation, as in every case where facts regarding the
management of public property are made known, will
have 51(: best effects on the conduct of the future ad
ininistrators.

The business of this city is man by the ordi=
aary council of twenty-five, the eight extraordinary
deacons being only called in on certain occasions, when
their number is increased to thirty-three, and the
meeting is on this decasion called the extraordinary
council, 'The ordinary council meet every Wednesday
tor the dispatch of business.

To the town-council are attached four advocates,
ainder the name of Assessors, who assist and direct
them in their deliberations o difficult or contested
cases.

Criminal Court.—~THe /inagistrates of Edinburgh
hold a court in which wy:n tried all criminal causes
that oceur within the city and liberties. They have
aright to inflict arbitrary punishments, and the Lord
Provost, in eertain cases, has a jurisdiction in matters
of life and death. But this jurisdiction is not now
exercised ; the magistrates 6nly, in capital crimes, tak-
ing a precognition, or forwarding the business for the
supreme courts. ho: ;

Buailie Court.~The Bailie Court tries all causes for
debt and civil trespass that occur within the jurisdiction
of the city. One mie only sits at a time ; and, being
in office for one year, the four bailies sit in this court
ach three montls a.ltermte;y. Actions to any amount

N



150 CITY COURTS.

n‘gl::nst an inhabitant of Edinburgh can be judged in
this court.

Ten Merk Court.~This court is likewise held by
the magistrates of Edinburgh for the recovery, in a
summary manner, of all petty sums not exceeding ten
merks Scots, or 11s. 13d. Sterling, except in the case of
servants’ wages, which can be sued for to any amount.
Tt was instituted as a relief for the poorer class of ci-
tizens, who might not be able to enter into an expen-
sive litigation. The whole amount of the expence of a
process here does not exceed 8d. Sterling.

Dean of Guild Court.—This court is composed of
an officer, called the Dean of Guild, assisted by &
council of four members, appointed by the magistrates.
It takes cognizance of all the buildings which are
erected within the city and liberties, none of which
can be built without a warrant from this court. It
has also the privilege of visiting and inspecting such
houses as are insufficient, or in danger of falling down,
and has a power of condemning them, if found inse-
cure, and of obliging the proprietors to pull them down
and rebuild them. The Dean of Guild Court inspects
and regulates all the weightsand measures used in the
deti{; and has a power of seizing such as are found
deficient, and punishing the persons who use them by
fine and confiscation. This court likewise takes account
of all the merchants and tradesmen within the town;
and sces that none exercise their professions except
those who have been admitted to the freedom of the

city. :

he entrance money paid for the privilege of being
admitted a guild-brother has been understood to be-
long to the guildry, or association of merchants, as &
body, for the support of their poor brethren; and an
action of declarator has been raised against the magis-
trates for the purpose of ascertaining their privileges,
and of getting possession of a fund hitherto appropri
by the magistrates, but which, in their hands, would

1
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be attended with extended benefits to a very respecta~
ble part of the community.

The Lord Provost is lord lieutenant of the city, and
the four bailies are justices of the peace ez gfficio with-
in the liberties.

The magistrates of Edinburgh, also, as superiors of
the suburbs of Canongate, Easter and Wester Ports-
burgh, and the town of Leith, have the appointment
of baron-bailies for these districts ; and these in their
turn appoint persons with the title of resident bailies,
who hold courts for the trial of petty offences. The
chief magistrate for the town of Leith has the title of
admiral.

The revenue of Edinburgh consists of an impost on
wines, the shore dues of Leith, duties on markets, an-
nuity or ministers’ stipend, landed Eroperty,' feu-du-
ties, and money received from the inhabitants who are
supplied with water-pipes. The whole is said to be
upwards of L. 45,000 per annum. These revenues are
collected and kept by a person with the title of City
Chamberlain, the office of treasurer being now merely
nominal. The office of chamberlain was instituted by
the town-council in 1766. _

The hall where the magistrates formerly transacted
the city business was situated at the north-west en-
trance of the Parliament Close. But this building
having heen removed to make way for the erection of
the new library rooms, the north side of the Exchange
buildings is now occupied as the city chambers. In
the council-room is a f{’ne bronze statue of his present
Majesty, which was accidentally discovered some years
ago in the box in which it had been transmitted thirty
years before. The different city offices likewise oc-
cupy apartments in this building.

In their official capacity, the provost and bailies are
clothed in scarlet robes, and the rest of the members
of the council in black gowns. A sword and mace are
carried before them on all public occasions ; and the
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provost, bailies, and dean of guild, wear chains of
gold as part of their official dress.

New Prison.

The New Prison stands on the Calton Hill, on the
south side of the new approach to the city, and imme-
diately to the west of Bridewell. It is in the Saxon
style of architecture, was founded in September 18145,
and finished for the reception of prisoners in
ber 1817. The building is in length 194 feet by 40
feet deep, and is divided into six classes of cells, four
formen, and two for women, besides a division contain-
ing condemned cells, and an airing ground attached.
Each of the classes have on the ground floor a day-
room with a fire-place, an open arcade for exercise i
bad weather, and an airing ground supplied with wa-
ter. Kach class has also a staircase, and under it a
water-closet. ‘I'he staircase leads up to the cells in
the second floor. The size of the cells is 8 feet by
6, and cach is intended to contain one prisoner. An
elm plank is fixed into the wall for a bed, the window
is grated and glazed, and a thorough draught of air is
procured by means of perforations through the interior
walls.  The number of cells is fifty-eight in both
stories. The chapel is in the centre of the building
above the entrance, and occupies two stories. It is
divided in the lower story into separate boxes, which
contain the felons according as they are classed, and
above is a gallery for debtors. A central Eﬂmﬂse com-
municates with' all the cells and the chapel, and at
each division of the classes is an iron swing-door. At
%&o&of the building are four infirmary rooms for

The turnkeys’ lodge is so constructed that they can
see into all the airing grounds at once ; and in the in-
terior of the prison is a commodious kitchen, a bath,
and a copper for purifying their clothes. ’

The governor’s house, or captain of the jail, as he is
here called, is placed upon an eminence which overlooks
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the prison. Itisa very picturesque building in the
Gothic style of architecture ; and contains apartments
for the governor, and a committee-room for the jail
commissioners. The view from the platform on the
top of the house is very much admired.

On each side of the gate are rooms for the turnkeys
who keep the three gates. The ‘)latform over the
gateway was once intended as the place of' execution ;
but the idea of executing criminals here is, it is believ-
ed, now given up. The whole of the buildings are
sm-roundeﬁl by a boundary wall about twenty feet in
height. The boundary wall and massive gate for a
prison for debtors is built on the east side of Bride-
well ; but it is hoped that the present building will
long accommodate all the unfortunate individuals
whose misfortunes or crimes render it necessary to de-
prive them of personal liberty.

The old Tolbooth or prison stood in the middle of
the High Street, at the north-west corner of St Giles's
church, and was pulled down in 1817. It is said to
have been erected in the year 1561, not merely for the
purpose of a prison, but likewise for the accommoda-
tion of parliament and the courts of justice. But this
seems a mistake ; the place where the Scottish parlia-
ment met, previous to itheir occupying the present
Parliament House, being what was ed the New
Tolbooth, or High Council Room, and more lately the
Justiciary Court Room, which was erected in 1564.
The confusion has arisen from the one building being
repaired and the other built nearly at the same time,
and from being in the near vicinity of one another. The
last parliament at which the king presided was held
in the Tolbooth, immediately atter the coronation of
Charles 1. in 1633.*

* The old Tolbooth, the name which this building assumed
after the new council room was built, is further remarkable,
as having been the scene of one of the pringipal incidents in
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Canongate Tolbooth.

The Canongate Tolbooth or prison, as appears from
an inscription on the front, scems to have been either
built or repaired in the reign of James VI. The
building contains a court-room for the baron-bailie of
the district, and is surmounted with a spire and clock.
It stands on the north side of that part of the High
Street named Canongate. Besides this there are court-
houses and prisons in the other suburbs ; but none of

these deserve particular notice,
Bridewell.

The Edinburgh Bridewell was founded on the 30th
of November 1791. Before this period the city of
Edinburgh had an institution of a similar kind, under
the name of the House of Correction, for the reception
of strolling poor, vagrants, and prostitutes. This es-
tablishment was projected in 1632 ; and being the
first of the kind in the town, a person was brought
from England to superintend its management. The
accommodation provided by the magistrates for this
establishment was for fifty culprits; and the allot«
ted.expence of this number was L. 100 per annum.
The motives of the council for this erection were,
that « ther;by d:ﬁmw might bel;d‘mu;i'mlv:iw hsup-
pressit, and ydi le compellit to e thems«
selffis to sun); ver&e:p and ingeusu'ie.” The houses
first occupied by this establishment were situated in
Paul's Work ; but afterwards a house near the Charity
Work House was appropriated to this purpose. This,
in course of time, being found on a scale too small for

—

the tale of ¢ The Heart of Mid-Lothian,” The High Coun-
cil Room, or new Tolbooth, was removed to make way for
the erection of the Advocates’ and Writers to the Signets
Library rooms.
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the increased population of the city, a new Bridewell
was projected, and the “present building reared. It
stands on the Calton Hill, immediately to the cast of
the New Prison. The foundation-stone was laid by the
Earl of Morton, as Grand Master Mason of Scotland,
attended by the lord provost, magistrates, and town=
council in their robes, and in presence of a number
of noblemen and gentlemen. In the foundation-stone
were put two crystal bottles, containing the different
coins of his present Majesty, and an almanack and'
hewspapers, and a plate of copper with an inscription,
were likewise there deposited.

The building is of a semicircular form, and was built
from a plan of the late celebrated Mr Robert Adam.
It consists of five floors, the upper one of which is us-
edas an hospital and store-rooms. A passage goes
along the middle of the semicircular part of the build-
ng, with apartments on each side. The apartments
on the outward side of the curvature are smaller than
those in the inside. They are also double the num-
ber, and are used as separate bed-chambers. The
ipartments in the inner side of the semicircle, of which
there are thirtecn in each floor, are allotted for labour.

icy have a grate in front, and look into an inner
Jourt.  Opposite to thesgs in the straight side of the
building, is a dark apartment, with narrow windows,
from wiich, without being seen, the governor has a
"lew of the persons at work. The bed-chambers are
lighted by a long narrow window in each, and their
f'Urnituge consists of a bed and a Bible.

This building was finished in 1796, and opened for
'he_ reception og culprits of both sexes. The expence
of its erection was defrayed by an assessment on the in-
habitants of the city and county, aided by a grant of
L. 5000 from government. :

Since the establishment of a regular police in Edin-
burgh, the number of ms confined in Bridewell

much increased. !;mm the Report of the Coma
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mittee of Management, printed in 1817, it appears
the numbers stood thus in the following years :—

Years. 1808 1809 1810 1811 1812
Numbers. 365 399 370 338 577

Years. 1813 1814 1815 1816
Numbers. 968 1046 1428 1621

The average number at one time in the house, dur-
ing the last of these years, amounted to about 280.
The number of night cells amount only to 144, of
which ten are occupied as store-rooms, making the
disposable cells 134, while those for the day are 52.

"The same report presents a melancholy picture of the

effects of this and similar establishments in lessening
erimes, or promoting the reformation of delinquents.
e lmlepenSent]y of the humiliating spectacle afforded
by so many of our citizens suffering under this species of
runishmcnt, and of the expence of their aliment fal-
ing on the police éstablishment, the effects must be
prejudicial, 15¢, By rendering crime less odious in the
sight of the prisoners, owing to the number of persons
whom they find equally guilty as themselves. 2d/y, From
such a number of prisoners being turned out from day
to day upon the community. The number must ot
present, from the preceding state, amount on an
average to 81 weekly, most of whom being destitute
of any means of support, have, in many cases, no re-
source but to commit fresh depredations.”

The number of recommitments, compared to first
offences; will be seen from the following state :

Years. 1810 1811 1812 1813 1814 1815 1816
Nos. in custody for
first time. 185 168 283 358 314 440 421

Recommitments. 185 170 289 610 732 988 1200

One cause of the numerous recommitments, as stat~
ed by the culprits themselves, is, that the first con-
finement having deprived them of character, no.one
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will take them into employment ; and, disowned by
their friends, they have no resource left but to commit
fresh depredations, by which they are supported for a
time, or, if detected, they are remanded to their former
quarters.  * During the last twenty years,” continues
the re(Port, “ it is no exaggeration to say, that six-
teen of them have been spent by several individuals
in this prison. Of those whose carcer of vice has been
of more recent commencement, some are in custody
cleven months out of the twelve, several nine months,
and many upwards of six and seven months annually.”

There appears something miserably wrong in the
whole systemn of prison discipline which g:esents such
Tesults ; and were not the possibility of a better system
demonstrated in the practice of an enlightened commu-
nity, the prospect for the future would be melancholy
Indeed. But in the state prison of Philadelphia, of
the many who receive pardon not one returns a convict ;
and the earnings of the prisoners are equal to the ex-
pence of the establishment. On entering the prison an
account is opened with them, in which they are charg-
ed with their board, clothes, the fine imposed by the
State, and the expence of prosecution, and credited for
their work ; and, as the d is low, and the labour
constant, it is easy for the convicts to earn more than
their subsistence. On several occasions the balance
Paid has amounted to more than one hundred dollars,
and from ten to forty are commonly paid. Corporal
Punishments are strictly prohibited ; solitary cells
and low diet have, on all occasions, been found amply
sufficient to bring down the most determined spirit.
‘ In the course of afew days or weeks, (according to
Mr Mease,) the very nature of the being is changed,
and there is no instance of any one having given occa-
Slon for the infliction of this punishment a second
time ;” and those places of confinement which, in other
Countries, are a seminary of crimes destructive to so-
Clety, are, in Philadelphia, *“ a school of reformation
ud a place of public labour.”

0
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Weigh-house.

The city Weigh-house stands at the end of
the lane called the West Bow, nearly in the middle
of the street. At what time the present building was
erected is not known ; but the ground on which it
stands was granted to the citizens by King David 1L
in the year 1352. This edifice, which is much de-
cayed, is a great incumbrance to the street, neither
the architecture, which is the meanest kind, nor
the purposes to which the building is applied, suiting
the place where it stands. The weigh is under
the direction of the magistrates, and standard weights
are kept here for weighing any kind of goods required
by the inhabitants.

. Eschange.

This building stands on the north side of the High
Street, opposite to the site of the ancient market-cross-
The ancient Exchange, which stood in the Parliament
Square, but which has been long removed, was built
in 1685. It wasin the middle of a handsome paved
court, and had a range of piazzas for the merchants to
meet in to transact their business. But, attached to
the former place of their meeting at the Cross, this
convenience was never used by the merchants. The
present Exchange was the first of the plan of improve-
ments which have raised Edinburgh in elegance st-
perior to most other cities. 1t was founded in the
year 1753 ; and on this occasion, there was a
grocessicn, and the greatest concourse of people assemn-

led that had ever been known before in the metropo-
lis. A triumphal arch was erected, through which
the procession passed, and medals were scattered 8-
mong the populace. The whole was completed in
1761, at an expence of L. 31,000 Sterling.

The Exchange is an elegant building, of a squar¢
form, with a court in the centre. The principal part
of the edifice forms the north side of the square, and
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extends from east to west 111 feet over wall, by 51
broad. Pillars and arches support a platform, on
which is a pediment with the town’s arms. To the
south the building is 60 feet high ; but the northern
part, owing to the declivity of the ground, riscs 100
feet. The extreme dimensions of the whole building
amount to 182 feet south and north, by 111 feet east
and west upon the north front; but upon the south
front 147 feet. The apartments in the back part of
the building are occupied as the City Chambers and
dependent offices ; the rest is laid out in shops and
houses.  Notwithstanding the convenience of the
square of the Exchange for merchants to meet in, and
its vicinity to the Cross, they still prefer standing
in the street, in defiance of all attempts to induee
them to do otherwise.

Police.

The police of Edinburgh, before 2 mgnhrhody of
officers under this title was organized gﬂact of par-
lisment, was well conducted, and in perhaps no city
in the world were the inhabitants better protected in
their ns and properties than in the Scottish me-
tropolis. Robbery was rare, and street murder almost
unknown, This was su to be, in a great mea~
sure, owing to a very useful and not very expensive es-
tablishment called the Town Guard. This guard ori-
ginated from the apprehensions of the eitizens of an
attack from the English after the unfortunate battle
of Flowden, where James IV., with most of the Scot-
tish nobility, fell. At that time the town-council,
with an intrepidity which did them honour, command-
ed the inhabitants to assemble in defence of the city,
and ordered every fourth man to be on duty each
night. This introduced a kind of personal duty for
the defence of the town, called Watching and Ward-
ing ; by which the trading part of the inhabitants
were obliged to wateh alternately, in order to suppress
Wm{' disturbances. This, however, becoming in
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time extremely inconvenient, the town-council, in
1648, appointed a body of sixty men to be raised ; the
captain of which was to have a monthly pay of
L. 11, 2s. 8d., two licutenants of L.2 each, two ser-
jeants of L. 1, 5s., and the private men of 13s. each.
No regular fund was established for defraying the ex-
pence, the consequence of which was, that the old
method of watching and warding was resumed ; but
the people on whom this service devolved were now
become so relaxed in their discipline, that the magis-
trates were threatened with having the king’s m'
quartered in_the city, if they did not appoint a suffi-
cient guard. To prevent this measure from being re-
sorted to, forty men were raised in 1679, and in 1683
the number was increased to 108.

After the Revolution, the town-council complained of
the guard as a grievance, and requested parliament that
it might be removed. Their request was immediatel
complied with, and the old method of watching
warding was renewed. This, however, was now soint'o-
lerable, that the very next year they applied to parlia-
ment for leave to raise one hundred and twenty-six men
for the defenceof theeity, and totax tltxe(ilcigzensfor their
payment. This being likewise granted, the corps was
ram‘y,el:l, which continued for many years to discharge all
the duties of watchmen, under t{e name of the 7oun
Guard. This venerable body, on the introduction of
the first police bill, was reduced to an officer and thir-
ty men, as a guard to the provost ; and this last rem-
nant was finally disbanded in September 1817, on the
demolition of " the old Talbooth, the lower part of
which was occupied as their guard-room.

The day-arms of the town-guard were the same
as those used by the King's forces; but in doing the
dux' of watchmen during the night, they were arm
with a weapon called a Lochaber nre, an ancient Scot-
tish offensive weapon, the use of which had in every
other place been long discontinued.

In addition to the town-guard, the city had formerly
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a militia of its own, called the Trained Bands, which
consisted of sixteen companies of 100 men each, with
proper officers. 'T'hey were in use to parade every year
at the anniversary of ¥1is Majesty’s birth ; but only the
officers now remain, who are elected annually. ~ Of
these the provost had, and still bears, though the in-
stitution for any useful purpose is entirely dissolved,
the title of colonel.

For the security of the city there is likewise a So-
ciet¥ of Constables, sixty in number, who are annual-
ly elected from the respectable merchants and trades-
men. This society is under the direction of the ma-
Zistrates, and is governed by a moderator or president,
treasurer, and secretary. A considerable mumber of
the citizens also, under the title of extraordinary con-
stables, are liable to be called upon in any emergency
for the preservation of the peace.

The different suburbs of the town have also consta-
bles appointed, who are under the jurisdiction of the
Bh‘ i and 'n‘si

. The old system of police having been found insuffi-
cient for the city in its present extended state, an ap-

lication was made to parliament, in 1805, for a police

ill for the city. This bill received the sanction of
the legislature, and was to be acted upon, and
a police court opened in Edinburgh, on the 15th of
July 1805. ?

By this statute a Court of Police was established,
under the superintendence of a person with the title
of Judge of Police, and a clerk. Under him were six
Inspectors, for the different wards into which the city
Was divided. Every public outrage, every theft, rob-

or depredation, every obstruction, nuisance, or
breach of eanliness, and every imposition or over-
charge in articles under the cognizance of the police
act, were deemed public offences, and were prosecuted
by the inspectors of the wards. The examination of
the offender and witnesses was, in this court, taken
*nstanter, and viva voce, and the sentence pronounced

0%



162 BANK OF SCOTLAND.

was immediately executed. The Judge of Police was
empowered to punish by fines and compensation for
damages, Eﬁ imprisonment in jail, or by commitment
to Bridewell.

After an experiment of nearly seven years, this me-
thod of regulating the police of the city was found in
many respects objectionable, and a new bill havin
been brought in, in place of the former act, it
the House of Lords on the 17th June 1812. By this
statute, which abolished the office of Judge of Police,
the city was divided into twenty-six wards, with three
resident commissioners for each,~a superintendent was
agpointed,—-—the sheriff of the county and magistrates
of Edinburgh were appointed judges,—and it con-
tained varions enactments for the lighting, cleaning,
watching, Euving the streets, and other matters of
general police. ~The Police Court, under the old
act, was closed by the judge, Mr Tait, on the 6th
July 1812. During the period of this establishment
no less than twelve thousand cases of offences against
the act had come before this court. The business is
now managed by a superintendent, with a salary of
L. 500 per annum, a clerk at L.200, and three lieu-
tenants at L. 80 each. The total expence of the esta-
blishment, for the year ending May 1817, was
L.18,482, 4s. 10d., which is levied on a rental of
. 813,998, at 1s. 8d. per pound.

o e———
———

BANKS.
Bank of Scotland.
Tur Bank of Scotland was erected by an act of par-

liament in 1695. By the statute of erection the company
were empowered to raise a joint stock of L. 1,200,000
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Scots, or L. 100,000 Sterling. - The affairs of the com-
pany are managed by a governor, deputy-governor,
and twenty-four directors. The capital stock is divid-
ed into shares, of which the smallest is L. 1000 Scots,
and the largest L.20,000. In the election of office-
bearers, the qualifications requisite are, that the go-
vernor must be possessed of at least L.8000 in the
stock of the company, the deputy-governor L. 6000,
and L. 8000 for each of the directors. Proprietors who
have a share of L. 1000 of stock are entitled to vote
in the election of managers ; and those who have stock
above that sum have a vote for every L. 1000.

In the year 1774, this company obtained an act to
enlarge their capital to 1..2,400,000 Scots, or 1..200,000
Sterling. By this act it was provided, that no one in-
dividual should possess in whole more than L. 40,000
in stock, and the qualification for the offices of go-
vernor and directors was doubled. The stock of this
bank is at present one million and a half Sterling.

The banking-office of this company is at the head
of the entrance to the Earthen Mound. In digging
the foundation for this edifice, the same obstacle came
in the way which occasioned an obstruction in the
building, and eventually occasioned the falling, of the
North Bridge. After they had dug to a tfmt depth,
no proper foundation could be found for the building,
it being all what is called ¢ravelled earth. The quan-
tity of this earth removed was such, that some of the
neighbouring buildings, by the removal of the mass
which supported them, were rent in the walls, and
the inhngmmls obliged to remove. A solid founda-
tion was at lcngth found, and the building reared.
The quantity, however, of stone and mortar which
is buried below the present surface is immense,
and, perhaps, as mncg of the building is below
ground as is raised above it. The dead wall on the
north part of the edifice, where the declivity is
greatest, is covered by a stone curtain, ornamented
with a ballustrade. The south front is pretty ele-



164 ROYAL BANK.

gant. A small dome rises from the gentre; and in
the front are four projections. A range of Corinthian

ilasters decorate the second floor ; and over the door,
in the recess formed by the projections, is a Venetian
window, ornamented with two columns of the Corin-
thian order, and surmounted with the arms of the
Bank. The design for this building was chiefly fur-
nished by that ingenious architect the late Mr Richard
Crichton’; and from its situation it forms no inconsi«
derable addition to the architectural ornaments of Edine

burgh.
Royal Bank.

The Royal Bank of Scotland was established on the
31st of May 1727. The'stock of this company at first
consisted in the equivalent money which was due to
Scotland at the Union. Proprictors of these sums,
to the extent of L. 111,000 Sterling, were the original
subscribers. But this stock being insufficient for car-
rying on the business of the company, a second charter
was granted them in 1738, by which they were em=
powered to raise their stock to L. 150,000 Sterling,
and s:(ll)sequemly to L.1,000,000. The b\:isiness'ls
managed by a governor, deputy-governor, directors,
and extmor(ylinar{ directors. p’l‘l{e person_elected go-
vernor must hold shares in the stock of the compuny
to the amount of L. 2000 Sterling, the dcputy-gover~
nor L. 1500, the directors L. 1000, and the extraordi-
nary directors L. 500. The sum of L. 300 entitles the
proprictors to a vote in the management of affuirs,
L. 600 to two, and L. 1200 to four. The present stock
of this company amounts to one million and a half
Sterling. 3

The office where they transact their business is in
the lane called the Royal Bank Close ; but they are
speedily to remove to St Andrew’s Square, to the
north side of the opening to the Excise Office.

By an arrangement with the proprietors of the Bank
of Scotland, commonly called the O/d Bank, and
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those of the Royal Bank, rivalship in business is pre-
vented, the former allowing the Royal Bank to have a
branch in the city of Glasgow, while the Bank of Scot-
land, on the other hand, have agents in all the other
towns of Scotland.

British Linen Company.

This bank was established by charter on the 5th of
July 1746, with a view to encourage the linen manu-
ficture in’ Scotland. The capital of the company is
L. 500,000, and the business is managed by a gover-
nor, deputy-governor, and directors. - The qualifica-
tion required for a governor is, that he must have at
least 1. 1000 Sterling in the stock of the company, of
2 deputy-governor L. 500, and of a director L. 300.
Proprietors of stock to the amount of L.200 have a
vote, those of L. 500 have two votes, and those who
possess L. 1000 have four votes. To the erection of
this bank, in a great measure, was owing the flourish-
ing state of the linen trade in Scotland. The com-
pany’s office is situated to the south side of the open-

;i"g in St Andrew’s Square in front of the Excise Of-
ce.

The Commercial Banking Company of Scotland

Was established in 1810, by a number of merchants
and others, and is managed by ordinary and extraor-
dinary directors, in the same manner as the other pub-

¢ banking houses in the city. The capital of the
company is three millions Sterling, and they have
agents in the principal provineial towns. Their office
lss situated at the bottom of a small lane in the High
treet,

All these banks issue promissory notes for various
sums, not under L. 1 Sterling, payable on demand in
cash or Bank of England notes.

Besides these, however, there are a number of pri- .
vate banking offices in Edinburgh of great respectabi-

ity.  The only one of these which issues promissory
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notes is that of Sir William Forbes and Company.
The remainder, of which there are seven, employ their
capital in the discounting of bills and other branches
of the banking business.

INSURANCE COMPANIES.
Friendly Insurance.

T'sie first insurance company against fire established
in Edinb was the Friendly Insurance. This in-
stitution had its origin in 1720, in the circumstance of
a number of pro;;lrienm mautually agreeing to insure
the houses of each other, by a 'deposit amounting to
the fifteenth part of the value of the subjects protect-
ed. 'The premiums thus raised were to be considered
as the joint stock of the company, and the shares to be
held in proportion to the capital invested. In 1727,
the magistrates granted this company a seal of cause,
erecting them into a body corporate ; and they after-
wards obtained the sanction of the legislature in the
reign of George II. In 1767, their capital having ac-
cumulated beyond what was necessary to protect the
property of the share-holders, they resolved to admit
110 more members on the original plan ; and the com-
pany has since continued to insure property of all kinds
against fire, upon the payment of an annual premium,
as in other institutions of the same mature. Their
office is situated in North Bridge Street.

Caledonian Fire Insurance Company.

The Caledonian Fire Insurance Company was the
next Edinburgh establishment of this deseription. It
was instituted in 1805, with a capital of L. 150,000
and obtained a royal charter in 1810, confirming the
joint and individual responsibility of all the partners.
The stock is divided into shares of L.100 each,
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which ne individual can hold above ten, and is ma-
naged by twelve directors.. The office of the company
s situated in Bank Street.

Hercules Fire Insurance Company.

The Hercules Fire Insurance Company was esta~
blished in February 1809, upon a plan similar to that
of the Caledonian Fire Insurance Company. Their
capital is L. 750,000, held in shares of L. 100 each ;
and the business is conducted under the superinten-
dence of boards of ordinary and extraordinary direc-
tors. 7Their office is in the new buildings, North
Bridge Street.

North British Fire Qffice.

The North British Fire Office, the fourth establish-
ment of this nature in Edinburgh, was commenced in
1809, with a capital stock of L. 500,000. By the con-
tract of this company, the share-holders are only liable
for losses to the amount of their shares; but, asin
every other institution of the same kind in the king-
dom, the annual premiums have been sufficient to pay
every charge, besides a handsome per centage, the se-
cnng to insurers is nearly the same in all.

All these companies have agencies in the different
towns of Scotland ; and their establishment has re-
tained in the country many large sums which were
formerly paid to the agents of English institutions
2gainst loss by fire. Most of the great London esta~
blishments have, however, still branches in Edin-
l)lu'gh; and the number and success of these is a proof
of the extent to which property of every kind is now
Protected against loss from accidents by fire. Many
of these establishments also transact life assurances,
and grant annuities.

A Sea Insurance Company was lately established in
Edmbntgh. Their office is in Hunter’s Square, and
the business is conducted under the superintendence
of'a board of directors.
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LITERARY ESTABLISHMENTS.
S

Eninsurcu has been said to be ¢ a hot-bed of ge<
nius.” The honourable station, however, which this
city holds among the seats of learning in Europe, has
been comparatively but lately obtained. The Gothic
darkness which overspread Europe for many ages like-
wise extended to Scotland ; and though now and then
a ray of genius illuminated the scene, yet the period
at which Edinburgh began to make a figure is ex-
tremely recent. Before the Reformation, literary
acquirements were almost entirely confined to the
clergy. The common people, and even the nobles,
were extremely ignorant. Under a feudal aristocracy,
where the power of the king was much limited ; 2~
mong nobles who little regarded elegant accomplish-
ments ; and with a people whose martial genius point-
ed out other objects of ambition, the progress of science,
and the gentler arts which embellish civilized life, was
very slow. The union of the crowns in the person of
James VI., and the union of the kingdoms in the
reign of Queen Anne; removed the great obstacles t0
this Er , and the subsequent change of manners
which followed these eras, has graduﬁly paved the
way for that improvement in science, and that uni-
versality of knowledge which has since distinguished
this corner of the united kingdom, and has shone
forth particularly in the Scottish metropolis. b

It was a long time, compared with the antiquity of
other seminaries in the kingdom, before Edinburgh
could boast of an university. The university of 5
Andrews was founded in 1412, that of Glasgow
1450, and the college of Aberdeen was founded 1t
1494. But, though this was the case, the city W%
not entirely destitute of teachers in classical learning:
By an act of the town-council in 1519, it would appe¥
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that at that time there were a number of seminaries
for the instruction of youth, and even an established
grammar-school. That act ordained, that no inhabitant
of the city should put their children to any other school
within the town, *“ bot to the principall grammer-scule
of the samyn,” under a penalty of ten shillings Scots,
(10d. Sterling ;) and they also ordered, that the books
taught in this seminary should not be used in any of
the other schools of the city.

High School.

The present grammar-school, emphatically called
the High School, was established in the year 1578.
The magistrates of the city at that time Kaving ac-
quired a right to the property of the religious orders
about Edinburgh, and being disappointed in their pro-
Ject of erecting an university, founded a building for
the use of a grammar-school. This building stood
nearly in the place where the present High School
stands. It was erected in a cemetery which formerly
belonged to the monastery called “ Mansio Regis,” or
the King’s Mansion, founded by Alexander II. in
1230. This convent belonged to the friars of the Do-
minican order. It was destroyed by fire in 1528, and
was scarcely rebuilt, when the fury of the reformers
again devoted it to demolition. Becoming the proper-
ty of the magistrates of Edinburgh at that period, the
first established grammar-school was erected, as above
noticed.

The institution owed its beginning, in 1578, to the
*“ earnest dealing of James Lawson, minister of Edin-
burgh,” and at first consisted only of a master and
usher ; but, before the end of the century, it was es-
tablished nearly in its present form. The elemen

ks, at this time, as appears from the town-council
register, were Dunbar’s Rudiments, Corderius’s Collo=
quies, portions of Erasmus, Terence, Ovid, Virgil, Sal-
lust, Ceesar, Cicero, and Buchanan’s Psalms.

An occurrence happened in this school in 1595

r
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which strongly marks the ferocious manners of the age.
On the 15th of September, a little beyond the time of
the usual recess from school, the scholars, impatient
that this relaxation was withheld, assembled tumul-
tuously, and went in a body to the town-house, to de-
mand of the magistrates their wonted privilege. This
request being , the insurrection became more
systematic and formidable. Having provided them-
selves with provisions and arms, the scholars took pos-
session of the school-house, with a determination to
hold it out both against their teachers and the magis-
trates, until their demand was complied with. The
town-council, on hearing of this, immediately deputed
John Macmoran, one of their number, with some of
the city officers, to endeavour to appease the young
gentlemen by accommodation, or reduce them to obe-
dience by force. The magistrate accordingly went to
the school-house, but was refused admittance. He
then ordered his attendants to force open the door.
One of the chief mutineers, the son of William Sin-
clair, chancellor of Caithness, called out to them to
desist, and being armed with a pistol, threatened
death to the first who should advance. The magis-
trate, regardless of the threat, persisted in his duty,
and young Sinclair too faul}‘y kept his promise. He
fired his pistol ; Macmoran fell, and immediately ex-
pired. Upon this the scholars surrendered, and were
committed to prison. They were soon, however, 1€~
leased ; and the delinquent, through the interest of
his friends, got the affair commmmed

The great increase of scholars having rendered the
former buildings insufficient for their accommodation, 8
new suite of apartments became necessary, and the
foundation of the present High School was laid by the
late Sir William Forbes, as Grand Master Mason of
Scotland, on the 24th of June 1777. It is situated on
the spot where the former school stood, and in the
place called from it the High School Yards, a little to
the north-east of the noyﬁ Infirmary. It is a plain
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but commodious building, in the middle of a consi-
derable area. = It consists of five apartments, besides a
great hall where the boys meet for prayers, and a room
appropriated for a library.

The teachers are a rector and four masters. Each
of the four masters have separate classes, whom they
conduct through their elementary studies, four years
in progression, till they are fitted for the more advanc-
ed classes of the rector. By this means one of the
masters annually, in October, opens a class for the ru-
diments of the language. The boys remain in the
rector’s class for one or two years. Once a week the
rector visits one of the classes in rotation, the master
of which, at the same time, visits and examines the
rector’s class. The stated fees for the High School are
10s. 6d. quarterly ; but five quarters are paid for. The
rector and masters huve also trifling salaries. The rector
Teceives, in addition to his other emoluments, Is. quar=
terly from all the boys, and the janitor 1s. The course
of education in this seminary is as follows:— In the
first class, besides the Rudiments of Latinand the Col«
loquies of Cordery, selections from the Fables of Phe<
drus, and the Life of Hannibal from Cornelius Nepos,
are usuglly read, and the boys are exercised in the
rules of Syntax, by turning short sentences of English
Into Latin viva voce. In the second year, at least
half 1 dozen of the Lives of Cornelius Nepos, a book
of Ceesar, and some portions of Ovid, are read ; and
Purner’s Exercises from beginning to end. In the
third “year Ovid and Virgil, with Mair’s Introduc=
tion. “And in the fourth one of the books of Sallust,
With copious extracts from Virgil, Tibullus, Horace,
‘nd Livy. These exercises are performed by the
whole class ; and in this year the scholar is also much
“nployed in making verses. The boys alenerdl
“ommence the study of Greek in their year.”
In the rector’s class, Ovid, Virgil, Horace, Juvenal,
lerence, Buchanan’s Psalms, Cicero, and others, are
fead, ‘Translations from English to Latin, and from
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Latin to English, are made. Greek and eogm h
are taught. An annual examination tukesg p acg il):
the month of August, at which the boys perform their
exercises in presence of the magistrates and ministers
of the city. To those whose merit is prominent, pre-
miums are adjudged, chiefly in books ; and to the dux
of the highest class, a gold medal, with a suitable in-
scription, is presented. The number of scholars who
annually attend the High School is upwards of’ 800.
The teachers of this school have long deservedly
held a high place in the :)lpinion of the public. Many
of the first characters of the present day have received
the rudiments of their classical knowledge at this se-
minary ; and some that have been teachers here have
attained considerable celebrity in the literary world.
The late rector, Dr Adam, is well known as the au-
thor of many useful publications ; and the present
rector, Mr Pillans, has introduced many important
improvements on the former methods of teaching.

University.

Edinburgh could not boast of a regular university
till the gear 1582. Before this period, however, teach=
ers of philosophy and divinity had been long establish-
ed in the city. That illustrious and accomplished
monarch, James 1., anxious to promote the learning
of the times among his people, had, after his retwrn
from his long captivity in England, invited a number
of learned Franciscans to his native country, and con-
ferred on them grants, and erected houses for them i
various districts. The citizens of Edinburgh, zealous
to promote the same end, seconded the views of their
enlightened prince, and built a magnificent convent
for the reception of these friars. But one of the learn-
ed monks, Cornelius of Zirichzen, thinking the splen-
did apartments which the generosity of the citizens of
Edinburgh had provided for him and his brethren,
but ill-suited in appearance to the barefooted mendi-

_cants of the order ofpgt Francis, modestly declined ac-
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ecpting the appointment. By the persuasion, how-
ever, of James Kennedy, archbishop of St Andrew’s,
and founder of St Salvator’s college in that city, Cor~
nelius fixed his residence in Edinburgh, where he
himself, his brethren, and their successors, taught
philosophy and divinity until the year 1559. The
reformation in religion, and the consequent dissolu-
tion of religious houses, at that period, abolished this
institution, to make way for one which was destined
to enlarge, in no small degree, the boundaries of hu-
man knowledge. The house occuPied by these friars
stood on the south side of the Grassmarket, almost
opposite the foot of the lane called the West Bow ;
and the gardens belonging to it were, by an act of the
town-council in 1561, converted into a burial place,
which, from it former proprieters, still retains the name
of'the Greyfriars Church-yard.

In the year 1566, when the reformed religion was
fully established, the citizeus of Edinburgh petitioned
their royal mistress for the lands and other property
in the neighbourhood of the city which belonged to
the Black and Grey Friars. Their request was in
part complied with, and the inhabitants in conse-
quence resolved to erect an university. A bequest of
cight thousand merks Scottish money, which had
been left for this purpose by Robert Reid, bishop of
Orkney, and president of the Court of Session, who
died at Dieppe on the 14th September 1558, likewise
encouraged t?leem in their undertaking. It 1563, they
had purchased the property of the collegiate church of
St Mary in the Field, (‘Sancte Marie in Campis, ) as
a site for their intended college, and took further steps
to carry the plan into execution. The opposition they
met with, however, in the outset of their undertak-
Ing, from the archbishops of St Andrew’s and Glasgow,
and the ecclesiastics of the sec of Aberdeen, induced
them for a time to relinquish it ; and in the meantime

e mar or High School was erected, as above re-
a The members of the colleges in these cities,
PR
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which had been erected more than a century before,
were, perhaps, afraid that the projected university in
Edinburgh might interfere with their emoluments,
and, as the metropolis was not yet ranked among the
bishoprics of the north, the ecclesiastics looked with
a jealous eye on its rising consequence.

In the lz'ear 1580, however, the building was begun ;
and, in the preceding year, a collection of books was
bequeathed to the intended university by Mr Clement
Little, as a foundation for a library. = A charter of
erection was granted by James VI. in 1582; and in
1583 the college was opened for the reception of stu-
dents. Robert Rolloc{:f of St Salvator’s College, St
Andrew’s, being appointed professor of humanity, be-
gan teaching in the lower hall of Hamilton House,
within the precincts of the college, in the month of
October that year. Soon after Rollock, finding the
students who resorted to the new university rather
indiﬂ‘eren;y grounded in the ancient languages, re-
commended, as an assistant, one Duncan Nairn, to
prepare the young students for their initiation into 2
more perfect knowledge of the Greck and Roman clas-
sics.

In 1585 this infant seminary received a temporar
check from the plague appearing in Edinburgh, which
began in May, and continued its ravages till the Ja-
nuary following. On this occasion great part of the
inhabitants left the town, but  nevirtheles,” accord-
ing to Robert Birrel, “ thir dyed of peipell wich ver
not abill to flee, 14 hundredth and some odd.” Not-
withstanding this alarming calamity, the magistrates
persevered with unwearied diligence in the prosecution
of their plan ; for in the beginning of the next dy;eﬂ
the college was inclosed within high walls. A third
professor of philosophy being now chosen, Rollock was
advanced to the station of principal of the college, on
the 29th of February 1586.

On the recommendation of the Lords of Session, the
Faculty of Advocates, and the Society of Writers to
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the Signet, who each gave a sum for his establish-
nent, a professor of law was now chosen. But in-
stead of giving prelections on law, the new professor
taught the Humanity class, which fell vacant on the
promotion of Rollock to be the head of the college.
The annual salaries of the professors at this time were
150 merks Scets.

In the year 1617, soon after the king’s return from
the court of St James’s to that of Holyroodhouse, he
was much pleased at the progress which his favourite
university had made during his absence, a period of
thirteen years. A public hall, a divinity school, and
other apartments, were by this time erected ; and so
much satisfied was the king with this institution, that
he resolved to honour the university with his presence
at a public disputation in hilosopgy. But the busi-
ness of the public, while ge remained at Holyrood-
house, engrossing entirely his attention, he invited the
professors of the college to meet him at Stirling.
They accordingly did so in the chapel-royal of that
town on the 29th of July 1617, and in the presence of
the king, the nobility, and many of the learned men
of England and Scotland, a disputation took place, in
which the king himself bore no inconsiderable share.
After supper, James invited the professors into his
])I'escnce, and, highly pleased with the irtxgenuity and
earning which had been displayed in the course of
the debate, addressed them in a strain of punning pa-
negyric, which has not since been equalled, except in
the pages of Dean Swift. ¢ Methinks,” said he,
““ these gentlemen, by their very names, have been
destinated for the acts which they have had in hand to-
day. Adam was father of all; and very fitly Addam-
son had the first part of this act. The defender is
Justly called Fairlie; his thesis had some fair lies,
and be sustained them very fairly, and with many
fair lies given to the oppugners. And why should
not Mr Sands be the first to enter the sands? But now
I clearly see that all sands are not barren, for certaine
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1y he hath shewn a fertile wit. Mr Young is very old
in Aristotle. Mr Reid needs not to be red with blush-
ing for his acting to-day. Mr King disputed very
kingly, and of  a kingly purpose, anent the royal su-
premacy of reason over anger and all passions. Iam
so well satisfied with this day’s exercise, that I will
be godfather to the college of Edinburgh, and have it
called the College of King James.” His remarks were
afterwards turned into miserable rhyme, of which the
following are the concluding verses:

¢ To their deserved praise have I
 Thus played uﬂou their names 3

¢ And wills tgisco ege hence be call'd
¢ The College of King James.”

The king accordingly, in a letter to the magistrates
of Edinburgh, dated at Paisley the 25th of July 1617,
observes, that, as he “ gave t{le first being and begin-
ning thairunto,” so he ‘“ thoct it worthie to be ho-
noured with a name of his awin imposition.” The
magistrates, therefore, in compliance with the wishes
of the royal godfather, culle(f the infint universit
“ The College of King James,” which name it sti
retains.

The liberality of James, and private benefactions,
goon enabled the university to advance rapidly in con-

uence. Sir William Nisbet, provost of Edinburgh,
in 1619, gave L. 1000 Scots towards the maintenance
of a professor of divinity ; and the common-counctl,
on the 20th of March 1620, not only nominated a pro-
fessor for that faculty, but also one for mathematics,
and another for physic.

During the reign of the unfortunate Charles I, the
chairs in the university seem to have been filled with
able teachers. In that time of civil discord the names
of Andrew Ramsay, to whose Latin poem on the
¢ Creation” Lauder asserts that Milton was much in=
debted in his * Paradise Iost,” and John Adamson,
* the friend and contemporary of Drummond of Havwe
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thornden, may be mentioned as belonging to the col-
lege of Edinburgh.

In the usurpation that followed, if there were not
man{ teachers of mierit, yet Robert Leighton, after-
wards archbishop of Glasgow, who at this time filled
a chair in the university, formed an illustrious ex
tion. Cromwell himself, amidst the turbulence of
faction, and the cares of an usurped dominion, seems
not to have been forgetful of the interests of learning.
With a liberality which characterizes a great mind,
he endowed the university of Edinburgh with an an-
nuity of L. 200 Sterling; and the patron of Milton
ht‘ca;me the benefactor of science in the capital of Scot=

and.

William III. also bestowed on the university an an-
mmﬁ of L. 300 Sterling, to be paid out of his treasury
and bishops® rents in Scotland ; L. 100 of which was
for the support of'a professor of theology, besides the
professor of divinity already established, and L.200
for twenty bursars or exhibitioners at L.10 each per an-
num. Part of this grant, however, was withdrawn by his
successor Queen Anne, by which means a professor and
fifteen students (exhibitioners) were discharged from
the benefaction.

Fora long period, little else was taught in the uni-
versity of Edinburgh besides the dead languages, the
divinity and philosophy of the schools, and some
branches of till)e ma&emnties then in general use.

fter the Restoration, Revolution, and the accession
of the House of Hanover, however, professors for
other departments of science were appointed ; and in
the year 1721, the school of medicine, which has since
"]Ben to such unparalleled eminence, was first found-
el,

Prior to the commencement of the eighteehth cen<
tury, which forms a striking era in the history of me~
dicine in this country, every thing connected with the

caling art was wretched in the extreme. Barbers
and surgeons, as in other places, were accounted one
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profession, and by the laws of their incorporation, the
same body of men who performed surgical operations,
had alone the sole right to shave beards and sell agua-
vite (whisky) in the ““ gude town.” Empirics, at the
same time, with, perhaps, as much- knowredge of the
science, and comparatively as much success as their
successors of the present day, preseribed medicine and
gave advice ; while what were called the regular prac-
titioners, chiefly educated at foreign universities, were
too few in number, and their means of experience too
limited, to render their exertions extensively useful.

The qualifications reqlt)li;ed ;‘or those who r}a;cetised
as surgeons in Edinburgh in the beim mi the six-
teenth century were, that they s oul(ll18 be able to
“ wryte and reid;” to ‘° knaw anatomie, nature
and complexion of everie member of humanis bodie,
and likeways to knaw all the vaynis of the samyn,
that he may mak flewbothomea in dew tyme,” to-
gether with a complete knowledge of shaving of beards
and catting of hair. The practice of physic was in a
state no less deplorable than its sister art. But, to-
wards the end of the seventeenth century, the profes-
sion of physic began to rise from the bed where it had
slumbered for ages, and to assume a more respectable
3§mmce than it had hitherto done. The surgeons

dinburgh, at the same time, laid aside the exercise

of the shaving part of their profession, and, being in-
corporated with the apothecaries, applied themselves
only to surgery.

The Royal College of Physicians was instituted b
a charter, dated the 29th of November 1681, whic
was confirmed by parliament on the 16th of June
1685. )

This institution owed its rise to the exertions of Sir
Andrew Balfour., This gentleman was the youngest
son of Sir Michael Balfour of Denmiln in Fifeshire,
and was born at that place on the 18th of January
1630. He studied at the university of St Andrew’s;
subsequently at London and Paris ; and received the
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degree of Doctor in Medicine from the university of
Cacn in September 1661. He afterwards trave
with the young Earl of Rochester, and, on his return,
settled in St Andrew’s as a physician. Here he intro~
duced the dissection of the human body as an indis«
Peusable requisite in the education ofa medical practi-
tioner. Dr Balfour removed to Edinburgh in 1670,
and, by the liberal use of his library, his museum, and
his personal exertions, he gave first impulse to
that spirit of improvement which has subsequently
rendered Edinburgh so celebrated as a school of phy«
sie. s

But Dr Balfour’s exertions were not confined to one
Particular branch of science. Adjoining to his house
In Edinburgh he had a small botanic garden, which he
furnished by seeds received from his foreign corre-
Spondents, and he formed a museum, and made a col«
lec:j:; of manuscripts, which were not equalled in that
period.

Dr Balfour was created a baronet by Charles IL,
ind afpointed physician in ordinary to his Majesty.
Not long before his death he had “projected and es-
tablished an hospital, on a very confined scale, for
Ireating patients at the public expence ; which was
dflerwards expanded into the establishment of the
Royal Infirmary. He died at Edinburgh in 1694, in
the 63d year ‘of his age.

A powerful coadjutor to Sir Andrew Balfour, and
one of the original members of the College of Physi«
ans, was Dr Archibald Pitcairne. Dr Pitcairne Ll

't educated at Paris, and filled for some time the
Medical chair in the university of Leyden, at which
Period the celebrated Boérhaave became his il.*
Returning to Edinburgh in 1693, well skilled v
&t as it was then practised on the Continent, he
Married and settled in the city as a physician. Th
¢ Never gave public lectures on any branch of i
‘ine, yet something of this kind seems to have been at
“ne period in his contemplation. Ina letter to Dr Ro«
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bert Gray of London, dated October 14, 1694, he
writes, that he was very busy in seeking a liberty from
the town-council of Edinburgh to open the bodies of
those poor persons who die in Paul's Work, and have
none to own them. “ We offer,” says he, ©“ to wait
on those poor for nothing, and bury them after dissec-
tion at our own charges, which now the town does;
yet there is great opposition by the chief surgeons, who
neither eat hay, nor suffer the oxen to eatit. Ido
propose, if this be granted, to make better improve-
ments in anatomy than have been made at Leyden
these thirty years: For I think most or all anatomists
have neglected, or not known what was most useful
for a physician.” On the 15th of October 1694, the
town-council complied with the request of Pitcairne,
and by this paved the way for the establishment of 2
school of medicine in Edinburgh.

Long before this time, however, the barber-surgeons
had been granted the same favour which Pitcairne now
received. In their petition to the magistrates in 1505,
at the time of their erection into an incorporation,
they request ““ that we may have anis in the zeir an¢
condampnit man efter he deid, to mak anatemea of,
quhair throw we may haif experience ilk ane to in-
struct utheris, and we sall do suffrage for the soule.
This petition was granted ; but by Pitcairne’s being
under the necessity of again making an application, it
seems to have been little or not at all acted upon, of
the case of “‘ condampnit men” occurred so seldom;
as to make the privilege of little use. .

Dr Pitcairne died on the 23d of October 1713. His
assiduous_endeavours to promote medical science 1
Edinburgh will be rememgered with gratitude by the
friends of improvement and of humanity ; and his ex-
cellence in other departments of literature will long be
the boast of his country. ?

+ To complete the triumvirate of celebrated physicians
which adorned Edinburgh in the end of the seventeent!
century, it is only necessary to mention Sir Rober
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Sibbald. Sir Robert had become acquainted with Sir
Andrew Balfour in France, and their intimacy was re-
newed after their settlement in Edinburgh. A con-
geniality in their pursuits soon drew these eminent
men together ; and Dr Balfour, Dr Pitcairne, Dr Ste-
venson, and Dr Burnet, were in use, so early as 1680,
to meet at Sir Robert’s house once a fortnight, and
subsequently in the college once a month, for literary
discussion and scientific improvement.  Sir Robert
was appointed Geographer for Scotland on the "30th
September 1682, and was engaged to publish the na-
tural history and geographical descriptien of that king-
dom. e was further appointed Professor of Medicine
in the coege by the magistrates on the 5th March
1685. In this year the Royal College of Physicians
published the first Edinburgh Pharmacopeeia, the
chief arrangement of which was committed to the care
of Sir Andrew Balfour ; and in the opinion of a judge
well qualified to form an opinion, (the celebrated Dr
Cullen,) it was superior to any publication of the kind
of the same period.

That improvement in science which the example of
such physicians as Balfour and Pitcairne and Sir Robert
-_\'ibba'id was calculated to inspire, soon diffused itself
in a striking manner. The time was now come when
the defects that Edinburgh as to medical science had
laboured under were to be removed, and a school esta-
blished, which was one day to be the first in Europe.
For the establishment of this school, the Scottish me=
tropolis is indebted, next to the celebrated individuals
above mentioned, to Mr John Monro.

John Monro was the youngest son of Sir Alexander
Monro of Bearcroft in Stirlingshire. He was educat-
ed as a surgeon-apothecary at Edinburgh, and served
or some years in the army under King William in
Flanders.” About three years after the birth of his son
Alexander, his only child, which happened at London
on the 19th September 1697, he quitted the army and
Went to Edinburgh, where his engaging manners and

Q
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knowledge in his profession soon introduced him into
an extensive practice. His son, Alexander, early shew-
ed an inclination to the study of physic; and the fi-
ther, perceiving the bent of his genius, promoted his
views by every means in his power. After giving
him the best education that Edinburgh at that time
afforded, he sent him successively to London, Paris,
and Leyden, to improve him in his. profession. On
his return to Edinburgh in autumn 1719, his accom-
plishments were such, as gained him the regard of all
the lovers of medical science, and many of the faculty
signified their wishes that he should open a class for
anatomical demonstration. By the persuasions of his
friends young Monro accordingly ventured to com-
mence a public teacher; and Messrs Drummond and
Macgill, who were then conjunct nominal professors
and demonstrators of anatomy to the surgeons’ com-
pany, having resigned in his favour, he undertook the
task, with a view to render it more extensively useful.
On delivering the first lecture of his intended course,
however, he found himself surrounded, not by an au-
dierice of students unacquainted with the art, but by
the whole company of surgeons and apothecaries, anc

the members of the Royal College of Physicians, with
their president at their head. It was certainly an ar-
duous task for a young anatomist to appear as a teach-
er in such an assembly. The emotions which he felt
on this occasion tinged his checks with the glow of
modest diffidence ; and the presence of hisauditors ef-
faced the words of his intended discourse from his
memory. His notes also were left at home; but in
this dilemma, that presence of mind which afterwards
formed a striking part of the character of this eminent
man did not forsake him. He began to shew the pre-
parations which lay before him ; the signs for the
things signified arranged themselves in his mind ; and
utterance immediately followed. He had the good
fortune to please his audience ; and even his first lec-
ture distinguished the genius that was to be the Fa-
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ther of Anatomy in the university of Edinburgh.
This experiment “succeeding so well, Monro ever af-
terwards accustomed himself to extemporaneous deli-
very.

Mr John Monro, at the same time that he intro«
duced his son to such a brilliant career, also prevailed
on Dr Alston, then a young man, to give some public
lectures on botany. These two young professors ac-
cordingly, in the beginning of the winter 1720, began
to give courses of lectures, the one on Materia Medica
and Botany, the other on Anatomy and Surgery, which
were the first regular courses of lectures on any of the
branches of medicine that ever had been read at Edin-
burgh. Before this period, however, Dr Crawford
had in winter given a superficial course of Chemistry,
and in summer a slight sketch of botanical lectures, on
a few officinal plants, was read by Dr Preston ; but
neither of these attempts had excited much interest, or
were attended with much advantage.

About this time, encouraged by the flattering re«
ception which his son and his youthful colleague met
with, Mr John Monro communicated to the physi-
cisns and surgeons of Edinburgh a Yllan, which he
had long formed in his own mind, of having the dif-
ferent branches of physic and surgery regularly taught
at Edinburgh ; and by their interest regular teachers
in the different departments were instituted in the
university. = Young Monro received a formal appoint-
ment in 1721 ; Dr Sinclair delivered lectures on the
theor{ of medicine; Dr Rutherford on the practice ;
Dr Plummer on chemistry ; and Dr Alston on mate-
ria medica and botany. The plan for a medical edu-
cation being still incomplete without an hospital, (the
only one at this time being a small establishment pro=
Jected by Dr Balfour,) subscriptions were set on foot
for that purpose, and considerable sums raised, chief«
ly bK the exertions of Dr Monro Primus, and the
worthy chief magistrate, Provost Drummond. In
consequence of this the Royal Infirmary was founded,
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and in no long time opened for the reception of pa=
tients. Soon after the Royal Medical Society of Edin-
burgh was instituted, and a school of icine was
thus established, which rapidly rose to be the first in
Europe.
Dr Cullen was called to a chair in the University of
Edinburgh in the year 1756 ; Dr John Gregory, de-
scended trom a family in which genius was heredi-
tary, was appointed Professor of Medicine about the
year 1765 ; and Dr Black, who first led the way to
the modern discoveries in chemistry, was appointed
teacher of that branch of science in 1769. A profes-
sorship of Midwifery was instituted in 1756: one of
Clinical Surgery some time afterwards. A professor-
‘b? of Medical Jurisprudence was instituted in 1807 ;
and one of Military Surgery in the same year.

While the different branches of education connected
with medicine were thus successfully taught, the
other sciences were not neglected. James Gregory,
the inventor of the reflecting telescope ; David Gre-
gory his nephew, afterwards Y’rofessor of astronomy at
Oxford, and James Gregory his brother, successively
held the mathematical chair. The two last were the
first to promulgate the philosophy of Newton in Scot-
land ; and the celebrated Maclaurin, who succeeded to
the same chair, was one of the most illustrious dis-
ciples of that great philosopher. Dr Mathew Stewart,
Dr Adam Ferguson, and latterly Mr Playfair and Mr
Leslie, successively professors of mathematics, bave
maintained the celebrity of this chair, and of the uni=
versilt{, by a display of talent which has seldom been
equalled.

The Treatise of Human Nature by David Hume,
which was published in 1739, opened up a field of
speculation i morals, which had the effect of drawing
into actiori the genius and industry of Dr Reid, be-
sides a number of other learned men of inferior name,
who combated successfully the doctrines of that cele-

_ brated philosopher. His Political Essays, too, follow-
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cd by the * Wealth of Nations,” by Dr Adam Smith,
unfolded views in Politicnl economy, which have since
given a new, and, it is to be hoped, an advantageous,
ﬁirection to the views of modern statesmen and legis-
lators, These writings, though their authors were
not members of the university of Edinb::lgh, enlarged
the course of study followed in the mo eghilosoc{: y
class of the college ; but this chair obtained its chief
celebrity during the incumbencey of the two lust pro-
fessors, Dr Adam Ferguson and Mr Dugald Stewart,
the latter of whom has been long distinguished as the
first teacher of morals in Europe. He has now re-
tired from the active duties of the academical chair,
with the merit of having freed the Philosophy of the
Human Mind from the “ vain and unprofitable dis-
quisitions of the schoolmen,” with which it had been
hitherto conjoined, and established it on * conclusions
resting on the solid basis of observation and experi-
nent,”  Since his retirement, this distingnished phi-
losopher has published the second volume of his Ele-
ments of the Philosophy of the Human Mind, and a
volume of' Philosophica{ Essays.

In Natural Philosophy the two last professorsin this
college have had no superiors. Dr John Robison and
l;ne late celebrated Playfair successively occupied this
chair,

In Natural History the university of Edinburgh
has been but lately distinguished. The first profes-
sor of this branch of science was Dr Robert Ramsay,
for whom the chair was instituted by the Crown in
1767. He was succeeded by Dr John Walker, in
1782, who first read lectures in natural history in that
Year, Prior to this period, although lectures on botany
Were given, and though the late Dr Hope was a distin-
guished botanist, yet the other departments of natural
history were but little cultivated in Scotland. Dr Wal-
ker was an excellent lecturer, and taught successfully
{or many years. But it remained for the present pro-

Q2
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fessor, Mr Jameson, to direct the public attention by
his Eowert‘ul talents to this branch of study ; and the
celebrity of his works and prelections have already rais-
ed the reputation of Edinburgh to the first rank as a
school of mineralogy. To the same gentleman the pub-
lic are indebted for the formation of the College Mu-
seum, which has risen into consequence under his ac-
tive superintendence, and which promises soon to be
one of the best selected collections in Europe.

A professorship of Agriculture was founded some
years r:lgo in the university, which has tended, in no
small degree, to improve the practice of husbandry,
by combining science with its practical details. ¢

In the history of the University of Edinbu;ﬁh it
deserves to be remarked, that several of the medical
chairs have been filled with the descendantsof the found-
ers of the Edinburgh School of Medicine, or their im+
1nediate successors. The anatomical chair is now filled
by the grandson of the first professor ; Drs Gregory,
}{o , Home, Rutherford, and Hamilton, sustain the
reputation with which their fathers taught in this uni-
versity ; and Drs Duncan, senior and junior, are joint
professors of the Theory of Physic.

The students who attend the University of Edin-
burgh are not, like most others in the kingdom, under
the necessity of adopting any particular mode in their
living. They mix promiscuously with the other in-
habitants of the city, and live in the manner best suit-
ed to their circumstances and views. Neither do the
rules of the college require that they should appear in
a dress different from the other citizens. In the ar-
rangement of their academical studies they are also left
at perfect freedom ; it being only necessary in taking
degrees in medicine to have attended the prescribed
classes a certain number of sessions ; and, in divinity,
to have attended the Divinity Hall, in addition to the
other branches of study which the national church
prescribes. The degree of Doctor in Medicine is con-

1
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ferred annually in August. The candidates prepare
;z}ul print a thesis, and the last examination is a pub-
ic one,

The magistrates of Edinburgh are the chief patrons
of the university, and possess the right of nominating
to all the chairs except nine, which belong to the
crown, and one, that of Agriculture, lately established
by a private individual, Sir G. F. Johnstone. ¢ With
what integrity and discernment persons have been
chosen to preside in each of these departments,” said
the eloquent Robertson, in a made at the
foundation of the new college, “ the character of my
learned colleagues affords the most satisfying evi-
dence. From confidence in their abilities, and assi-
duity in discharging the duties of their respective offi-
ces, the University of Edinburgh has become a seat of
education, not on{y to youth in every part of the Bri-
tish dominions, but, to the honour of our country,
students have been attracted to it from almost every
nation in Europe, and every state in America.”

The mean appearance which the old buildings of
the university exhibited, being ill suited to the tame
which it had acquired, was long a subject of general
complaint. The difficulties which presented them-
selves to the projection of a new building, however,

ming less formidable, a Memoriaf relating to
the University of Edinburgh” was drawn up by one
of its professors in the year 1763. In this memorial
a proposal for rebuilding the fabric of the college on &
regular plan, on the site of the old buildings, was sub-
mitted to the consideration of the public: voluntary
contributions were to be received from patriotic indi-
viduals, and places were to be opened for subscription,
under the management of proper persons, in order to
raise a fund sufficient for carrying on the desigu.
This proposal scemed for a time to interest the pub-
lic; but the means being insufficient to realize the
project, it was laid aside till a more favourable oppor-
tunity should presentitself. The American war, how=
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ever, prevented the revival of the scheme during the
time of its continuance. But after peace had again
restored prosperity, energy, and public spirit, the'de-
sign was once more brought before the public in the
year 1785, in a well-written letter to the Right Hon.
Henry Dundas, (late Viscount Melville,) *“ On the
proposed improvements of the city of Edinburgh, and
on the means of accomplishing them.” Soon after
this the magistrates of the city set on foot a subscrip-
tion for erecting a new structure, according to a design
which had been prepared by the late celebrated archi-
tect Mr Robert Adam. Considerable sums having
been thus obtained, part of the old building was pull-
ed down, and the foundation-stone of the new college
was laid on the 16th of November 1789, by Lord Na-
pier, as Grand Master Mason of Scotland, the de-
scendant of ““ a man whose original and universal ge-
nius rlaced him high among the illustrious persons
who have contributed most eminently to enlarge the
boundaries of human knowledge.”

The ceremony on this occasion was peculiarly im-
pressive. The magistrates of the city, as patrons 0
the university, in their robes, the principal and pro-
fessors in their gowns, the students with sprigs of
laurel in their hats, the free-masons of all the lod
in the city and neighbourhood, arranged in the order
of their seniority, formed a procession to and from the
lace where the foundation-stone was laid. After the
different masonic ceremonies were performed, two
crystal bottles, cast on purpose, were deposited in 2
vacuity formed in the stone. In one of these was put
different coins of the present reign, each of them
ing previously enveloped in crystal. In the other bot-
tle were deposited seven rolls of vellum, containing 2
short account of the original foundation and present
state of the university, together with several other pa-

rs ; in particular the different newspapers, contain-
ing advertisements relative to the college, &e. ; a list
of the names of the principal and professors; of the
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lord provost and magistrates ; and of the officers of
the Grand Lodge of Scotland. The bottles being her-
metically sealed up, were covered with a plate of cop-
per, wrapped in block tin. Upon the under side of
the copper were engraved the arms of the city of Edin-
burgh and of the university, and also the arms of the
Right Hon. Lord Napier, as Grand Master Mason of
Scotland.

. The building was accordingly begun, and for some
time went on rapidly. But the sum collected, though
large, being far from sufficient for the erection of a
building of such elegance and magnitude, it was ne=
cessarily stopped ; and though the east front was af-
terwards partially finished, the erection seemed too ex~
tensive to be finished by local subseription.

In 1815, however, by the exertions of Sir John
Marjoribanks and the member for the city, the matter
was brought before parliament, and an yearly grant of'
1.. 10,000 for seven years was procured, to be expend-
ed in the completion of the building, under the super-
intendence of commissioners appointed by parliament.
These commissioners accordingly met on the 4th De-
cember 1816, in order to receive the plans and speci-
fications which had been prepared by their direction.
The plan of Mr W. H. Playfair was then adopted, and
the prize of 100 guineas was adjudged to that gentle~
man, The second prize of 80 guineas was awarded to
Mr Burn, architect. Aceortfi‘:xg to Mr Playfair's
glan, the exterior of the building, as originally planned

y Adam, is to be retained with very little alteration ;
but there will be a total departure from the interior
arrangements.

According to the plan of Mr Adam, the building is
of a square form, with a large area in the centre. The
east front, in which is the principal gate, is to be a-
dorned with a dome. Over the gate is a handsome
portico, supported by columns of the Doric order, 26
feet high, and each formed of one stone. Over the gate
isthe lt%llov;ving inscription : dcudemia Jacobi VI. Seot=

.
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orum Regis, Anno post Christum Natum »,D,LXXXII.
Instituta ; annogque »,pCC,L.XXX1X, Renovari coepta;
Ltegnante Georgio 111. Principe Munificentissimo ;
Urbis Edinensis Prefecto Thoma Elder ; Academie
Primario Gulielmo Robertson. Architecto Roberto A=
dam.

The east and west sides of the square are 255 feet
in length, and the south and north 858.

According to Mr Playfair’s plan, the library, which
occupies the south side of the square, is divided into
two floors, the lower of which is separated into five
compartments, communicating with each other by
folding doors. The antiroom, which is the outermost
of these, is a_spacious apartment, 47 feet long, 24 feet
wide, and 22 feet high, well lighted by a large win-
dow from the court. The next aj ent is of a cir-
cular form, and is 40 feet in diameter and 64 feet
in height, lighted from the top, and having a gallery
running around it. Farther on is the central room,
60 feet long, 47 feet wide, and 22 feet high, which
is intended to be fitted up as a graduation hall and
chapel, and to be made capable of accommodating
700 students. Beyond this are two rooms to corre-
spond to the circular room and the outer room already
described. The upper department of the library 15
on a plan similar to the one below, with this excep~
tion, that the central division is 30 feet in height,
having an arched ceiling supported by sixteen Corin-
thian columns. In place, also, of the communication
between the different apartments by means of folding
doors, columns are introduced supporting the entabla-
ture;; by which means the who?e is thrown into one
great room, so that the eye ranges over the whole from
one extremity to the other, extending to a distance of
190 feet, while the circular rooms with their domes, and
the centre compartment with its arched ceiling, are
calculated to relieve the ﬁeneral appearance from tame-
ness or monotony, and the columns with their unbro-
ken entablature ‘to give simplicity and coherence to
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the whole. 'This library room, when finished, will be
one of the most magnificent in the country.

The museum for specimens of natural history occu-
pies the whole of the west side of the buildings. The
lower room, which is 90 feet long, 30 feet wide, and
22 feet high, is fitted up with Grecian Doric columns.
The upper apartment is of the same length and breadth
3s the one below ; but is considerably higher, as it ex-
tends upwards towards the roof. In the middle of it
13 a dome 18 feet in diameter, the centre of which is
occupied by a lantern, from which and from other
points an ngundant supply of light will be obtained
for the exhibition of the specimens.

. The other parts of the building are to be laid out
in class-rooms for the different professors, and other
llecessary accommodations.

The winter session of the college continues for
about six months, beginning in October and Novem-
ber, and ending in April and May. The summer ses-
sion begins in May, and generally ends in October.
Clinical lectures on medicine and surgery are also
iven on cases of patients in the Royal Infirmary.

The branches of education taught in the University
Of Edinburgh are the following :—

The very Reverend George H. Baird, D. D. Principal.
1.—LITERATURE AND PHILOSOPHY.

Classes. Professors.
Humanity, Mr Christison.
Vet s Lo
“lathematics, r e.

Logic, ¥ Rev. Dr David Ritchie.
Moral Philosophy, Dr T. Brown.
Natural Philoso {ly.

Rhetori 5
: Iﬁc‘;’,"c and Belles Let Rev. Dr Andrew Brown.

Universal History, Mr W. F. Tytler.
“\atural History, Mr Jameson.
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II.—Tnrovoey.

Classes. P$fcssor3. o
Divinity, Rev. Dr William Ritchie.
Divinity and Church) . PR

History. Rev. Dr Meiklejohn.
Hebrew, &ec. *  Rev. Dr A. Brunton.
i IIT.—Law,
Civil Law. Institutes .
and Pandects, Mr Irvine.
Scots Law, © Mr Hume.
Public Law, ‘Mr Hamilton.
IV.—MEDICINE.
Dietetics, Materia Me- B Hrie

dica, and Pharmacy,
P;‘actice of Physic, Dr Gregory.
Chemistry and Chemi-

cal Pha);mhcy, ye: i Hige.
Theory of Physic, Dr Duncan, sen.
Anatomy and Patholog;y, Dr Monro.
Theory and Practice o }

Midwifery, Bl
Medical Jurisprudence, Dr Duncan, jun.
Clinical Medicine, a8 Ll
Clinical Surgery, Mr Russell.
Military Surgery, Dr Thomson.

During the Summer Session, lectures are given 12
~the following branches of education :—

Botany, by Dr Rutherford.

Midwifery, by Dr Hamwilton. ;

Clinical Lectures on Medicine, by one of the Faculty-

Clinical Lectures on Surgery, by Mr Russell.

In consequence of a joint resolution of the patrons
and professors of the university, every student, ‘,’ef”l‘;.
entering with any professor, must provide himse
with a matriculation ticket, for which the fee is 105
including all public college dues. Attendance 18 g‘vﬁlf
in the library to issue these tickets, and to enro the
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names of the students in the Album, which is the only
legal record of their attendance in the university.

The number of students who attended the different
classes in the year 1819 amounted to 2160.

In Edinburgh, besides the University and High
School, there are many private academies and lecture-
rooms, for classical and medieal instruction, superin-
tended by able teachers; several class-rooms for che-
mistry ; and, of late, two lecturers have opened classes
for instruction in botany.

In 1810 an association for popular lectures in differ~
ent sciences, under the title of the Edinburgh Insti-
lule, was projected, but did not succeed ; and more
lately, in 1818, an Adcademical Institution, which,
though supported by half-crown dinners and classi-
cal musie, was dropped in the following year.

University Museum.

Sir Andrew Balfour, to whom Edinburgh owes the
erection of the Botanic Garden, was also the founder
of the University Museum. His collection consisted,
according to Dr Walker, of a series of medals, pictures,
and busts, the remarkable arms, clothing, and orna-
ments of foreign countries, mathematical, philosophi-
cal, and surgical instruments; a cabinet with all the
sinples of the materia medica ; and a large collection
of the fossils, plants, and animals, not only of the
countries in which he travelled, but from the most dis-
tant parts of the world. This museum was placed,
after his death in 1694, in the ball of the college,
which is now the library; and in 1697, Sir Robert
Sibbald, his friend and coadjutor in every thing that
related to the science of natural history, presented to
the college a great variety of curiosities both natural
ind exotie, and published” an account of the museum
N a tract entitled, “ Actuarium Musei Balfouriani e
Mus@o Sibbaldiano.” At this time the Edinburgh
Museum was said to be one of the most considerable
n Europe. But, from want of men of similar taste

b
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or talents, this valuable collection remained for up-
wards of fifty years useless and neglected. Many of
the principal articles were abstracted, and the other
parts of it were going rapidly to decay.  Yet even
after the year 1750,” says Dr Walker, « it still con+
tinued a considerable collection, which I have good
reason to remember, as it was the sight of it about
that time that first inspired me with an attachment to
natural history. Soon after that period it was dislodg-
ed from the hall where it had been long kept; was
thrown aside, and exposed as lumber; was further
and further dilapidated, and at length almost complete-
ly demolished.”

Dr Walker, in 1782, upon his appointment to the
chair of natural history, still found some of the articles
of Dr Balfour’s museum, which he considered worthy
of preservation, and placed them in his class-room,
the hope that they might long remain there,  and be
considered as so many precious relies of the first na-
turalist, and one of the best and greatest men this
country has produced.” ;

When the present professor succeeded to the chair
of natural history, the museum, which was very pal-
try, was contained partly in the lecture-room, partly
in an old outer and miserable apartment. The greater
number of specimens were found, on examination, t0
be in a state of hopeless decay, and were therefore
thrown out. Professor Jameson placed in the colm
his own private collection, and a few years afterwai
the museum was enriched by the valuazle mineralogical
cabinet of the late Dr Thomson of Naples. These addi-
tions were so considerable, that the patrons ordered the
range of building occupied by the professor of natural
history tobe completely remodelled, and fitted up with
great taste and even elegance. But the museum thus
enlarged was soon found to be too small, and great
anxiety was expressed for the building and fitting up
the museum in the new college. This has been near-
ly accomplished, and before many months have elaps
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ed, the splendid new museum will be opened to the
public. This building is the most superb and elegant
part of the college. It contains two great rooms, each
90 feet long, and about 30 feet wide, besides smaller
side apartments, external galleries, and lecture-room.
"The upper. great room is lighted from the roof by
three large lanterns, and from the side by three great
windows. .An elegant gallery runs round the whole
apartment. The walls of the room are every where
covered with splendid cases, covered with plate glass,
for containing objects of natural history. The cases
in the gallery are intended for the reception of the
classica%aan(l magnificent collection of birds lately pur-
chased by the College from M. Dufresne of Paris ;
the cases “under the gallery for the valuable collection
of birds already in the college. It is said the entire
colleetion of birds amounts to about 3000 speci-
mens ; the most extensive in Great Britain, and not
exceeded by many on the Continent. In the middle
of the room, the floor of which is of iron and painted,
are magnificent tables, covered with plate glass, and
containing very fine collections of shells, insects, and
corals. 'ghe lower great room is gorgeously ornament-
ed with pillars, between which are placed splendid
cases for objects of natural history. These cases are
Principally intended for quadrupeds, of which the
college already possesses a very interesting collection.
The lower external gallery, a very beautiful apart-
ment, 50 feet in length, will contain the great collec-
tion of insects, and a cabinet of minerals for the use of
the students of mineralogy. The upper external gal-
lery is 90 feet long, divided into three apartments of

at beauty, and lighted from the roof by clegant

aterns. The smaller apartments are intended for
the collection of comparative anatomy, the middle and

rger room for minerals. Another large room is to
be added to the suites of apartments already described,
which is to contain a collection of all the rocks and
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minerals of the British empire, arranged in a geogra-
phical order.

The museum of anatomical preparations is particu-
larly valuable. It is under the charge of the professor
of anatomy, and has been chiefly formed by the father
and grandfather of the present professor. There is
also a collection of anatomical preparations belonging
to the professor of midwifery.

Besides the numerous acquisitions lately made, the
College Museum is likely to receive considerable ad-
ditions from our adventurons countrymen who reside
in distant countries; and Professor Jameson, who
overlooks no circumstance which may tend to the
improvement of the science which he so successfully
teaches, drew up some years ago instructions for pre-
serving objects in natural history, which, by the fa-
vour of Government, were transmitted to our residents
at foreign courts and in the colonies, and which will
no doubt produce an ample supply of specimens.

University Library.

The library of the university is valuable and exten-
sive. It owed its first beginning to Mr Clement Lit-
tle, advocate, who, in 1580, bequeathed his collection
of books to the magistrates, for the use of the citizens.
An apartment for mf;olding them was erected at that
time in the church-yard of St Giles, (now the Parlia-
ment Square ;) but the college being founded in the fol-
lowing year, the books were removed thither in 1582
There are properly two libraries belonging to the un*
versity ; but one of these, consisting mostly
in divinity, is appropriated solely to the use of the stu-
dents of theology. In the library are many curious
manuscripts and interesting historical documents; a3~
mong which are the original contract of Mary Queen
of Scots with the Dauphin of France ; a Bohemian pro-
test against the council of Constance for burning John
Huss in the year 1417, with 150 seals of Bohemian
and Moravian nobles annexed; and some orien
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manuseripts. Here is also kept a beautiful copy of
lFordo\m s Scotichronicon, beautifully written on vel-
um,

The library is adorned with several portraits, the
chief of which are those of Robert Rollock, the first

rincipal, King James VI., Napier the inventor of the
ogarithms, John Knox, Principal Carstairs, Thom-
son the author of the * Seasons,” and the late celebrat-
ed Principal Robertson.

The new library, as before mentioned, is to occupy
the south side of the new buildings, and will, when fi-
nished, be the handsomest library room in Britain.

The college library of Edinburgh receives a copy of
every book entered at Stationers’ Hall. The only
other fund for its support is tlie money paid by stu-
dents at matriculation ; and L. 5 given by each pro-
fessor at his admission. The amount of these sums is
Uncertain, but has been estimated at about L. 400 per
@nnum. ‘The books are under the care of a librarian
and under librarian, who are both appointed by the
college. The number of volumes in the university
library amounts to upwards of 50,000.

Royal Botanic Garden.

_The first botanic garden in Seotland was formed by
Sir Andrew Balfour. Upon his settlement in Edin-
burgh in 1670, he had, mfj(:':ining to his house, a small
garden, which he furnished from the seeds received
from his correspondents on the Continent. About this
lime Sir Andrew formed an acquaintance with Mr
Patrick Murray of Livingstone, who became an en-
thusiast in botany, and determined to form a botanic
farden at his seat in the country. This garden, by the
Industry of its master, soon contained nearly a thou-
sand species of plants, which, at this period, was
‘unted a very large collection. To increase it still
further, Mr Murray travelled through France ; but,
Unfortunately for science, he was seized with a fever,
d died on b

is way to Ttaly.
R 2
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Soon after his death Dr Balfour had his collection
of plants transported from Livingstone to Edinburgh ;
and, in connection with Sir Robert Sibbald, a most
zealous and industrious naturalist, procured a small
garden for their reception. This garden was obtained
from *“ John Brown, gardener of the north yardes in
the Abbey,” and was, according to Sir Robert, ¢ ane
inclosure of some forty fect of measure every way.”

The collection of plants at this time amounted to
about nine hundred, and the necessary expences of the
garden were chiefly defrayed by Sir Ansrew Balfour
and Sir Robert Sibbald. Soon after this these two in-
dividuals procured from the magistrates a lease of a

iece of ground in the neighbourhood of the Trinity

ospital, tv which the plants were removed ; and, by
means of Sir Andrew’s foreign correspondents, the
g]x:rden soon rose into consequence. The principal of
these were Morrison at Oxford, Watts at London, Mar-
chant at Paris, Herman at Leyden, and Spottiswoode
at Tangiers in Africa, from whom many plants from
that continent were received.

The projectors of the Botanic Garden were fortunate
enough to procure, for superintendent, a young man 0
considerable talent, and who, by his own industry,
had previously acquired an extensive knowledge ©
plants, and formed a collection of medals. This young
man, James Sutherland, whose collection of medals is
still preserved in the Advocates’ Library, published
Hortus Edinburgensis in the year 1684, which con-
tained a very respectable and accurate list of plants for
that period. Bishop Nicholson, speaking of Mr Su-
therland, says,  His- Hortus Medicus Ldinburgensis

most of them. The great variety of seeds
and plants, which his correspondents abroad have fur-
nished him with, have mightily increased his foreign
stock ; and his late personal view and examination of
the shires and mountaivs of Annandale, Niddisdale,
&ec. have amply discovered to him the riches of his
own country; so that we have sufficient encourage-
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ment to hope, that he will shortly oblige us with a
new prospect of one of the best furnished gardens in
Europe.” And Sir Robert Sibbald mentions a letter
Dr Balfour had received from Marchant, intendant of
the King of France’s garden, specifying fifty plants
which he wished to be sent to him from that of Edin-
burgh. The garden occupied this piece of ground,
still named from it the ¢ Physic Gardens,” till its
removal to its present situation.

The Royal Botanic Garden is situated on the west
side of the road to Leith, and contains about five
acres, chiefly of light sandy seil. It was formed in
1767, under the superintendence of Dr John Hope,
then Professor of Botany. It contains two hot-houses,
a large green-house, a dry-stove, and a small nursing-
house. In one part of the garden is a collection of
plants used, or which were formerly used, in medi~
cine; in another quarter is an arrangement of hardy
herbaceous plants, placed according to the Linnean
classes and orders; and a circular pond in front of
the conservatory contains a considerable number of
hardy aquatics.” There is likewise a collection of her-
baceous plants, formed by the present superintendent,
AMr Macnab, and arranged according to the natural
orders of the celebrated French botanist Jussieu.
'This collection, the first on the same plan which has
been formed in Scotland, contains upwards of 2000
species.

Dr Hope, who was a zealous botanist, enriched the
garden with many rare plants ; and many of the trees
and shrubs planfed by him now afford excellent full-
grown specimens. e assafeetida plant, (Ferula as-
safcetida, ) cultivated in the open border by the Doc-
tor, survived in the same spot till the year 1811 ; and
the Dragon’s-blood tree, (pDoracwna draco,) which he
planted in the dry-stove, arrived to the height of thir-
ty feet, and was t{e finest specimen of that plant in Bri-
tain. In an attempt, however, to cut it over, for want
of funds to heighten the roof, this invaluable plant
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perished in 1818. Dr Hope’s Herbarium is kept at
the garden, having been presented to this establish-
ment by his son, the present professor of chemistry.

The tunds for the support of the Botanic Garden
are miserably deficient l‘gr that purpose, not exceeding,
it is believed, L.170 per annum. The salary of the
superintendent is also very inadequate ; and, were it
not that this institution has been fortunate enough in
procuring successively men of talents, whose enthu-
siasm in the pursuit of a favourite science has led them
to overlook every other consideration, the garden
would long ago have gone to ruin.® Some small
sums have occasionally been ted by the Barons of
Exchequer; but an increase(md permanent income
is necessary to keep this establishment from falling in-
to decay.

In the garden is a small square monument surmount-
ed with an urn, erected by Dr Hope to the memory of
Linneus after the death of that ilgﬁstrious naturalist,
with the inscription,  Linnwo posuit Jo. Hope, 1779."

The collection of plants in the garden contains con-
siderably more than 4000 species, independent of va-

* The late Mr John Mackay and Mr George Don, both
enthusiastic botanists, successively held the office of superin-
tendent of the Botanic Garden, and both added considerably
to its vegetable treasures. The present superintendent, Mr
‘Williama Macnab, has in‘ﬁ‘“l d, since 1810, the Cypcrqu
papyrus, the plant which afforded the celebrated TUS 0
the anci ;pﬁve pecies of Banksi (venicillna,p:l?lzngifo-
lia, latifolia, marcescens, and grandis,) which had never be-
fore reached Scotland ; Euthales trinervis, Pancratium Am-
boinense, Nandina domestica, Blighia sapida or a kee, and
Epidendrum vanilla. The culture of tender aquatics was
scarcely known in Scotland before Mr Macnab introduced the
practice ; and in his collection, which is pretty considerable,
are the Nymphaa pygmaa, lotus, rubra, stellata, and versi-
color ; the Nuphar kalmiana, Kuryale ferox, and Nelum-
bium speciosur, most of them new m this country.
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ricties; and these 4000 species belong to, at least,
1000 genera.

The increase of buildings in the neighbourhood of
the present garden having rendered its removal neces-
sary, about nine acres og Jand have been procured a
little to the south-cast of the Palace of Holyroodhouse,
for the purpose of laying out a new garden on a more
extended scale. In the plan for this new garden, it
is hoped, there will be room for an arranged collec-
tion of the frutices or shrubs, and separate depart-
ments for the cerealia and gramina, now become so
interesting to the scientific farmer, and the practical
borticulturist.

During the summer session of the university lec-
tures in goumy are delivered in the green-house, the
plants at that season being removed to the open air.
The present professor is Daniel Rutherford, M. D.

Olbservatory and Astronomical Institution.

The Observatory is situated on the top of the Cal-
ton Hill, & considerable eminence, almost within the
city of Edinburgh. The scheme for erecting a build-
Ing of this kind was first formed in the year 1736;
but the commotion occasioned by the execution of
Captain Porteous by the populace, prevented the com-
pletion of the design. It was again revived in 1741,
at which time the %'arl of Morton generously gave the
sum of I..100 Sterling for the pur{noec of erecting an ob-
servatory, and the ingenious Maclaurin, with the prin-
cipal and some of the professors of the university, were
appointed trustees for 1nanaging this sum. Mr Mac-
laurin himself, with a liberality characteristic of an
¢nlarged mind, added to the a{wove sum the profits
arising from a course of lectures which he read on ex-
Perimental philosophy, which, with other small sums,
amounted in all to L. 300. The death of this emi-
Nient man in 1746, however, put a stop for the second
lime to the execution of the project. The famous
Short, well known for his improvements in the con-
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struction of reflecting telescopes, in conjunction with
his brother, now attempted the erection of the build-
ing. But the progress of the unfortunate Observa-
tory was again interrupted by the death of Mr Short
in 1768.

About the year 1776, the money, with the accumu-
lated interest, amounting to L. 400, the plan for build-
ing the Observatory was again brought before the pub-
lic. A plan of the intended edifice was designed by
Mr Craig, architect ; and the foundation-stone of the
building was laid by Mr Stodart, Lord Provost of
Edinburgh, on the 25th of August 1776. About this
time Mr Adam, the celebrated architect, visiting Edin-
burgh, conceived the idea of giving the whole the
appearance of a fortification, for which its situation,
on the top of the Calton Hill, was very much adapt-
ed.. Accordingly a line was marked out for inclosing
the limits of tﬁe Observatory with a wall, constructed
with buttresses and embrasures, and having Gothic
towers at the angles. In the partial execution of this
design, the money appropriated for the work was to-
tally exhausted, and the Observatory was once more
left to its fate. It stood in this situation for many
years. In 1792, however, it was completed by the
mnf:istrates; but in a style far inferior to whot the
utility of such an institution deserved; and being
possessed of no instruments, and being provided with
no fund for procuring any, it remained in this situa-
tion till the year 1812, wﬁen a more fortunate ntu‘mY!
was made to establish an observatory on a respectable
footing, by the formation in Edinburgh of an Astro-
nomical Institution. -

The Astronomical Institution had its origin with
few public-spirited individuals, who, early in 1812,
associated themselves into a society under this title.
An address was at the same time circulated by the
projectors, written, it is said, by the late celebrated
president of the institution, Professor Playfair, in
which the utility of an Observatory to Edinburgh,
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and particularly to the university, was submitted to
the public. ““The importance of an observatory to
an academical course of study,” says this eloquent
writer, ““ is so generally acknowledged, that there is
hardly any great scientific establishment, from Madrid
1o Stockholm, where some institution of this kind is
ot to be met with.. There are two observatories in
Lngland, and one in Ireland; and on the Continent
hot fewer than forty.

“ It tends very much to add force to these consi~

derations, that we are in the neighbourhood of a sea-
port, the importance of which is continually increas-
g, The use of astronomical knowledge to the sailor
1s too well known to be enlarged on, and the institu-
tion we are recommending is one that contributes the
nost immediately to.the benefit of navigation. We
are not, therefore, recommending refined theories, or
mere abstract speculations, but a science applicable to
Purposes of practical utility, and an art on which the
lives and the fortunes of multitudes continually de-
Pend. That an institution should be wanting conducive
{0 the perfection of an art essential, not only to the
velfare of individuals, but to the prosperity of the
kingdom, is a reproach that, we hope, needs only to
¢ known in order to be removed.
_““ Itforms an additional reason for such an institu-
tion connected with the university here, that we have
already the establishment of a professor of practical
istronomy, whose talents and zeal are both well
known, and who has been long left to regret the im-
Provident patronage which bestowed upon him an
office, without giving him any duty to perform.”

The Astronomical Institution was finally establish-
¢l on the $0th of May 1812; and the magistrates
ranted to the association the ground and building on
the Calton Hill formerly destined for the purposes of
i observatory, on the condition of their not being
“pplied by the institution to amy other purposes.
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The magistrates, at the same time, granted a seal of
cause, to enable them to hold property, and to enjoy
the privileges of a corporation.

The objects of this institution are to establish, 15/,
A scientific observatory, furnished with all the instru-
ments required for the nicest observations of astrono-
my. 2, A popular observatory, furnished with in-
struments connected with astronomy, of general and
ens(f' use ; and also with globes, maps, atlases, charts,
-and books, adapted to the promotion of nautical and

eographical science, And, 84, A physical cabinet,

%umishcd with a complete meteorological apparatus,
and with such other instruments and books as may
be deemed useful for the advancement of physical
knowledge.

The property of this institution is held in transfera-
ble shares of twenty-five guineas each, which, besides
his own admission at all times, entitles a proprietor to
introduce a friend, who may be also admitted on his
written order. The second class of subscribers, who pay
:?' annual instalments, have only the right of person-

admission. The management is vested in a council,
consisting of a president, vice-president, treasurer, s¢-
cretary, and an observer, with eighteen directors, six
of whom go out annually by rotation.

In pursuance of these objects, the directors fit-
ted up the top storey of the old building with a Ca-
mera Obscura, which forms the chief attraction to vi-
sitors ; and the room under it contains, among other
things, a four feet achromatic telescope, some smaller
oncs, and a pair of twenty-one inch globes. The ce-
lebrated Troughton was also engaged to make a mural
circle of five feet diameter, ond a transit instrument
of 10} feet, of which the estimated cost is one thou-
sand guineas. The magistrates of Edinburgh lmﬂn"ﬁ
deposited a small transit instrument which they b
procured from Troughton for regulating the city
clocks in the spartments of the institution, a room was
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crected for its reception in 1814 ; and the same epart-
ment is furnished with an astronomical clock. :
The new Observatory, a little to the east of the for-
mer, was founded on 25th of April 1818, by Sir George
Mackenzie, vice-president, in the absence of Profes-
sor Playfair. In the foundation-stone were deposited
copies of the Edinburgh ne pers, almanack, and
current coin of the country, and a platinum plate, on
one side of which were engraved the names of the
members, and on the other this inscription :—

Speculae
Ad siderum cursus aliaque coelestia contemplanda
Sumptibus suis extruendae
Primum }a;n'dcm ponendum curarunt
Institutionis Astronomicae Edinensis Sodales ;
vir. cal Maj. aerae Christianae an. MDCCCXVIIT,
Georgio Tertio an. LYY regnante,
Period. Julian. 190¢pXXX1
Gulielmo Henrico Playfair architecto ;
Ne diutius
Urbi clarissimae
Scientium omnium pulcherrimum atque amplissimam
Ezcolendum facultas deesset.

The Observatory is built from a design of W. H.
Playfair, Esq. The building is a cross of 62 feet,
with four projecting pediments of 28 feet each, sup-
ported by six columns of the Doric order, fronting
the four cardinal points of the compass. In the cen-
tre is a dome, 18 feet in diameter, under which is a
pillar of solid masonry of a conical form, six feet in
diameter at the base, and 19 feet high, intended for
the astronomical circle. To the east are piers for the
{ransit instrument and astronomical clock ; and'in the
west end others for the mural circle and clock. All
these are founded on the solid rock. A small gallery
s formed round the central pillar for the accommo-
dation of the observer, who has also a room in the
torthern side of the building.

s
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Royal College of Physicians.

The Royal College of Physicians was incorporated
by a charter from King Charles II. on the 29th of No-
vember 1681, which was ratified by parliament in
1685. In their charter of incorporation it is provided,
that the Royal College shall, atrl‘:;st twice in the year,
visit all the apothecaries’ shops within the city and li-
berties of Edinburgh, and destroy all insufficient and
corrupted drugs. The hall for their meetings is si-
tuated on the south side of George's Street, imme-
diately opposite to St Andrew’s Church. It is a hand-
some “building, 83 feet in length by 63 in breadth,
with a portico in front, projecting nine feet, and sup-
ported by four columns of the Corinthian order, 24
feet in height. A select library belonging to the so-
ciety occupies a room in the second floor. The plan
of the bnilding, it is said, was formed under the direc-
tion of the late celebrated Dr Cullen. It was founded
on the 27th of November 1775, and is considered a
chaste and elegant imitation of ancient Grecian archi-
tecture.

Royal Society.

Literary societies, under different denominations,
have been established in Edinburgh for upwards of acen-
tury. In the former part of that period, however, these
associations were not frequent, nor were their members
numerous. Before the union of the kingdoms, there
does not appear to bave existed in the Scottish metro-
polis any society merely for improvement in science,
and the purpose of communicating mutual instruction
with the exception of that formed by Sir Andrew Bal-
four, Sir Robert Sibbald, and Dr Pitcairne. But soont
after that event, by the introduction of manufactures,
commerce, and in consequence of wealth, the manners
of the people received a new turn, and knowledge and
improvement speedily followed.

The first literary society in Edinburgh of which w¢
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have any account was instituted in 1718. The mas-
ters of the High School, and the celebrated gramma-~
rian, Mr Thomas Ruddiman, were the original found-
ers. The object of the society was, the improvement
of the members in classical learning, ¢ without med-
dling with the affuirs of church or state.” The societ
was afterwards joined by Henry Home, (Lord Kames,g
who_had from nature an insatiable appetite for infor-
mation of every kind, and who was afterwards known
to the world by a variety of able works. He was fol-
lowed as a member of this society by Mr Archibald
Murray, Mr Jamés Cochran, with other members of
the Scottish bar, and Mr George Wishart, one of the
inisters of Edinburgh. The names of the enlighten-
ed individuals who formed this society deserve to be
recorded, as among the first men who, by their exam-
ple and liberal views, attempted an institution, of
;"hich the utility has since been so universally acknow=
€ .

The association for the cultivation of Greek and
Roman literature was succeeded, in the year 1731, by
the society for the © improvement of medical know«
ledge.” This society, which contributed not a little
to the propagation of the most useful of arts, had for
its secretary the celebrated Dr Alexander Monro pri=
mus, and under his care the T'ransactions of the socie-
ty were published, at different periods, in five volumes
8vo, with the title of ‘¢ Medical Essays and Observa<
tions.” The merit of these volumes attracted the no-
lice of the public; they were praised by the t
Haller ; and their utility was acknowledged by all the
carned in Europe.

. The Medical Society was soon expanded, however,
in the course of improvement, into the * Philosophi-
cl Society of Edinburgh,” a liberal institution, which
owed its ‘establishment to the exertions of the great
mathematician, Mr Colin Maclaurin. The society
subsisted for a number of years; and in 1754 pub-
lished & volume of Essays and Observatious, Physi-
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cal and Literary.” A second volume appeared in
1756, and a third in 1771.

In the year 1754 an association was formed in Edin-
burgh named the Select Society. This society owed
its rise to Allan Ramsay, the son of the celebrated
Scottish poet, and was intended for philosophical in-
quiry, and the improvement of the members in the
art of speaking. The first meeting of this association
was held in the Advocates’ Library in May 1754, and
consisted at that time only of fifteen members, who had
been nominated and calied together by Mr Ramsay
and two or three of his friends. Butin 1759 their num-
ber amounted to 130, including all the lterati of
Edinburgh and its neighbourh The society sub-
sisted for a number of years ; and, perhaps, there ne-
ver was an association more respectable for the charac-
ter or talents of those who com it. Inalist of its
members preserved in Stewart's Life of Dr Robertson
besides many other eminent personages, are found the
names of the historian of Charles V., the author of
the “ Wealth of Nations,” and Mr David Hume.

The Philosophical Society of Edinburgh, though its
meetings were not entirely discontinued, appears t0
have languished for some time after this period, till
about the year 1777, when, upon the election of the
late Henry Home, Lord Kames, to the office of pre-
sident, its meetings became more frequent, and its
business was conducted with renewed ardour and suc-

cess.

About the end of the year 1782, however, ina meet-
ing of tlte professors og the university of Edinburgh,
many of whom were members of the Philosophical So-
ciety, a scheme was proposed by the Rev. Dr Robert-
son, principal of the college, for the establishment of @
new society, on 2 more extended plan, and after the mo-
del of some of the foreign academies, which have for
their object the cultivation of every branch of sciencc
and literature. The plan was approved of and adopted;
and a resolution was taken of soliciting the king for
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his royal patronage, to which the Philosophical Socie~
ty joined its influence as a body. A charter was ac-
cordingly granted by his majesty, erecting them into
a corporate body, by the title of * The Royal Society
of Edinburgh,” in the year 1783. The societivpub-
lished the fgnt volume of their Zransactions, which
contains many interesting papers, in 1788, and since
that time have occasionally given volumes to the pub-
1C,

Wernerian Natural History Society.

This society was formed on the 12th of January
1808. On that day a few individuals, among whom
was the professor of natural history, met, and resolv-
ed to associate themselves into a society for the pur-
pose of promoting the study of Natural History ; and,
in honour of the illustrious Werner of Freyberg, to
assume the name of the Wernerian Natural History So-
ciety. The other original members were Drs Wright,
Macknight, Barclay, and Thomson, Colonel Fullarton,
Messrs Anderson, Neill, and Walker, wﬁnow Sir P.
Walker.) Professor Jameson was elec resident ;
the society procured a charter from the magistrates on
the 10th February ; and their first meeting for public
business took place in the College Museum on the 2d
March 1808. This eflective association has done
much to disseminate a taste for natural history in
Edinburgh, and over the whole country. They have
already published two octavo volumes of Memoirs,
which’contain many papers of great merit ; and though
the name of Werner distinguishes this association, yet
itis by no means to be understood from this circum-
stance that they exclusively follow the doctrines of that
distinguished mineralogist. *

There are four classes of members, ordinary, non-
resident, honorary, and foreign ; and the list includes
the names of all the celebrated naturalists in Europe.

. The objects of natural history presented to the so«
clety for preservation are lodged in the College Mu.
82
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seum, where also the meetings of this body have been
hitherto held.

Society of Antiquaries.

The Society of the Antiquaries of Scotland was first
projected in the year 1780. A number of noblemen
and gentlemen, to whom the historical and other anti-
quities of their native country were interesting, form-
ed themselves, in that year, to an association for in-
vestigating these, chiefly through the exertions of the
Earl of Buchan, who may be considered its founder ;
and a royal charter was obtained for the incorporation
of the society on the 29th of March 1783. The so-
ciety since that time have acquired a considerable mu-
seum of coins, charters, ancient armour, weapons,
&ec.; and the first volume of their Z'ransactions
was published in 1792. This volume contains many
cnrious and interesting papers relating to the history,
antiquities, and state of Scotland.

The Speculative Society was instituted in 1764 by
six students then at the university of this city. Its
establishment was principally for improvement in
composition and puinc speaking ; aud in the cultiva-
tion of these its members have %een highly successful.
The society, soon after its commencement, built 2
hall within the university, and furnished a small li-

brary.

The Royal Medical Society of Edinburgh was erect-
ed into 2 body corporate by King George 1II. on the
14th of December 1778. It is chiefly com of the
Eentlemen attending the university. They have &

andsome hall for their meetings in Surgeons’ Square,
and a very extensive library.

The Royal Physical Society is another establish-
ment composed chiefly of the young gentlemen attend-
ing the university. They have a neat hall in Richmond
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Street for their meetings. The Natural History So-
ciety, founded in 1782, and the Chemical Society, are
now incorporated with the Royal Physical Society.

Caledonian Horticultural Society.

"This society was formed in the year 1809 by a nums
ber of individuals, with the intention of  promotin
and improving the cultivation of the best kinds of
fruits, of the most choice sorts of flowers, and of those
vegetables which are the most useful in the kitchen.
For this purpose a certain number of prize medals or
Premiums are awarded annually to such persons as are
declared by proper judges to be entitled to the pre-
ference in the production of these, and in the investi-
gation by experiment of subjects proposed by the so-
ciety, Communications are also received on any sub-
Ject connected with horticulture, though not directly
uggested by the society. Such communications are
read at the quarterly meetings ; and those papers deem-
ed of sufficient importance are laid before the public
1n the society’s Memoirs.”

The society consists of three classes of members,
honorary, ordinary, and corresponding. In the first
class are included the names of those of the nobility
and gentry in Scotland who are distinguished for their
attention to horticulture. The ordinary members pay
4 guinea annually, or a composition of ten guineas;
and the list of corresponding members includes the
names of many of the most successful and experien~
ced professional gardeners in the country.

. To promote the purposes of the institution, the so-
ciety lately deputed their secretary, Mr Patrick Neill,
one of the most scientific amateur horticulturists in
Scotland, and two professional gardeners, to visit the
principal gardens in the Low Countriesand in France,
with a view to the improvement of the fruits and ve-
getables of our own country; and it has also been
suggested, that a garden should be formed where ex~
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periments could be conducted under the inspection of
the society.

Besides these associations there are numerous others
under various names, chiefly formed by the young
men attending the university, for improvement in
public speaking and other purposes connected with
their different pursuits.

Advocates’ Library.

The establishment of the valuable library belonging
to the Faculty of Advocates was projected by Sir
George Mackenzie, and proposed by him to a meeting
of the Faculty held on the 11th of December 1650
The utility of the institution was instantly perceived,
and the library was founded in 1682. In the year
1695, the collection was considerably increased by @
donation from William Duke of Queensberry. In
1700 the room where the library was kept being near-
ly destroyed by fire, it wasremoved to the place which
it at present occupies, the ground-floor of the Parlia-
ment House. This library, which is by far the most
considerable in Scotland, is chiefly supported by the
money paid by advocates on their admission into the
Faculty ; and the statute of Queen Anne, which esta-
blishes a literary property of authors in their books,
requiring that a copy of such books shall be given t0
this library. In the library is a valuable collection of
manuscripts, consisting of the registers of some of the
Scottish monasteries, of illuminated missals, and many
volumes of origin:}mgapers relntini to the affairs of
Scotland. The Faculty acquired the valuable collec-
tion of manuscripts belonging to Sir Andrew Balfour
in 1700. There is also a collection of lﬂzi:ts ; and in
1705 the Faculty purchased a fine collection of coins
and medals, Grecian, Roman, Saxon, Scottish, and
English. Of printed books there are upwards of
100,000 volumes. The books are lent out upon re-
“¢eipts, and a_member of the Faculty may obtain &5
many as he thinks fit, subject to the obligation of re-

4
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storing them at the end of a year. The advocates
have it also in their power to oblige their friends with
the books of their library; so that it is open, by this
means, for every useful purpose, to the perusal of the
public. The books are under the care of a librarian
and under-librarian appointed by the Faculty ; and
among those who have enjoyed this office may be
mentioned the celebrated grammarian, Thomas Rud-
diman, and the still more celebrated historian and phi-
losopher, David Hume.

The Advocates’ Library occupies the ground-floor
of the Parliament House. An addition to the accom-
modation required for this extensive collection was
lately procured by the erection of court-rooms for the
Lords Ordinary, the apartmentsunder which are to be
occupied by the library. A splendid new library
room is also preparing in the floor above the library
of the Writers to the Signet. This room, 136 feet
long by 89 in breadth, and lighted from the top, is
finished in the same style of elegance as the very
handsome room below.

Library of Wrilers to the Signet.

This library occupies the first floor of that large
range of buildings which extends westward from the
Parliament House. . The room is 136 feet long and
39 in breadth, and was purchased by the society for
their library, lecture-room, and offices, at an expence
of L. 5000." The interior of the room was laid out in
its present form by the late Mr William Stark, archi-
tect, at the request of the society. The space assign-
ed for the library being very long in proportion to its
other dimensions, Mr Stark™ divided it by open arches
Into two parts, the first of which is oblong, and the
second square. The ceiling of the oblong division is
supported by two rows of Corinthian columns, which,
besides being very elegant in themselves, comgletoly
obviate the difficulty presented by want of height,
which would otherwise have been remarkable in so
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large @ room. It also happened fortunately, that the
distance between the windows was such as suited the
space lproper between columns of the dimensions re-

uired from the height of the ceiling. On entering
the great door the colonnade produces a simple and
noble effect ; and through the ornamental arches by
which this part of the hall is separated from the inner
apartment, the latter appears rich and magnificent.
The view from the upper end of the room is nowise
inferior ; the colonnade, as seen through the arch, re-
ceding from the eye in regular and beautiful grada-
tion. A narrow gallery runs round the wall, and the
whole forms one of tﬁe finest library rooms in the
city.
This large room is comfortably warmed by means of
heated air. The fire-place is constructed in one of
the cellars, and the heated air is derived from a cast-
iron cockle about nine feet high. From this it is con-
ducted by pipes through the whole length of the
room, terminating in cast-iron tables, from under
which the heated air is delivered. Provision is made
for regulating the quantity of air transmitted, and the
pipes conveying are so secured as to prevent all chance
of accidents by fire. The apparatus for heating this
room was constructed under the superintendence of
James Jardine, Esq. civil engineer.

The collection of books belonging to the Writers to

the Signet is particularly valuable, and rapidly increas-
ing,
Besides these libraries there is a Subscription Libra-
7y established in 1794, with a useful collection of
books, supported by an entrance payment of L.12, 125.,
and an annual sum of L. 1, 1s. from each subscriber ;
—a Select Subscription Library, institated in 1800, of
which the entry money is L.2, 2s., and the annual
payment 10s. ;—and a Biblio-Critical Library, the ob-
Ject of which is to collect scarce and expensive books
in sacred philology, and other subjects connected with
the interpretation of the Scriptures,
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PROGRESS AND PRESENT STATE OF PRINTING.

It would exceed our limits to enter into any discussion
respecting the invention of the art of printing, or to
trace its progress from the Continent to Great Britain.
We shall only remark, that the art was discovered a-
bout the middle of the fiftcenth century ; that the
first books were printed at Mentz about 1450; and
that, in the year 1471, a printing-press was establish-
ed at Westminster by Wiﬁiam Caxton, which was the
first that was introduced into England.

Thirty-six years after that interesting trade had
been brought to Westminster by Caxton, a printing-
Press was established in Edinburgh. = Scottish litera-
ture owes this establishment to the generous and
brave monarch James IV., who patronised the erection
of a printing-press in the capital so early as the year
1507, The first printers, as appears from the records
of the Privy Seal, were Walter Chepman, a merchant
I Edinburgh, and Andro Millar, a workman, who
were exclusively empowered to exercise their trade by
the following grant under the Privy Seal :—

““ James, izc.—To al and sindrj our officiaris, liegis,
nd subdittis quham it efferis, quhais knawlage thir
our lettres sal cum, greting. Wit ye that forsamekill
s our lovittis servitouris Walter Chepman and Andro
Millar, burgessis of our burgh of Edinburgh, has, at
our instance and request, for our plesour, the honour
and proffit of our realme and liegis, takin on thame to
furnis and bring hame ane prent, with all stuf belang-
ind tharto, and expert men to use the samyne,* for

* The High Street, near the head of Blackfriars Wm,
feems to have been the place where this printing ish-
Ment was first carried on; for there is preserved, in the re-
“rds of Privy Seal, a * licence to Walter Chepman, burges
of Edinburgh, to haif staris towart the Hic Strete and calsay,
¥ith bak staris and turngres in the Frere Wynd, or on the



216 PRESENT STATE OF PRINTING.

imprenting within our realme of the buiks of our
lawis, actis of parliament, croniclis, mess bukis, and
portuus efter the use of our realme, with addicions
and legendis of Scottis sanctis, now gaderit to be ekit
tharto, and al utheris bukis that salbe sene necessar,
and to sell the sammyn for competent - pricis, be our
avis and discrecioun, thair labouris and expens being
considerit ; and becaus we understand that this cannot
be perfurnist without rycht greit cost, Jabour, and ex-
pens, we have granted and promittit to thame that
thai sall nocht%:: hurt nor prevenit tharon be ony
utheris to tak eogyis of ony bukis furtht of our realme,
to ger imprent the samyne in utheris cuntreis, to be
brocht and sauld againe within our realme, to cause
the said Walter and Androu tyne thair gret labour
and expens. And als it is divisit and thocht expe-
dient be us and our consall, that in tyme cuming mess
bukis, manualis, matyne bukis, and portuus bukis,
efter cur awin Scottis use, and with legendis of Scottis
sanctis, as is now gaderit and ekit be ane reverend f2-
der in God, and our traist consalour Williame bishope
of Abirdene and utheris, be usit generaly within al
our rcalme als sone as the sammyn may be imprentit
and providit, that no maner of sic bukis of Salusbery
use be brocht to be sauld within our realme in tym
cuminél ; and gif ony dois in the contrar, that thei s
tyne the sammyne ; guharfor we charge straitlie and
commandis you al and sindrj our officiaris, liegis, and
subdittes, that nane of you take upon hand to do ony
thing incontrar this our promitt, device, and ordi-
nance, in tyme coming, under the pane of escheting
of the bukis, and punising of thair persons bringaris
tharof within. our realme, in contrar this our statut,

foregait, of sic breid and lenth as he sall think ient for
entre and asinmentes to his land and tenement, and to flit the
pend of the said Frere Wynd for making of neidfull asis-
mentes in the samyn,” &e.  Feb. 5, 1510.
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with al vigour as efferis. Geven under our prive sel
at Edinburgh, the XV. day of Septimber, and of our
regne the XX" yer.”

The oldest specimen of Scottish printing hitherto

discovered is a collection of tracts, entitled ¢ The
Porteous of Nobilness,” printed in 1508, about one
year after the erection of tﬁe first press in Edinburgh,
and thirty-seven years after the introduction of the
art into England. These tracts are preserved in the
Advocates’ Library, Edinburgh. There must certain-
l{, however, have been some works printed prior to
this date, the press being established nearly a year be~
fore ; but as it is probable that these books might
consist of the lives of saints, legendary miracles, or of
devotions then in esteem, they may have been lost at
the Reformation, either by being carried away by the
Priests who fled beyond sea, or destroyed as relics of
bopery.
. Not long afterwards this privilege seems to have been
Iwvaded by certain persons, as appears from a complaint
to the Lords of Council by Andro Chepran, dated
l4th January 1509, upon which he obtained an in-
Junction that none, * in tyme to cum, bring”hame, nor
sell within this realme, ony missale bukes, manualis,
Portuiss, or matin bukis, ot the said use of Salusbery,
under the payn of escheting of the samyne.”

The next work discovered as being printed in Edin-
burgh is a Breviary of the Church of Aberdeen, which
was issued from the press in the following year. The
second part of this breviary was printed in 1510,
*“ Oppido Edinburgensi impressa, jussu et impensis
honorabilis viri Walteri C J)man, ejusdem oppidi
Mercatoris, quarto die mensis Julii, anno Domini mil«
'esimo ¢ccce decimo.” Both parts of this breviary are
in the Advocates’ Library, but want the title pages
ind some leaves in the middle.

From this period till the year 1536 no books have
been discovered that were printed in Edinburgh. In
that year, however, another printer made his appeare

pe
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ance. The first of his performances which is known
is Bellenden’s translation of Hector Boece, which bears
to have been * imprentet in Edinburgh be Thomas
Davidson, dwelling fornent the Fryere Wynde.”
“This book (a copy of which, on vellum, is in the Col-
le(ge Librarzg is equal to any specimen of typography
of that period.

In the year 1540 the Scottish parliament passed an
act, ordaining the Lord Register to publish the acts of
parliament made in the reign of King James V., and
to employ what printer he pleased, provided that
printer had the king's special licence for that purpose.
Thomas Davidson accordingly obtained the king’s li-
cence to print these acts ofg parliament, and all other
printers within the kingdom were discharged from
printing the same for the space of six years; a proof
that there were at that time different persons in Scot-
land who exercised that profession. These acts were
accordingly printed in folio, on vellum, and in  the old
English or black-letter. Davidson, in consequence ©
the licence he had obtained, seems to have taken the
title of  regii impressoriis,” or * prenter to the kingis
nobyll grace ;” and was probably Sle first in Scotland
who enjoyed that privilege.

Robert Lekpreuik was the next printer of conse-
quence who established himself in Edinburgh. 1o
a book, entitled ¢ The Confutation of the Abbote of
Crosraguels Masse,” &ec. printed in 1563, is prefixed
an epistle by “ The Prenter to the Reader,” in which
he apolt;'gises for his want of Greek characters, which
he was forced to have supplied by manuscript, that,
in case of any error, the author might not :mﬁel r in his
reputation.

Printers from this period rapidly increased in num*
ber. In 1584 there seems to have been no less than
six different printers in the city, viz. Bassindane, RosS,
Charteris, Mannenby, Arbuthnot, and Vautrollier-
Bassindane was the first who printed a Bible in Eng-
lish, in 1576. It was the Genevan translation, and



PRINTINS. 219

was dedicated to James VI. Mannenby, in 1578, was
the first who used Greek types. The Bible, for the
use of Scotland, by the Commissioners of the Kirk,”
was printed by Alexander Arbuthnot, the king's print=
er, in 1579, ““ at the Kirk in the Field.”

_ The University of Edinburgh having been founded
in 1582, it was not long before it gave to the world its
“ Theses Philosophicee.” These were begun to be
printed in 1596, and the earliest tyPographer to the
college was Henry Charteris, the king's printer. The
first theses were in large octavo. They ussumed a
quarto form in 1612; and before the year 1641, their
size was raised into a large folio. A collection of these
may be seen in the library of the university.

Robert Waldegrave next established himself as one
of the first g:mers in Edinburgh. The “ lawes and
actes of parliament, maid be King James the First,
and his successours, the kinges of Scotland,” collected
by Skene, and published in 1597, besides man other
"fg(liks, afford specimens of the typography of that pe-
nod.

At the commencement of the seventeenth century,
the printers of Edinburgh were generally booksellers,
who, having acquired some wealth, could purchase a
press, and employ artificers. Andrew Hart, who is
Justly praised by Watson, the author of a history of
Printing, for his well printed Bible, was only a book-
seller, ~Scotland was soon after supplied with printers
from England. But the demands for books exceeding
their abilities to execute them, a great part of the
Scottish literature, at this period, was printed in Hol-
land and the Low Countries.

As printer to the university, one Finlayson succeed-
ol to Charteris. But at this time the grivilege of
Printing to this body was perhaps not confined to any
Dartj artist. James Lindsay, in 1645, was the
first who styled himself ¢ Typographus Academiz.

he mogistrates of Edinburgh, as patrons of the se-
Minary, probably appointed him to this office; but
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what at that time were its profits or honours is not
now known. Their next printer, Gideon Lithgow,
in 1647, called himself  Printer to the College.” A
regular appointment was made out by the magistrates,
however, on the 10th of June 1663, in favour of An-
drew Anderson, ““ to be ordinar printer to the%
town and college of the samen, in place of Gideon
Lithgow, deceased, during pleasure ; he serving als
well and als easie in the prices as utheris.”

The printing continued, till the beginning of the
eighteenth century, without making much ess in
Edinburgh. The erime“ were in general illiterate,
when compared with those in other countries of Eu-
rope at that time. Notwithstanding, however, that
the art was practised by men who did not possess the
erudition of which it is the herald, literature is indebt-
ed to their exertions for reforming the language, and
seul;‘ng, by silent practice, the orthography of the
north. $

Literary property secms to have been ized in
Scotland at a pretty early period. Besides the exclu-
sive privileges granted to royal printers, authors were
secured in the emoluments of their works, as appears
from the following copy of an author’s privilege grant-
ed by the Lords of Couneil in February 1685.

“ Apud Edinburgum, vigessimo sexto die Febru«
arij 1685.—The Lords of his Majestie’s Privy Councill
haveing considered ane address made to them by Mas-
ter George Sinclair, late professor of philosophie at the
colledge of Glasgow, and authour of the book intitul-
led Satan’s Invisible Works Discovered, &c. doe heir-
by prohibite and discharge all persons whatsomever
from printing, reprinting, or importing into this king-
dome any copy or copies of the said book dn.reini! c
:}nceof cleven yearis after the date heirof, without

cence of the author or his order, under the pain of
confiscation thereof to the said authour, besydes what
furder punishment we shall think fitt to inflict upon
the contraveeners.”
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The Revolution in 1688 paved the way for the ex-
tension and improvement of printing in the Scottish
capital.  But it was not till after the union of the
kingdoms, in 1707, that it made any great progress.
In 1711, Robert Freebairn, James Watson, and John
Basket, were appointed the royal printers in Scotland,
and these were the first who, in Edinburgh, carried
the art of printing to any degree of correctness and ele-
gance. - In 1715 a press was established in the citly by
the celebrated Ruddiman, whose learning and abilities
entitle him to a place not the least inconsiderable a-
mong the most celebrated typographers of any coun-
try. " And in 1728, he was appointed, in conjunction
with James Davidson, a bookseller, joint printer to the
university of Edinburgh.

The progress of printing was necessarily delayed in
Scotlang by most of the works of the celebrated au-
thors of this country being sold to booksellers in Lon-
don. Robert and Andrew Foulis of Glasgow, how-
ever, acquired a fame in printing the ancient classics
and other modern works, quite enough to redeem the
character of the Scottish press, and to demonstrate
their ¢laim to be ranked among the most illustrious
professors of the typographic art. Subsequently the
appearance of Mr Walter Scott as an author, and the
establishment of the Edinburgh Review, and the en-
terprise of the House with which that celebrated pub-
lication originated, have procured for Edinburgh, not
only the printing of works of native genius, but trans-
ferred to this city the printing and publication of
books from every quarter of the empire.

Mr James Ballantyne, the contemporary of Mr
Scott, and the printer of all his works, had the merit
of first attempting in Scotland to rival the typogra-
phic specimens of the sister country ; and the exam-
Ple set by that gentleman has certainly tended, in no
small degree, to improve the execution of printing in
every part of Scotland. :

From Mr Ballantyne’s commencement the establish.

T2
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ment of printing on an extended and respectable basis

in Edinburgh may be dated. Since that time, the

number of printing-presses has increased rapidly ; and

the art has likewise been improved. The progress of
rinting in Edinburgh will be best seen from the fol-
owing statement.

Printing-houses in Edinburgh in 1763, . . 6
in 1790, . . 21
in1819, . . 47

In the 47 printing-houses now in Edinburgh are
employed nearly 150 printing-presses, and the work
executed is equal in elegance and correctness to any
in Britain, *

PERIODICAL PUBLICATIONS.

The utility of periodical publications in promoting
a taste for literature and science is universally acknow-
ledged. In the literary history of the Scottish metro-
polis, however, it was a long time before these vehi-
cles of information appeared. The establishment of
WNewspapers is not very ancient, even in London, the
capimfa of Britain. The earliest of these known to
have been published is entitled * The English Mer-
curie,” which a!)peured in the reign of Queen Eliza-
beth, and was “ imprinted at London by Christopher
Barker, her highnesses printer, 1588.” From the pe-
riod of their first introduction into Britain, newspa-
Eers rapidly increased ; and previous to the lamenta-

le fate of Charles I. there had been published more
than a hundred, with different titles. Though no pe-
riodical tract appeared in Scotland during the com-
motions which niitated the country prior to, and for
some time after, that event, yetvarious papers were pub-

* Mr John Ruthven of this city is the inventor of a print-
ing-press, which seems preferable, in many respects, to any
formerly in use.
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lished in Yondon concerning Scottish affairs, either to
gratify private interest, or to promote public measures.
In 1642 appeared in thatcity ** The Scots Scout’s Dis-
coveries ;” in 1643 was published “ The Scots Intelli-
gencer, or the Weekly News from Scotland and the
L;;n;td ;7 and at the same time the * Scots Dove” flew
abroad :

¢ Our Dove tells newses from the Kings,
¢ And of harmonious letters sings.”

Oliver Cromwell was the first who communicated
the benefit of a newspaper to Scotland. That singu-
lar man, well aware of the influence which the press
is calculated to have over public opinion, when his
army invaded Scotland, carried with him a print-
er, and when he had fortified Leith, he settled this
printer, Christopher Higgins, in that town, in Novem-
ber 1652. Higgins began his work by printing what
had been already published at London, “ A Diurnal
of some P; es and Affuirs,” for the information
chiefly of the %ng]ish soldiers. ““ Mercurius Politi-
cus,” a London paper, began to be reprinted at Leith
on the 26th of &:tober 1653. The following year it
was transferred to Edinburgh, where it continued to
be published till the 11th l.(l:;gApril 1660, when it was
reprinted under the name of * Mercurius Publicus.”

The first newspaper of Scottich manufacture appear-
ed at Edinburgh on the 31st December 1660, under
the title of ¢ Mercurius Caledonius; comprising the
Affairs in agitation in Scotland, with a survey of Fo-
reign Intelligence.” The projector and editor of this
news was Thomas Sydserfe ; but his undertak~
Ing itﬁot meet with expected success, and
languishing for ten numbers it was dropped altogether.
To those who are curious in investigating the proireas
of literature, manners, or arts, in Scotland, it perhaps
may not be uninteresting to know the form in which
the first Scottish newspaper appeared. It was a small
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4to, of eight pages, which was printed by “ a Society
of Stationers,” and was published once a week.

The ““ Mercurius Publicus” continued to be repub-
lished at Edinburgh, from the London paper, even
after the restoration of Charles II., though not now
in the hands of Higgins. It was, however, at last su-
perseded by “ The Kingdom’s Intelligencer,” which
was also merely a copy of the news retailed in the
English capital.

In February 1699 a paper appeared by royal autho-
rity, entitled ““ The Edinburgh Gazette,” which was
published by James Watson, who is known to the
world by his “ History of Printing.” When he had
published only forty-one numbers, he transferred the
“ Edinburgh Gazette” to John Reid, whose son con-
tinued to print it even after the Union.

Mr Watson seems to have been the great news-
monger of Scotland at this period. In February 1705
he established the  Edinburgh Courant,” which, after
he had printed fifty-five numbers, he transferred to
the heirs and successors of Andrew Anderson, the
printer to the queen, to the city, and to the college.
Mr Watson, in September 1705, again began a new
paper, which he called the “ Scots Courant,” and
which he continued to print till after the year 1718.
At the cra of the Union, Edinburgh was thus in pos-
session of three newspapers, but these neither {;romog-
ed nor retarded that measure by their wit or by their
arguments. 2

To these papers were added the ““ Flying Post,
which appea in October 1708 ; the * Scots Post-
man,” which was established by permission from the
town-council in August 1709 ; and the * North Tat-
ler,” which was begun to be printed in March 1710.

The Edinburgh Evening Courant was first esta-
blished on the 24th of December 1718 ; at which time
the town-council gave an exclusive privilege to James
Macewan, stationer-burgess, to publish this paper;
*“ the said James being obliged, before publication, to
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gave ane coppie of his print to the magistrates.” This
paper acquired a popularity which has insured its con-
tinuance to the present time, and it is now the news-
paper of widest circulation in Scotland.

The Caledonian Mercury was begun in April
1720, It was originally printed for William Rolland,
a lawyer, who was its earliest proprietor. The cele-
brated Ruddiman began to print it 1724 ; and in 1729,
by the death of Rolland, acquired the pro}:erty of the
paper. It continued in his family, though under dif-
ferent modifications, and during troublesome times,
till the year 1772, when it was sold by the trustees
of Ruddiman’s grandchildren. This paper is ably
conducted, and is still continued. The Courant and
Mercury are published thrice a week. -

The "Edinburgh Advertiser was begun, and the
first number published on the 7th of January 1764.
It is published twice a week, and continues to enjoy
the favour of the public.

A number of o&er newspapers were afterwards at=
tempted with various success. Of these the Scots
Gazetteer, the Scots Chronicle, the Edinburgh He-
rald, and a paper published in Leith under the title
of the Leith Telegraph, were unsuccessful, and have
ong since been given up.

The Ldinburgh Weekly Journal was begun in 1802,
and aequired a considerable celebrity; and another
paper, under the title of the Weekly Chronicle, com=
menced in December 1808. The Edinburgh Star, a
paper published twice a week, was begun on 16th
Decemger 1808 ; and the Edinburgh Correspondent,
published thrice a week, commenced in March 1810,
and, after having been carried on three years, and
'ﬂven up, was again re-established on the 26th Novem-

r 1818.

" The Scotsman, l:hlfas first m“l’es'f;:h p%liticia’l and
ite r whic! aj ed in Edinburgh, com-
met‘;:?d ?:p.]eanunry 1817, I;l:sl"hu since acquired an
extensive circulation.
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Besides these, the Edinburgh Gazette, an official
paper, Yrincipally used as the record of bankrupt-
cies and other matters under judicial authority, is
printed twice a week.

The oldest literar sitory, published periodically,
of which the Scottisyhrfnp:trop;{ispmn boast,pii the Scots
Magazine. 'This journal was begun in the year 173%
Who were the original projectors of or contributors to
the work is not with certainty known ; but it was first
printed by Sands, Brymer, Murray, and Cochrane.
In this periodical publication are many useful hints
and facts, illustrative of the progress of literature and
science in Scotland, during the last century, and it
still holds a very respectable place in the list of the
periodical journals of North Britain. By an arrange-
ment between the proprietors of this work and those
of another publication entitled the Edinburgh Maga-
zine, the two works were conjoined, and were pub-
lished under the title of the Scots Magazine, or Edin-
burgh Literary Miscellany, till July 1817, when 2
new series was commenced under the title of the Edin=
burgh Magazine, or Literary Miscellany.

The Edinburgh Magazine, or Literary Miscellany,
was begun in the year 1785, by Mr James Sibbald,
bookseﬂ‘;r, well known for his valuable publication en-
titled ¢ A Chronological Series of the Poetry of Scot-
land, with a Glossary of the Scottish Language,” and
was conducted by him, with much success, for a good
manﬁ' years afterwards. After passing through vari-
ous hands, it was at last conjoined (as mentioned a-
bove) with the Scots Magazine, in the year 1801.

It was comparatively late before the Scottish me-
tropolis produced any periodical work professedly for
the purpose of criticism. The same causes which o-
perated so powerfully in this country in delaying the
advancement of knowledge, likewise prevented the
improvement of taste, Prior to the Revolution, civil
dissensions obstructed the progress of letters ; and the
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rage of party kept back improvement in the arts.
That event, however, removed many of the obstacles
which had retarded this progress, and the union of
the kingdoms swept away the remainder. In Janu«
ary 1688 the first attempt at a literary journal or re-
view was made in a work entitled ‘“ Bibliotheca Uni-
versalis, or an Historical Account of Books and Trans-
actions of the Learned World.” The design of this
work was to publish monthly accounts ¢ of what is
doing abroad by the learned world, and also to report
what the virtuosos and learned among ourselves are
pleased to communicate.” Only one number of this
work was printed. It consists of accounts of and re-
marks on several publications, most of which are Con-
tinental ; and the principal observations on these are
translated from the ¢ Bibliotheque Universelle” and
*“ Histoire de Quvrages des Scavans” of Paris. This
work was “ printed by John Reid, for Alexander Og-
ston and William Johnstone, stationers,” and contains
128 pages in 24mo.

No other work of this kind appeared in Edinburgh
for the long period of sixty-five years. The next at-
tempt at establishing a review, however, demands par-
ticular notice, from the character and talents of those
by whom it was conducted. These were the late Dr
Adam Smith, Drs Blair and Robertson, Sir William
Pulteney, and Mr Alexander Wedderburn, afterwards
Earl of Roslyn. Only two numbers of the work,
which was to have been published every six months,
appeared ; the first in January, and the second in Ju-
ly 1755, atter which it was entirely discontinued.
I'he known abilities of the contributors to this work
lave it to be regretted that it was not carried on far-
ther ; but the Review of Dr Johnson’s Dictionary of
the English Language, and a letter addressed to the edi-
tors, containing some general observations on the state
of literature in the different countries of Europe, will
be still read with peculiar interest, when it is consi-
dered that they were the first literary essays which
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were published of the author of the Wealth of Na-
tions.”

From the time this review was discontinued till
the year 1768, no periodical work of merit appeared
in Edinburgh. In that year the < Weekly Magazine,
or Edinburgh Amusement,” printed by and for Wal-
ter Ruddiman, was begun. Being afforded at short
intervals, and at a cheap rate, and being conducted
in a judicious manner, this periodical work_had an
extensive circulation at the time, and continued many
years afterwards to be published under the title of
¥ Ruddiman’s Weekly Magazine.” The contribu-
tions which were given to this publication by the
late Robert Ferguson, first introduced him to the no-
tice of the publicas a poet of no inconsiderable abili-
ties.

In October 1773 “ The Edinburgh Magazine and
Review, by a Society of Gentlemen,” printed by W.
Smellie for W. Creech, made its appearance. The
chief contributors to the work were Dr Gilbert Stuart
and Mr William Smellie. This miscellany was con-
ducted with much spirit, and sufficient self-import-
ance, during the course of five volumes. It was fin-
ally closed in August 1776. Dr Stuart distinguished
himself in this publication by an inquiry into the cha-
racter of the reformer John Knox, whose principles he
reprobated in the severest terms.

The years 1779 and 1780 are distinguished by the
publication of a periodical paper, entitled the * Mir-
ror,” which_has acquired so much fame as to be de-
servedly ranked among the most eminent of our Bri-
tish classics. It was followed by another of the same
nature, in 1785 and 1786, entitled the * Lounger ;
and both of these, by many judges, are held to be not
?fn?dor to the Spectator or Guardian of the sister

ingdom.

In the year 1783 appeared the < North British Ma-

zine, or Caledonian Miscellany,” printed by James

urray, and published once a fortnight, which amus<
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el and instructed the citizens of Edinburgh for some
time, but, after it had run to a few volumes, sunk
into obscurity.

The Religious Monitor, Christian Instructor, and
some other religious publications, begun a few years
2go, appear monthly in Edinburgh.

While general literature was thus extending its be-
nefits in Seotland by the circulation.of these publica~
tions, medicine and philosophy were not neglected.
The society for the improvement of medical know-
ledge, institated in 1731, published their “ Medical
Essays” from time to time; and when that institu-
tion gave way to the more extended one known by
the name of the *“ Philosophical Society,” several vo-
lumes, distinguished for tl‘:eir erudition and research,
were at different times given to the world. But the
rincipal work in this department of science ever pub-
ished periodically in Edinburgh was the * Medical
Commentaries.” ~ This work, which is of acknowledg-
ed merit, was begun by Dr Andrew Duncan senior,
the present professor of the theory of physic in the
university of Edinburgh, in the year 1774. A vo-
lune was published annualiy under this title till the
Year 1795, after which period, till the year 1804, it
was given to the world under the name of the ¢ Ans
nals of Medicine.”

The Annals of Medicine gave way, in 1804, to
the Edinburgh Medical and Surgical Journal, a
work published quarterly, and the first number of
which was given to the public in Jan 1805. This
Journal consists of three departments; the first appro-
Priated to original communications ; the second to the
critical analysis of medical publications ; and the last
to miscellaneous intelligence on medical subjects. Tt
€humerates among its correspondents some of the
Mmost eminent persons in the profession, and records
I its miscellaneous department many interesting facts
and observations, which, in defect of such a reposi~
tory, might have remained unnoticed.

v
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The Farmer's Magazine, a periodical work, ex~
clusively devoted to agriculture and rural affairs, was
begun in Edinburgh, and the first number published,
in January 1800. The design of this magazine is to
collect and disseminate ingenious theories, important
and well authenticated facts, and accurate experi-
ments, which relate to the different branches of rural
economy. This work is published quarterly, and is
superintended by an editor of acknowledged wmerit,
James Cleghorn, Esq.

The Edinburgh Review, or Critical Journal; was
commenced in October 1802, and is published quar-
terly. The fame and very extensive circulation of
this journal renders it unnecessary to say any thing
of it in this place. Its establishment formed an
era in Scottish literature ; and it has long been consi-
dered the first literary journal in Europe. Francis
Jeffrey, Esq. advocate, is the chief conductor of this
celebrated work, which numbers among its contribu-
tors most of the eminent men of the present day.

In 1796 a periodical work was begun in Edinburgh
called the Missionary Magazine. In 1799 another
appeared named the Clerical Review, two numbers of
which only were published. The Edinburgh Evian-
gelical Magazine was begun in 1801, and the North
British Magazine and Review in January 1804, All
these are now discontinued.

A work of more importance, the Edinburgh Annual
Register, appeared in 1808. Thirteen volumes have
been printed.

A new magazine, under the title of the Edinburgh
Monthly Magazine, was begun in April 1817, and
speedily acquired an extensive circulation. The name
was subsequently cha to Blackwood's Edinburgh
Magazine, under which title it is now published.

A Literary and Statistical Magazine is published
quarterly, and a Monthly Review was begun at Edin-

burgh in January 1818.
l-l-'lﬁie Edinburgh Philosophical Journal was com=
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wenced in June 1819. It is to be continued quarter-
ly, and is intended to exhibit the progress of discovery
in natural philosophy, chemistry, natural history,
practical mechanies, phy. statistics, and the fine
and useful arts. From Ele celebrity of the editors, Dr
Brewster and Professor Jameson, tﬁere is little doubt
of this scientific journal sustaining the character
which Edinburgh has acquired in other branches of
literature.

Among the periodical publications of Edinburgh
may be mentioned a work, which has formed one of
the most extensive and lucrative literary speculations
of modern times. We mean the Encyclopedia Bri-
fannica. The first edition of this wo‘l:{ was publish-
ed in four volumes 4to ; in the second edition it rosé
to ten volumes ; and in the third, of which upwards
of 13,000 copies were sold, it amounted to twenty vo-
lumes, A fifth edition, with’ improved engravings,
has been lately published. '

A Supplement to this work is now in course of pub-
lication. . This Supplement was undertaken with a
view to supply the omissions in the two last editions
of that work, and to afford an opportunity of continu-
ing the historical articles to the present time, as well
as to exhibit the arts and sciences in their latest state
of improvement. It is arranged upon a plan calcu~
lated to render it a valuable acquisition to the public
at large ; as it will, of itself, within the limits of six
volumes, afford a comprehensive view of the progress
and present state of all the more interesting branches
of human knowledge.

The Fdinburgh Encyclopedia, a work of a similar
nature to-the Encyclopedia Britannica, was commenc-
ed in 1808. It is conducted by Dr Brewster; and is
distinguished for its valuable treatises in every branch
of science. 1

Another Encyclopedia, in a more popular form and
of less extent, was n in 1816, under the superin-
¥ndence of Dr Millar. It is entitled Encyclopadia
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Edinensis, and is intended to be comprised in six vo=
lumes 4to. ;

The Edinburgh Gazetteer, or Geographical Diction=
:;lv/, comprising a complete body of geography, physi-

, political, statistical, and commercial, may be men-
tioned among the works publishing periodically in
Edinburgh. It is intended to be compKated in six vo-
lumes Svo.

The pro of literature in Scotland, and particu-
larly in Edinburgh, will be seen from the foregoing
sketch of its literary institutions and periodical publi-
cations. Upon the first revival of letters in Earope,
their p of IPh Segltlnnd was at first re:ll;:;ll:al;l; flt:;
its rapidity. e ce in writi isplay
Buchananis an his@ﬁna? the benut;‘ﬁf his numbers
as a poet, place Scotland in that age in a favourable
point of view, when compared with other countries.
That progress, however, of which the prelude was so
flattering, was delayed, and almost entirely stopped.
by the unfortunate dissensions which followed. The
calm pursuits of literature could not flourish with suc-
cess in a country torn by faction, and the sciences
made but little progress among a people averse to in-
dustry. Drummond of Hawthornden, whose poems are
unequalled b{ any of his contemporaries, and who
preceded Waller in polishing English versification, and
the immortal inventor of the logarithms, were the two
great luminaries who in Seotland brightened the reign
of James VI. The series of political revolutions, an
the religious dissensions which followed the death
that prince, was as fatal to the literature of Scotland
in this age as it had been in the preceding ; nor was it
till the Revolution in 1688, when liberty was esta-
blished, and property rendered secure, that prosperity
and wealth n }t.odawn in North Britain. 2

But, though the innings of improvement 1n
Edinburgh may be d?g:l ﬁo;g: the R&olution, yet
they made but little progress till after the union of
the kingdoms ; and finally of the abolition of heredi-
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tary jurisdictions in 1746. From the Revolution to
this period, however, Edinburgh produced many men
eminent for their talents in literature, among whom ma
be mentioned Sir Andrew Balfour, Sir Robert Sibbald,
Dr Archibald Piteairne, Ruddiman, and the founders
of the Edinburgh school of medicine. The attempts of
the exiled : princes, too, te recover the throne which
they had forfeited, aud the political parties which
these events encouraged, were circumstances unfavour-
able to the spread of knowledge. The slow advances
which this country had made in the art of printing
contributed to the same end.

It is within these last fifty years only that Edin-
burgh has made any great figure in the literarz world ;
but since the commencement of that period thervalue
of literary property has been carried higher here than
n any other country. David Hume received L. 5000
for the second part of his History of England, and Dr
Robertson, for his Charles V., received L. 4500, and
Walter Scott, Esq. has, it is believed, received more
mogey for his admirable writings than any preceding
author.

Prior to the commencement of the Edinburgh Re-
view, in 1802, most of the t literary works of
Scotland were sold to publishers in London. The
Fdinburgh booksellers of that period do not seem to
have been aware of the importance of this most mate-
rial branch of their business, or wanted capital and
enterprise for the undertaking. The late Mr Wil-
liam Creech, the greatest Edinburgh bookseller of his
time, held merely small shares in those works to
which his name is attached ; and the printing, to the
Inconvenience of the authors, and the discouragement
of the Edinburgh press, was chiefly executed in Lon~
don, - But since the establishment of the Edinburgh
Review, the house of Messrs Archibald Constable and
Co. have not only secured to Edinburgh all the works
of native talent, but have drawn to this city werke
from every quarter of theisland. - . )

v 2
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PROGRESS AND PRESENT STATE OF THE ARTS.

Many causes might be enumerated which have
retarded the progress of the fine arts in Scotland.
Prior to the union of the crowns, its situation, with
respect to England, involved the country in almost
perpetual wars ; and the feudal nature of the govern-
ment, and the habits of the great barons, operated for
ages to the prejudice of every thing that was not sub-
servient to baronial power, or connected with martial
glory. The small number of great towns, the poverty
of the country, and, before the union of the kingdoms,
the almost total want of manufactures and commerce,
also powerfully contributed to repress a taste for arts,
which can only exist under settled governments, and
in states of comparative wealth. Notwithstanding of
these disadvantages, however, the art of architecture,
as displayed in the baronial castles still remaining,
B:l"b chicﬂyy in the remains of those vast fabrics ralsu;

y our ancestors for religious purposes, seems
have made considerable progress inPScotland at a very
early date. The Abbey of Melrose was founded by
David L in 1136 ; thatof Dryburgh in 1130 ; that of
Holyroodhouse in 1128 ; and Glasgow Cathedral was
erected in 1197. The intercourse which was kept up
with Italy, the seat of the head of the church, by the
clergy of Scotland, must early have had its effect on the
styleof the religiousbuildings in this country ; and prior
to this period traces of the Saxon and the Roman con-
quests are to be found in their architectural remains.

The earliest artists, however, do not seem to have
been natives of the country. King Robert Bruce1s
said to have invited foreign artists into Scotland. The
rites of frecmnasonry are believed to have been introduc-
ed by foreign artisans, at the foundation of Kilwinning
Abbey in 1140 ; and from an inscription on a wall at
the entrance of the south aisle of Melrose Abbey,
printed by Grose, it appears that the person who
charge of the most important religious edifices was 2
native of Paris.
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JOHN MURROW SUM TYM CALLIT
WAS I, AND BORN IN PARYSSE
CERTANLY ; AND HAD IN KEPYNG
AL MASOM WERK OF SANTAN-.
DROYS, YE HYE KYRK OF GLAS-
GU, MELROS, AND PASLAY; OF
NYDDYS DAYLL AND OF GALWAY.
PRAY TO GOD AN MARI BAITH,
AND SWEET ST JOHN KEEP THIS
HALY KYRK FRAE SKAITH.

Of the art of sculpture, as connected with architec-
ture, there are many remains in the ancient religious
buildings, and in lf‘l'e monumental figures and stones
in different parts of the country. Though the designs
adopted be generally grotesque, and the execution
rude, yet, from the coarse materials they had to work
upon, much could not be expected ; and the cross-leg-
ged representations of knights, and the wild but lux-
uriant fancies of the sculptors of our religious fabrics,
are not inferior to works of the same kind executed at
the same time in England, or on the Continent of
Europe. Indeed, it is probable that, during the su-
premacy of the Roman cgmrch, when these works were
executed, they were the work of foreign artists, im-
ported with the colonies of monks, who from time to
time were invited from the Continent, by the piet{1 of
our kings, to people the religious houses which they
had erected. The Reformation, however, was fatal to
the remains of' sculpture in Scotland ; and the shrine
and the saint, and, in many cases, the houses which
contained them, were destroyed by the populace in
2!16 hatred of images which the carly preachers inspir-

James I. is well known for his love of the arts ; and
James III., according to Pitscottie, *“ was ane man
that loved solitarines, and desired nevir to hearof warre ;
but delighted more in musick, and policie, and building,
than he did in the governmentofhis realme.” Cochrane,
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whom this prince created Earl of Mar, “ was but
ane prentees to ane maissoun, and became verrie inge-
nious in that craft, and biggit many stone housis with
his handis in the realme of Scotland, because he was
cunning in that craft.”

The palace in Stirling Castle, erected by James V.
about the year 1529, evidences considerable taste in
architectural decoration ; and the roof of the king's
room in that building was covered by a series of car-
vings in oak, which place the sculpture of that period
in a very high point of view. This elegant roof fell
down in part in 1777, and the heads which adorned it
were at that time removed. Most of these, however, are
still preserved, and engravings of the whole were pub=
lished by Mr Blackwood in 1817. The gold bonuet
pieces of James V. are said by Ruddiman to equal the
sculpture on the Roman coins in the best period of the
history of that people. L

Of the early history of painting in Scotland little is
known ; and, perhaps, unless in regard to histori
illustration, little deserves to be known. Many of the
earliest specimens of this art would naturally be con-
nected with the church, and would, of course, share
the fate of the other images at the introduction of the
new religious opinions. Perhaps the earliest sgccl-
mens now existing are the coats of arms in the halls
of the ancient baronial castles. Some of these were 2
few years ago in very good preservation in the h
of Craigmiller Castle, near Edinburgh. James I.,
who was educated in England, has painting mention-
ed by some historians as among his accomplishments ;
aud from his time banners and pageunts, with differ-
ent devicts, were in common use. Dr Cook, in his
History of the Reformation, mentions the discovery
of a painting of more extended design on the walls of
the old house of Pittarrow in Kincardineshire, which,
as it throws light on the state of the arts, shall be given
in his own words :— s

“ Two or three years ago the old mansion-house of
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Pittarrow was pulled down. Upon removing the
wainscot from the great hall there were discovered up-
on the walls of the room, in a state of complete pre-
servation, several beautiful paintings, of the existence
of which no tradition remained. Before T heard of
this,” says Dr Cook,  although only two miles from
the place, the whole had been destroyed ; but my
friend, the Rev. James Leslie, minister of Fordoun,
the parish in which the house was situated, was more
fortunate. He got a short view of them, and he has
most obligingly favoured me with the account of them
which he wrote. ¢ One of the paintings,’ says he,
“above the longest fire-place in the great hall, was a
painting of the city of Rome, and a grand procession
going to St Peter’s. The colours were very vivid.
They had been preserved from all injury by the wain-
scot with which the walls of the room were covered.
The pope, adorned with a tiara, and mounted on
horseba(s:; was attended by a large company of cardi-
nals on foot, richly dr , but all uncovered. At a
h:)t}:l distancet,lfdnrecltllly i::d front gf ;he procmizr‘;,
stood a beautiful white palfrey, finely caparisoned,
held by some persons who wereywell drawf,ag:ot un-
covered. Beyond them was the cathedral of St Peter,
the doors of which appeared to be open.”

The revival of the arts in Italy in the fourteenth
century, and their successful cultivation in the neigh-
bouring countries, may be supposed to have had some
effect on the art of design even in Scotland. But the
name of no Scottish painter of any eminence has de-~
scended to the present time, and the portraits which
still exist of the reign of James V. and Queen Mary
were, perhaps, all the work of foreign artists. In the
reign of James VI., however, as we learn from a pas-
sage in Birrel’s Diary, portraits of the king and queen
seem not to have been uncommon in the houses of the
citizens of Edinburgh. But it is not likely that these
would be of first rate merit ; and it is more than pro-~
bable were not superior to the Saracens’ heads which
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dangle at the doors of inns in the present day. The
few paintings of any merit in the country at this time
seem to have been imported from France and the Ne-
therlande.

The first Scottish painter of any note was George
Jamesone, a native of Aberdeen, who was born in 1586.
This celebrated artist, usually called the Scottish Van-
dyke, studied the art under Rubens, at Antwerp.
After his return to his native country, he al:glied with
indefatigable industry to portraits in oil, though he
sometimes practised in miniature, and also in history
and landscape. Charles 1. sat to him for his picture,
as did also many of the great characters of that period.
Jamesone died at Edinburgh in 1644. Many of his
works are in the colleges of Aberdeen, and his picture
of the Sybils there he is reported to have drawn from
living beauties in that city. The excellence of Jame-
sone is said to consist in delicacy and softness, with a
clear. and beautiful colouring. One of Jamesone's
most distinguished pupils was Alexander, who after-
wards became related to his master by marrying his
sister. Of the portraits painted by this latter artist,
the full length portrait of Sir George Mackenzc,
ll:ix;g's advocate, in his gown of office, is reckoned the

t

To these artists succeeded the elder Scougal in the
reigus of Charles II. and his brother James I1. (V1)
This artist possessed a considerable share of merib
and it is said that there were few great famiilies In
Scotland at that time who did not possess some of his

rtraits. The style of Scougal bears a great resem=
m’ancc to that of Sir Peter Lely, particularly in his
draperies. Corrudes, a foreigner, is mentioned to have
been an artist in Scotland contemporary with Scougal ;
and his style is said to have been far above mediocrity:

When James Duke of York repaired the chapel-
royal of Hol house at Edinburgh, De Witt, an
artist of the Flemish school, and of considerable repu~
tation, was employed to paint portraits of all the Scot-
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tish kings from the aup];osed founder of the monar-
chy downwards, for the long E:lllery on the north side
of the palace. These funciful portraits are by mno
means in general well executed, though a few of
them are painted in a free bold manner, not altogether
without merit. De Witt is said never to have beéen
paid for this piece of work, a circumstance not uncom-
mon in the history of artists.

The younger Scougal, for a considerable time after
the Revolution, was the only painter of note in Scot-
lind.  This artist, however, was more careful of
amassing wealth than of adding to his fame. “ His
carelessness occasioned many con:glaints by his em-
ployers ; but he gave for answer, that they might seek
others, well knowing there were none to be found «t
that time in Scotland.” 'The pictures of this artist are
not of the first merit.

Nicolas Hude, a Frenchman, suceecded Scougal the
younger in improving the art of painting in Scotland.
He had been one of the directors of the French Aca-
demy; but, on the repeal of the edict of Nantz, in
1685, he sought refuge in England as a Protestant
emigrant., He at first made an unsuccessful attempt to
establish himself in London ; but on the invitation of
William the first Duke of Queensberry, he came to
Scotland.  Several of his pictures are still to be seen
i the house of Drumlanrig. In his style and man-
ter he much resembles Rubens, and the skill of a con-
Noisseur is required to distinguish betwzen the works
of these great masters. Hude, notwithstanding his
merit, died in straitened circumstances.

Prior to the Union, John Baptiste Medina, a native
of Brussels, visited Scotland, and being patronized by
the Duke of Queensberry, high commissioner to the
Scottish parliament, who conferred the order of knight-
hood on him, soon after settled in Edinburgh as a
Portrait painter, though he had been  originally bred
" the line of" historical -delineations. - Sir John Me-
dina died in 1711, and was buried in the Greyfriars
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Churchyard. His portraits were painted with great
freedom, precision, and effect ; and several may yet be
seen in high preservation in the Surgeons’ Hall, High
School Yards, Edinburgh.

The era of the Union, among the other advantages
which it procured to Scotland, had a favourable ef-
fect also on its arts. 'Williamn Aikman, the friend of
the poet Allan Ramsay, was among the first of those
who, at this period, went to Italy to study painting,
and improve himself on the models of the ancient
masters. After his return, this artist was ennﬁloygd
for thirteen years in painting portraits, which he did
in a style of unequalled excellence. In the university
library of Edinburgh, thereis a capital portrait of Aik-
man’s, viz. Principal Carstairs ; and in the great hall
of the Parliament House are several others. Mr Aik-
man died in London in 1733. 3

Contemporary with Aikman were Richard Wait
and George Murshal, both pupils of the younger Scou-
gal. Marshal applied himsegf to portrait-painting ;
but he never acquired much reputation in his profes-
sion.  Wait excelled in the delineation of what is cal-
led still-life.

John Alexander, a descendant of the Scottish Van-
dyke, who flourished at thig time, seems to have inhe-
rited a large portion of the talents of his illustrious

rogenitor. Having studied in Italy, he returned to

is native country, and was patronized by the Duchess
of Gordon, daughter to the Earl of Peteriorough. He
painted portraits, history, and historical landscape,
with much success.

Allan Ramsay, the son of the Scottish poet, was 2
painter of considerable eminence. He went to Italy
to improve himself in his profession, which, after his
return, he practised with great reputation. In the
decline of his life he went to France ; but died at Do-
ver on his return to England in 1784. One of his
best pictures is a portrait of Dr Alexander Monvo, pri-
mus, which is now in the possession of his grandson
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the present Dr Alexander Monro. Excellent portraits
of George III. and his Queen, by Ramsay, may be
seen in the Palace of Halyroodhouse.

James Norrie was a landscape-painter of very con-
.]s‘idcmble merit in Ed:;;(})m‘lizgc:bout ftl:e mid:{jle ol(‘: gle
ast century. He pai of a greyish or Chi-
naink sor:yof coltla?t:'!,l which are :fi:n found on pannels,
over chimney-pieces, and many of which have uncom-
mon merit, are highly esteemed, and are often pur-
chased at very considerable prices. The son of this
artist, John Norrie, su ed to his father’s genius.
Many of the works of these artists are to be seen in
the principal houses in the old of Edinburgh, and
in other places throughout Scotland. The representa-
tive of these artists is the principal proprietor of a
floor-cloth manufactory in this city.

De la Cour and Pavilon, two French painters, who
settled in Edinburgh, increased the knowledge of the .
principles of their art, and initiated some of our most
celebrated painters in the art of design. The celebrat-
cd Runcimans, Brown, and Nasmyth, learned the ru-
diments of drawing from the latter.

But the progress of the art in Scotland was much
facilitated, about this time, by the exertions of two
individuals in a neighbouring city. Robert and An-
drew Foulis, printers in Glasgow, after having esta-
blished their art in that town in a style of elegance un-
known before, with a laudable endeavour to extend
the fine arts in Scotland, founded an Academy  for
that p in 1253. The scheme, however, was too
great to E: undertaken at the expence of private indi-
viduals. After a vain for existence, the aca-
demy finally closed, after the death of its founders, in
1776. 'The benefits of the institution, however, were
not Jost ; for many artists, since celebrated, among
whom was Mr David Allan, were reared at this aca-
demy. It is worthy of remark, that the Glasgow aca-
demy was established fifteen years before that in So-
merset-house was opened.

x
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The two Runcimans, as already mentioned, were
taught drawing by Pavilon, after” which they both
went to Italy, where John, the elder brother, died.
Alexander returned to his native country in 1771, af-
ter a residence of five years in Italy, and was in the
same year appointed by the Board of Trustees for the
Encouragement of Manufactures, &c. master of an aca-
demy which was at that time established in Edinburgh
for the study of drawing. Runciman at this time
projected and began his great work in the Hall of Os-
sian at Pennycuick, the seat of Sir George Clerk, Bart.
Another capital performance, the Ascension, may be
seen above the altar of the Chapel, Cowgate, formerly
the chief place of worship for those of the Episcopal
persuasion in Edinburgh. The elder brother, John,
was also an excellent painter, and, in the opinion of
the best judges, even surpassed Alexander. His works
are uncommonly rare, as it is said he destroyed man
of them before his death, wherever he could fin
them. Whenever they occur they bring uncommonly
high prices ; and he is still considered to be one of the
most successful painters in history whom his country
has produced. Many excellent specimens of John
Runciman are in the fine collection of John Clerk,
Esq. advocate.

Nearly contemporary with this artist was the cele-
brated Jacob More, by many considered the first land-
scape-painter of his time. He was born in Edinburgh
about the year 1760, and bred with a house-painter
there, when he began to paint landscape, with histori-
eal figures. He afterwards went to London, where
he continued for some time ; and from thence to Ita-
ly, where he died in the year 1793. In Italy he was
regarded as the ablest painter of landscape of the cen-
tury in which he lived, and his works are known
universally. But it is not a little remarkable, that
the style he adopted after he went to Italy was in
every respect inferior to that which he had practised
at home. Some of his works in his early manner,
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it is said, would suffer nothing by a comparison with
those of the admirable Richard Wilson, to which
they bear a wonderful resemblance. His last manner
is hard, dry, formal, and too often is found in distem-
per, or water-colours in place of oil, with which he
constantly wrought at his outset.

Gavin Hamilton, also a contemporary of the Runci-
mans, was an artist of considerable merit. He resided
chiefly in Italy, and his works are not much known
in Scotland.

Alexander Runciman continued to superintend the
academy in Edinburgh till the period of his death,
which happened on the 21st of October 1785.

On the death of Runciman, the late David Allan,
portrait and historical-painter, succeeded him, as mas-
ter of the academy established by the Trustees for Ma-
nufactures in Scotland. Mr Allan was born on the
13th of February 1744. He received the rudiments
of his art at the unfortunate academy of G w, and
afterwards went to Rome, where he resided for six-
teen years, subsisting himself chiefly, during that
time, by the copies which he made from the celebrat-
ed pictures of the ancient masters. His fare, asa
historical-painter, chiefly rests on a picture which he
Ppainted about this time on the Origin of Painting, and
which procured him the gold medal given by the aca-
demy of St Luke for the hest specimen of historical
composition. - Mr Allan died at Edinburgh in the
year 1797. This artist was perhaps the most success-
ful delineator of the manners and character of the Scot-
tish peasantry that had ever attempted this style of
painting.

The Prodigal Son, in the posscssion of Lord Cath-
cart, and Hercules and Omphale, belonging to Mr
Erskine of Mar, are regarded as works of great merit.
Mr H. W. Williams, whose eminence as a landscape-

inter is well known, received the first rudiments of

is art from Mr Allan,

On the death of Mx Allan, a competition for the place
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of master of the Edinburgh academy took place, and
the trustees, with the laudable wish of extending the
advantages of the institution, resolved that merit a-
lone should determine their choice of a SUCCESSOT-
Fine specimens were required from each candidate, (of
whom there appeared nine or ten,) and these were to
be submitted to Mr West, president of the Royal A-
cademy in London, and other academicians. The
gnlm of merit was awarded by these gentlemen to Mr

ohn Graham, who had painted many pictures of ac-
knowledged merit. Mr Graham was originally an ap=
prentice of Mr Farquhar, an eminent coach-painter
in Edinburgh at that time, from whence he went to
London, and employed himself for many years in that
occupation. Being admitted a student of the Royal
Academy, he aspired to the more elevated walk of
historical painting, which he subsequently followed
with much success. Notwithstanding of the recom-
mendation in his favour, the trustees, by the smallest
majority, nominated to the office a person of the name
of John Wood, who, it afterwards appeared, had ow=
ed this appointment to having surreptitiously exhibited
the works of another as his own.

In no long time, however, Wood’s trick was disco~
vered, and he left the situation and the city ; and Mr
Graham, who had come to Edinburgh on the invita-
tion of some friends, succeeded him in the office.
From this Feriod may be dated the improvement
of the art of painting in this city. Mr Graham, by
the liberality of the trustees, was enabled to introduce
into the academy a collection of casts of the most cele-
brated antique statues, which is only surpassed by
the collection of the Royal Academy of London ; and
the best eulogium of this ingenious teacher is the suc-
cess of the pupils, whom he grounded in the princi-
ples of the art. Among these are David Wilkie, R.A.
Patrick Gibson, William Allan, David Thomson, A-
lexander Fraser, William Lizars, and William Sheriff,
as painters; John Burnett, engraver ; and William



FINE ARTS. 215

Scoular, sculptor. Mr Graham’s principal works are
David Instructing Solomon, in the possession of the
Earl of Wemyss ; the Burial of General Fraser ; and
two pictures for the Shakespeare Gallery. He also
executed many smaller works and some portraits. Mr
Andrew Wilson was appointed to succeed Mr Graham
in the Academy of the Trustees on the 24th January
1818.

An unsuccessful attempt was made, about the year
1786, by some of the Scottish artists, after their re-
turn from improving themselves on the Continent, to
establish an academy of the fine arts at Edinburgh.
In the year 1791 Mr Alexander Nasmyth madea se-
cond attempt, which was also unsuccessful. This in=
stitution was to have been private property, and cal-
led the * Gallery of Art.” It was intended chiefly
for the admirers of the fine arts, and to diffuse a re-
lish for painting, sculpture, and architect, thoughout
the country. This project, however, was received
with little approbation, and in consequence Mr Na-
smyth dropped the idea nlu?ethcr. Another attempt
at an institution of this kind was made in 1797 ; but
like the others it also fell to the ground.

At last, however, a public exhibition was opened in
1808, with the most promising appearance of success,
which was continued annually for six successive sea-
sons. The pictures exhibited were many of them of great
merit ; and though this establishment also ultimately
failed from some misunderstanding among the artists
themselves, or, perhaps, from the want of’ public pa~
tronage, yet it certainly had the effect of diffusing a-
mong the public a taste for works of art, which can
only be extended by such exhibitions.

_ Aninstitution for the encouragement of the fine arts

in Scotland was founded in Edinburgh on the Ist

February, and an Exhibition of Paintings by An-

cient Masters opened on the 11th March 1819. This

institution is intended for the exhibition of pictures
PuiX R
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on a plansimilar to that of the British Gallery in Lon-
don. The pictures, ninety-two in number, were of
the first order, and were chiefly from the collections of
the Earl of Elgin, the Earl of Wemyss, Sir James
Erskine, John Clerk, Esq. G. L. Meason, Esq. and
Alexander Gordon, Esq. The exhibition of these
masterpieces of ancient art cannot but have the best
effect on the progress of the fine arts in Scotland, both
with rd to artists and to the public; and it is un-
ders to be in the contemplation of the directors,
if the institution succeeds, to connect this exhibition
with one in which the works of modern artists shall
be displayed, and for which casts of all the celebrated
statues of antiquity will be procured.

Mr Raeburn, the first portrait-painter in Edin-
burgh, and equal to any in the kingdom, the Messrs
Watsons, and Mr William Allan, have rooms at which
their works may be seen.

RELIGIOUS ESTABLISHMENTS.

Brrore proceeding to gave an account of the reli-
gious establishments of Edinburgh, it may be proper
to prefix a short sketch of the circumstances which
gave rise to the present form of religious worship and
church government.

At what time the Christian religion was first taught
in North Britain is not with certainty known ; though
the venerable Bede and some of our ancient Scottish
historians assert, that it was introduced into this coun=-
Lrg by one of the disciples of the apostle St John.
Christianity, it is said, was further confirmed by the
emigrations from South Britaln during the persecu-
tions of Aurelius and Dioclesian. The arrival of St

10
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Columbus in the Western Isles, about the middle of
the sixth century, whence he had come from Ireland
to preach the gospel, may be regarded as the first era
of the regular establishment and propagation of Chris«
tianity in Scotland. St Columbus fixed himself in
I-colm-kill, that far-famed island, ¢ once the lumi~
nary of the Caledonian regions,” as Dr Johnson ex«
presses it, “ whence savage clans and rovin barba=
rians derived the benefits of knowledge and the bles
sings of religion.” The disciples of St Columbus, who
were called Culdees, were a regular clergy, differing
from the church of Rome in the fonsure, in the obsers
vance of Easter, and in many other respects.

Thus was Christianity established in Scotland as a
national religion, independent of the church of Rome.
It flourished in its native simplicity till the period
when Palladius, the first bishop sent to Britain by the
pope, found means to introduce the tenets and cere-
monies of the Romish church ; which in the end in=
volved this country in the same darkness which over-
spread Europe for many ages. The Culdees, however,
notwithstanding the oppression of the Roman clergy,
ong retained their original simple manners; and 2
few cells belonging to them as a distinet order, re-
mained so late as the fourteenth century. About this
period, their remains seem to have been obliterat-
ed, and the Romish religion reigned universally in
Scotland until the memorable period of the Reforma=
tion.

Scotland, however, was not so dependent upon the
pope, nor was such blind obedience paid to his com-
mands here as in other countries. The Scottish mo-
narchs disowned the political supremacy of the head
of the church, and exercised the right of presentation
to vacant bishoprics; a right which the church arrv-
gated to herself in most other countries.

About the beginning of the sixteenth century, the
spread of knowledge, by the establishment of univers
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sities, and the discovery of the art of printing, had be-
gun to open the minds of men to the superstitions
and corruptions of the church of Rome. The sale of
absolutions, dispensations, and indulgencies, in the pon-
tificate of John de Medicis, in order to recruit the ex-
hausted resources of the apostolic revenue, led, though
indirectly, to the great work of reformation. The une-
qual distribution of these indulgencies seems to have
been the ostensible cause of precipitating the downfal
of the Romish church. Martin Luther, an Augustine
monk of Wurtemberg in Saxony, had the honour and
the merit of first opposing this scandalous system.
By unwearied diligence, address, and a courage sape-
rior to difficulties, he successfully exposed the corrup-
tions of the court of Rome, and gave circulation to
doctrines calculated to ruin the supremacy which it
had hitherto exercised over the human mind. A
The labours of Luther, seconded by John Calvin,
soon opened the eyes of many in Germany. In Eng-
land, the formal defender of the Catholic faith (Hen
VI1IL.) renounced the doctrines, and disclaimed
connection with the court of Rome ; and his nephew,
James V., did not in Scotland oppose the propagation
of the new-doctrines. These now continued to spread
rapidly ; the Scottish clergy were alarmed ; and vio-
lence was used to stop the dissemination of opinious
which involved their existence as a body. Among
those who most violently opposed the reformed doc-
trines was Cardinal Beaton, who pursued its profes-
sors with the most unrelenting rigour. The first who
suffered in the Protestant cause in Scotland was Pa-
trick Hamilton, abbot of Ferne in Ross-shire. This
person had at home imbibed a tincture of the new opi-
nions, and afterwards in Germany, at the fountain-
head of reformation, bad their truth and importance
confirmed. Returning home, he openly avowed his
conviction, for which he was brought to trial, found
ilty, and was burnt for heresy in thé city of St An=
ﬁ;lew, s, on the 1st of March 1527. Several others af-
1
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ter this period also suffered in the cause of reforma-
tion. But neither the torture of the rack, nor the ter=
ror of the faggot, was able to arrest its progress; and
in spite of all the arts which were used to delay it,
the Reformation made formidable advances.

On the death of James V. the Earl of Arran suc-
ceeded to the regency, during the minority of the in-
fant queen. The first parliament held b{l this noble=
man passed an act, highly favourable to the Reforma-
tion, by which the laity were permitted to read the
Scriptures in a language which they understood.
This was a mortal blow to a system which owed its
chief strength to the ignorance of its supporters. The
murder of  Beaton, which soon followed, also tended,
by withdrawing one of their most violent opposers, to
the spread of the Protestant opinions. Mary of Guise,
the queen dowager, having procured the regency out
of the hands of the feeble Arran, deemed it good poli-
¢y to countenance, for the advancement and support
of her own projects, some of the most zealous leaders
of the Protestant party. Under this temporary au-
thority the Reformation acquired a strength, which
all subsequent attempts against it were unable to re-
duce. 'l%le queen dowager did not see her error till
it was too late. The association called the Congrega-
tion, whose aitn was entirely to overthrow pom,
soon became formidable by numbers ; and by a steady
pgrsuit of decisive measures, ultimately gained their
object.

The progress of the Reformation at this time was
considerably forwarded in Scotland, by the appearance
of a man, who possessed a zeal, intrepidity, and dis-
interestedness, which well qualified him for the task he
was to execute. This was John Knox. Having im=
bibed the principles of the Protestants from George
Wishart, who suffered martyrdom for the cause, Knox
renounced the faith in which he had been educated,
and became a champion in the cause of reformation.
He began his public carcer by a theological debate
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with Annan, dean of St Andrew’s ; and soon after, in a
sermion preached before that university, he boldly un-
dertovk to prove, that the Church of Rome is the
Beast of the book of Revelation, and the Whore of
Babylon, who makes merchandise of the souls of men.
Violent disputes of course ensued between him and
the Romish clergy, and popery was perceived to lose
wuch in the controversy. Knox was in 1547 taken
prisoncr at the castle of St Andrew’s, along with the
murderers of Beaton, and sent to France. e return-
ed to Ingland in 1548 ; but came to his native coun-
try after the accession of Mary. The revenge of the
clergy making it unsafe for him to remain here, he
was obliged to retire for a time to the Continent.
‘While there he chiefly resided,at Geneva ; and under
that eminent reformer and divine, John Calyin, ac-
quired those ideas regarding church government,
which -influenced the establ'i‘s%\ment of presbytery in
Scotland, After his second return, he was appointed
one of the Protestant ministers of Edinburgh. Coun-
tenanced at this time by the leaders of the party cal-
led the Congregation, Knox now his reforming
carcer. A sermon which he preached at Perth so
much roused the populace as to occasion the demoli-
tion of all the religious houses in that town ; those of
St Andrew’s, on a similar occasion, shared the same
fute. Of a spirit not to be cajoled from his duty by
promises, nor terrified from it by threats, this great
man pursued his object, till, soon after the death
of the queén regent, he procured the States to pass
an act for the demolition of all the cloisters and ab-
3ey churches in the kingdom that were not yet pulled
own. ‘

During the reign of the unfortunate Mary, the cause
of reformation continued to advance ; and on the ac-
cession of her son, who was educated in the Protestant
faith, was finally established. The form of church go-
vernment in Scotland had hitherto been Presbyterian,
er modelled on that of Calvin at Geneva. An attempt,

R T e Sl e
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however, made by Charles 1. to introduce the English
liturgy into Scotland, was repelled by the populace
with enthusiastic ardour; and helped, among other
causes, to strip that monarch of his royal authority,
and finally to deprive him of his life. On the death
of Charles I. episcopacy was abolished ; but it was a-
gain establishes on the restoration of Charles II. ; and
during the whole of this prince’s reign was attempted
to be supported by measures which reflect little credit
on their authors, or those by whom they were carried
into execution. - The abdication of his brother James
IL (or VIL.) at last occasioned the final triumph of
presbytery over episcopacy. William Prince of O«
range, having ascertained that among his Scottish sub~
Jects the current of opinion ran in favour of presby-
tery, confirmed them in their rights, and protected and
cstablished their institutions by royal mandates and
acts of the legislature. These acts in favour of pres-

Yytery were again confirmed at the Union.

The Presbyterian ecclesiastical courts are four in
Number, viz. the General Assembly, Provincial Sy~
nods, Preshyteries, and Kirk-Sessions. The General
Assembly, the highest ecclesiastical court in Scotland,
consists of commissioners, some of whom are laymen,
under the name of ruling elders, from presbyteries,
Toyal burghs, and universities, The king presides b
his commissioner (whois generally a nobleman of hig
rank) in the assembly, which meets in Edinburgh
once a year. A moderator is chosen from their own
number, avho presides and regulates the proceedings.
To this court lie appeals from the other ecclesiastical
courts, and their decision is final. Provincial Synods
are next in authority ; they are composed of a num=
ber of the adjacent presbyteries, over which they have
i power. Preshyteries are composed of a number of
contiguous parishes ; they inspect into the behaviour
of the ministers and elders of their respeetive bounds,
ordain pastors, examine and license schoolmasters,
&e.  The lowest church court, the Kirk-Session, is
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composed of the ministers and elders of every parish ;
and these have the superintendence of the poor, visit
the sick, and assist the minister in the other duties of
his office.

The regular established clergy of Edinbyrgh are
twenty-four. Of these three are in the seaport town
of Leith, two in the suburb of Canongate, and two in
the parish of St Cuthbert’s. The number of parishes
into which the city and dependencies is divided, and
of which these are the pastors, are fifteen, including
the suburb of Canongate, St Cuthbert’s, and South
and North Leith, and the number of churches the
same ; but some of the buildings contain under their
roof more than one place of worship. Nine of these
parishes are called collegiate charges, or have two mi-
nisters each, joined in the diseharge of the pastoral
office. Besides these, there are under the control of
the established church five Chapels of Ease, as they are
called, two of which are in the Canongate, one in the
old part of the town, one in the southern district of
the city, and one in Leith.

There is likewise a chapel, which, indeed, may be
almost considered as a chapel of ease to the established
church, where the service is performed in the Gaelic
or Erse language, for the benefit of the Highlanders.
It was erected in 1769, and stood on the south side of
the castle ; but the congregation removed in 1815 to
a more commodious place of worship erected at the
head of the Horse Wynd. y

The total number of places for divine worship in
Edinburgh and Leith is gﬁy-six, of the following per-
suasions. Y

Established church, -
Chapels of Ease, -
Scottish Episcopal Church,
Cameronians, - p
Burgher, - -
Antiburgher, - -

-

BOES GO






South View or" S¢ Giles' Church.

St Ceorges Clurch Clrariotte Square
Edinburgh Mablished by Faiebairn & Anderson 138,



T R TP TSN PO e —————— e

ST GILES'S CHURCH. 253

Re&ieﬂ a - - - 4
In ndents - - - 4
Bapetfaets, e 4

Methodists, Roman Catholics, Glassites,
Society of Friends, Bereans, Unitarians,
and New Jerusalem Temple, one each, 7

Total, 56

St Giles's Church.

_ One of the most remarkable objects in Edinburgh
is St Giles's Church, an ancient Gothic fabric, stand«
ing in an elevated situation in the High Street, and
forming the north side of the Parliament Square. This
edifice measures in length, from east to west, 206 feet;
its breadth at the centre is 129 feet ; at the west end
110 ; and at the ecast, where the great altar formerly
stood, 76 feet. It is built in the form of a cross. A
lofty square tower rises from its centre, from which a
turret ascends, composed of four arches intersecting
each other, in the form of an imperial crown. A
pointed spire terminates this stately tower. The height
of the tower, from the top of the spire to the bottom,
is 161 feet.* In the turret resembling the imperial
crown are placed a set of what are called music bells,
which are tinkled into something resembling tunes for
an hour every day.
The famous St Giles, abbot and confessor, and pa«

* A singular circumstance connected with this spire, and
which may challenge the dexterity of the 3 cers of the
Present day, is thus related by Robert Birrel :=—*¢ The 10 of
Julii 1598,” says be, ¢ ane man, sume callit him a jugler,
playit sic souple tricks upone ane tow, qlk was fastenit be-
twix the tope of St Geill’s kirk steiple and ane stair beneathe
the crosse, callit Josias close heid, the lyk was nevir sene in
¥is countrie, as he zaid doune the tow, and playit sa many
Pavics on it.”-=Birrel's Diary, p. 47.

X
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tron of this church, was the tutelar saint of Edinburgl.
The legend concerning him states, that he was a na-
tive of Greece, and was born in the sixteenth century.
On the death of his parents, he gave all his estate to
the poor, and travelled into France, where he retired
into the deep recess of a wilderness near the conflux of
the Rhone with the sea, and continued there for three
years, livir:ﬁ upon the spontaneous produce of the
earth, and the milk of a doe. Having obtained the
reputation of extraordinary sanetity, various miracles
were attributed to him ; and he founded a monastery
in FEanguedoc, long after known by the name of St
Giles. In the reign of James IL, Mr Preston of
Gourton, a gentleman whose descendants still possess
an estate in the county of Edinburgh, procured a sup-
posed arm-bone of this holy man, which relic he most
giously bequeathed to the church of St Giles in Edin-
urgh. In gratitude for this invaluable donation, the
magistrates of the city, in 1454, considering that the
said bone was ¢ freely left to oure moyr kirk of Saint
Gele of Edinburgh, withoutyn ony condition makyn,
granted a charter in favour of Mr Preston’s heirs, by
which the nearest heir of the name of Preston was en-
titled to the honourof carrying it in all public proces-
sions. This honour the family of Preston eontinued
to enjoy till the Reformation. 7
At what time St Giles's Church was first founded is
uncertain. The first mention of a church in this eity,
that has been met with, is in the year 1359, when
David II., by his charter under the Great Seal, grant-
ed to the chapluin officiating at the altar of St Katha-
rine’s chapel in the parish church of St Giles, Edin-
burgh, all the lands of Upper Merchiston, &c. The
“next mention made of this church is in the year
18580, when a contract was made between the pro-
vost of Edinburgh and several masons, to vault or
arch over a certain part of the said church ; and in
1387, when a considerable addition seems to have been
made to it.
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In 1466, the parish church of St Giles was erected

into a collegiate church by King James III., havin
been before that period only a parish church, of whi
the abbot of Scone was patron. The chapter consist=
d of a provost, curate, sixteen prebendaries, a minis=
ter of the choir, four choristers, a sacristane, and a
beadle. There seems at this time to have been no
less than forty altars founded and supported in the
church, The celebrated Scotiish poet and translator
of Virgil, Gavin Douglas, was for some time dean of
St Giles.
. Soon after the Reformation St Giles’s was divided
nto four separate places of worship ; and smaller di-
visiong for various public offices have since that period
been made. The. magistrates at the same time took
Possession of all the sacred vessels, and relics, and, a-
mong others, the coat of St Giles, and the sacred re-
lic of the arm-bone, enshrined in silver. These were
ordained to be disposed of, and the money employed
In repairing the church.

In the ‘year 1585, the clock belonging to the abbey
church of Lindores, in Fifeshire, was bought for the
sum of L. 55 Scots, to be put up in the spire of this
church. In 1599 the tower of it was used asa common
Prison ; but the prisoners having damaged the roof,
the town-council discharged it from being used for
this purpose ever after. In this church, on the 13th
of October 1643, the Solemn League and Covenant was
Sworn to, and subscribed by the committee of estates
of parliament, the commission of the church, and the
English commissioners.

The four places for worship under the roof of St
Giles’s are as follows ;=

1. The New Church.—This is the chief division of
St Giles’s, being the choir of the cathedral. In itis
an elegant and finely ornamented seat for his Majesty,
with a canopy, supported by four elegant columns.
This seat is occupied by the commissioner to the Ge-
neral Assembly, when tbat. court holds its annual
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meetings. These are held in the great aisle of the
choir. In this church are also the seats of the magis-
trates of the city, those of the judges of the Court of
Session, and the barons of his Majesty’s Exchequer.
These attend public worship in their robes of office,
during the terms of their respective sessions.

2. The Old Church—The Old Church is under the
great tower, in the central part of the building.

8. The Tolbooth Church.~This place of worship oc-
eupies the south-west quarter of St Giles’s ; and ac-

uired its present name from the circumstance of con-
3emncd criminals being brought into the church to
hear a sermon previous to their execution, a practice
which has long been laid aside.

4. Haddow's-Hole Church.~This church occupies
the north-west part of the fubric. It was not fitted
up as a place of worship till the year 1699. It is sup-

to take its name from a small vault attached to
it being used at one time as a place of confinement for
Lord Haddow.

The place on which the buildings of the Parliament
Square stand was formerly the cemetery of St Giles;
and in this burying-ground were deposited the remains
of the great Scottish reformer, John Knox, one who,
in the discharge of what appeared to him to be right,
“¢ never feared the face of man.” Within the church,
also, lie the remains of James Earl of Murray, regent
of Scotland, who was basely shot at Linli by
Hamilton of Bothwellhaugh. Napier of Merchiston,
well known for his admirable invention of the loga-
rithms, was-also interred here. His monument was
formerly on the outside of the north wall of that part
which is called the New Church, but was some time
:ﬁo transferred to the inside of the church. Under

e venerable arches of St Giles, too, repose the ashes
of the gallant Marquis of Montrose, who, in an un-
harpy od of our history, perished, amidst the in~
sults of the unrelenting covenanters, by the hands ot
the common executioner.. '
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The patronage of the church of St Giles is now,
together with all the other established churches of
Lhe c;‘ty, in the magistrates and town-council of Edin-

uigh.

The walls of this building were formerly crowded
with paltry sheds occupied as shops, but these have
been removed, and a set of plans for the decoration of
this ancient place of worship have been prepared by
Archibald Elliot, Esq. architect, and it is understood
will be speedily acted upon.

_In the plan most generally approved of, St;or three
different plans have prepared,) the High Church
remains in the choir ; and a similar one is to be made
in the nave or western part ; the double aisles are to

made into single ones; and the transept, where
the police office is placed, is to be opened from north
to south. The present aisle where the General As-
sembly meets, to the west of the south transept, is
preserved, and a similar one is to be made to the east,
by which means the building will be brought into
a regular figure. By removing the double aisles on
the south and north sides of the nave, the breadth of
the High Street, and the entrance to the Parliament
Square, will be much enlarged. The grand entrance
to the churches is to be on the north end of the tran-
sept, besides which each church is to have side porches
of entrance to the south and north.

The whole of the outside of the building is intend-
ed to be repaired, and new cased with stone, to corre-
spond in design with what is retained of the old part.
It is, besides, intended to lower the High Street about
six feet at this place.

T'rinity College Church.

This church stands in the low ground at the east
end of the drained morass called the North Loch. It
was founded, in the year 1462, by Mary of Gueldres,
consort to James II.; but the original plan seems
never to have been completed. Only the choir, the

¥ 2
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central tower, and the cross of the church, were erect-
ed ; and the fine Gothic style in which these are fi-
nished, makes it to be regretted that the whole was
not carried into execution. This church was former~
ly collegiate, and its charter of foundation provided
or a provost, ei ht prebendaries, two choristers, and
a sacristane. The foundress was interred in the north
aisle. Lindsay of Pitscottie says, ““ In the zeir of God
1463 yeires, Margaret, Queine of Scotland, and doch-
ter to the Duik of Gildar, depairted at- Edinburgh,
and was buried in the Trinitie Colledge, quhilk shoe
had built hirselff after her husbandis deceas, King
James the Second.”

This church lately underwent a’thorough repair. The
old seats and galleries, which had become completely
ruinous, were removed ; the fine Gothic windows,
which had been in a great measure built up with stones
and bricks in the coarsest manner, have been opened
and restored, and an entirely new arrangement of the
seating has been adopted. The building isin the Cathe-
dral form, and appears never to have consisted of more
than the choir or eastern part, and the transept or
cross, the western part having been begun, but never
finished. The noble windows on the north and south
ends of the transept are now completely replaced, and
admit a blaze of light. The pulpit, ‘which is con-
structed with appropriate Gothic ornaments, corre-

nding to the general character of the building, is
placed in the centre of the west side of the transept,
fronting the magnificent window at the other extre-
mity of the.church. The interior, when viewed in
this direction, exhibits a fine imen of Gothic ar-
chitecture. The roof of the side aisles being rather
low, no galleries have been erected, which contributes
to give more effect to the interior perspective. The
door on the south has been shut up, and two others
ed at the eastern extremities of the aisles. On

the north side of the church is a connected building,
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probably intended for the meetings of the provost and
prebendaries, in which it is said the foundress was
interred. This building is now fitted up as a ves-
:{ or session-house. This elegant church was open-

for divine service, after these repairs, on Sunday
the 18th of June 1815.

Tron Church.

This church stands in the High Street, at the point
where the two bridges, leading to the south and north
parts of the town, meet. 1t was first founded in 1637,
and opened for public worship in 1647. It isof a
square form ; mxs is surmounted with a high tower,
having a clock and spire. This church at its first
erection was intended to have been roofed with cop-
per; and in 1644, 1000 stone weight of that metal
was purchased at Amsterdam for this purpose. But
the money being required for other purposes, it was
afterwards ordered to be sold, and the church covered
with lead and slates. In the year 1673 a bell, which
cost 1490 merks 8s. Scots, was put up in the spire;
and five years after the clock belonging to the Tron,
or weigh-house; was erected in it. At the time of
building the South Bridge, the church was almost re-
built; the north front and elevated tower only retain-
ing their former a ce. This place of worship
was formerly called Christ'’s Church, but seems to
have acquired its present name from its'vicinity to the

ublic beam or Tron. It was lately very handsome-
y fitted up within, from a design by the late Mr
Richard Crichton, architect. On the north front, over
the door; is this inscription :—

ZAZDEM HANC CHRISTO ET
ECCLESIE SACRARUNT
CiVIS EDINBURGENI
ANNO MDCXLI



260 LADY Y#STER'S cHuren, &c

Lady Yester's Church.

“This church stands nearly opposite to the Royal In-
firmary, in a street which runs to the eastward from
the South Bridge. It owes its origin and its name to
the piety of Margaret Ker, Lady Yester, who, in the
year 1647, gave to the citizens of Edinburgh a consi-
derable sum of money to build a place of worship, and
maintain a minister to officiate in ir. The original
building, founded in consequence of this donation, was
not remarkable for elegance of architecture ; but it
was taken down in 1803, and a new church erected
on its site, which was opened for public worship in
the following year. The new church is built, with a
considerable share of taste, in imitation of the ancient
Gothic manner, and proves no small ornament to this
part of the city.

New and Old Greyfriars Churches.

These two churches, which are both under one roof,
stand in the burying-ground called the Greyfriars
Church-yard, anciently the garden belonging to the
monaster{ of Greyfriars, which was situated in the
Grassmarket. The Old Greyfriars Church was found-
ed in the year 1612. It had at that time a spire,
which seems to have been used as the city magazine
for gunpowder. The ine, however, unfortu-
nately exploded on the 7th of May 1718, and the
spire’ was destroyed. The magistrates, instead of
erecting it anew, and the increasing population of the
city requiring” additional places of worship, built to
the western end of the olnr edifice a new church, the
foundation of which was laid in 1719, and finished in
1721, at the expence of L. 3045 ‘Sterling. It is sepa-
rated from the old church by a partition wall; and,
being erected posterior to the other, received the
name, which it still holds, of the New Greyfriars
Church. Both of these churches have been lately
new seated and repaired. The celebrated Dr Roberts
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son was for many years one of the pastors of the Old
Greyfriars Church.

In the burying-ground around these churches lie
the remains of many eminent men, among whom are,
the first humanist and Latin poet of modern times,
the celebrated George Buchanan ; Sir George Macken=
zie, the well known Scottish lawyer; the great Dr
Archibald Pitcairne ; the elegant historian of Charles
V., the late Prin¢ipal Robertson ; and the celebrated
improver of modern chemistry, Dr Black.

Canongate Church.

This church stands near the middle of the north
side of the street mamed the Canongate, and was
founded in 1688. It isa Gothic building, in the form
of a cross. Formerly the inhabitants of this district
repaired to the royal chapel of Holyroodhouse to per-
form their religious duties ; but King James VII. (or
IL. of England) having appr«:lpriated 1t for the celebra-
tion of divine service according to the rites of the
church of Rome, and decorated it for the instalment of
the knights of the ancient order of the Zhistle, the
inhabitants_of the Canongate were obliged to accom-
modate themselves elsewhere. One Thomas Moodie,
a pious citizen of Edinburgh, having lefta certain sum
of money for building a church, which had now accu-
mulated to a considerable sum, James was reminded
of the circumstance, upon which he ordered the erec-
tion of the present church, and the expence to be de-
frayed out of the said bequest. The expence of its
erection amounted to L.2400 Sterling. It was lately
new seated and repaired.

In the cemetery of this church lie the remains of
the celcbrated author of the Wealth of Nations, Dr
Adam Smith ; and a “ simple stone,” erected at the
e_xxence of Burns, marks the burial place of the Scot~
tish poet, Robert Ferguson.
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St Cuthbert's Church.

St Cuthbert’s Church, or the West Kirk, stands at
the western extremity of the valley which divides the
New from the Old Town, near the foot of the rock
on which the Castle is reared. The present building
is of modern erection, though the former church of St
Cuthbert’s stood on the same spot for many ages.
The architecture of this building is by no means ele-
gant ; but a handsome spire atones, in a t mea-
sure, for the homely appearance of the other part of
this church. It is {elieved to be the largest place of
worship in Edinburgh.

A Chapel of Ease, connected with the parish of St
Cuthbert’s, was erected in the southern division of the
town in 1757, at the expence of L. 1200, for the fur-
ther accommodation of the numerous population belong=
ing to this parish. To it is attached a small ceme=

tery.
St Andrew’s Church.

This church stands on the north side of George’s
Street, in the New Town. The building is of an oval
form, and is surmounted with a fine tapering spire,
168 feet in height. An elegant portico, suppor y
four columns of' the Corinthian order, prnfecu a few
feet into the street. In the spire is a chime of eight
bells. The whole is elegantly finished, and has a fine
appearance. :

St George's Church.

This church stands on the west side of Charlotte
Square, and forms the terminating object of George’s
Street, from which it is seen along its whole extent.
T'he front to the square is 112 feet, and consists of a
portico or vestibule with four columns and two pilas-
ters of the Jonic order 35 feet high, elevated on a flight
of steps 68 feet in width. Behind the portico rises a
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dome upon a basement 48 feet square, above which is
a cireular row of columns with their entablature, and
the whole is surmounted by a lantern of eight columns
at the height of 150 feet from the ground. The dome
1s intended as a miniature representation of that of St
Paul’s, The extreme breadth of the building is 128
feet. It was founded on the 14th of May 1811 ; and
the plan was designed by Robert Reid, Esq. architect.
I'he celebrated Adam, who designed the buildings of
the square in which it stands, likewise furnished a plan
for the church, which wasrelinquished on accountof its
¢stimated expence, and the plan of Mr Reid adopted.
The whole building, with the exception of the dome,
which is seen to advantage in almost every direction
round the city, has a heavy appearance, and in its ulti-
mate expence considerably exceeded that sum which
would have been necessary to erect the church on Mr
Adam’s plan. It cost L. 83,000. It was opened for
public worship in 1814, and is calculated to contain

1600 people.
SCOTTISH EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

Previous to the year 1688, Episcopacy was the form
of church government in Scotland ; but the same con-
vention of estates which transferred the crown to
William and Mary abolished Episcopacy,and establish-
¢l the Presbyterian form of church government. At
that time the Episcopal church in Scotland consisted
of fourteen bishops, including the two archbishops, and
about 900 clergy. These at the Revolution were order-
ed by an act of parliament either to conform to the new
state of things, or to abandon their livings. All the
bishops in consequence, and the greater number of the
Inferior clergy, relinquished their former places in the
ccclesiastical establishment of Scotland to the Presby-
terian ministers. But though expelled from their li-
vings, many of these individuals continued to officiate
Privately to those disposed to attend their ministra~
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tions, notwithstanding severe penal laws were enacted

ainst them. The bishops, although their order was
abolished as a constituent part of the state, still retain-
ing their spiritual authority over their followers, sup-
plied the vacancies which occurred by newand regular
consecrations. But as the part of the population at-
tached to episcopacy was not considerable, the number
“of bishops was not continued, and the division of the
country into the same dioceses was no longer necessa-
3. The title of archbishop was also dropped, although

e members of the Episcopal College still elected onc
with the title of Primus, whom they invested with
the power of calling and presiding in such meetings
as were necessary for regulating the affairs of their
community.

Besides this body of Episcopal clergy, another bo-
dy attached to the same mode of worship existed in
Scotland. This was composed of those who, fayour-
ing the principles which occasioned the Revolution, and
adopting the ritual of the Church of England in doc-
trine, discipline, and worship, formed themselves into
detached congregations, and were supplied with mi-
nisters authorized by the dignitaries of the Church of
England.

Two distinet bodies of Episcopalians thus existed—
the one, designated by the name of Non-jurants, from
not taking the preseribed oaths to the new government.
and otherwise differing in some slight culars from
the Church of England ;—the other, in detached cha-
pels, conforming to the rites of that church, but no
being undet the superintendence of the bishops of ei-
ther. The first of these bodies, unacknowledged as 3

egal association, and whose pastors for a long time
were appointed by bishops who acknowledged the
authority of an exiled prince,—~who refused to take
the oaths prescribed by law,—and who omitted all
mention of the reigning family in their public pray-
ers, were on that account made the subject of seve-
ral penal statutes. The Scottish Episcopalian church
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remained on this footing for many years ; till, in the
progress of opinion, and from the change of circum-
stances, it became desirable” to have these statutes re-
pealed, which were no longer applicable to the altered
state of thi
About the middle of February 1788, accounts reach~
ed Scotland of the death of the Count of Albany, the
eldest grandson of James VII., at Rome, Thebishops,
having communicated with one anotber upon an event
;"hiﬁh thus b;oke ltlm tie wg;ch had hithertol}lelté ;11:3
0 the exiled family, j it proper to call a b
in which it shoul bej‘:'ggnall I:m?:l:nced to the cler-
£y, that they were now at full liberty to comply with
the existing laws.
On the 24th of April 1788, the Episcopal College
aving accordingly met at Aberdeen, it was unani-
mously resolved that they and their clergz] should
submit to the ¢ present government of this kingdom,
as invested in his Majesty George IIL.,” and it was
resolved to give an open and public proof of their sub-
liission to (ile vernment by praying in the express
words of the gx)lglish liturgy for his Majesty King
George and the royal family. The bishops also ap-
Pointed the same to take place in all the ch;rls under
their jurisdiction on Sunday the 25th of May of that
year ; caused the same notification to be advertised in
the newspapers of the day : and circulated printed in-
timations signed by the bishors to be circulated among
their adherents. The Synod also drew up a letter,
which thie members severally signed, acquainting Lord
Sidney, one of his Majesty’s Principal Secretaries of
State, with, what they Im{ done, and requesting he
would lay their submission at the foot of the throne.
The bishops and further testified their loy-
alty byan a to the King in 1789, upon his Ma-
.Lelsty’u ;el?overy; and, cigrm:i‘mnees seemxtng favoura-
€, a bill was prepared e purpose of abrogating
the penal statutes, which, after various modifications,
z
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was brought into parliament in 1792, and finally pas-
sed into a law.

‘When these laws were repealed, the Scottish bisb?
addressed a pastoral letter to the cl en of the
Episcopal persuasion in Scotland who had beenordained
by English or Irish bishops, inviting them and their
respective congregationsinto the Scottish Episcopal com-
munion. These clergymen, though they could regu-
larly administer the sacraments of the church, were
amenable to no episcopal authority, and, having no bi-
shops, their congregations were on this account de-
prived of a rite which the forms of the church require,
that of confirmation. The ministers of these cov-
gregations seemed nowise unwilling to enter into the |
prorosc(l association ; but as the Scottish Episcopal es-
tablishment had no confessional, some act was neces-
sary to show that the doctrines they held were the
same as those of the Church of England, to which
these detached congregations professed to adhere.

To remove this difficulty, the Scottish bishops held
aconvocation of their church at Laurencekirk, on the
24th of October 1804, at which it was unanimously
resolved to adopt and subscribe the thirty-nine articles
of the church of England as their confessional, and to
use them as such in all time coming. It was also en-
tered in their diocesan register, as an established rule |
in the church, not to confer orders on any who sh
refuse to subscribe these articles ; and thusa |
conformitybetween the sister churches wasestablished.

This measure was no sooner made known than se-
veral of the, ministers of the detached chapels, who
had received ordination in England, immediately pu
themselves under the authority of the Scottish hﬂio?’ q
And it having been nscenaineg that those who, though
ordained in another country, thus acknowledged the
supremacy of the bishops in" Scotland, did not there-
2{ incapacitate themselves from holding or accepting

ecclesiastical preferments in England, the desirable
union was soon brought to a close. An ecclesiastical
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synod was held at Aberdeen on the 19th and 20th of
June 1811, for the purpose of enacting a code of dis-
cipline for the future government of this community ;
and canons for this purpose having been agreed upon
at that meeting, the Scottish Episcopal church may
now be considered as having attained that union so
desirable in every collective body of Christians.

The cltrgg of the Scottish Episcopal church are sup-
ported hy their congregations; but a fund has been
established by subscription, under the management of
trustees, for the purpose of being invested in govern-
went seeurities, the annual interest of which is to be
divided by them into annual stipends as the extent of
the fand and the exigencies of the cases may require.

The Scottish Episcopal church has ﬁvenzwes of
worship in Edinburgh, and onein Leith. The num-
ber of dioceses in the whole country is six, superin«
tended by as many bishops ; and the places of worship
@mount to nearly sixty. :

St Paul’s Chapel.

St Paul’s Chapel stands on the north side of York
Place, The style of the architecture is Gothic, and
taken from that which prevailed in the time of Henry
V1. a specimen of which may be seen in King’s College
Chapel, Cambridge. The building consists of a nave,
with four octagon towers at the angles, and two side
disles. The pulpit is at the east end of the chapel,
and immediately before the communion table ;- the
organ occupies tge gallery at the west end, immediately
above the entrance ; and two galleries occupy the nrper
bart of the two side aisles. In the north-east angle of
the building is the vestry room. The three other an-
gles of the building are occupied by staircases for the
galleries ; the two on the south side having entrances
from the street, The grand entrance is on the west.

The length of the chapel over the walls is 122 feet
9inches by 73 feet. The interior dimensions are 103
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feet 9 inches by 63 feet. The naveis 105 feet 9 inches
by 26 feet, and 46 feet high, and contains the altar to-
ward the east ; the two aisles are each 79 feet by 15
feet 6 inches, and 29 feet high.

The ceiling of the nave is a flat Gothic arch covered
with ornamented tracery monldings, as are also the
ceilings of the side aisles. The ceilings under the gal-
leries are decorated with perforated riﬁ, and head and

int ornaments.  The pulpit and fronts: of the gal-

eries and linings around the communion table are
eak, and ornamented in a suitable manner. N

The great eastern window is fitted up with painted
glass by ?1" Eggimo::‘ of Bir;.nillngham.'m}n the centre
appears the cross amid rays of glory. e upper
of the western window isy:]‘so éle? with stained gm

This handsome Gothic chapel was built from a de-
sign of Archibald Elliot, Esq. and does great credit to
the genius .and taste of that celebrated architect. It
was begun in February 1816, and finished in June
1818. The expence of its erection was L. 12,000,
which was raised by voluntary subscription among
the members of the congregation. e Reveren
Archibald Alison, the well known aunthor of ¢ Essays
on Taste,” and of two volumes of Sermons, and the
Reverend Robert Morehead, are the ministers.

The former chapel of this congregation, founded on
the 3d of April 1771, stands in the Cowgate. Itis
surmounted by a handsome spire. On the ceiling
above where the altar stood is a capital painting by
Runciman of the Ascension, It is now ied by a
congregation of Dissenters from the established church.

St John's Chapel.

This. elegant chapel stands opposite to, and a little
way to the south }:f; the wel;pt::l termination 0!
Prince’s Street. ~The architecture is of the florid
Gothic, from a design of William Burn, Esq. archi-
teet. Its form is oblong, with a projection to the west,
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i which is the principal entrance, surmounted by a
“juare tower 120 feet high. Its length is 113 feet, by
U2 in breadth ; the height of the great eastern window
40 feet.  Around the building is a terrace, under
which, on the south side, is a range of arched burial
vaults ; and on the east is a cemetery. Along the sides
the chapel is divided into compartments by buttresses,
hetween which, except the two eastmost, are placed
landsome Gothic windows ; above these windows the
wall terminates with a cornice and battlement, frem
which the lower roof rises till it meets the second or
nner wall, which is also divided by buttresses, be-
tween which, as in the outer wall, are windows. The
wall terminates with a cornice and numerous angular
Winarets,  The tracery work of the niches, which
ocupy the vacant spaces, is minutely and elegantly
txecuted. The principal entrance to the west has a
beautifully arched Gothie door. Over this door is a
Window similar to the others. The great eastern win-
dow js 30 feet high ; and has been finished in stained
ghss by Egginton of Birmingham. The upper win-
dows are fitted up with a tinged glass, which has
¢ fine effect. Fhe lobby is fitted up to correspond
vith the outward appearance. - There is no g:lsﬁory;
and two rows of very light Gothic columns support
the roof. « It was begun in 1816, and finished in 1818,
itan expence of upwards of L. 15,000 Sterling.

St George's Chapel.

This beautiful small chapel etands in York Place.
!t was built by subscription in 1794, from a design of
the celebrated architect Mr Robert Adam. The cha~
pel is finished entirely in the Gothic style, and is very
tistefully fitted up.

Loman Catholic Chapel.

This handsome little chapel stands at the head of
Leith Walk, near the termination of York Place, and
“lose by the Pantheon. It was builtin 1813, from a plan

z%
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of Mr Gillespie, architect. In the original design more
ornament was introduced than it was found proper to
execute on account of the circumseribed nature of the
funds for its erection, which were chiefly raised by
subscription. The. dimensions of this chapel within
the walls are 110 feetin length by 57 feet in breadth.
The eastern front, in which is the entrance, is orna<
mented with two central pinnacles 70 feet high ; and
the adogltion of the Gothic style in this chapel has
led to the adoption of a similar style of architec-
ture in the chapels which have been since erected in
this city. It possesses a very fine organ ; and above
the altar is an excellent painting by Vandyke, the sub-
ject of which is a Dead Saviour. It was presented to
the chapel by Miss Chalmers, daughter of Sir G. Chal-
mers. The ercction of the chapel cost L. 8000.

The Roman Catholics are not numerous in Scot-
land. In the low country they have about 30 officiat-
ing priests, and in the Highlands about 18. The total
number of souls belonging to this religious persuasion
does not exceed 27,000.

The Methodist Chapel,
Nicolson’s Square, was built in 1814. It is a hand-
some building 80 feet by 60, and, with the ministers
house and schools attached, cost upwards of L. 5000

The Antiburgher Meeting House, founded in 1819,
upon the site of the old place of worship belonging to
the same body, has a handsome Gothic front to Nicol-
son's Streét, and is a considersble ornament to this
quarter of the city. . g

The architecture of the other places of worship in
Edinburgh is not such as to require them to be parti-
cularly mentioned. Till of late years, the accommo-
dation of the different congregations in the homeliest
manner was all that was aimed at in the erection of
places for public worship.
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Society_for Propagating Christian Knowledge.

This society was first projected in 1701 ; and the
plan for its enlargement and continuance submitted to
the General Assembly of the Church of Scotland in
1706. That body immediately published “ Pro
for a subscription for propagating Christian knowledge,
not only in the Highﬂn s and islands of Scotland, but
in f‘oretfn parts.”  Considerable sums having been
collected for that purpose, the subscribers were formed
nto an incorporation by a charter from Queen Anny
dated the 25th day of May 1709. The plan on which-
the business of tiis society has been conducted since
its institution deserves the highest praise; and the
benefits which the countryhas derived from it have
been very universally acknowledged. For the same
purpose his Majesty annually gives a donation to the
General Assembly of the church, and under the direc~
tion of a committee, it is appropriated to the instruc-
tion of the poor in the Highlands and islands of Scot-
land in the principles of the Christian religion. The
society have at present about three hundred teachers,
who have under their charge nearly 15,000 children.

A Society for promotimg Religious Knowledge am
the Poor was established in 1786, the object of whﬁ
is to afford, by instituting Sabbath evening schools; the
means of nhﬁms instruction to the poor. ' This socie-
ty also distributes Bibles and religious tracts gratuit-

ously. ;

3 T{e Gratis Sabfg.leb School ' Society ml? e:::::‘hed
in 1797 for nearl same purposes as the ing.
The children ug instructed by the members of the
society. ;

_'The Sabbath School Union for Scotland is an associa=
tion of individuals for the same object.

Parochial Institutions.—At a meeting of the Pres-
bytery of Edinburgh on 25th March 1812, intimation
was made to them, as superintendents of all schools
within their bounds, that the ministers and elders of
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Edinburgh had resolved to establish, in different quar-
ters of the city, schools which might afford the children
of the poor an opportunity of attending divine service
and receiving religious education on the Lord’s day.
A number ot" schools were in consequence opened, the
expence of which is defrayed by voluntary contribu-
tions among the inhabitants. )

A Lancasterian School was early opened in Edin-
burgh, and a commodious school room built on the
Calton Hill ; but this building was removed to make
way for the erection of the new prison, and a new
school room built in Richmond Street. Children are
here instructed in reading for a trifling payment per
month. This institution is under the direction of the
Edinburgh Education Society. ‘

The Edinburgh Missionary Society was formed in
1796. The country to which the labours of this society
are chiefly directed is Russian Tartary, and the princi-
pal station of the missionaries is at Karass. The Edin-
burgh Auziliary Missionary Society is another insti-
tution for the same purpose.

The Society for the Support of Gaelic Schools Was
established in 1810, for the purpose of teaching the
inhabitants of the Highlands and islands of Scotland
to read the Scriptures in their native language, and
their attention is chiefly directed to those parts of the
country destitute of other means of instruction.

The Religious Tract Sociely print and distribute
r:‘lifious and moral tracts, which are circulated gratuit~
0 {, or sold at a very low price.

The African and Asiatic Society was formed in 1809,
for the purpose of affording the means of education and
religious instruction to those natives of Africaor Asia
who might require their assistance, and to provide
situations for those out of employment.

- The Edinburgh Bible Society was formed in 1809,
for the purpose of promoting the circulation of the Holy
Scriptures. The Seottish Bible Society was instituted
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about the same period, and for the same object. These
societies act in concert with a similar establishment in
the capital ; and are certainly calculated to do much
good in the very best way possible.

o=

CHARITABLE INSTITUTIONS.

Tue Charitable Institutions of Edinburgh are nume-
rous, and in general, it is believed, under excellent
regulations.  But, as the managers of the public hos-
pitals, almost without exception, have declined to
turnish any account of their income and expenditure,
and as such circumstances are only made known to
the Enblic in one or two instances where the funds
chie y depend upon annual subscriptions, there is no
data for comparing these Institutions with one another,
or with others in different parts of the kingdom ; and
of course the public have no means of dilud'ging in re~
gard to anfy circumstance connected wi e admini=
stration of these charitable foundations, further than
from the probity of their official managers.

Royal Infirmary.

The Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh was first project=
ed.inpihe-gzlar 1721. A pamphlet was published at
this time, stating the utilx.z’of such an erection ; and

posals were issued for raising a fund for its

ut the sticcess which these proposals met with was
not such as to encourage the projectors in their hu-
mane attempt, and their design was laid aside for a
time. Tt was revived, however, in the year 1725, by
the Royal College of Physicians ; and a fishing com-
Pany happening to be dissolved about that time, the
Partners contributed a part of their stock towards the
establishiment of an hospital. Subseriptions were also
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again set ou foot, and an application was made to the
General Assembly of the CYmrch to recommend the
design throughout their jurisdiction. This was readi-
ly consented to by the assembly, and an act was ;
for that purpose : but the clergy individually paid lit-
tle regard to the recommendation. Notwithstanding
of this, L.2000 were procured, and asmall houseopen-
ed for the reception of the sick poor on the 6th of Au-
gust 1729.  The medical gentlemen of Edinburgh, at
the same time, offered to attend the patients and pro-
vide medicines for them at their own expence. The
number of persons received into this smal’ﬁ:!pital' du-
ring the first year after its commencement was thirty-
five, of whom' twenty-four were cured, five disch
cither as incurables or for irregularities in their beha-
viour, in the house five remained, and only one died.

In the year 1735 the stock of the Infirmary having
amounted to nearly L. 3000 Sterling, a charter was ap-
plied for to erect t{xe subscribers into a body corporate,
which was granted by his Majesty George 1L, on the
26th of August 1736. From this time the contribu-
tors to this charity increased rapidly, and considerable
donations were received. The foundation of the pre-
sent structure was laid in August 1738, and the build-
ing was speedily exccuted. The late worthy chief
magistrate, Provost Drummond, whose exertions in
behalf of this institution cannot be too much praised,
is said, while the work was going on, to have frequent-
me to the Cross, (the place where the merchants

] o;‘hm assemble,) %n a S.t'.‘urday wuolictil:vml;cnp-

tions for carrying on the work. i e infancy
of the estaﬁ?shmem, for twmtym, the Earl
of Hopetoun bestowed on it annually L. 400 Sterling.
In the year 1750 Dr Archibald Ker bequeathed to it
1200 a year from property in the island of Jamaica ;
and in 1755 the Lords of the Treasury made a dona~
tion to it of L.8000 for the expence attending the re-
ception of sick soldiers.

The building, which stands a Jittle to the eastward
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of the New College, consists of a body and two wings,
all of which contain three floors, hesides an attic floor
and garrets. The body of the house is 210 feet long,
36 feet broad in the middle, but at the ends only 24
fet.  Over the principal entrance, in a recess, isa
statue of King George II. in a Roman dress. On the
wall on the right side of the statue is inscribed, “ I was
naked, and ye clothed me ;” and on the left, ““I was
sick, and ye visited me.” The wings are 70 feet long
and 24 broad. The access to the different parts of the
building is by a large staircase, of a width to admit
sedan '::iah-l, and a small staircase at each end.

In the hall is erected a bust of the late Provost
Drummond, whose attention and exertions in behalf
of the Infirmary deserved this mark of honour from
the managers. It is executed in a masterly style by
Nollekins, and under it is this inscription, written by
the late Dr Robertson, “ (George Drummond, to whom
this country is indebted for all the benefits which it de-
rives from the Royal Infirmary.”

In this hospital the male and female patients are
kept entirely distinct ; and 228 sick peog e can be ac-
commodated in separate beds. Besides these, and the
a ents for the necessary officers and servants of
the house, there is an apartment for the managers, a
consulting room for the physicians and surgeons, a
waiting room for the students, and a well lighted thea~
tre, where upwards of 200 students may attend when
chirurgical operations are performed. The medical and
surgical patients are kept in distinct wards. ~There
are also separate wards for female patients undergoin
salivation,: and cells for mad le. Hot and col
baths are erected for the use of the patients, and other
baths are appropriated for the citizens at large. The
hospital is attended by two physicians, who visit their
patients daily. in presence of the students; and the
surgical -wards are attended by the members of the
Royal College of Surgeons. 2

This attendance on the Royal Infirmary by the Cola
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lege of Surgeons has been always accounted by that
body a valuable privilege, on account of the experience
it afforded an opportunity of acquiring in the perfor
mance of difficult operations; and for this privilege
they stipulated at the first institution of an hospital in
Edinburgh. This privilege, however, gave rise to vio
lent disputes, and even to eager litigation. The mem-
bers of the College of Surgeons were in use ﬁ)rmerlg
to attend in rotation, each individual taking a mont
of dutz. This was afterwards enlarged to three months ;
the whole body, or as many as thought proper, attend~
ing at consultations. This arrangement was at le!
disapproved of by the managers of the hospital, who,
after a very violent opposition, succeeded, but not till
the decisions of the courts of law had given it in their
favour, in establishing 2 more absolute patronage in
themselves, and a more permanent attendance by such
surgeons as they may think fit to select for this duty-
That this new arrangement is more than the former
for theinterest of the public cannot be doubted. The
rotatory method formerly J‘nctised, in which the whole
College of Surgeons had their turns, certainly had the
effect of diffusing experimental proficiency more
ly than the method at nt followed.  But the
managers appear to have been chiefly guided by the
consideration, that the intention of the institution be-
ing solely for the relief of the sick poor, every other
advantage ought to be held in subon{;:ouion to this.
In the Infirmary two wards are set apart for cli-
nical lectures, or discourses upon the cases of the pa-
tients in those wards. These lectures are given by
the medical professors of the university ; and the pro-
fessor who gives these lectures for the time, is allowed
to select from the rest of the house, and to lodge in
the clinical wards, those patients whose cases he con-
sidets as most cuno;fn tli‘:d instruc - tive. Lectu:eu‘ln on
the most important surgical cases are given
by the professor of clinical . Journals of all
the cases, both in the clinical other wards, are
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kept, stating the symptoms of the patients, the reme-
dies which are employed, and the progress and termi-
nation of the disease.  These journals are open to the
inspection of the students, who are at liberty also to
mnake extracts from them.

Some years ago the expence of the establishment
having risen to a height which its ordinary reve-
nues were unable to bear, the managers, in the year
1796, after the example of similar charities in Eng-
land, suggested the scheme of subscriptions of small
sums of money to be annually contributed; and these
subseriptions enabled them to meet the increased ex-
pence without diminishing the benefit of the charity.
In the year 1817, during the prevalence of the epide-
mic fever, three additional wards were fitted up for the
reception of fever cases ; but these being insufficient,
* the magistrates applied for and obtained the use of
Queens! -House Barracks for a Fever Hospital.
"T'his additional establishment was opened on the 23d
February 1818.

l The number of patients for the year 1818 is as fol-
ows :

Remaining in the house on Ist January 1818, = 227
Admitted during the year, = =« = = 2417

20644
In Queensberry-House, =« = = = = 809

Total in both Liouses, = = = = = 3453

Of'these only 189 have died, a number, it is belicved,
smaller in proportion than any similar institution in
Europe. li‘he proportion, notwithstanding the preva-
lence of fever, was nearly the same as in i
i fand fin-the Sppareasihy oyal Infirmary

e funds for- support o R n
average about J.. 5000 per annum ; and the expendi«
Aa
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ture is generally nearly the same ; but in the year 1818
L. 8376, 6s. 91d. were expended, which was met by do-
nations and the accession of new contributors.

Public Dispensary.

The Public Disg:nsaty owes its erection to the bene-
volence of Dr Andrew Duncan senior, present profes-
sor of the theory of physic in the University ot Edin-
burgh. It was founded in the year 1776. *The build-
ing, which stands on the south side of North Rich-
mond Street, though not very elegant, is yet suffi-
ciently convenient for the purposes for which it was
erected. Over the door is pourtrayed the sacred sto-
ry of the good Samaritan, with this inscription, «“ And
when he saw him he had compussion on him.” Luke
X. 33.

The Royal Dispénsary isan useful supplement to the
Royal Infirmary. Persons who labour under diseases
which requirc not the confinement of the patient, re-
ceive medical advice and medicines gratis four days in
the week. Surgeons also attend, at stated periods, for
the vaccine inoculation of the children of the poor-
An account is kept at the Dispensary of the state ot
every disease which occurs, and to the case are subjoin-
ed regular reports of the progress of the disease during
the patient’s attendance.  Patients are admitted to the
benefits of this institution on the recommendation of
the minister, or elder, (churchwarden,) of the parish
where they reside. The e?enee of the medicines and
the support of the house is defrayed by public volun-
tary contributions. The affairs of the lgispemary are
managed by a president, two vice-presidents, and twen-
ty directors, annually elected from among the contri-
buiers. The donation of one guinea entitles the per-
son who contributes this sum to recommend patients,
and be a governor for two years, and that of five gui-

neas gives the same prmle%e for life.
Another establishment of the same kind, under the

title of the New Town Dispensary, was founded in
10
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1815, for theaccommodation of thepoorin thenorthern
part of the city. Iike the former, gratuitous vaccine
noculation is performed by the attendibg surgeons at
the Dispensary ; and it has besides a midwifery de-
partment, under the superintendence of an able phy-
sician,

Lying-in Hospital.

This hospital is chiefly under the care of the profes-
sor of midwifery in the University of Edinburgh ; and
here are received all poor or unfortunate women, whose
circumstances deprive them of proper assistance at
their own houses. The building approgriawd to this
useful institution stands in a well-aired situation in
Park Place. The business is managed by a president,
four vice-presidents, and a number of directors, annu~
ally elected. ,

Lunatic Asylum.

. In the original plan for an Infirmary in Edinburgh,
it was inw;lglerc‘l thp;t part of the lmil;!'y should be ap-
propriated to the use of lunatics, and for some time
patients labouring under mental derangement were ad«
initted to the benefitsof this institution. Butit wassoon
found that the treatment of the insane under the same
roof with other patients was liable to many °‘{J§ﬁ°m’
and the plan was accordingly abandoned. want
of a well ted public hospital had in consequence
been long felt, and although the Charity Work<house
hafl attached to it a few cells for the insane, yet some-
thing better seemed to be required for the successful
treatment, either by medical or moral treatment, of the
unfortunate individuals who were labouring under
Inental derangement. -

In consequence of this, Dr Duncan senior, when
President of the Royal College of Physicians, brought
forward in 1792 a plan for the establishment of a
Lunatic Asylum at Edinburgh, which having re-
ceived the countenance of the heads of the prineipal
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public bodies, trustees were appointed to manage the
subscriptions expected to be received for its erection.

The money received at this time for the erection of
an establishment for lunatics being totally inadequate
for the q]urpose, little further was done till the year
1807, when, through the exertions of Sir John Sinclair
and the Hon. Henry Erskine, L. 2000 from the debts
on the forfeited estates were appropriated by govern-
ment for this institution, and a new subscription was
commenced.

On obtaining thisgrant the trustees purchased a piece
of ground at Morningside, in the neighbourheod of
Edinburgh, in 1808 ; and having procured plans from
Mr Robert Reid, architect; the building was begun in
1810, and opened for the reception of patientsin 1813.
A part only of the contemplated buildings, which areto
be ofa sﬁuare form, is erected ; and a much larger sumn
than will probably ever be furnished by private sub-
scription will be required for their compgetion. Pa-
tients are admitted to the benefits of thisinstitution on
payment of a regulated board, according to the accom-=
modation required and their former habits ; and the
medical treatment is conducted by two physicians and
two surgeons of eminence.

Heriot’s Hospital.

This hospital, one of the richest in Edinburgh, owes
its foundation to George Heriot, jeweller to King
James VI. Heriot was the son of a goldsmith in
Edinburgh. Being bred to his father’s business, he
was appointed, in the year 1597, goldsmith to the
queen of James VI. Soon after he was constituted

ldsmith and jeweller to the king, with a right to all

e profits and emoluments of that lucrative office.
Upon the accession of King James to the English
throne, Heriot followed the court to London. By as-
siduous attention to business he was now become
eminent and rich. He furnished jewels to Prince
Charles, afterwards Charles I., when he went to the
eourt of Spain in 1623. These jewels were never paid
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for by James ; but when Charles I. succeeded to the
throne, the debt to Heriot was allowed to his trus-
tees, in of their purchase money of the barony
ofurougm, then crown-lands, in the neighbourhood
of Edinburgh. These lands are now part of the
foundation of this hospital, the revenue of which is
upwards of L. 5000 per annum, and is rapidly increas-
g,
% Heriot died at London in 162+. His im-
mense tortune he disposed of by a will made in 1623,
in which he remembered all his relations, with man
friends and servants, both in England and Scotlaud,
and left the remainder in trust to the magistrates of
Edinburgh to found and endow an hospital *“ for the
maintenance, relief, and bringing up of so many poor
and fatherless boys, freemen’s sons. of the town of
Edinburgh, as the sum should be sufficient for.” The
magnificent Gothic fabric of Heriot’s Hospital, in the
vicinity of Edinburgh, was accordingly begun to be
built in the year 1628, from a plan, it is said, of the
celebrated architect, Inigo Jones, whom James VI,
brought from Denmark. -

"The building was for some time stopped during the
time of the civil wars which followed the murder of
Charles I.; but it was again rcsumed in the year
1642, and prosecuted till 1650, at which time the
whole was nearly finished. When Cromwell. took

ion of Edinburgh after the battle of Dunbar,
e ﬂunrzered his sick and wounded soldiers in the hos-
pital. It continued to be applied to the same p
till the year 1658, when General Monk, at the request
of the governors, removed the soldiers.  On the 11th
of April 1659 it was opened according to the intention
of the founder, for the reception of boys, and thirty
Wwere admitted. The building was entirely completed
m 1660. The expence of the whole fabric is said to
have amounted to. upwards of L. 27,000. .

Heriot's Hospital stands in the southern district of

the city, on the rising ground opposite the Castle Hill.
Aa?
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It is a square, whose sides measure 162 feet on the out-
side. In the inside is an open court, whose sides
measure 94 feet each w The west and east sides
of this court are decorated with an arcade, and a walk
6} feet in breadth. The court is paved with square
stones, and has a well in the centre. On the north
side of the court, in a recess in the wall, is an effigy
of the founder, which once a year, on the birth-day of
Heriot, is fancifully decorated with flowers by the
boys of the hospital ; and in the council-room is his
portrait, of tolerable execution. Over the gateway is
a spire and clock. The upper corners of the building
are ornamented with turrets. The windows, of which
there are upwards of 200, are all differently ornament-
ed at the top, and variety seems to have been studied
as a chief beauty. They are said to have been execut-
ed in this varied manner to gratify the fancy of Wal-
ter Balcanqual, doctor of divinity, one of Heriot’s exe~
cutors. On the south side of the building is the cha<
pel, which is 61 feet long, and 22 broad. Some years
ago this chapel was repaired in a style of tasteful ele-
gance. The floor is composed entirely of squares of
black and white marble, and the other ornaments
with which it is decorated, and the fine Gothic win-
dow by which it is lighted, render it an interesting
object to every visitor.

In this hospital the boys are instructed in English,
Latin, and French, writing, arithmetic, book-keeping,
mathematics, and geography ; and for any other
branch of education that may be required, such as
drawing, &c. the boys attend masters, who are paid
out of the funds of the hospital. They are admit-
ted at the age of seven, and at any between that
and ten, which last must not be complete. Theyge-
nerally leave the hospital at the age of fourteen, but
if necessary, for preparing them for the university,
the& are retained for a lo period. Those wishing
to follow any of the professions are sent to the
college for ﬁ!m' years after leaving the hospital, with
11
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an allowance of L. 30 per annum, paid quarterly in
advance. The hospital also allows from the fund
bursaries (or exhibitions) to ten boys unconnected
with the institution, who are paid L. 20 per annum for
four years. Boys going out as apprentices are allowed
L.10 annually for five years, amf L. 5 at the expi
of their apprenticeship. All the boys, when they
leave the hospital, are provided with a suit of clothes
of their own choosing, and a handsome Bible.

Each boy gets a suit of clothes every eight months,
and four day and two night shirts ; four pairs shoes,
four pairs stockings, one leather cap, and two pocket
handkerchiefs yearly.

The diet of the hospital is, for breakfast and supper,
porridge and milk, for dinner, beef and broth, or soup,
for six days, with five ounces of bread ; and on Satur«
day bread and milk. And each boy is besides allow=
ed five ounces of bread every day at four o'clock. The
number of boys in the hospital in 1819 was 180.

The whole management of the house is vested in
a treasurer, appointed by the magistrates of Edine
burgh, under whom sre a house-governcr, house«
keeper, and the masters in the di t branches of
learning.

Watson’s Hospital.

This hospital, which has its name from its founder,
George Watson, stands likewise in the southern quar=
ter of' the city, a little to the southward of Heriot's
Hospital. George Watson was in the early part of his
life a clerk to Sir William Dick, provost of Edinburgh
in 1676. He was afterwards appointed accountant of
the Bank of Scotland, after whi became receiver of
the city’s impost on_ale, treasurer to the M
Maiden Hospital, and to the Societ{l for Propagating
Christian Knowledge. Dying a bachelor in 1723, he
left L. 12,000 for maintenance and education of
the children and grandchildren of decayed embers of
the Merchant Company of Edinburgh.
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¢ The design of the donor, however, was not put inte
execution till the year 1738, when the sum originally
left hud accumnilated to L.20,000. The present
building was then erected at the expence of about
L. 5000. "Though less elegant than the neighbouring
‘hospital of Heriot, yet: the building is handsome and
commodious. It is decorated with a small spire, sur-
mounted by a ship, the emblem of merchandise. The
number of boys in the hospital this year (1819) is 70.
The branches of education taught are English, Latin,
Greek, and French, arithmetic and book-keeping, ma-
thematics, aphy, and the use of the globes.
The boys when they leave the hospital receive L. 100
as an apprentice fee, paid by instalments of' L.20a
year, and on their attaining the age of twenty-five
years, if unmarried, and producing certificates of their
behaviour, they receive a further bounty of L.50.
Such as prefer an academicil education receive L. 20
per annum for five years. The diet and clothing of
the boys is similar to that of Heriot's Hospital. They
are taken in from eight to eleven, and remain till 16
years of age. The hospital is under the management
of the master, assistants, and treasurer. of the Mer-
chant Company, four old bailies, the old dean of guild,
and the two ministers of the church in Edinburgh cal-
led the Old Church. The annual revenue the mana-
gers decline to make known. ‘
: Gillespie's Hospital. )
This hospital stands in a beautiful situation on the
south-west border of the city. It owes its erection to
the beneficence of the late Mr James Gillespie of Spy-
law, who, having amassed a considerable fortune, and
having no near relation, bequeathed, by a deed dated
the 16th of April 1796, the greater part of his -
ty for the purpose of founding and endowing an
pital for old men and women, and a free school for
the iustruction of 100 poor boys in reading, writing,
and arithmetic. . The governors of this hospital were
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incorporated by a royal charter, dated the 19th of A«
ril 1801 ; and in that year the present building was
egun.

_ Gillespie’s Hospital is of an oblong form, and built

in imitation of the ancient Gothic manner, from a de=

sign of Mr Burn, architect. In the front are three
projections ; and all the angles are ornamented with
turrets. The centre projection rises higher than the
other parts of the building; and the whole has an

elegant appearance. The schoolhouse, which is at a

H_ttle distance from the hospital, is neat and commo=
ious.

To make way for the erection of this hospital, an
old building, of a castellated form, called Wryte’s
House, of considerable autiquity, was removed. :

The number of inmatcs is believed to be about fif«
ty; but as the governors do not think it advisable to
make any statement public concerning the economy of
this hospital, little is known of its management beyond
the walls of the council-room.

Charity Work-house.

_ The Charity Work-house of the cily stands likewise
in the southern district. It is a large mean-looking
building, and was erected by voluntary contribution
in 1743, It accommodates nearly seven hundred per-
sons of both sexes, including children; and such as
are able to work are allowe& twopence out of every
shilling they earn, besides their clothing and mainte«
nance. The principal funds for the support of this
institution are, a tax of five per cent. on the valued
rents of the city ; the collections at the church doors,
charitable donations, and the voluntary contributions
of the citizens. The government of the charity is
chiefly under the direction of the magistrates of Edin«

burgh.

u’iﬁxe income of the house, for the year ending July
1, 1818, including I.2000 of money borrowed, a«
mounted to L. 10,309, 14s. 7d.; while the expendi«
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ture for the same period, including an arrear of
L. 661, 4s. 74d., amounted to L. 10,857, 4s. 7id,
leaving a balance against the house of L. 547, 10s. 04d.
Besides the inmates of the house, assistance has
been given to out-pensioners to the amount of
L.<e71, 2s. divided among 1123 families and in-
dividuals ; L. 298, 6s. has been paid for 97 children
at nurse ; and there has been given in temporary sup-
plies to others L. 295, 14s.

The establishment has been uniformly on the in-
crease. In 1817 884 resided in the house, whereof
99 died. The number in 1818 was 890, and the deaths
only 84. The average expence of maintenance of each

n is L. 8, 8s. 6d.

. The debt of the house is about L.2300, arising
almost exclusively from the late pressure of the times
on the labouring classes, from the badness of the crops
1816 and 1817 ; and it is to the benevolence of the
citizens that the managers chiefly look for its liquida~
tion. :

There are two other charity work-houses connected
with Edinburgh, one in the suburb of Canongate,
which was opened for the reception of the r in
1761 ; and another in the parish of St Cuthbert’s,
which was opened in 1762.  Both these are conduct-
ed nearly on the same plan with the former, and like
it have their chief support from the voluntary contri-
3uﬁons of individuals and the collections at the church
oors. -

Merchant Maiden Hospital.

The Merchant Maiden Hospital was founded in
1695, by a voluntary contribution raised for the edu-
cation and maintenance of daughters of merchant bur-
gesscs of Edinburgh. Mrs Mary Erskine gave
L. 12,000 Scots for the purchase of a building, besides
several other sums.  In 1707 the governors were erect-
ed mte a body corporate by act of parliament. The
old building in Bristo Street having become inade-
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quate to its object, the governors resolved to erect a
new house; and for that purpose purchased three
acres of land to the west of Lauriston Lane. Compe«
tition plans having been procured, that of Mr Burn
was approved of; and the foundation-stone was laid
upon the 2d day of August 1816. This edifice, which
isin the Grecian style of architecture, stands on a
gently rising ground with its front to the south, and
bounded on that side by the public walk of the Mea=
dows. It is 180 feet in length, and nearly 60 in
depth ; and has in the centre of the building to the
north a circular projection 86 feet in diameter. The
l:rincipal feature is the portico, supported by four
andsome columns, the design of which is taken from
that of the Ionic temple on the Ilyssus. The win=
dows of the lower story are arched, which gives the
building the appearance of strength and solidity, and
afford to the portico and pilasters ‘at the end a_base-
ment proportioned to their height, and the entablature
they support. The general appearance of the house,
however, is rather heavy.

In the basement story is contained the kitchen and
apartments for servants, laundry, washing-house, din-
ing rooms for the girls, &c. The principal floor is
occupied by an elegant chapel and governor’s room, 30
feet in diameter, and 22 feet high ; one school-room
32 feet long by 26 feet wide; two others 42 by 25
feet, and a smaller one for music, &c. ; besides other
apartments. In the second floor are the bed-rooms
for the girls and detached apartments for the sick;
above which are rooms the whole length of the build-
ing for drying clothes, &c. during winter. The ex~
pence of erection, including fitting up, amounted to
L.12,250 Sterlinﬁ.l

The girls, of which there are 80 this year (1819) in
the house, are taken in_ from seven to eleven, and go
out at seventeen years of age.. They are taught Eng-
lish, writing, arithmetic, geography, French, and
needle work. If any other branches are required,
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such us drawing, &e. the girl's friends pay for it.
The clotbinil is respectable, and the diet excellent.
On leaving the hospital the girls receive L. 9, 6s. 8d.
The annual revenue of this hospital is about L. 3000
Sterling.

T'rades’ Maiden Hospital.

The Trades’ Maiden Hospital was founded by the
incorporations of Edinburch in the year 1704, for the
maintenance and education of the daughters of decay-
ed tradesmen. The governors of the hospital were in-
corporated by royal charter in 1707. The building
stands on the south side of Argyle’s Square. To this

ital, as well as the former, Mrs Mary Erskine was
a liberal contributor. About fifty girls, it is believed,
are maintained and educated here.

Orphan Hospital.

The Orphan Hospital was planned by Andrew
Gairdner, merchant in Edinburggl, in the year 1732.
The design was promoted by the Society for t-
ing Christian Knowledge, and was assisted by a liberal
subseription. A house was hired, and thirty olglllsns
received into it in the year 1783. The present bui
ing was founded in 1734. 1In 1735 the managers were
erected into a body corporate by the magistrates of
Edinburgh, and in 1743 they obtained a royal char-
ter. It stands on the low ground, a little to the east-
ward of the North Bridge. It is composed of a bod{
and two wings, surmounted with a neat spire, in whic!
are a clock and two bells. The managers of the cha-
ity were erected into a body co te by his late Ma-
in 1742. Into this hospital orphan children, not
under seven years of age, are received from any part
‘of the kingxim. The revenues are inconsiderable ;
and the institution is supported chiefly by benefac-
tions, and a part of the sums collected at the church
doors. 'The Orphan Hospital of Edinburgh is notic-
ed by Howard as one of the most useful charities in

-
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Europe. About 150 orphans are supported in this
hospiI::]. orp ppo!

Trinity Hospital.
The Trinity Hospital was founded by Mary of

Gueldres, consort to James IL., in the year 1461, for
the tion of thirteen poor persons. At the Refor-

mation, however, it was stri of its revenues ; but
the Regent Murray afterwards bestowed them on Sir
Simon n, provost of Edinburgh, who gave them

to the citizens for the use of the poor. In 1585 the
town-council purchased from Robert Pont his right in
these subjects, Sir Simon’s gift being only reversion-
. This transaction was ratified by James VI. in
1587, The Trinity Hospital is situated at the foot of
the lane called Leith Wynd, and has attached to it &
small garden.
_ The number of persons maintained in this hospital
is regulated by the income, which is chiefly derived
from lands in"the parishes of St Cuthbert’s and South
Leith, and mon? on bond ; and several presentations
are vested in different pubflc bodies and fimilies iuv
Scotland. The number of persons on the establish-
ment this year (1819) is eight men and thirty wo-
men, besides ninety-three out-pensioners, who receive
each L. 6 per annum. None are received under fifty
years of age.

The clothing of the inmates is adapted to their
rank in life ; and the diet of the house is most com-
fortable : Roast beef, mutton, lamb, or veal, two days
aweek ; one day eggs, or cheese and bread and but-
ter, and the other days excellent beef and broth.
There is served out to each individual a proportion of
table beer every day, and an allowance is paid twice a
month for them to provide their own tea. A chaplain
resides in the house, and each person in health is re-
guired to attend prayers twicea day. Each individual

as a good bed, and the greater proportion have each
& room, besides the hall, bwhie]:n is coromon to all the
®
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inmates. There is a library in the house, but being
very ancient, it is rather an object of curiosity than of

any utility.
Asylum for the Blind.

This useful institution was projected by Dr John-
ston of North Leith, in 1795, and is chiefly maintain-
ed by voluntary contributions. The housc is situated
in Nicolson’s Street, and the indigent blind, who are
the objects of the charity, are here taught to work at
professions suitable to their abilities. They make all
sorts of wicker-work, mattresses, mats, &e. ; and some
of them are even employed in weaving, making use
in this branch of the fly-shuttle. The produce of
their work contributes to the support of tge institu-
tion.

Institution for the Education of Deaf and Dumb Child-
ren.

This institution was established on the 25th of June
1810. Independently of moral and religious instruc-
tion, the pupils are taught to read and write their
native language, to compose in it with ease and fluen-
cy, and even to use it in articulate speech. They are

so taught arithmetic, and such other branches of edu-
cation as may fit them for the stations to which they are
destined. The pupils, from the lower classes of society,
are trained to those habits which are to make them use-
ful in their station. All the female pupils are taught
sewing, and other peculiar branches of female educa-
tion ; and the females of an inferior station are instruct-
ed by Mrs Kinniburgh in those occupations which qua-
lify them for domestic service. Similar attention is

id to the appropriate instruction of the boys, a num-

r of whom have been taught shoemaking, and a
stock of shoes of their fabrication is kept for sale at
the house. The total number of pupils in the insti-
tution is about fifty. Mr Kinnibu.rgr: whose success in
teaching these untfortunates merits the highest appro-

1
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bation, having gone to Glasgow in 1814 with a few of
his pupils for public examination, an auxiliary society
was immediately formed in that city, by the aid of
whose contributions a number of additional pupils have
ever since received the benefits of the institution. The
establishment occupies a house and garden in Chessels’s
Court, Canongate.

Magdalen Asylum.

This institution was first projected in the gﬁ 1797,
under the title of “ The Philanthropic Society of
Edinburgh.”  Tts object is to reclaim to habits of vir«
tue and industry convicts, chiefly of the female sex,
who have been committed to Bridewell, and other
persons of similar characters. It is chiefly supported
by voluntary contributions. A house was built for
the reception of the objects of this churity in the Ca-
nongate in 1805. :

The Repository. 4

The Repositories, of which there are several, are’

shops or ware-rooms, to which ladies in straitened cir=

cumstances may send for sale any curious, beautiful,

or useful articles of needle work, with the price affix~
ed, and when sold the price is remitted to them.

Ministers’ Widows’ Fund.

The plan of this very meritorious scheme originated
with Dr Webster in 1743, and received the sanction
of parliament in 1744, - It was afterwards improved
and extended by two subsequent acts of the legi
ture ; and was established on its present footing by
an act passed in 1814. By former acts every minister
possessed of a benefice in the church of Scotland, and
every person possessed of an office in any of the four
Scottish universities, was subject to one or other of the
annual rates therein specified. The widow was entitled
to an annuity corresponding to the rate he had chosen ;
and his children, if he left no widow, were entitled to ten
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years of the annuity, which would have been payable
to the widow. i

The capital having accumulated to L. 100,000, it
had been directed by the former acts, that, when this
happened, all further accumulation should cease ; and
contributors being called upon, according to the le-
gislative enactments, to Five an opinion as to the fu=
ture disposal of the surplus revenue, it was determin-
ed that it should be applied solely to the benefit of
the widgws. pike L

But the annuities provisions fixed b, er
acts having, from the increased expence of living, and
the decrease in the value of money, become wholly in-
adequate, recourse was again had to parliament in
1814 ; and the following important improvements up-~
on the fund received the sanction of the legislature.
A volun subseription among the contributors was
recommended ; an addition of 20 per cent. on the
then rates was imposed ; every person in future admit-
ted to a benefice for the first time, or to an office in the
universities, was to pay a contribution of L.10; a grant
was made of the bishops’ rents in Scotland ; and a grant
of the stipends of vacant churches. The trustees were
also authorized to apply to the purposes of this act
the unappropriated balance which had accumulated in
their hands after the capital had attained the prescrib=
ed amount, and such voluntary donations as they had
received. ’

The annuities to widows and provisions to child-
ren are, after the expiry of six years, to be increased
at certain intervals prescribed by the act ;* it being the
true intent and meaning of this act, that there shall
always be attached to the capital stock such an in-
creasing sum or revenue as may admit, from time to

* The four annual rates, to one of which every minister
and professor is now subject, are L.3, 3s., L. 4, l4s. 6d.,
L. 6, 6s., and L.7, 17s. 6d.
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time, of an advance in the annuities of the widows and
orphan fimilies of contributors, in some degree corre-
Sﬁonding to what may be the expence of living, and to
the subsequent exigencies of their situation.

The trustees of this fund are the presbytery of
Edinburgh and professors of the university, and they
have a small hall in Scott’s Close, in which is a portrait
of Dr Webster, the founder of the institution.

The Widows’ Scheme of the Society of Writers to
the Signet, upon a plan similar to that of the Clergy,
was established in 1803 by act of parliament; and
further improved by a subsequent act in 1817.

A similar scheme has been formed by that most
useful body the Parochial Schoolmasters of Scotland,
and by the Dissenting Clergymen. And there is an
establishment in Edinburgh open to the public under
the title of The Scottish Widows’ Fund and Life As-
surance Society.

Society for the Sons of the Clergy.

This society was instituted in the year 1791 by a
few lay sons of clergymen, for the benefit of the child-
ren of the clergy of the established church of Scot-
land. In 1792 the subscribers to this laudable insti-
tution were so considerable that they obtained a royal
charter of incorporation. The affairs of the society are
conducted by a president, a committee of management,
a treasurer and secretary.

Society for Relicf of the Destitute Sick.

This society was established in July 1785, for the
purpose of affording relief to indivi who, from
sickness/or other causes, are unable to follow their
usual employments, and who are not entitled to the
benefit of any other fund. It has been found emi-
nently useful. Its funds are derived from voluntary
contributions. o y

B
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Besides these charitable establishinents there are
some others, which, although not calculated to decorate
the city by their buildings, are no less worthy of men-
tion.

Horn’s Charity.

In 1741 Captain William Horn of the city of Lon-
don, by his last will be(l::eeathed L. 8500, old and new
South Sea annuities, to be disposed of at the discretion
of the lord provost, bailies, dean of guild, and treasur-
er of the city of Edinburgh, as follows :—The interest
of L.1500 on Christmas day yearly to such day-la-
bourers of Edinburgh as, by the inclemency of the
weather, may be set idle and reduced to want ; inter-
est of L. 1000 to da%;,labonrera, as aforesaid, in Pot-
terrow, Bristo, and West Port; and interest of L. 1000
to labourers of the neighbouring parish of Libberton;
L. 100 to the Royal Infirmary, L. 100 to the Orphan
Hospital, I..100 to the Society for Pmpaﬂting Christ-
ian Knowledge. No family to receive above L.5 per
annum, or under 50s.

Watson’s Bequest.

A Mr John Watson, writer to the signet, in July
1759 executed a deed, bequeathing the reversion of
his fortune in certain circumstances for the erection of
a foundling hospital in Edinburgh. The management
of this fund, which has now- accumulated to nearly
L. 100,000, is under the management of the keeper,
deputy-keeper, and commissioners of the writers to
the signét. An unsuccessful attempt was made by
the magjst‘:lates of EdilAbu h tohhave it applied to
some useful purpose. As the utility of a toundling
hospital is at Y)est problematical, the gaone ight, une
der the sanction of parliament, be applied to the sup-

of other charities, whose use to the community

4s been long ascertained. It was, it is believed, once
suggested, that part of this large sum might be ap-
propriated, by direction of parliament, to the comple«
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tion of the Lunatic Asylum ; but the suggestion was
not adopted, and the public are left to regret the un-
employment of a fumf which, on many late occasions
of public distress, could not have failed to be of emi-
uent use.

Thomson’s Bequest.

Mr Joseph Thomson of Mortonhall of Eilden, by
disposition and deed of settlement, executed 11th July
L 774, eonveyatll to certain trustees his whole Jands and

eritages, with some trifling exceptions, as arerpetunl
fund, the interest where:g wa:?:) be applied for pur-
chasing oatmeal or oats to be made into meal, to be
distributed among the poor householders of Edinburgh,
when the price of oatmeal exceeds tenpence the
Eeck, and which meal is to be sold to these house-

olders at tenpence the peck. It is understood that
the Lords of Session and other official persons declined
to accept as trustees under this deed, except the de-
puty-keeper of the signet, who now holds the exclu-
sive management. It is provided by the deed of 1776,
“ that a ar account is to be kept of the purchasing
and disposing of the whole quantities of meal from
time to time, to be shewn to any of the ministers of
Edinburgh, either Presbyterian or Episcopal, whoshall
think fit to take notice of this charitable institution.”
As few people are aware of the existence of this fund
or its extent, it would be of material use to publish
an annual statement of its application for the satisfac-
tion of the public.

Another charity is that of Robert Johnston, LL. D.
of London, who, in the year 1640, left L. 8000 to the
city ; L. 1000 to be employed in setting the poor to
work ; L. 1000 to clothe tyl of Heriot's Hospital ;
and L. 1000 for the support of bursars (exhibitioners
at the university.

John Strachan, a writer in Edinburgh, left also,
about the beginning of the last century, his estate of
Craigerook, in the vicinity of the city, in trust to the
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presbytery of Edinburgh, to be b{ them bestowed in
small annual sums to poor old e, not under sixty-
five years of age, and to orphans not above twelve.
The income of this estate is now upwards of L. 300
per annum, but no statement of its application is made
public.

Society for Suppression of Begging.

‘The Society for the Suppression of Begging was form-
ed in 1813 u){)on the mo‘:llﬁ of an esmelﬁ'igslhngent of the
same nature at Bath, and has proved of much advan-
tage to the public. The children of the poor are also
provided for, and have the means of education furnish-
ed to them by this society, and those who are able for
work are employed in contributing to their own sub-
sistence. The success of this society has occasioned,
it is believed, the erection of similar establishments on
the Continent of Europe. !

Savings Banks.

These institutions were projected in Edinburgh in
1818, and in conjunction with a Joan Societg/‘:shavc
proved here, as in other parts of the kingdom, of much
serviee as a deposit for the little sums which the labour-
ing poor are able to save from their weekly earnings.
An act of parliament has been lately passed for their
regulation.

The plan of the Institution for Relief of Incurables
was suggested in 1805 by Mrs Keir; and its object
was to give relief to *“ persons labouring under incur-
able disease, and incapable of gaining a livelihood,”
by small anuual pensions paid to them for life. The
fands of the institution were raised by subscription,
and vested in government securities under trustees.

The Association for the Relief of Imprisoned Deblors
was instituted in 1813, for the purpose of procuring
¢ the liberation of unfortunate but not fraudulent
debtors from jail, by application to the incarcerating
creditors, or the relations of the debtors, and by de-
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fraying the expence of applications for the benefit of
the act of grace.” In particular cases some pecuniary
aid is given to the debtor or his family ; but this is
not done beyond a very limited extent, and without
the most minute inquiry respecting the fairness of the
debtor’s conduct.

A number of other useful charities exist in Edin~
burgh, of which it is unnecessary to give any detail, as
their object is sufficiently ared by their names.
Among these are a House of Industry—a Society for
Clothing the Industrious Poor—a Society for Promoting
Religious Knowledge among the Poor—a Society for
the Relief of Indigent Old Men—and two Female
Societies for Relief of Indﬁ;ent Old Women. The
funds for these are chiefly derived from contributions
among the charitable, and the collections at occasional
sermons,

r———
—_—

PUBLIC AMUSEMENTS.
THE THEATRE.

3 'l“inn Tlmlure stands at thl:, north end(t;t;ﬁthe Nt:lrth
ridge, nearly opposite to the Register Office, and in
the middle of'a small square called Shakespeare Square.
This building presents but a mean appearance when
contrasted with the other public edifices in Edinburgh ;
and were it not for a wretched portico attached to the
building, which takes away the barn-like appearance
it would otherwise have, the Theatre would make a
very poor figure indeed. On what may be called the
lS‘g;tll;l front, over the r'i“nci entrance, (ils lhsuct\;:n of

espeare, su y the Tragic and the ic
Muse. Thouggpothe outside, however, presents no
Prepossessing appearance, the inside of the house
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is not destitute of accommodation, This building was
opened for exhibitions in December 1769. The prices
of admission at that time were three shillings for the
boxes and pit, two shillings for the first ﬁiry, and
one shilling for the second or upper gallery. The
house at these prices could hold with ease about L. 140.
The box seats were afterwards raised to four shillings,
and subsequently in 1815 to five shillings; but the
prices of the seats in the other parts of the house still
remain at the old rate. ;s

The origin of theatrical exhibitions in Scotland is
perbaps much the same with those of England. About
the beginning of the 12th century, a religious ta-
cle, entitled *“ A Miracle Play of St Catherine,” was
composed by the abbot of St Alban’s, and acted at
Dunstable, which is accounted the first exhibition of
the kind represented in the island, and the Chester
Mysteries, called the Whitsun Plays, were performed
at that city during the mayoralty of John Arneway,
from 1268 to 1276. Not long after this these specta-
cles found their way into Scotland ; and miracles and
mysteries were frequently represented by the Scot-
tish clergy. At the Reformation, the sacred drama
ceased, and the curtain on religious exhibitions was
dropped for ever. These, however, were almost im=
mediately succeeded by secular representations. Prior
to this time, indeed, some faint traces of dramatic ex-
hibitions have been discovered te have existed in Scot-
Jand. As early as the reign of James IV., one John
Inglish and his company performed at that prince’s
marriage with Margaret of Euglnnd. In the minority
of James V. the entertainments called Interludes were
frequent ; and in the year 1538, when Mary of Lor-
raine James V., “ there were at Edinburgh
great triumphs, farces, and plays, made unto the
queen’s grace.”

These plays, however, were perbaps performed by
itinerant companies from France or England, and their
jntroduction into Scotland may be rather deduced
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from these countries, than as taking their rise among
the Scots themselves. The earliest effort of the dra-
matic muse north of the Tweed, which has hitherto
been discovered, is “ Ane Satyre of the Three Estaits,
in commendation of vertu and virturpation of vyce,
made be Sir David Lindsay of the Mont,” which was
played at the feast of the Epiphany, January 1539, at
““ Lithgoe, before the kinge and quene.” Several other
dramatic pieces in the Scottish language were about
this time wrote by Sir David Lindsay, and were acted
at the play-fields of Cupar-Fife and of Edinburgh, in
the open air, “ when weather served.”*

These exhibitions met with a temporary repulse
from the clergy. The obscenities with which the plays
were mixed, from the rudeness of the manners of the
people at this time, may have perhaps had some weight
in raising the indignation of these teachers of religious
and moral duties ; but the chief cause of their opposi-
tion seems to have arisen from the satirical manner
in which Sir David exposed to the public the scanda-
lous lives of the priests and monks, A council of the
clergy, in consequence, was held in the church of the
Blackfriars at Edinburgh, in March 1558, which, after
deliberating on the tendency of these representations,
ordered, that the book containing Sir David Lindsa{'s
poems and plays should be burnt by the hands of the
common executioner.

After the Reformation, however, had established it~
self in Scotland, the exhibitious of the stage were again

* The place where these exhibitions were performed at
Edinburgh was in a hollow at the bottom of the north-west
side of the Calton-hill, called the Greenside well. King James
IL, in 1456, granted this spot of ground to the citizens of
Edinburgh, for the pu of holding tilts and tournaments.
The hour of representation was seven o'clock in the morning,
and the entertainment seems to have lLssted the gréater part
of the day.
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revived. On the 17th of January 1568, ¢ a play made
by Robert Semple” was performed at Edinburgh be-
fore the Regent Murray, and several of the Scottish
nobility ; and in the year 1592, James V1. licensed a
company of players from England, to perform in the
city. The reformed clergy now took the alarm, and
an act of the Kirk Session, prohibiting people from
resorting to places of profane amusement, on pain of
church censure, was published. This act, however,
was in November 1599 annulled by royal authority,
and dramatic exhibitions were permitted as formerly.

¢ Philotus,” a comedy, said to have been that per-
formed before the Regent Murray, and of which Ro-
bert Semple was the author, was printed at Edinburgh
in 1603. In thesame year also was published a y
under the title of *“ Darius,” and in the fbllowipg
{enr three other tragedies, the uction of Sir Wil-
iam Alexander, afterwards Earl of Stirling.

During the civil and religious dissensions in the
reign of Charles 1., and the wars which desolated the
country in the protectorate of Cromwell, the minds of
men were occupied with other concerns than the a-
musements of thestage ; and theatrical exhibitions for
that time seem to have been banished from Edinburgh.
Soon after the Restoration of Charles II., however,
they began to make their appearance ; and on the fes-
tival of St John, a play called * Marciano, or the
Discovery,” by Sir Thomas Sydserff, was acted before
the Earl of Rothes, then high commissioner to the
Scottish. Parliament, and his court, at the Palace of
Holyroodhouse. _

In the years 1681 and 1682, while the Duke of
York, (afterwards James I1.) then commissioner to
the Scottish Parliament, with his duchess, and his
dauﬁbter the Princess Anne, (afterwards Queen Anne,)
resided in Edinburgh, a splendid court was kept at the
Palace of Holyroodhouse ; and a company of comedians,
who accompanied his royal highness, &eqnently -
formed in the Tennis-hall, for the entertainment of the
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sourt. These performers, if we may credit Dryden’s
satirical account of them, seem not to have been the
most excellent in their profession. The best part of
the troop had gone to Oxford, as they had been accus-
tomed to do, to perform at the annual public acts in
that city. In the following verses, Dryden, with con-
siderable humour, makes them apologize to the uni-
versity for the small number of the company, and
insinuates that the underlings only had gone to the
Scottish metropolis,

Our brethren have from Thames to Tweed departed,
To Edinburgh gone, or coach’d or carted :

With bonny blue cap there they act all night

For Scotch half-crowns, in English threepence hights
One nymph, to whom fat Sir John Falstaff’s lean,
There with her single person fills the scene.
Another, with long use and age decayed,

Died here old woman, and rose there a maid.

Our trusty door-keeper, of former time,

There struts and swaggers in heroic rhyme.
Tack but a copper lace to drugget suit,

And there's a hero made withou® dispute :

And that which was a capon’s tail A

Becomes a plume for Indian emperor.

But all his subjects, to express the care

Of imitation, go like Indian bare.

Laced linen there would be a dangerous thing 3

It might, perhaps, & new rebellion bring :

The Scot who wore it would be chosen king.

Though perhaps not entirely devoid of truth, this
ludicrous det;cri llfi{(im“lof the ‘Sleouilslh cltlhxzre certainly
exaggerates the difficulties under whi performers
laboured. Notwithstanding that there might be no
proper apartment for the purpose, or scenes or dresses
exactly suited to the persons who were represented,
yet, in a court such as was Holyroodhouse at that time,
We may suppose that the characters would be at least
Tespectably supported.

oc
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The events which followed this period agein put a
stop to the exhibition of dramatic pieces in Scotland.
The abdication of James, and the accession of William,
involved the country in a series of disturbances ; and
the accession of Anne, and the union of the kingdoms,
were events which so completely occupied the minds
of the public, that little encouragement was offered to
stage-adventurers. Presbyterianism, which at the ac-
cession of William had been established in Scatland,
was likewise unfavourable to any attempt of this kind.
For these reasons, scenic representations were for many
years entirely discouraged in this country. In the
year 1714, however, when a number of the Scottish
nobility and gentry were assembled in Edinburgh, at
a grand procession of the Royal Company of Archers,
the play of “ Macbeth” was performed in the Tennis-
hall, near the Palace of Holyroodhouse. $

On this occasion a disturbance happened which
threatened disagreeable consequences. One part of
the audience, friends of the abdicated family, callefl
for the tune of “ May the king enjoy his ain ognin;
which was violently opiosed by the opposite political
party. A riot ensued ; but happily neither party pro=
ceeded to extremes:in their resentment. 1

In the following year the standard was reared in
Scotland for the exiled prince; but the efforts of his
friends were unequal to the task of raising him to the
throne which had been forfeited, and proscription, de-
solation, and all the miseries of civil war, were the con-
sequence. When the storm had subsided, however,
itinerant parties of players occasionally visited Edin-
burgh ; and annual exhibitions of this kind were pre-
sented in the city. At the head of the first of these
was Signora Violante, an Italian lady, celebrated for
feats of strength, postures, and tumbling ; female ac-
complishments which the delicacy of the citizens did
not then think disagrecable. The tion which she
met with in these exhibitions, induced her to fitup 8
house in Carrubber’s Close, and collect a company of
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English comedians, to perform plays in that place.
The city was after this period annually visited by a
company of strolling players till the year 1727. At
this time the clergy, alarmed at the encouragement
which was given to these sons of Thespis, sounded an
alarm against the growing evil; and “ An Act and
Exhortation” was fulminated from the pulpits against
those who attended theatrical exhibitions. The ma-
gistrates of Edinburgh, also, zealous to preserye the
reliﬁion of their ancestors uncontaminated by such
profane amusements, interdicted the players from act-
mg in any place within their jurisdiction. The clergy
were so pleased with this, that they appointed a solemn
deputation of their number to wait on the magistrates,
and express the thanks of the presbytery to them “ for
the just zeal they had shewn in the matter.”

Theatrical exhibitions, netwithstanding these ex-
pressions of ignorant zeal, did not want friends in the
city. The interdiction of the magistrates was brought
under the review of the Court of Session ; and in the
year 1728, while the cause was still pending, a new
company, protected by the nobility and the gentlemen
of the Scottish bar, again ventured to open an exhibi
tion in the Tennis-court of Holyroodhouse.

The stage in Edinburgh continued in this state for
several years, without its enemies being able to crush
it by their influence, or its friends by their interest
to establish it under the sanction of royal authority.
In 1785 the celebrated Scottish poet, Allan Ramsay,
built, at his own expence, a theatre for dramatic per-
formances. It was situated in the lane called Carrub-
ber’sClose, the same place where Signora Violante made
her theatrical debut in Scotland.  But Ramsay did
not long enjoy his new character as manager of a
theatre. The clergy, whose anger, by long repression,
now burst out into fury, seconded by the exertions of
the magistrates, and even by those of the members of
the university, at last effected the downfall of the most
rational entertainment which civilized nations can en«
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joy. An act was passed in the year 1737, prohibiting
thye performance of stage lzxysy in Scotland, without
his majesty’s licence and letters-patent for that pure
pose.

Immediately upon the passing of this act, the pres-
bytery of Edinburgh, in their zeal to prosecute those
whom they styled the servants of Satan, brought, at
their own expence, an action against the unfortunate
players. The cause was decided against them ; and
the drama was suspended for a time in the Scottish
capitd, A bill having been soon afterwards (1739)
brought into parliament to enable his Majesty to license
a theatre in Edinburgh, a violent t<J2()iposition again com=
menced. Petitions were presented to the House of
Commons from the magistrates and town-council,
mcipal and professors of the university, and the
d of guild and his council ; and, in consequence
of this opposition, it was thought proper to lay the de-
sign aside altogether.

But although the clergy obtained the victory, thea-
trical entertainments were not emirel{ banished from
Edinburgh. An apartment called the Tailors’ Hall
was fitted up as a theatre; a way of evading the act
was easily found out, by advertising the entertainment
as “ A Concert of Musie, with a Play between the acts;
and the dramas of Shakespeare, Ben Jonson, and Con-
greve, were listened to with pleasure by numerous
auditors. Theencouragement tﬂus given to the stage,
in defiance of every ition, which ecclesiastical
zeal, accompanied by the arm of secular power, had
thrown in 1ts way, continued to increase ; and in the
year 1746, after the last attempt of the House of
Stuart had failed, and the commotion occasioned by
that attempt subsided, a small theatre was erected in
a back area near St John’s Cross, Canongate. The
foundation-stone of this building was laid by Mr Lacy
Ryan of Covent-Garden, in 1746.

This theatre was built partly by subscription, and
partly on credit, and the performances were carried on
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n it under the same evasion of the law as formerly.
Mrs Ward, then in the bloom of youth and beauty,
was one of the chief attractions, and performers of
merit, from the British capital, now occasionally visited
the Edinburgh theatre, among whom Sparks, Tacy,
and De Lane, deserve notice.

About the year 1752, Mr Lee, an actor of that period,
purchased the Canongate “theatre from the original
proprietors for L. 648, and L. 100 perannum during
the lives of the lessees. ' Mr Lee having failedin his
engagements, he was dismissed from the management
by the gentlemen who had become security for him,
and one James Callender, a merchant of Edinburgh,
was appointed to conduct the business of the theatre.

Mr Callender engaged, as acting manager, the well
known performer Mr Digges. Under this gentleman’s
management, the business of the stage went on for
some time with considerable success ; several good per-
formers were engaged in it; and others visited it at
times from London, particularly the celebrated Mrs
Bellamy. But Digges’s imprudence involving him in
pecuniary embarrassments, he retired from Edinburgh.
Mr Callender, however, still continued to manage the
theatre, and in conjunction with Mr Love, a performer,
directed the business of the stage.

After the unfortunate disturbance of 1745, the spec-~
tators at the theatre frequently displayed a spirit of
Political dissension. On the anniversary of the battle
of Culloden, in the year 1749, some military gentle-
men who were in the theatre called out to the orchestra
to play the tune of “ Culloden.” 'This was regarded
by the rest of the audience as an insolent and unmanly
method of upbraiding the country for her misfortunes.
They accordingly, in opposition to this, ordered the
musicians to play « You're welcome Charlie Stuart.”
The hand complying with this last request, instantly
struck up the tune in question. The military gentle-
men, leaping “ll::: the stage, immediately attacked
them sword in hand ; but the sous of Orpheus, being

cc
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unable to cope with men trained for battle, instantly
disael()})enred. The officers, in the mean time, were as«
sailed from the galleries with apples, broken benches,
and every missile which could be prdeured. As the
persons who attacked them in this quarter could not
be repelled from the stage, the officers at once consulted
their own safety, and went in quest of revenge, to storm
the ﬂ:im. But the inhabitants of the upper regions
had icaded the doors ; and the Highland chairmen
without, hearing the nature of the quarrel, attacked
the poor officers in the rear with their poles, who be-
ing unable cither to advance or retreat, surrendered at
discretion, leaving the chairmen masters of the field.
No serious misfortune happened in consequence of this
affray ; but, to prevent similar disturbances in future,
bills were next day posted up, in which it was notified,
that the musicians would play no tunes but such as
were selected by the managers.

Not . long after this, another disturbance, on a very
different account, however, happened at the Canongate
theatre. This was occuione«? by the performance of
Garrick’s celebrated farce of < High Life helow Stairs.
The footmen, highly resenting such ‘a satire on their
fraternity, resolved to stop the performance. Accord-
ingly, on the second night of its being announced, as
a part of the entertainment, Mr Love, one of the mana-

came upon the stage, and read a letter, contain-

ing the most violent denunciations of vengeance, both
against the actors and house, if the piece should be
represented. Notwithstanding of this threatening, the
performers were ordered to go on with the piece. The
gentlemen who at this time attended the theatre, had
vided ﬂg):u the aeeomd modation of thtﬁ'rfser‘v:;tgln in

e upper ;5 and no sooner was the farce n,
than a prodigi?;’ﬁa noise was heard from that quarter.
The footmen were ordered by their masters to be silent,
but without success. The gentlemen who were their
masters, assisted by other parts of the audience, im-
mediately went up to the gallery to quiet them by
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fores ; but it was not till after a battle, and the gentle-
men of the cloth fairly overpowered by numbers, and
turned out of the house, that order was restored. The
servants, from this time, were deprived of the freedom
of the theatre.

_ Mr Callender, soon after this, relinguished his situa-
tion in the theatre to David Beat, another citizen of
Edinburgh. Mr Love also withdrew himself, and
was suceeeded by John Dowson of Newecastle. These
new managers, however, did not long succeed to the sa-
tisfiction of the public. Dissensions arose among the
performers which their authority was unable to allay ;
and two parties were formed in the theatre, each of
which had their friends among the public. In a riot
which unfortunately ensued, the house in the Canon-
zate was totally demolished, to the no small pleasure
of the opposers of theatrical entertainments.

The consequence of this disaster was an action of
damages brought by the proprietors of the theatre a-
gainst those who were concerned in the riot. This
the rioters warded off by & counter action against the
proprietors, founded on their having been concerned
in stage-performances, in open defiance of an act of
parliament. ‘These actions, however, were mutually
dropped, both parties having seen that neither could be-
pursued with the prospect of ultimate success.

The theatre was once more fitted up, and performers
of eminence were from time to time engaged in the
{ep{!eeematiolr;s.h Noth::lg nil‘ntcril:;l, however, :f)c:n ll.l;
its history till the period when the tragedy of
was ﬂr:t’%erfmnarin Edinburgh, on theyniiht o';gthe
14th December 1756.% The circumstances which b:g-
pened on this océasion form a remarkable era in the

* The original characters were thus filled,—Douglas, Mr
Di Lord Randolph, Mr Younger,—Glenalvon, Mr Love,
—Norval, Mr Hayman,—Lady Randolph, Mrs Ward,—Anna,
Mrs Hopkins.

{
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history of the Scottish stage. The play was well re-
ceived ; but when it was unders tzat the author
was a minister of the church of Scotland, his brethren
took the alarm, the ecclesiastical standard wes reared,
and .reliﬁion and morals were declared to be in danger.
What added to the flame was, that several clergymen,
friends of the author, had once or twice attended the
theatre, a thing by no means uncommon at that time,
though perhaps it had not been done in so public a
manner.  The presbytery of Edinburgh, whose zeal
seems to have been the most forward, met often on the
alarming subject, suspended for a time such ministers
within their jurisdiction as had witnessed the repre=
sentation, and wrote warm letters to the several pres-
byteries to whom any of the offending clergymen be-
l(k)’ngcd, insisting on their proceeding w'?t;b rigour against
themn. 1

With respect to the play itself, they attacked it on
account of its pretended irreligious and immoral ten-
dency, alleging, in support of this heavy charge, that
there were certain impious invocations, or m ray=
ers in it,—an expressionof horrid swearing,—and that it
encouraged suicide. They at the same time emitted
an adwonition and exhortation, levelled against all
those who frequented what they supposed the temple
of the Father of Lies, and ordered it to be read in all
the churches within their bounds. In this address
the presbytery, after bewailing the melancholy growth
of imwiorality and irreligion, proceeded to ¢ warn,
exhort, obtest, and plead, with all within their bounds,
to discourage the illegal and dangerous entertainments
of the stage; and to restrain those under their influ-
ence from frequenting such seminaries of vice and
folly.” The presbytery of Glasgow, also, eager to shew
their zeal, though they do not appear to have had any
immediate concern in the business, joined in the gene-
ral clamour, “ lamenting the melancholy fact, that

there should be a tragedy written by a minister of the
church of Scotland !* g
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Mr John Home, the accomplished author of this
tragedy, was, however, never proceeded inst ; but
while “the presbytery of Haddington, of which he was
2 member, were d:{iberating about it, he gave in his
demission, which was accepted, and he withdrew for
ever from a profession, whose rigid sanctity, in the
opinion of a few, had been violated by the writing of
“ Douglas.” Mr Home had the satisfaction of living
to see the prejudices of many in his country completely
subdued ; and that performance, which procured its
author so much obloquy at one time, become a subject
of national pride.

““ To account for this extraordinary phenomenon,”
says Dr Carlyle, “ so far down in the eighteenth cen-
tury, it is to be observed, that not a few well-meaning
people, and all the zealots of that time, were seriously
offended with a clergyman for writing a tragedy, even
though of virtuous tendency, and with his brethren
for giving him countenance. They were joined by
others out of mere envy. At the same time certain
lcaders of the moderate party among the clergy hav-
ing become jealous of some young clergymen who had
discovered talents for business, bethought themselves
of fixing a stigma upon them that might prevent their
rising into influence in the councils of the church.
With this view they united with their forme;r;;‘rro-
nents, joined them in their cry against the ful
crime of attending stage plays, and led them into mea-
sures for bringing one of the offenders, whom they
thought they could easiest reach, by means of his rres-
bytery, to condign punishment. To this was added,
at the same time, a small share of political enmity,
which served to blend the parties together in a manner
beretofore unknown and unusual.”

The General Assembly of the Church, which metin
1757, accordingly made a declaratory act, in which they
enjoined all pm{) teries ° to take care that none of the
ministers of this church do, upon any occasion, attend
the theatre,” As this was the first act of the assem-
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bly against the stage, it was little regarded, and the
clergy, as they had formerly done,” continued still to
attend the theatre occasionally. Naz, so remarkable
was the change which afterwards tool {)lace, that du-
ring the sitting of the General Assembly in the year
1784, when the great actress Mrs Siddons first appear-
ed in Edinburgh, that ecclesiastical court was neces-
sitated to fix all its important business for the alternate
days on which she had not to perform, as all the
younger members, clergy as well as laity, took their
places in the theatre on those days by three in the af-
ternoon ! The benefits which have accrued to the cler-
gy, since an attendance at the theatre was allowed, is
very apparent 3 and that rustic vulgarity of provincial
dialect, which formerly disgraced the pulpit, is now
a{]mos't1 banished from the members of the established
church.

Theatrical entertainments continuing te be encour-
aged in Edinburgh, a new playhouse was begun in
1768 ; and when the extension of the royalty over the
New Town was obtained, a clause was added to the
bill enabling his Majesty to license a theatre in Edin-
burgh, which since that time has been dignified with
the title of the “ Theatre-Royal.” The expence of
‘the house, wardrobe, and scenery, amounted to L.6900
Sterling, and it was opened for exhibition under the
management of Mr David Ross, of Covent-Garden
Theatre, in December 1769, This gentleman having
become patentee by purchase, continued his exertions
for a short time under the sanction of the royal autho-
rity. But the ill success he met with considerably
damped the ardour with which he commenced his
theatrical career ; and the unlucky accident of the
North Bridge falling lessened his expectations as to
the profits of the ensuing season.

Mr Ross having thus become unsuccessful in his
first scason, let the theatre to the celebrated Foote,
who brought with him such a company as insured suc-
cess at the second opening of J:: iou.sc. Among
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Foote’s troop were the well known performers Wood-
ward and Weston. Such was his success, that, after
deducting all expences, he cleared considerably upwards
of I..1000, with which he returned to London. The
management upon this was conveyed by Foote to
Messrs Digges and Bland. Mr Bland had been ori-
ginally a partner with Mr Ross, and had contributed
L. 400 to the price of the patent. But his concern
was afterwards repurchased by Mr Ross for an annu-
ity of L. 100, wriig which the theatre continued to be
charged during Mr Bland’s life. The managers set
out with an excellent company, in which Mrs Hartley
made her first appearance, and cleared in that season
upwards of L. 1400. Bland, in conjunction with
Digges, continued to manage the theatre for several
years with various success, till Mr Digges, from his
Imprudence, was once more obliged to leave Edin-
urgh.

Signor Dominico Corri, and Mr Wilkinson of York,
successively held the current lease after the departure
of Digges ; and the business of the stage was occa-
sinnnﬁzy superintended by Mr Bland, till November
1781, when Mr John Jackson purchased the theatre,
wardrobe, scenery, &c. from the late patentce, Mr
David Ross.

Mrs Siddons appeared in Edinburghin 1784 ; and
such was the anxiety to witness her performances, that
L.200 were subscribed by a party of gentlemen to
cnable the manager to make an adequate offer to this
celebrated actress, for which they claimed the right
10 a certain number of seats in ‘the pit, to which
llhcy were admitted previous to the opening of the
doors.

In the year 1788, a new patent was procured in the
name of' tf;e Duke of Hamilton and Mr Henry Dun-
das, afterwards Viscount Melville, with the consent of
Mr Jackson the proprietor, at whose expence it was
taken ont. An occurrence happened in the theatre this
year, which shews how difficult it is for a'manager ta
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introduce a new performer into which custom
has sanctioned as the property of another. This was
the case of Mr James E‘ennell, a young performer of
considerable merit, having parts allotted to him by the
manager, in which the public had long been accus-
tomed to see Mr Woods. Several disturbances hng-
pened in the theatre on this occasion between the fi-
vourers of the different performers ; but the manager
was at last obliged to comply with the voice of the ma-
jority, and Mr Femnell relinquished his situation.
After a management of eleven years, Mr Jackson’s af-
fairs having fallen into disorder, the theatre was let
for one year by his creditors to Mr Stephen Kemble,
in November 1791, it being previou:l]; understood
between the parties that Mr Jackson was to retain a
half share, and Mr Kemble to have the management.
Mr Jackson’s not finding Mr Kemble security for his
portion of the rent, occasioned a misunderstanding,
which afterwards terminated in a law-suit, and the
erection of a rival theatre at the Circus by Mr Kemble
in the following year.

Mr Kemble beinr unsuccessful in his attempt to
procure the theatre in 1792, it was let by the itors
of Mr Jackson to Mrs Esten for one year, who opened
the house under the management of Mr Williamson
on the 12th January 1793, and Mr Kemble's rival
theatre at the Circus, which was opened on the 21st,
was, by a decision of the Court of Session, declared to
be an encroachment on the patent for the regular thea-
tre.

At the end of the season, however, Mr Kemble
procured the theatre from the creditors of Mr Jack-
son, and it remained under his management till No-
vember 1800, when it was again purchased, along with
the Glasgow theatre, by Mr Jackson, in conjunction
with Mr Aickin of Liverpool, for L. 8020.

Mr Jackson’s patent having expired in 1809, it was
renewed in the name of trustees as formerly, and
acquired by Mr Henry Siddons. Mr Siddons, upon
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his becoming manager, fitted up Corri’s Rooms, for-

merly the Circus, as a theatre, at an expence of up-~

wnng of L. 4000, in which performances were conti«

nued for two seasons ; but circumstances having ren-

dered it necessary for Mr Siddons to occupy the old

theatre, he waumed the property of that house on be-
un

coming bo to pay L.2000 guineas annually for
twentg-one ears, gnobligau'on being in force from
the date of the t

Mr Siddons died in 1815, and the theatre is now
under the management of his brother-in-law, Mr W.
H. Murray, who, in addition to the regu.lm company,
annually presents the Edinburgh public with most of
the celebrated London

As the Edinburgh theatre, from various circum-
stances, has never yet proved a lucrative concern to any
of its successive managers, the erection of a new theatre,
which the general improvement of the city renders ne-
cessary, can only be accomplished by public subscrip-
tion. " The site of the old house, from the improve-
ments which have taken place in its immediate neigh-
bourhood, is now become of particular. value; and,
should another situation be procured for a new thea-
tre, the money procured from the sale of the old one
might perhaps clear off all the incumbrances with
which it has hitherto loaded.

The northern termination of the Earthen Mound
presents a situation sufficiently centrical and spacious
for the erection of a new theatre ; and there is little
doubt of the receipts at such a house being sufficient
to enable the patentee to pay a handsome interest for
any sum whicrmigm be expended in its erection.

MUSIC.

Music has always been a favourite amusement in
Scotland from the most early periods; and the Scot-
tish songs are universally admired for the pathetic
sweetness which distingui;hes them from the music

o
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of every other country. T'o what era these songs may
be referred, it is impossible to decide with certainty.
In a dissertation published by the late Mr William
Tytler, in the first volume of the Transactions of the
Society of Scottish Antiquaries, many of our favourite
songs are conjectured to have been in use or com
during the reign of James I.  But Mr Ritson asserts,
with great probability of truth, that what is imagin-
ed centuries old is of modern date, and that no direct
evidence can be shown, of any tune, familiar to our
ears at present, having existed before the Restora-
tion.

Be that as it may, however, it is more than proba-
ble that the song has existed in Scotland from the
rudest times. Most of our ancient. authors speak of
music ; and Winton the historian records a song com-
posed upon the death of Alexander III., who was ac-
cidentally killed in the year 1285. Asthis is the ear-
liest specimen of Scottish song which has been dis-
ctlwered, we shall be excusetf for inserting it in this
place.

Quhen Alessander oure kynge wes dede,
That Scotland led in lueve and le,
Away wes sons off ale and brede,
Off wyne and wax, off gamyn and gle ;
Our gold wes changyd into lede :
Cryst, borne into vergynyte,
Succour Scotland, and rzymgae
That stad in his perplexite !

In the fifteenth century, the rules of composition
and the science of music seem to have been very gene-
rally known. James I. is celebrated by the Scottish
historians as an_excellent performer, and as a great
theorist in music. Upon the harp he excelled the
Irish, or “ sylvestres Scoti, qui in illa arte precipue
sunt.” In the excellent poem of < Peblis to the Play,”
wrote by that prince, he refers to songs, which, per-
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haps were popular in the country at that time. The
following stanzas mention two of these:—

Ane zoung man stent into that steid,
Als cant as ony colt,
Ane birkin hat upon his heid,
With ane bow and ane bolt 3
Said, mirrie maidinis, think nocht lang,
The wedder is fair and smolt;
He cleikit up ane hie ruf sang,
Thair fure ane man to the holt,
¢ Quod he,
Of Peblis to the play.

He fippilit lyke ane faderles fole,

And said, be still, my sweit thing—

Be the haly rud of Peblis,

I may nocht rest for greting.—

He quhissilit and he pypit bayth,

To mak hir blyth that meiting ;

My hony hart, how sayis the sang ?

Thair sal be mirth at our meting
Zit,

Of Peblis to the play.

In some of the prologues to Gavin Douglas’s trans«

tion of Virgil, several songs are likewise meutioned ;
and in the *“ Complaint of Scotland,” published at St
Andrew’s in 1549, is a pretty numerous list.

Bower, who wrote in 1444-1449, gives an account
of the state of music in his time ; and declares it as the
opinion of many, that the Scottish music not only
equalled, but excelled that of the Irish. The histo-
rian, John Major, who flourished about the latter end
of the fifteenth century, asserts, that the musicisns of
Scotland were as perfect as those of England, although
they were not so numerous as in the latter country.
The Highlanders, says he,  lyra utuntur, cujus chor-
das ex @re, et non ex iniestinis animalium faciunt, in
oua dulcissime modulantur.”
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James ITI. was an encour of the arts im Scot-
land ; and in his reign one William Rogers, an Eng-
lish musician, enjoyed a considerable share of the royal
favour. James IV., who perished on the unfortunate
field of Flowden, was likewise skilled in music. At
his marriage ““ he played of the clarycordes, and after
of the lute;” and “ Yastynge the dinner, they blew
trompetts, mynstrells, and sakkeboutts.”” The high-
spirited monarch, James V., is well known as the re-

uted author of two songs of merit, and considerable
umour, “ The Gaberlunzieman,” and “ The Jolly
Beggars.”

In the families of the feudal chiefs or heads of clans,
the Bard was a considerable nage. The office
of this person was, upon festivals or solemn occasions,
to sing or rehearse the splendid actions of the heroes,
ancestors of the family, which he accompanied with
the sweet sounds of the harp. At this time, too, there
‘were itinerant or strolling minstrels, performers on the
harp, who went about the country, from place to place,
reciting heroic ballads, aud other iopnhr isodes.
To these sylvan minstrels we are perhaps indebted for
the preservation of many fine old melodies, if the
ggssigility is allowed of their having been so preserv=

The most ancient musical instruments among the
Scots must have been simple ; but what these were, or
what was their construction, is in a great measure left
to conjecture. In the ¢ Houlate,” an allegorical
written by one Holland, about the year 1450, a num-
ber of musical instruments are enumerated, most, if
not all, of which were probably in use, or well known
at that time. The following is the stanza in which
they are mentioned :—~

All thus our ladye thai lofe, with lyking and lift,
Menstralis and musicians, mo than I mene may,
The psaltry, the citholis, the soft athorift,

The croude and the monycordis, the gythornis gay,
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The rote, and the recordour, the ribus, the »ift,

The trump, and the taburn, the tympane but tray ;
The liltpype, and the lute, the cithill and fift,

The dulsate and the dulsacordis, the schalin of affray ;
The amyable organis usit full oft ;

Clarions loud knellis,

Portatibis and bellis,

Cymbaellonis in the cellis,

That soundis so soft.

OFf the eight shepherds mentioned in the * Com-
plaint of Scotland,” published at St Andrew’s in 1548,
“ the fyrst hed ane drone bagpipe, the nyxt hed ane
pipe made of ane bleddir and of ane reid, the third
playit on ane trump, the feyrd on ane corne pype, the
fyft playit on ane pype maid of ane guit horne, the sext
playit on ane recordur, the seuint Playil on ane fiddill,
and the last playit on ane quhissil.”

Among the ornaments which are displayed with so
much profusion upon the Abbey of Meirose ure seve~
ral figures of musicians. On the south-west wall is
one playing upon an instrument, the lower part only
of which remains ; and from what appears it seems to
be a flute or hautbois, with, at most, six holes. Near
this is a bagpipe blown with the mouth, with one
drone. The wm)le of this, however, is much defaced.
There is another instrument here, which strikingly rc=
sembles the violin, with four strings; the sounding
holes, however, are pldced above the bridge; but the
hand of the instrument is gone, and the rest of it is
much decayed. Besides this is a female figure, play-
ing upon a six stringed instrument, in form like tne
longitudinal section of a pear, and the strings disposed
In pairs. Upon the west side of the abbey there is a
similar instrument, with the strings singly disposed.
These have been conjectured to be a kind of lute.
The Abbey of Melrose is said to have been founded
by David I. in' 1146. In the chapel of Roslin, about
seven miles south from Edinburgh, upon the archi-
traves of the pillars are also several very distinet fi-

nd2
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gures of persons playing upon musical instruments ;
one of which is an angel playing upon a bagpipe.

It is probable, that, among a warlike people such as
the Scots, those instruments would be first introduced
which were of use to them in their predatory excur~
sions. Horns, which were anciently used in battle,
and trumpets, which are but an elengation of the horn,
are, perhaps, the most ancient instruments. Each
warrior carried, in ancient times, a horn, suspended by
a cord about his neck, to animate him in the battle.
The noise made by these horns was hideous, and could
be heard at a distance of four miles ; according to
Froissart, it *“ seemed as if all the devils of hell had
been there.” Cochran, the fayourite of the monarch,
James IIL, is said to have had a horn of peculiar ele~

nee.
8aNext in antiquity to the horn and trumpet may be
placed the harp, which seems to have becn a favourite
instrument among the Highland Scots. It was much
used by the wandering minstrels, and with it they ac-
companied their songs and recitations. The bagpipe,
however, which is now almost entirely confined to the
Highlands, appears to have been one of the most com-
mon instruments in the low part of the country. James
I., in his poem formerly quoted, introduces the bag~
pipe to heighten the disorderly festivities of < Pebliz
to the Play.”

With that Will Swane came sweitand out,
Ane meikle millar man,

Giff I sall dance, have doune, lat se,

Blaw up the bagpyp than.

The bagpyp blew, and they out threw
Quite from the townis untald.

But the bagpipe was not peculiar to Scotland, nor
did it attain mucfnenotice there, especially in the liigb-
Tands; till the ¢ lays of the last minstrels” had entire~
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ly ceased. 1In the sister kingdom this instrument
seems to have been likewise introduced, &nd a bag-
gleper was retained in the court of Queen Eliza-

th.  “ As melancholy as the drone of a Lincolnshire
bdi]ripe," is one of the similies put into the mouth of
Falstaff by Shakespeare. 'The ipe, or, at least, a
similar instrument, was not unknown to the ancients.
Representations of it are frequently met with on coins,
vases, and other monuments of antiquity ; and among
the Romans it was known by the name of * tibia utri-
cularia.” In some of the towns south of the Forth a
public piper is still retained.

The Church Music, before the Reformation, appears
to have been in no contem&lible state. James I. in~
troduced organs into the cathedrals and abbeys of Scot-
land, and composed several anthems or vocal pieces of
sacred music. The choral service at this time was
brought to such a degree of perfection as to fall little
short of the English, who were thought to excel all
other nations in _this tment. By the preserva-
tion of some of the choral service books from the ha-
voc of the Reformation, the church music seems to
have consisted entirely of harmonic compositions, of
from four to eight parts, all in strict counterpoint.
Though deficient in air, such pieces were perfectl
suited to the solemaities of religious adoration ; an
when performed by a full choir of voices, accompa~
hii;d by the organ, must have had a solemn and awful
e

ects

After the Reformation, it became a practice with
the pious and godly clergy to adapt their enthusiastic
thapsodies to the tunes of common songs, of whicl
they for the most part preserved a few lines at the be-
ginni;

Ab';g.t the year 1590, a collection of these pieces
was printed at Edinburgh by Andrew Hart, under the
title of “ A compendious book of got‘l)lg and spiritual
sanges, collectit out of sundrie parts of the Scriptures,



320 MUSIC.

with sundrie of other ballats, changed out of pro-
phaine sanges, for avoiding of sinme and harlotrie.
T'his book has been since reprinted by Lord Hailes,
and affords a curious picture of the manners of the age
when it was first published.

‘Musical entertainments were frequent, and seem to
have been respectably conducted in Edinburgh, about
the end of the seventeenth century. - A paper publish-
ed in the first volume of the ** I'ransactions of the So-
ciety of Antiquaries of Scotland,” presents us with a
¢ Plan of a grand concertof music, performed at Edin-
burgh on St Cecilia’s day, 1695.” It appears from this
plan, that the metropolis could exhibit a concert, with
an orchestra consisting of above thirty performers. Of
these, no less than nineteen were gentlemen of the
first rank and fishion ; the remainder were professors
or masters of music. Concerts of this kind were held
at intervals prior to and after this period ; and on the
29th of March 1728, a musical society was instituted,
for the performance of weekly concerts.

This musical association consisted of a limited num-
ber, selected from the nobility and gentry of known
taste, most of whom could either perform on some in-
strument, ortake partin a chorus. A governor, depu-
ty-governor, and five directors, were annually elect:
from among the members, and in these the whole ma-
nagement of the affairs of the society were vested. At
their first erection into a society they met for the per-
formance of concerts in St Mary’s Chapel, a building
which has since been removed. Their numbers, how-
ever, soon increasing, it became necessary to have a
larger place of meeting. A hall was accordingly built
in 1762, at the foot of the lane called Niddry's Street,
after the model of the great opera-theatre in Parma.
The plan for this building was drawn by Sir Robert
Mylue, the architeet of Bluckfriars Bridge:  The prin-
cipal music room was of an oval form, lighted from
the top, the ceiling beingea concave elliptical dome.
‘The seats were ranged in the fonn of an amphitheatre,
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and were capable of containing 500 persons. The or-
c?'e.tl:l‘ was at plt::x \lnpperlend of the room, at the head
of which was an elegant organ. y

As Lg:: first band of this society consisted chiefly of
gentlemen who performed, it was denominated the
“ Gentlemen’s Concert.” But, in the course of time,
these becoming less plenty, professional men were in=
vited from abroad to assist in the performances, till at
length the orchestra was almost entirely filled up with
professed musicians. This musical society subsisted
about sixty or seventy years, and continued during the
greater part of that time to be a favourite resort of' all
who pretended to taste in harmony. The liberal prin=
tiples on which it was conducted reflect high honour
on the gentlemen who projected and encouraged the
undertaking. Admission was obtained by special tick-
ets, which were not transferable, and served for &e
night only for which they were granted. These tick=
ets were a{ways gratis, except when benefits were gi=
ven for the emolument of performers. It deserves to
be remarked, that strangers who wished to visit this
entertainment were always preferred in the distribu-
tion of tickets, and everyattention was paid them which
could be ex: from gentlemen who, with views a-
bove being bi by interest, conducted at their own
expence one of the most elegant entertainments which
civilized nations can enjoy.

In St Cecilia’s Hall, the best compositions of the old
school took the lead in the plans of the concerts ; and
the oratorios of Handel were occasionally performed.
In the former Imods of this institution, the concerts
were ably con: while the excellent ers
Pinto and Puppo, and not unfrequently the Earl of
Kelly himself, led the band. The celebrated Tenduc-~
ci also often appeared in St Cecilia’s Hall, and the
Scottish melodies, in his hands;, received all the pathos
and melting tenderness of which they are so susceptible,
The greatest instrumental performers of that time,
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among whom were Fischer, Salomon, Jarnowick, and
Cramer, often visited the country so famed for its
simple melodies, and added to the enjoyment of the
select musical cirele of Edinburgh.

After Puppo had withdrawn himself from the week-
ly concerts, the directors were at no small pains to get
a proper person to supply his place as the leader of the
orchestra. At this time a young performer of promi-
sing celebrity as a violin player ap; at Rome ; and
the directors resolved to invite him to settle in the
Scottish capital.  The offer was aceépted, and Signor
Stabilini arrived at Edinburgh in the year 1783. This

rformer made his first essay in such a style as to gain

im unqualified approbation ; and he was declared
not unworthy to succeed his celebrated predecessor.
But Signor Stabilini, though a respectable performer,
probably from the want of rivalship in his department,
never advanced much beyond the limits to which his
talents had arrived.

Soon afterwards, the entertainments of St Cecilia’s
Hall n to be gradually neglected, and at last were
totally deserted. The hall was in consequence shut
u;:. and afterwards dispossed of. It was then occupi-
ed as a place of worship by a congregation of Baptists ;
finally purchased by the Grand Lodge in 1812as a
l;;lll - r their meetings, and is now named Freemasons’

ail. e

After the weekly concerts in St Cecilia’s Hall were
given ur, subscription concerts were performed in the
Assembly Rooms, George’s Street, and at Corri’s Rooms,
formerly the Circus, and now again transformed into
a place tor equestrian and pantomimical exhibitions un-
der the name of the Pantheon.  OF late years also that
eminent performer, Mr Yaniewicz, has annually in
winter given concerts under his superintendence.

The low state of music in Scotland had long been
2 matter of regret to the lovers of that delightful art ;
and it appears difficult to account for the circumstan-
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ces that a le, renowned for possessing a national
music of umgalleled beauty, should have been so in-
different to the cultivation of the higher branches of
the art. In Germany the diffusion of a taste for mu~
sic is universal ; and there are few even among the
lower orders who are not acquainted with the works of
the great composers of that country. Two general
causes, which }mve operated powerfullyin the improve-
ment of music in other countries, havehitherto had
little effect in Scotland. The choral church service,
in most other countries, has led by degrees from the
rude chaunts of the earlier composersto the choruses of
Handel and Hadyn: and the theatre bas given rise to
the most exquisite compositions of modern times. The
want of musical establishmnts in Edinburgh, (for
since, St Cecilia’s Hall was given up no regular esta-
blishment of this kind existed,) contributed also to
the slow growth of a taste for the classical music of
foreign composers.

When a Musical Festival was first pro, by some
public spirited individuals in the end of the year 1+14,
the plan. was supported by a number of the most re-
spectable individuals in the country ; and the subscrip-
tion which was afterwards opened, was soon filled to
an extent sufficient to authorize the directors to engnfu
performers, and arrange the other preparatory details,
The arrangements having been conclused, the ¥
mances were announced to commence on Tuesday the
31st October 1815, and to continue during the remain-
der of the week. The sensation excited by this grand
exhibition of musical talent_had from the beginning
been considerable ; but as the period of its commence-
ment drew near, the interest became excessive, toa
degree never before seen in Edinburgh. For weeks
before, the influx of strangers was unprecedented ; and
before the Festival began every hotel and lodging-house
were crowded.

The morning performances took place in the t
outer hall of the Parliament House, which was fitted
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up for the occasion ; and the evening concerts were
g\vcn in Corri’s Rooms. The principal vocal per<
ormers were Madame Marconi, Mrs Salmon, Mr
Braham, Mr Smith, a bass singer, dnd Mr Swift. The
chorus singers werebetween fifty and sixty in number,
among whom were several of the celebrated Lancashire
singers, and a number from London and York. The
instrumental band consisted of an assemblage of talent
mre?' to be ifict with. Mr Yaniewicz was the leader,
besides whom were Lindley, Dnaqneui, Holmes, the
Petrides, Nicholson, Mariotti, Hyde, Mather, and
others, and almost ev:a!? subordinate part was filled by
a person fully qualified to doit justice. The whole of
the music was exquisitely performed ; and the Parlia-
ment House was every day crowded to excess hours
before the performance commenced. There were four
performances of Sacred Musicin the Parliament House ;
and among the compositions performed in the evening
at Corri’s Rooms was an admirable overture compos-
ed by Mr G. F. Graham of this city, which receiv-
ed distinguished marks of approbation. The city
during this time Kresented a scene of gaiety and splen-
dour, far beyond any thing which had been seen
before ; and which will pro%)nbly not be seen again
till a similar occasion produce a similar assemblage.
After gaying all expences, the sum distributed a-
;long the charities of Edinburgh amounted to about
. 1500.

The effects of this first Musical Festival in Edin-
burgh have been otherwise beneficial in disseminating,
if ot in’creating, a taste for music where it was muc
wanted, — in the services of the church. Though the
Presbyterian form of worship excludes the use of in-
strumental music, yet it was desirable that some im-
provement should take place; and the institution
which the Festival was the means of giving rise to,
has already had considerable effect in all the churches
of the city,

4
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Institution for Sacred Music.

This institution was projected in November 1815 ;
and a numerous meeting of gentlemen friendly to the
measure having been held in the City Chambers on the
25th December, it was resolved to form themselves into
a society, under the title of “ The Edinburgh Institu-
tion for Sacred Music.” The leading object of this in-
stitution is “ to instruct singers in the performance of
church music and oratorios, in the confident hope that
the singers thus taught, being diffused throughout the
various places of worship which they are accustomed to
attend, and becoming serviceable as precentors and
teachers, will improve the psalmody by leading all clas-
ses to engage in it more generally, and with greater
skil.” The next step was to procure singers, and
an _advertisement was published, offering instrue-
tion to all who were disposed to come forward free
of expence. The multitude of applicants was im
mense; but a selection was made of about 380, who
were put under the tuition of Mr Mather. Under
the care of this able master, the progress of the silzsen
was rapid ; and in no long time they were enabled to
perform the choruses of Handel and Haydn with con-
siderable effect. The institution is supported by most
of the amateur instrumental performers in Edinburgh ;
and public concerts are given at intervals in the course
of the year. The teaching of the singers is now con-
ducted by Mr Swift; and the mstitution is supported
by annual subscriptions, which entitle the subscribers
toadmittance to the concerts.

The success of the last Musical Festival has induced
the directors to make arrangements for a second this
year, (1819 ;) and it is to be hoped that these splendid
displays of musical talent, which, besides the
effects they are calculated to bave on the nation
taste, have so much benefited the charities of Edin=
blu'tﬁh, will in future be as successful in their results
ts the first,

EC
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DANCING,

Dancing is an amusement which has prevailed a-
mong all nations from the earliest periods of their his-
tory. In the reign of James I., whatever the dances
may have been in Scotland before that time, they had
assumed a :{gulnr form, and the different kinds were
distinguished by specific names. In thepoem of “ Peblis
to the Play,” mention is made of one of these in the
following lines ¢ .

With that Will Swane came sweitand out,
Ane meikle millar man ;

Giff I sall dance, have doune, lat so,
Blaw up the yp than ;

The Schamon’s dance 1 mon begin,

I trow it sall not pane.

In the “ Complaiut of Scotland,” which was printed
in 1548, there is a description of a dance in a rifig,
where ““evyrie ald scheiphyrd led his vyfe be the hand,
and evyrie zong scheipird led hyr quhome he luffit best.
There was viij scheiphyrdis, and ilk ane of them had
ane syndry instroment to play to the laif.”"—< It was
ane celest recreation to behold ther lycht lopene, gal-
mouding, stendling, backwart and forduart, dansand
base dancis, pauuans, galzardis, tardions, braulis, and
branglis, buffons, vitht mony vthir Iycht dancis, the

uhilk are over prolixt to be rehersit.”” It would seem
that at this period regular dances had been common,
as the author of' the work now quoted enumerates no
fess than thirty of their names.

About a century later, balls were a common enter-
tainment in the capital of Scotland. When the Duke
of York kept his court at the palace of Holyroodhouse,
in 1681and 1682, balls and may&umdcs were frequent-
ly given. The ma:gnendes, owever, owing to the
religious strictuess of the times, were seon obliged to
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be laid aside. The clergy could not tolerate such a
profane entertainment as Promiscuous dancing, (as
they styled it,) in which all sorts of le met toge-
therin disguise.” Private balls, notwithstanding, were
continued till the duke was recalled to London.

A regular assenubly was established in Edinburgh in
the year 1710, and ‘a house taken for the purpose in
the lane now called from it the Old Assembly Close.
The direction of this Assembly continued in the hands
of private individuals till the year 1746, when several
persons of distinction assumed the direction of it, with
an intention of applying the money that might be drawn.
from the institution to charitable purposes. ‘The rules
of this Assembly, so philanthropic in its design, de~
serve to be recorded to the honour of the encouragers
of the plan. These rules were only the two which fol«
low, viz. 1. “ That all things relating to the ma
ment of the Assembly (dancing excepted) be u
the direction of seven men, to meet occasionally to
tieat of the affuirs of the Assembly.—2. That the ma-
nagement of dancing, and things relating thereto, be
under the inspection of seven directresses, (ladies of
great distinction,) alternately to aet in the direction,
by agreement amongst themselves ; and the lady, on
her night of management, to be disdn?uished by a
golden badge, whereon is engraven a pelican feeding
Ler young, with the motto * Charity ;” and on the re-
verse the figure of a woman, representing Charity,
leaning on a shield, with the arms of Edinburgh, a
child leaning on her knee—the motto *‘ Edinburgh.”

The liberality with which the Public Amusements
of Edinburgh were formerly conducted deserves to be
remarked with particular approbation. For upwards
of fifty years dicrthe gentlemen of the city give week-
l{; concerts to the public at their own expence ;
the profits of the assembly for many years, instead of
enriching the pockets of private individuals, went to:
alleviate the sorrows which poverty and disease laid on
the poorer part of the community |
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The apartments in which the asserably was held
Jbecoming too small for the increasin, tion of the
city, it was removed to the lane lel()lo%ell’s Wynd,
whereassemblies continued to be kept until the erection
of the New Town, the elegance of which ill suited the
poor accommodation which the rooms in Bell’'s Wynd
afforded. A new assembly room was accordingly pro-
jected to be erected in the New Town, in such astyle
as should not be unsuitable to the general elegance
of the other buildings Upon the removal of the as-
semblies from Bell's Wynd, the apartments were used
as the guard-room and watch-house of the city.

Assembly Rooms.

The New Assembly Rooms, George’s Street, were
built by subseription, and finished in 1787, The ex-
ternal appearance of the building is by no means stri=
king; but the elegant accommodation within makes
ample compensation for any defects of outward appear~
ance. 'The principal ball-room is 92 feet 42 feet
wide, and 40 feet in height. It is lighted by eleven
large crystal lustres, and has an organ at its upper end.
On one side, in a circular recess, and at a convenient
height, is the orchestra. There is also a tea-room, 52
feet long by 85 in breadth, which serves for the dan-
cing-room of the card assemblies. There are two card-
rooms, 32 feet by 18, and a grand saloon, 24 feet square,
besides other smaller rooms. In 1818 a portico was
erected in the front of this building, supported by four
Doric columns, which gives it a more attractive appear-
ance than it formerly exhibited. Two assemblies are
held weekly thmih the winter, the one a dancing, the
other a card assembly. The card-parties are rather se-
leet than numerous ; but the dancing assemblies are
weli frequented.

When the city was extended on the southern quar-
ter, an Assembly Room was built by subscription for
the inhabitants of that district, in G 's Square ;
but, after the trial of a few seasons, the scheme proved
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unsuccesstul, and it was in consequence sold and con= -
verted into dwelling houses.

The Pantheon.

The Pantheon stands at the head of the great road
from Edinburgh to Leith. The building which is
thus denominated was erected for the purpose of
cquestrian performances. But these not meeting with
much encouragement, were obliged of necessity to be-
given up. The successive revolutions which have hap--
pened to this unfortunate buildi:g deserve to be re-
marked. After it was relinquished by the equestrians, .
it was fitted up by Mr Stephen Kemble as a theatre, |
and subsequently converted into a place of worship,
and oecupied by several sectaries. It was then fit-
ted up by Mr Corri as a ball and concert room ; trans-
formed for the second time into a theatre in 1810 ;
and after being again transformed into ball-rooms;
. was in 1817 restored to its original destination under
the title of the Pantheon.

While the circus was thus successively occupied, the
equestrian company who annually visited Edinburgh
performed in a temporary wooden building, erected on’
the north side of the college. g

Royal Academy of Ezercises.

The Riding-School, or Royal Acedemy of Exercises,
was built by subscription. The sum raised for this
purpose during the first three years was L. 2733, 15s.
It was opened in the year 1764 ; and in 1766 received
4 royal charter, with a salary of L. 200 a year to the
master. The building, which is by no means an orna-
nental one, stands on the east side of Nicolson’s Street,
and is 124 feet long by 42 broad. There is also 4 room
where fencing is taught by an able master. :

Royal Company of Archers.

"The Royal Company of Archersin Edinburgh is the
most remarkable of the kind now existing. Before
el
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the invention of gunpowder, archery was much cul-
tivated both in England and in this country as a
warlike art. The Scottish archers, however, were in-
ferior in the exercise of this weapon of offence to the
English. James I., during his captivity in England,
remarked the striking disparity ; and immediately on
his return to take possession of the throne of his an-
cestors, he appears to have exercised extraordinary
care in order to improve the Scots in the practice of
archery. In the very first parliament of his reign,
therefore, he procured an act, enjoining all his sub-
jeets, from twelve years of age and upwards, to apply
themselves frequently to the exercise of shooting with
the bow, and directed bow-butts to be set up, and
places for this exercise marked out, near all parish
churches, and within every estate, the rents of' which
amounted to L. 10 of the money of that time. A fine
of a wedder was also imposed upon every person who
should neglect to yield obedience to this command.
In the year 1457 a new law was passed with regard to
archery ; bow-butts were of new ordered to be set up,
and a bow-maker was directed to be established in the
principal town of every county. ‘I'he annual musters
of the archers at this time were called weapon shaw-
ings; and many other acts of the Scottish {:éishture
were passed’ to enforce the practice of this exercise
through the country.

The ancient records of the Royal Company of Arch-
ers having been destroyed by fire about the begin-
ning of the last century, no authentic records of its
institution now remain. It has been said, however,
to owe its origin to the commissioners appointed in
the reign of James I. for enforcing the practice of arch-
ery in the different counties. ‘These commissioners,
it is related, having chosen some of the most dex-
terous archers from among the better sort of people,
formed them into a company for defending the king's
person as a body-gmm‘l.l The company, it is sad,

0
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;tli]ll claim this privilege within six miles of the capi-

The practice of archery having been much decayed,
several noblemen and gentlemen, in the year 1676, as-
seciated themselves into & body for its restoration ;
and the Marquis of Athole was elected their captain-
general. The association was confirmed by the Scot-
tish privy-council in the year 1677 ; and the Commis-
sioners of the Treasury gave the company L.20 to
purchase a prize, to be shot for at their annual trials
of skill.

On the accession of Queen Anne, the celebrated
Sir George Mackenzie was the c:-:Xmin-geneml ; and
in the year 1713 that queen ere the company into
a corporation, by the title of the al Company
of Archers.” The magistrates of Elﬁnb h also
;;,u\'c them a silver arrow as a prize to be annually shot
or.,

The first public parade of the company was in the
vear 1714, at which time they marched in procession
from the Parliament Square to Holyroodhouse, and
from thence to Leith, dressed in the elegant uniform
of the order. After the rebellion of 1715, the com-
pany discontinued their annual exhibitions of* skill,
and from that period there was no parade of the arch~
ers for fifteen years. In the present reign, however,
his Majesty renewed the royal prize, and the company
now parade occasionally as zmnerly.

The Company of Archers have a neat hall for their
l\n{cgtiings at the east end of the public walk called the
Meadows.

Company of Golfers.

The Golfis an amusement peculiar to Scotland, and
has been practised in this country from the most re~
mote antiquity. By a statute of James IL., in 15657,
this amusement, together with that of the foot-ball,
was prohibited, that it might not interfere with the
more martial exercise of the  weapon shawings.” A
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Company of Golfers in Edinburgh was established in
the year 1744, at which time the town-council gave
them a silver club, to be annually played for by the
members of the company. There are now three other
elubs of gentlemen associated for this healthy amuse~
ment. The place whe:e *his gume is usually played
is on the downs of Edinburgh and Leith, here called
Links. 'The parties are one, two, or more, on each
side. The balls used are extremely hard, and about
the size of a tennis-ball ; and the club, with which
the ball is struck, is formed of ash, slender and elas-
tic, having a crooked head, faced with horn, and load-
ed with lead to render it heavy. The balls are struck
by the clubs, of which there are several kinds, into
small holes, ahout a quarter of a mile distant from one
another, and he or they who convey the ball into these
holes in succession, with the fewest strokes, is declar-
ed the victor. The distance to which an expert player
at this game will strike a ball is amazing ; and there
is an anecdote related of a gentleman, who, upon a
wager, struck a ball from the Castle Hill into the high-
g;t part of the garrison, a height of above two hundred

There was formerly an established Cock-pit in
Edinburgh ; but this barbarous amusement has long
since been given up. Tennis was also formerly an
amusement. A club, for what is called Curling, or
the propelling of smooth stones upon ice, and a Skaif-
ing Club, meet in winter, when the frost is sufficiently
intense, at.the small 1akes in the neighbourhood.

The anmual horse-races of Edinburgh were for-
merly held at Leith, on the sandy shore, at low
water. But the unfivourable nature of the ground,
and the difficulty of procuring a space of sufficient
size near the city, has been the occasion of removing
the races to Musselburgh, a town about six miles east
of Edinburgh, where there is an excellent turf course
and stand. ¥

“The Caledonian Hunt have sometimes their mcet-
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ings at Edinburgh ; but they do not confine themselves
to any particular district.

PROGRESS AND PRESENT STATE OF
MANNERS.

Tue manners of a people are not the least interest-
ing part of their history. Of the manners aud pecu-
liar habits of the ancient Scots, however, little is
known, bei.n‘g, like their early history, involved in the
darkness of fable and conjecture. On the invasion of'
Agricola, hunting and fishing appear to have been the
principal means by which the ancient inhabitants of
Scotland procured their subsistence. Pasturage and
agriculture were but little known or practised. Huts
made of the branches of trees, or loose stones piled to-
gether, were their habitations, and seats of stone. or
turf their only furniture. Their dress was formed of
the skins of animals ; and these with heath formed
their places of repose. Their warlike weapous, or
those which they used in the chace, were pointed with
stones, fixed to shafts by thongs of leather, or the in-
testines of animals.

_The manners of all nations in a rude state are so
similar, that, it is unnecessary here to enter into the
detail of what mi?‘l‘n be the Caledonian peculiarities.
What these were in their more early stages,may be
known from the accounts of the savage tribes in Ame-
rica, or in those of the natives of the lately discovered
islands of the South Sea. Itis only industry, civiliza-
tion, and commerce, that stamps a ter on nations,
and ‘givee them those peculiar habits by which they
are distinguished from one another.

_ From Fergus I1. to Jages VI., in the list of the
Scottish monarchs, one half of them perished by vio-
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lent deaths. The progress of refinement, for a series
of ages, secms to have been slow, and for centuries the
traits of the savage marked the character of the Scots.
In the reign of David II., when a French embassy
came to Scotland, with a train of nobility and soldiers,
the accommodation which Edinburgh at that time af-
forded was not suflicient for the reception of so many
strangers ; and many of these were obliged to lodge in
Dunfermline and the neighbouring towns. In the
military excursions of this period, the Scottish soldiers
boiled the cattle which they had for provisions in
gx‘gir own hides, and made shoes of the undressed
tins.

In the reign of James I. the houses in the burghs
were not above twenty feet high, and were covered
with thatch. The houses of the great barons, though
many of them were lorge and magnificent, yet afforded
few of the conveniences which are expected in houses
of modern erection. Their apartments were small and
gloomy ; and the state of the count nired securi-
ty, in the construction of houses, tor{)e the first consi-
deration. 'The only furniture in the hall of a great
baron was large standing “tables, benches, and cup-
boards, made chiefly of oak, and without locks or keys,
They eut mostly out of wooden dishes, which were
galled #ren-plates, vsed wooden or horn spoons, and
drank out of wooden cups. Silver was remarkably
scarce, except in monasteries and cathedrals : and
even pewter vessels were accounted rare and costly.
These were only used at Christinas or other festivals;
and yet, poor as they were, the country could not fur-
nish them of its own manufacture. In the year 1430,
eight dozen of pewter dishes, one hundred dozen of
wooden cups, a bason and ewer, three saddles, a dozen
skins of red leather, five dozen ells of woollen cloth,
and twenty casks of wine, were imported from London
for the use of the king of Scots.

‘While thus E)or in domestic conveniences, learning
aiso had made little progress. In the reign of James
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IV. an act , ordering, that every baron or free-
holder should put his eldest son and heir to school te
learn Latin, and afterwards to study Khilosophy and
law, to qualify him for officiating as a sheriff or judge-
ordinary, should his services be required in these ca-~
pacities.

The reign of James IV. was in Scotland the era of
romantic chivalry. Trials by judicial combat, fire
and water ordeal, were at this time frequent. The
king himself, the chief justiciary, and the lord high
constable, were sometimes judges; but the ecclesias-
tics more commonly assumed this office. In the judi-
cial combats, if the accused defended himself from the
rising to the setting sun, he was declared innacent ; if
otherwise, he was found guilty. The last instance of
combats of this kind happened in the reign of James V.

At the fatal battle of Finkey, in 1547, the Scots ap-
pear to have been much improved in their accommoda-
tion. The English found in their camp oatmeal,
oat-cakes, wheaten-bread, butter, cheese, ale, wine;
and in some of the tents was found silver plate. Al-
most every article of dress was at this time foreign ;
and it required the aid of sumptuary laws to repress
the growing extravagance. James II. and James VI.
were also under the necessity of restraining dress by
legal statutes.

Mournings were first introduced into Scotland on the
death of Magdalene of France, the queen of James
V.; but fans in the hands of the ladies, and gentle-
men’s cork-heeled shoes, are mentioned at a much
earlier period.  Ostrich feathers on the head, and roses
displayed at the knees, were fushionable ornaments at
this period. The extravagance of the table, in the
reign of Queen Mary, required the restraint of a
sumptuary law, which prohibited any, under the rank
of an archbishop or car{ to have at table more than
eight dishes ; of an abbot, prior, or dean, above six ; of
a baron or frecholder, above four; and of burgesses
above three. An exception, Lowever, is made as t¢
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feasts at marriages, or those which were given to fo-
reigners, where there was no limitation but the abili-
ties of the person who gave such entertainments. If
the table at that period was not so delicately furnished
as at present, it was, at least, fully as suhstantial.
Three flesh meals in a day were at this time the com-
mon fare.

The manners of the times are thus described by an
Englishman who visited Edinburgh in the year 1598 :
““ Myself,” says he, “ was at arfnight'l house, who
had many servants to attend him, that brought in his
meat, with their heads covered with blue caps, the
table being more than half furnished with grea:oslu-
ters of porridge, each having a little piece of sodden
meat ; and when the table was served, the servants sat
down with us; but the upper mess, instead of por-
ridge, had a pullet, with some prunes in the broth;
and I observed no art of cookery, or furniture of house-
hold stuff, but rather rude neglect of both, though
myself and my companions, sent from the governor of
Berwick about bordering affairs, were entertained af-
ter their best manner.

“ The Scots, living then in factions, used to keep
many followers, and so consumed their revenue of
victuals, living in some want of money. The vulgar-
ly eat hearth cakes of oats, but in cities have alse
wheaten bread, which, for the most part, was bought
by courtiers, gentlemen, and the best sort of citizens.
They drink pure wines, not with sugar as the Eng-
lish ; yet at feasts they put comfits in the wines, after
the French manner ; but they had not our vintners’
f{‘auih to nlnlix their mgﬁs. 1 didﬁ:!ever ;ee nor hear
that they have any public inns with signs hanging out ;
but the{mter sor{spof citizens brew ale, their usual
drink, (which will distemper a stranger’s body ;) and
the same citizens will entertain passengers upon ac-
quaintance or intreaty. Their bedsteads were then
like cupboards in the ‘wall, with doors to be opened
and shut at pleasure, so as -we climbed up to our
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beds.  They used but one sheet, open at the sides and
top, but close at the feet, and so doubled. When
sengers go to bed, their custom was to present them
with a af:epmg cup of wine at parting. The country
people and merchants used to drink largely ; the gen-
tlemen somewhat more sparingly ; yet the very cour-
tiers, by night meetings, and entertaining any strang-
er, used to drink healntﬁs not without excess; and, to
speak truth without offence, the excess of drinking
was then far greater in general among the Scots than
the English. Myself being at the court, invited by
fome gentlemen to supper, and being forwarned to fear
this excess, would not promise to sup with them, but
upon condition that my invitor would be my protec-
tion from large drinking, which I was many times
forced to invoke, being courteously entertained, and
much provoked to carousing; and so for that time
"\)ide({ any great intemperance. Remembering this,
and having since observed, in my conversation at the
English court, with the Scots of the better sort, that
they spend great part of the night in drinking, not on-
’."_ wine, but even beer ; as myself cannot accuse them
ofany great intemperance, so I cannot altogether free
them from the imputation of excess, wherewith the
Popular voice chargeth them.

“The husbandmen in Secotland, the servants, and al-
most all the country, did wear coarse cloth made at
home ofg‘ny or sky colour, and flat blue caps, very
broad. The merchants in cities were attired in Eng-
lish or French cloth, of pale colour, or mingled black
and blue. The gentlemen did wear English cloth or
silk, or light stuffs, little or nothing adorned with sitk

ce, much less with lace of silver or gold; and all
followed at this time the French fashion, especially in
court. Gentlewomen married did wear u bodies
after the German manner, with large whale-bone
sleeves after the French manner, short cloaks, like the
Germans, French hoods, and large falling bands about
their necks. The unmu‘r‘ied of all sorts did go bares

F
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headed, and wear short cloaks, with most close linen
sleeves on their arms, like the virgins of Germany.
The inferior sorts of citizens’ wives, and the women
of the country, did wear cloaks made of a coarse stuff,
of two or three colours, in chequer-work, vulgarly
called pladden. To conclude, in general, they would
not at this time be attired after ,tﬁe English fashion
in any sort ; but the men, especially at court, follow
the French fashion ; and the women, both in court
and city, as well in cloaks as naked heads, and also
sleeves on the arms, and »ll other garments, follow the
fashion of the women in Germany.” ¢

Such is the picture of the manners of the inhabit-
ants of the Scottish metropolis in the end of the six-
teenth century. In the beginning of the seventeenth
century they were not very much improved. Frau-
dulent bankruptcies scem to have been so frequent as
to occasion a severe law to be passed against bankrupts
by the Court of Session. In 1606 they ordered the
roagistrates of the city to erect a pillory of stone near
the market-cross, with a seat on the top of it, on
which were to be placed ¢ all dyvours (insolvent debt-
ors) quha sall sit thairon ane mercat-day, from ten
houres in the morning, quill ane hour after dinner.
Night robberies and riots on the streets were also at
this time common, as appears from an order of the
Scottish privy-council to the magistrates to kecp 2
strict guard, and forbidding all persons from appearing
in the streets after ten o’clock at night. Nor was the
agpeannoe of the city at this time very elegant ; for, i
the year 1621, the parliament enacted, that the houses,
instead of thatch or boards, should in future be cover-
ed with tiles, slates, or lead.

At the public entrance of Charles I. into Edinburgl,
after his accession to the throne, he was received in 8
fompous manner by the magistrates ; attended by 20

ess than two hundred and sixty young citizens, dres-
sed in white satin doublets, black velvet breeches, and
swhite silk stockings ; and the streets through which
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Ire passed were hung with tapestry and carpets. The
inhabitants of Edinburgh appear by this time to have
improved considerably in their dress, when so many of
the citizens could aﬂgrd to appear so splendidly al
perelled ; and the furniture of their houses, by the
display of tapestry and carpeting on this occasion, was
tar from being despicable.

In the year 1637, a curious act was passed by the
town-couneil with respect to the dress of the ladies,
which may be noticed in this place as illustrative of
the manners of the times. It appears to have been
customary at that period for the female sex to wear
pluids as an article of dress, which for some unaccount-
able reason had given offence to the magistrates, and
oceasioned their passing several acts against the prac-
tice,  ‘These having been little' led by the ladies,
the act above alluded to was published, wherein they
state that *“ such hes bein the impudencie of manie of
them, that they have continewit the forsaid barbarous
habitte, and hes added thairto the wearing of their
gownes and petticotes about their heads and faces, so
that the same is-now become the ordinar habitte of all
women within the eittie, to the general imputation of
their sex, matrones not being abill to be discerned from
strumpettis and lowse living women, to thair awne dis-
honour and the scandal of the cittie,” &c. The pe-
nalty attached to the disobedience of this act was, to
ladies of quality, heavy fines and censure, and, for the
lower orders, fines and banishment.

This act of the town-council, notwithstanding the

nalties annexed to its neglect, does not appear to

ave been much regarded. A traveller who writes
from Edinburgh in the year 1729 says, ““ I have been
at several concerts of music, and must say, that I never
saw in any nation an assembly of greater beauties than
those I have seen at Edinburgh. The ladies dress
as in England, with this difference, that when they
g0 m&'ﬁ, from the highest to the lowest, they weng
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3 p!'aid, which covers half of the face and all the bo-

In the civil wars which followed this period, the
traces of the manners are lost amidst the fury of poli-
tical dissentions. Jealousy, mutnal distrust, and ani-
mosity, rankled in the bosoms of the lity; and a2
striking contempt of the social pleasures, and a rigid
exercise of the (thies of religion, animated the breasts
of the clergy. The conflict of passions which the
former circumstances were calculated to rouse in the
human heart, and the sombre hue which the latter
unavoidably gave to all their enjoyments, character-
ize the protectorate of Cromwell. On the restoration
of Charles II., however, the scene was changed, hos-
piulitti was revived, and horse-racing, cock-fighting,
and other amusements, were now carried to excess..
In the year 1660 the first stage-coach between Edin-
burgh Leith was licensed by the magistrates ; and
in 1677 the town-council, with a laudable zeal to re-
press the impositions generally laid upon the citizens
who frequented pem:i-/-weddings, ordered, that in fu-
ture no person should presume to take, on these ocea-
sions, for aman’s dinner, more than 24 shillings Scots,
é&. Sterling,) and from women 18 shillings Scots,

1s. 6d. Sterling!) In the same year they passed an
act, ordering, tﬁat all persons building houses should,
instead of wood, (which had been formerly used for
this %utpooe,) ild them with stone, and, instead of
thatch, cover the roofs with tiles or slates, under a pe-
nalty of 500 merks, and the house to be demolished.
(i‘oﬂee-houses were also first licensed in Edinburgh in
this yean

In the short reign of James II. (or VIL.) religion
seems to have chiefly occupied the attention of the ci-
tizens, and to have had a considerable share in sway=
ing the manners of the times. None durst
dancing in public or private without a licence from
. the magistrates ; all persons found on the streetsin
the time of divine service were taken up by persons
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appointed for this pu , and who, in the language
of the day, were called Seizers. Absurd and extrava-
gent punishments for fornication were introduced,
which often were the occasion of crimes of a deeper
dye. These were the pillory and repenting-stool, an
instrument of ecclesiastical tyranny which is not yet
altogether laid aside. The era of witchcraft was

not yet over ; and many old women, accused of this
by the ignorant or the envious, were tormented by
the rabble, till, by their confession of an imnﬁmry
crime, an end was put to their sufferigs. So late as
the year 1678, no less than ten women were tried for
this ‘crime betore the Court of Justiciary, convicted on
their own confession, strangled at a stake and burned.
What may be thought of the manners of that period,
even among the higher ranks, when the supreme
criminal court of the nation could judge, and fifteen
impartial jurymen convict, ten women for a crime
which has only its origin in ignorance and supersti-
tion,

In the beginning of the eighteenth century, public
amunemm?tig‘bcgn?xgw be introduced into Edinburgh
in greater variety than formerly. Of these Music,
Dancing, and the Theatre, were the chief; and, per-
haps, had no small effect in the improvement of man-
ners.  Science also now began to dawn in the Scottish
capital ; and industry and commerce, by the introduc-
tion of luxury, almost entirely changed the habits of
the citizens. Still, however, the gloom with which-
rigid presbyterianism shaded all the transactions till
the middle of the eighteenth century, was remarkably
conspicuous in their aversion to stage performances.
and other amusements. oilhes om0

A very interesti , publi e late Mr
Willia‘;y Creech in t ?ggd&ed Awo\u{tof Scotland,
throws considerable light on the manners of this pe-
riod. From this account it appears, that, ““ in 1763,
people of fashion dined at two o’clock, or a little after
it, and business was wendet} to in the afternopn. 1t

P 1
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was @ common practice at that time for the merchants
to shut their shops at one o’clock, and to open them
again after dinner at two. Wine at this time was sel-
dom seen, or in a small quantity, at the tables of the
middle rank of 1 t was the fashion for gentle-
men to attend the drawing-rooms of the ladies in the
afternoons, to drink tea, and to mix in the agreeable
society and conversation of the women. People at this
period, too, were interested about religion, and it was
fashionable to go to church. Sunday was by all ranks
strictly observed as a day of devotion, and few were
seen strolling about the streets during the time of pub-
lic worship. Families attended church, with thei
children and servants,and family-worship at home was
not unfrequent. The collections madeat the church-
doors for the poor amounted at this time to L. 1500
and upwards yearly.

“In 1763,” according to Mr Creech,  masters
took charge of the moral conduct of their apprentices,
and generally kept them under their eye in their own
houses. The clergy visited, catechised, and instruct-
ed the families within their respective parishes in the
principles of morality, Christianity, and the relative
duties of life. The breach of the seventh command-
ment was punished by fine and church censure. Any
instance of conjugal infidelity in a woman would have
banished her irretrievably from society, and her com=
pany would have been rejected even by men who pai
any regard to their character. The fines col by
the kirk-treasurer for natural children amounted to
about L. 154 annually. There were at this time only
about five or six heuses of bud fame, anda very few
of the lowest order of females skulked about the streets
at night.  Street robbery and picking of pockets were
unknown. House-bresking and robbery were extreme~
ly rore ; and many people thought it unnecessary to
lock their doors at might. The execution of criminals
in Edinburgh for capital crimes was rare ; and three
annually were reckoned the average for the whole
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kingdom of Scotland. For many yearsin Edinburgh
there was no execution.

“ In the year 1763 there wasno such amusement
as public cock-fighting, the establishments of'this kind
which were in the city before having been given up.
A yo! man was termed a_fine fellow, who, to a we
iufor:;?l and aceomplished mind, added elegance of
manners, and a'conduct guided by principle; one who
would not have injured the rights of the meanest in-
dividual ; who contracted no debts that he could not
pay ; who thought every breach of morality unbecom-
ing the character of a gentleman ; and who studied
to be useful to society, so far as his op&)‘ortuniﬁesar
abilities enabled him. At this time, in the best fami-
lies in town, the education of da rs was fitted, not
only to embellish and improve their minds, but to
accomplish them in the useful arts of domestic econo-
my. The sewing-school, the pastry-school, were then
essential branches of female education; nor was a

oung lady of the best family ashamed to go to mar-

cet with her mother. At this time, too, young ladies,

even by themselves, might have walked through the

strects of the city in perfect safety at any hour ; and

no petrhmn would have presumed to speak to or inter-
t them.

“ The weckly concert in 1763 began at six o'clock,
and the performance was over at an early hour. The
morality of stage-plays was at this time much agi-
tated, and several of the cl were censured for at-
tending the theatre. By those who attended this
amusement without scruple, Saturday night was
thought the most improper in the week for going to
the play. Every thing, either improper in sentiment
or decorum, would have been hissed at with indigna-
tion at this period. In the dancing assembly room:
in 1768, strict regularity with respect to dress and
decorum, and great dignity of manners, were observ-
ed. The profits of this assembly went to the Charity
Work-house.  The company at the public assemblies
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met at five o’clock in the afternoon, and the dancing
began at six, and ended at eleven, by public orders of
the managers, which were never tran !

““ In the year 1763, the accommodation of the inha-
bitants of Edinburgh was mean, compared to what it
now is. The city at that time was almost confined
within the walls, and the suburbs were of small extent.
With respect to lodging, the houses which in 1763
were by the first families, were twenty years
after inhabited by tradesmen or by people in bumble
life. The Lord Justice Clerk’s house was possessed by
a French teacher, Lord President Craigie’s house by a
rouping-wife, (saleswoman of old furniture,) and Lord
Drummore’s house was left by a chairman for want of
accommodation. In 1763 there were only two stage-
coaches to the town of Leith, and the only other in
the Scottish capital was one to London, which set off
once a month, and was from twelve to sixteen dayson
the road. 'The hackney coaches at this time were few
in number, and perhaps the worst of the kind in Bri-
tain. But the want of these was less severely felt at
this reriod, from the great quantity of sedan-chairs,
which were to be had at a very moderate price. In
1763 few coaches were made in Edinburgh ; and the
nobility and gentry in general brought their carriages
from London. Perfumers’ shops were not at this time
known, and there was no such profession as a haber-
dasher. Hair-dressers were numerous, but were
hardly permitted to exercise their profession on Sun-
days, and many of them voluntarily declined it. There
was no such thing known or used as an umbrella.
The to maid-servants at this period were from
L.S to L.4 a year. They dressed decently in blue or
red cloaks ar plaids, suitable to their stations Few
families had men servants. The wages were from L.6
to L. 10 per annum. <A mu;fer coming to Edinburgh
was obhged to put up at a dirty uncomfortable inn,
or to remove to private lodgings. There was no such
place as ahotel ; the word, iq:gd, was not known, or
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;&l glt]lly intelligible to persons acquainted with the
rench,’

The chief characteristic feature in the manners of
the citizens of Edinburgh at this time seems to have
been a formality, which those who recollect the period
call decorum ; an affected gravity, which has been cal-
led dignity ; and a sanctimonious preciseness and regu-
larity, the last remains of fanaticism, which has been
named prudence and propriety. But it is quite natu~
ral for those who had spent ebest{ut their life .
about the time mentioned, to look back with partiality
to the scenes, the amusements, and the associates of
their early days, and, when contrasting them with
those of a more recent period, to look with less com-
placency upon that freedom of manner, unshackled.
with 4 gravity or distant reserve, which, without
making men worse, marks an improvement in social
intercourse,

The gentleman from whose notes we have extracted
the preceding state of the manners of the inhabitants
of Edinburgh in 1763, has fortunately also given a
statement of facts relating to the same subject in 1783.
If' this statement be correct, (which there is no rea-
son todonbt,) luxury and licentiousness, rapine and
robbery, had in the space of twenty years made
a remarkable indeed. Happily, however, the
current of vice not increased with the same rapi-
dity since that time, or we should by this time have
been totally overwhelmed in it. :

“In 1788, le of fashion, and of the middle rank,
dined at four or five o'clock : No business was done in
the afternoon, dinner of itself having become a very
serious matter.  Every tradesman in decent circum-
stances presented wine after dinner ; and many in plen-~
ty and variety. At this time the drawing-rooms were
totally deserted ; invitations to tea in the afternoon
Wwere ogiven up; and the only rtunity gentlemen
had of being in the company of the ladies was when

:hn? happened to mess together at dinner or supper ;
even then an impatience was sometimes shewn till
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the ladies retired. Card-parties, after a long dinner,
and also after a late supper, were frequent. Attend-
ance on church too at this period was greatly neglect-
ed, and particularly by the men ; Sunday was by many
made a day of relaxation ; and young people were allow=
ed to stroll about at all hours. Families thought it
ungenteel to take their domestics to church with them;
the streets were far from being void of people in the
time of public worship ; and in the evenings were fre-
quently loose and riotous ; particularly owing to bands
of apprentice-boys and young lads. Family worship was
almost disused.  The weekly collections at the church
doors for the poor had greatly decreaged in amount.
“In 1783, (says Mr Creech,) few masters would
yeceive spgrentices to lodge in their houses. If they
attended their hours of business, masters took no fur-
ther charge. The rest of their time might be
as too frequently happens, in vice and debauchery ;
hence they become idle, insolent, and dishonest. T
wages to journeymen in every profession were greatly
raised since 1763, and disturbances frequently happen-
ed for a still farther increase : Yet many of them riot
on Sunday, areidle all Monday, and can afford to do
this on five days’ labour. Visiting and catechising by
the clergy were disused, (except by a very few ;) and
if people do not choose to go to cbutch,ut?;ey may re-
main as ignorant as Hottentots, and the ten command-
ments be as little known as obsolete acts of parliament.
At this time, likewise, although the law punishing a~
dultery with death was unrepealed, (::{o Mr Creech,)
yet, (strange totell,) it to be acted upon ; church
censure was disused, and separations and divorces were
become frequent. Even the women who were render-
ed infamous by public divorce, had been, by some m
ple of fashion, again received into society. The
collected by the kirk-treusurer, for bastard children,
amounted to L. 600. The number of brothels had in-
creased twenty-fold since 1763, and the women of the
town more than a hundred-fold. Every quarter of the
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eity and suburbs was infested with multitudes of fe-
males abandoned to vice; and street-robbery, house-
breaking, and theft, were astonishingly frequent. At
one time, at thisperiod, there werenoless than six crimi-
nals under sentence of death in Edinburgh prison in
one week 3 and upon the autumn circuit of this year
(1783) no less tﬂ:n thirty-seven capital indictments
were issued.

“In 1783 there were many Kublic cock-fighting
matches, or mains, as they are technically termed, and
2 regular cock-pit was built for this school of cruelty.
A young man at this time was termed a fine fellow
who could drink three bottles of wine ; who dischar-
ged all debts of konour, (game debts and tavern bills,)
and evaded payment of every other ; who swore im-
moderately, and before ladies, and talked of his word
of honour ; who ridiculed religion and morality as fol-
Iy and bypocrisy, (but without argument ;) who was
very jolly at the table of his friend, and would lose
no opportunity of seducing his wife, or of debauching
his daughter ; but, on the mention of such a thing be-
ing attempted to his own conrections, would have cut
the throat, or blown out the brains, of his dearest com-
panion offering such an insult ; who was forward inall
the fashionable follies of the time; who disregarded
the interests of society, or the good of mankind, if they
interfered with his own vicious, selfish pursuits and
pleasures. At this Sfriod, the daughters of many
tradesmen consumed their mornings at the toilet, or in
strolling from shop toshop, &c. Many of them would
have blushed to have been seenin a market. The
-earcs of the family were devolved upon a housek y
and the young employed those heavy hours wﬂen
she was disengage! from public or private amusements,
in improving her mind from the precious stores of a
circulating library ; and all, whether they had taste
for it or not, were taught music. Such was the dan-
ger at this time to which unprotected females were ex-
posed, that the mistresses of boarding schools found it
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necessary to advertise, that their young ladies were
not permitted to go abroad without proper attend-
ants.
“ In1783 the weekly concert began at seven o'clock;
but itwas not in general well attended. The morality of
stage plays, or their effects on society, were never
thought of, and the most crowded houses were alwa
on Saturday night. The boxes for the Saturday nigg:
plays were generally taken for the season, and stran-
gers on that night could seldom ure a place. The
galleries never failed to applaud what they formerly
would have hissed as improper in sentiment or deco~
rum. The public assemblies met at eight and nine
o'clock, and the lady directress sometimes did not make
her appearance till ten. The young masters and mis-
ses, who would have been mortified not to have seenout
the ball, thus returned home at three or four in tl;e‘_
morning, and yawned, and , and complained
hendaclfs’ all thy;e‘next day. £ >

““ In-1783, the accommodation of the inhabitants of
Edinburgh was splendid, and the houses in the New
Town unrivalled in ;L?‘nce. The city had extended
so much, that it cov twice the extent of ground it
formerly did. The stage-coaches to Leith and other
parts were tripled, and no less thun fifteen every week
set out for London, and reached it in sixty hours. The
hackney-coaches at this time were the handsomest in
Brit;in.‘ CEoslehgs an‘:l chaises w:e eomtrucE ted as :::;
gantly in nburgh as any where in Europe ;
many were annually e to St Petersburgh and
the cities on the Baltic. The profession of a haber=
dasher, which was not known in 1763, was now near-
ly the most common in town. (This ion in-
cludes many trades, the mercer, the milliner, the linen-~
draper, the hatter, the hosier, ma, and many
others.)  Perfumers had now id shops in every
E;fpdd‘m; "k‘:lll occasionally, f - hdﬁ

ng , to ki i , for greasing ladi

and gentlemen’s hair, as superior to any other animal



i

MANNERS. 349

fat. Hair-dressers were more than tripled in number,
and their busiest day was Sunday. An eminent sur-
geon, who had occasion to walk a great deal in the
course of his business, first used an umbrella in Edin-
burgh, in the year 1780 ; and in 1783 they were much
mv:g. Maid-servants dressed now as fine as their
mistresses did in 1763. Almost every genteel family
had a man-servant ; and the wages were from L. 10
to 1..20 a year. In 1783, also, a stranger might have
been accommodated not only comfortably, but elegant-
ly at mauy public hotels; and the person who, in
1763, was obliged to put up with accommodation little
better than that of a waggoner or carrier, may now be
}g;lged like a prince, and command every luxury of
ife.”

Such were, according to Mr Creech, the features of
the times in 1783. Less rigid, morose, and affected
than those of 1763, an ease seems to have been by
this time introduced, which characterizes an improve-
ment in manners. Of morals, this period, from the
foregoing facts concerning the decay of religious
principle, the.multiplication of women of the town,
of robberies, and the late hours which fashion had in-
troduced, presents not such a pleasing picture.

¢ In no respect,” says Mr Creech, “ were the man-
ners of 1763 and 1783 more remarkable, than in the
decency, dignity, and delicacy of the one period, com-
pared with the looseness, dissipation, and licentious-
ness, of the other. Many le ceased to blush at
what would formerly have m reckoned a erime.”—
“The behaviour of the last age (says Dr Gregory)
was very reserved and stately. It would now be rec-
koned stiff and formal. Whatever it was, it had cer-
tainly the effect of making them more respected.”

e state of manners in Edinburgh at present is not
very much different from what it to have been
in 1783, the last of the periods to which Mr Creech’s
observations refer. From the chief E‘" of: the popu-
lation being composed of indivi connected with

¢g
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the national courts;—from its being the residence of 2
great portion of the Scottish gentry,—from the celebri-
ty of its university, which attracts students from every

t of the world, and from other causes, the Society
n Edinburgh, if not more intelligent, is certainly less
tinged with provincial peculiarities than that of any
other city in the empire.

MARKETS, FUEL, AND WATER.

Thur markets of Edinburgh afford all the necessaries
and many of the luxuries of life in counsiderable varie-
ty. In former times these markets occupied the mid-
dle of the High Street, which, from that circumstance,
was then the Market Street. They are now
situated on the north side of this street, from which
they enter by narrow lanes or closes, and occupy part

f t{xe declivity of the hill on which the old division of
the city is built. The Markets are disposed in terra-
ces or platforms on this descending ground, which
communicate with one another by flights of stairs ; and
Dbeing situated in one place, are very convenient for the
inhabitants.

Fruit-market~—The fruit-market is in the centre
of the city, and consists of stalls disposed around the
Tron Church. Here are sold all the varieties of Scots
and English fruit in their seasons. In summer, the
supply of gooseberries and strawberries is particularl
copious ; and it is estimated, that of these last are sold,
during the short time they continue, upwards of
100,000 Scottish, or 400,000 i:nglilh pints. The rar~
er fruits are sold in
. Green-market—~This market occupies the upper-
most terrace in the range of markets. Culinary vege-

12
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tables, from the kitchen-gardens around the city, are
:lx}ways to be had here in plenty, and of excellent qua-
ity.

z’eal-markd.-—'l‘he veal-market is on the descend-
ing terrace below the green-market, and is so named
from its being solely appropriated to the sale of veal.

Poultry-market.—~This market is situated on the
same platform with the veal-market, and has commu-
nication, by flights of stairs, with the green-market
above, and beef-market below. The supply of com-
mon poultry is copious. But this market exhibits an
article perhaps peculiar to itself, the Gannet or Solan-
goose. 'The young birds are taken every year, in large
quantities, at the Bass Rock, in the mouth of the Frith
of Forth, for which, with this view, a considerable
rent is paid. - They are generally first brought to mar-
ket about the end of July, when the Edinburgh Races
are commonly held; and the demand isat that time the
greatest, on account of the resort of strangers hither,
to whom they are a rarity. They continue to be sold
till about the middle of September, when the whole
colony of gannets, old and young, leave the Bass Rock,
to spend the winter in the ocean, wherever shoals of
Lerring or mackerel may invite. The same colony re-
turns to the Frith in the beginning of the followin
month of May, and immediately resumes possession o
the Bass, its favourite breeding-place.

In winter the supply of wild-duck is pret:{ large,
but not certain or constant, the catching of wild-duck
not being here a business as in England. The Mal-
lard or common wild-duck, the Teal, the Wigeon, and
the Golden-eye, * are the most common kinds: the
Morillon* and long-tailed duck® are less frequent.
Sometimes a few pairs of the Velvet-duck ¢ appear on

(3) Quink goosz. - Anas clangula, Lin.
(b) Anas glaucion. - (c) Caloo. Anas glacialis.
(d) Apas : ;
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the stalls ; these ave caught in the Frith by the New-
-haven fishers, and are by them called sea-jucks. Shags*
or skarts are occasionally caught and brought to mar-
ket in the same way. During this season also, seve-
ral species of wild geese are here to be found ; especi-
ally the Grey Lag,” the White—fronted{,‘ the Bean,’
and the Brent Goose:* the Bernacle’ also occurs,
but is more rare. After winter-storms, Mergansers®
and Dusky Grebes™ may be expected.—In severe
seasons, considerable quantities of game are privately
brought to market, viz. Heathfowl or Black Cock,'
Muirfowl or Red Grous,* Ptarmigan or White Grous,’
and Partridges. In such seasons, Woodeocks, Cur~
lieus or whaaps, Snipes and Jack-snipes, are
brought to market in plenty ; with smaller birds of
different kinds, especially Fieldfares and Redwings,
Sandpipers, Blackbirds, &c. During summer
Eider-duck™ and Shieldrake® occasionally occur.
The Bittern® is sometimes, though very rarely, sold
at the same season ; together with the Water-hen, the
Coot, and the Water-rail; the Golden Plover, the
Green Plover or Lapwing,? and the Redshank, +—
The common Pigeon and Wood-pigeon are to be found
in large quantities.

PSS

(a) Pelecanus graculus.
(b) Anas anser. (¢) Anas albifrons.
(d) Anas fabalis, Bewick.
(¢) Horra-goose. Anas bernicla.
(f) Claikis or Cleck-goose. Anas erythropus.

) Mergus serrator.
(h) Colymbus nigricans. (Bewick’s Brit. Birds.)
(i) Tetrao tetrix. (k) Lagopus altera, Ray.
(ly Tetrao
(m) Dunter-goose or Colk. Anas mollissima.
(n) Skeldrake or Slygoose. Anas tadorna.
(0) Bog-blutter or Bog-bummer. Ardea stellaris.
(p) Also called Peascwcet or Teuchit.
(9) Scolopax calidris,
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Rabbits are sold in the same market, and nowhere
can the supply be more plentiful. They are bronght
chiefly from the extensive warrens at Goulon Links or
downs in East Lothian. Hares are also sold in pri-
vate,

The Poultry-market is likewise frequented by the
retailers of Eggs.

Butcher-market.~Thebutcher-market occupies the
next descending terrace. It was formerly divided in-
to two parts ; that in which beef* was sold occupying
this terrace, and that which was appropriated to the
sale of mutton a lower platform: but both these arti-
cleg, together with lamb and pork, are now sold indis-
criminately in either. - From the lower butcher-mar=
ket a space is inclosed, called the T'ripe-market, which
is set apart for the disposal of the intestines, &c. of
the animals killed for the butcher-markets.

Fish-market.—This is a very commodious market,
entering from the lower butcher-market by a flight of
wide stairs, and having besides two entries, which af-
ford access to carts of‘waggons. It is surrounded by
covered stalls, which are chiefly occupied by the re-
tailers of salmon and trout. 1e fishwomen of New-
havenand Fisherrow, with the wicker-baskets in which
théy carry their fish, form two rows in the centre of
the market. It is highly amusing to a stranger to

through this place at a busy time. Itis well-
nown that the E(finburgh fishwomen have an ab-
surd custom of demanding, at first, about three times
the price they expect and do accept for their fish. This
gives rise to much cheapening on the part of the pur-
chasers, and much noisy wheedling on the other side,
in which all the eloquence of Billingsgate may some-
times be recognized, with the change only of d{ebroad
Scottish dialect for the Cockney twang. To convey
‘an accurate idea of the supply to be expected in this
market, we shall enumerate the kinds of fish which
generally appesr in it, and shall distinguish their
seasons. CIREND vl

cgR
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Salmon is brought to market fresh from different
rivers, from December to October. Common Trout
&Salmo fario) and Char (Salmo alpina) are brought

om Lechleven near Kinross ; and Sea Trout (Salmo
trutta) fron. the mouth of the Esk at Musselburgh,
during ufmngand summer. Smelts or Spirlings (Sal-
mo eperlanus) are brought to market in March and
April, at which time they ascend the river Forth in
millions.

Pike and Perch are sometimes sent to market from
the lake of Linlithgow. Eels are very common, but
not much in demand.

The supply of Cod and Haddock is almost uninter-
rupted. ring winter t quantities are brought
in carts from Dunbar and Eyemouth : during summer
the market is chiefly supplied from Newhaven and
Fisherrow ; the fish from these last places, being less
chafed by carriage, is generally preferred. Ling is less
common than Cod, and sells at a higher price. Whit-
ings are very common, and in autumn are often found
of alarge size. Under the confinon name of Podly,
the young of the Coal-fish, (Gadus carbonarius,) and
a greenish backed fish, (Gadus virens,) are confound-
ed. Sometimes the Coal-fish are found of'a size,
like a full-grown salmon ; they are then Sethes,
Seys, or Grey Lords.

A shoal of Pilchards generally precedes the Herrings,
and Pilchards are to be found in the market in Octo-
ber and November : after which the Herrings set in,
and continue till March. In May and June yast quan-
tities of sprats or garvey-herrings used to be caught
near Cramond, and t to market. Of late years,
however, the fishers of Newhaven have procured an
order of the magistrates prohibiting this fishery, on
the supposition that sprats are not a distinet species of
herring, (as Linnzus and Pennant have made them,)
but merely the young of the common herring.

Mackerel are sold during swmmer, but seldom in
harge quantities.
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The Sea-cat or Wolf-fish is not uncommon in the
market, but is often despised on account of its name
by those who do not know its excellence at the table.

The male Lumpfish or Padle is brought to market
irtx’lApril and May. The female is not reckoned eat=
able.

The supply of flat fish is copious. Holibut, (here
often ealletf turbot,) and the true Turbot, (here called
rowan-zcuk,')are pretty common during summer. Soles
are rare, and of a small size: they are caught
only in Aberlady Bay in July and A Plaice,
Dab, and Flounder, are to be found in the market al~
most every day in the year, and are sold promiscuous«
ly under the name of flewks ; the small plaice, how=
ever, being sometimes distinguished by the name of
salties. Under the title of Skafe are comprehended
the proper Skate, (Raia batis) ; the Thornback, (Raia
;l;wnta, which isd]the most eo;nsctﬁon and( most esteem=

species ; and the Sharp-n Ray, (Raia oxyrin-
chus,) which is seldom caught. T{e young of all
these speciesare called maiden si:ate. They are brought
to market throughout the summer. /

The Sturgeon does not appear in the market abave
once or twice ina season. The Gilt-head, the Wrasse,
and the Saury-pike, are rarely seen in it, as they are
only oceasional and temporary visitors of the Frith.

The Father-lasher or lucky-proack, and Grey Gur=-
nard or crooner, (a Scottish name which it got
from a ing or crooning noise which it makes when
taken, g‘y"t?:rcing the air through its gills,) are com=
mon, but are not esteemed.

The Blenny or greenbone, and the Sand-launce or
sand-eel, inhabit the shores, and are carried to market
in the summer.

Lobsters are caught on the deep shores of Fife, and
sold in the Eeinburgh market at high prices.
Cancer Norvegicus, which bears some resemblance to
a lobster, is accidentally caught at the mouth of
the Frith, and is sometimes carried to market, Crabs
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or partains (Cancer pagurus) are taken in vast quanti-
ties during the spring and early part of summer, and
are sold very cheap : frequently the great claws only
are brought to market. The male crabs are the best
in spring, the females in the end of summer.

Oysters are to be found in the Edinburgh market
from the 1st of September till the 1st of May, and the
dredging of them affords a livelihood to many families
at Newhaven. The close-time of the oyster fishing is
fixed by the magistrates of Edinburgh. It would per-
haps be an improvement on it, to make it begin only
with 1st June and continue till 1st October, it beinga
fact that the oysters do not here begin to spawn till the
end of May, and that they continue in spawn during
the greater part of September.—The scallop throws
its spawn in April ; and this may possibly have been
mistaken for that of the oyster.

Clams or Scallops, with spouts or Razor-fish, are of-
ten brought to market. Great quantities of the common
Miussel (Mytilus edulis) are gathered by the fishwo-
men at the recesses of spring tides, and meet with a
ready sale. Another species, (Mytilus pellucidus,)
which is dredged from the deep parts of the Frith, is
chiefly used for bait, but is sometimes also carried to
market. Cockles and Limpets are much neglected.
Whilks and Buckies (Buccinum undatum and Turbo
littoreus) are often brought tomarketor hawked through
the streets ; as are also Dulse and Tangles, (or the
blades of Fucus palmatus, with thetender stalks of Fu-
«cus digitatus.)—Fine Prawns is one of the evening
calls of Edinburgh. These prawns are caught on the
shallow sandy beach at Figget Whins : a few Shrimps
‘are sometimes intermixed with them. :

" Besides these, which are the principal markets, there
are butchers’ shambles and shops in different parts of
the city and suburbs, for the supply of those who are
sit at a distance. Salt-is sold in shops, and by
women who cry it through the streets in wicker bas-
kets or creels, which they carry on their backs. These
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women come for the most part from the salt-pans near
Fisherrow, but some even come, with their little
cargo, from Prestonpans, adistanceof nine miles. They
arrive every morning, and depart the same day, after
disposing of their commodity.

The market for black-cattle, horses, and corns,
is held on Wednesdays in the wide street named the
Grassmarket. A building, the upper part of which is
fitted up for a granary, and the under part with open
arches, was begun in 1818 at the west end of the
Grassmarket, and opened as a Corn-market in 1819.

Fuel.

The only article of Fuel used in Edinburgh is coal.
This valuable mineral seems to have been used, though
not generally, at a very early period in Seotland. In
the year 1291, a charter was executed in favour ot the
abbot and convent of Dunfermline, granting them the
privilege of digging coal in the lands of Pittencrieff, in
Fifeshire. Aneas Sylvius, who wrote about the mid-
dle of the fitteenth century, relates, that he saw in
Scotland ¢ the poor people who in rags begged at the
churches, receive for alms pieces of stone, with which
they went away contented. This ies of stone, (sa
he,e; whether with sulphur, or whatever inflammab)
substance it may be impregnated, they burn in of
wood, of which their country is destitute.” The coal
works at Gilmerton, in the neighbourhood of Edin-
burgh, were begun to be t in the 1627.
Before this time the fuel of the citizens of 'm
seems to have been chicfly heath, furze, and
wood. 1In the year 1584, an accident by fire having
happened in the city by some of the stacks of these
articles in the narrow lanes and streets, the town-
council ordered, that in future all these should be re-
moved to a more couvenient place, under the penal
of 1..20 Scots; so that it secems to have been near
century later before coals came into general use. The
price of coals in Edinburgh is about fourteen shillings
Sterling per ton,

0<
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Water.

Edinburgh is supplied with excellent spring-water,
which isncrox}ne edl:g pipes from the elev?tedug-grounds
of Comiston, about 3} miles south-west of the city.
The first pipe to bring water from this distance was
laid in the year 1681. One Peter Bruschi, a German
engineer, received at this time from the magistrates
the sum of L. 2950 Sterling for laying a leaden pipe,
of three inches in diameter, from Comiston to a reser-
voir to be erected on the Castle Hill, the highest part
of the city, from whence it might be circulated with
ease through all the districts. This small pipe was
soon found insufficient to answer the demands of the
inhabitants ; but there was none other completed till
about the year 1722, when one ef 4} inches in the
bore was lnid. T'hese still, owing to the increasing
number of people in the capital, were found insuffi-
cient for the supply, and in the year 1787 an iron pipe
of five inches diameter wasadded. Preceding the year
1787 the reservoir at Comiston received four distinct
streams of water from the same number of pipes ; and
these, at their fullest discharge into the cistern, were
estimated to pour into it from 800 to 900 Scots pints
of water (near seven hogsheads) in the minute, but
at other times, when :E: discharge into the fountain
head is less, or in the usual heat in summer, from 150
0 170 pints. The reservoir at Comiston is elevated
44 feet above the reservoir on the Castle Hill. When
the fountain-head at Comiston is full, the great pipe
at the Castle Hill discharges into the reservoir 210
Scots pints minute, (nearly equal to 840 Eng-
lish pints,) The reservoir in the city contains 149,472
.Scots pints, or 291 tons, three , and six gal-
Jons. This supply of water still proving too little, an
iron pipe of seven inches in diameter was laid in 1790,
and additional springs, three miles farther south than
the former, were taken in. This last pipe cost the ei-
2y of Edinburgh upwards of L. 20,000,
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The scarcity of water, as the town increased in size;
becoming more severely felt, the magistrates, in 1810,
determined to request the advice and assistance of the
professors of natural philosophy and chemistry in the
university, and to employ the most skilful engincers
to survey the ground, and furnish a report, upon the
best Plans to be adopted for procuring an additional
spply.

Dr Hope readily undertook the chemical investiga«
tion of the water of every available spring in the vici- -
nity of the city ; mdﬂ;{e late Professor Playfair, in
conjunction with Mr Telford, engineer, having exa<
mined the ground, suggested the propriety of employ-
ing Mr James Jardine, civil-engineer, to inspect the
different springs, to ascertain the quantity of water
delivered by each at different seasons of the year; and
oulluer matters necessary for framing a report on the
subject. :

Mr Telford aecordingly prepared-a report on the
data afforded by the very accurate investigations of
Mr Jardine, which was l?ublishcd for the information
of the public in 1813. Further measures were after-
wards taken, and it was finally arranged between the
magistrates and a -committee of the inhabitants in
1818, that, as the best mode of bringing in an addi=
tional supply, a water company should be formed, who
should raise the capital necessary to carry through the
undertaking in shares of L.25 each ; the magistrates,
as representing the community, holding shares to the
amount of L. 80,000, for their right in the present
water establishment. - An act of parliament was ac-
cordingly procured in 1819, in rating a com-
pany for this purpose. Their capital is provided not
to exceed L. 85,000.

There are two reservoirs for the water at present;
one in Heriot’s Green, of a circular form, 40 feet in
diameter, and containing a cistern 30 feet in diameter,
and ten feet two inches . The other, the most
aycient, is gn the Castle Hill. It contains a cistera
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43 feet two inches long, 28 wide, and seven feet five
inches deep. The water from Heriot’s Green reservoir
serves the south district ; the Old Town, or middle
district, is supplied from the Castle Hill reservoir ;
and the New {Uown is chiefly served by a seven inch
pipe; which passes by the Castle Hill reservoir, and
along the Earthen Mound.

In the plan for an additional supply of water, the
reservoir on the Castle Hill is to be enlarged, and an
additional one erected on Burntsfield Links. ~The
water intended to be brought in is from the Black
Springs and the Crawley Spring, and the amount of
the additional supply, as measured by Mr Jardine, is,
from the Black Springs, 599.2 pints, and from the
Crawley Spring 1060 pints per minute, affording in
whole, with the present supply, a total of 2388.7 pints
ser minute, nearly four times the quantity now

eliveredd.’ The waste t’hv:ater of the ;mal, ond
serving the purposes of Union Canal Company, 18
likewise to be appropriated to the use d‘tbe‘::habi-
ants of Edin . The estimated expence of bring=
ing in the water, forming the compensation reservoirs,
&e. is L. 100,632. ‘

Private families are supplied with pipes to their
houses, on payment of a small annual sum ; but in the
old of the city, the practice of carrying the water
on the backs of men and women, in small barrels,
to the high houses, or to those who have not pipes
of their own, is still continued.

Lighting.

The first account of the city of Edinburgh being
lighted in winter, is in the year 1554, at which time
the common-council ordered bowets or lanterns to be
hung out in the streets and lanes, by such S,
and in such places, as the magistrates should think fit
to appoint, to continue burning for the space of four
hours, from five to nine in the evening. These bowets,
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however, having in course of time been found incon-
venient, or of little service, the council, by a new act
in 1684, ordered, that a lantern and candle should be
hung out at the first storey (or floor) of every house,
from the 29th of October to the 1st of March, and to
burn from five o’clock till ten in the evening, under
the penalty of five merks Scots. Edinburgh was after-
war am{ is still chiefly, lighted in winter by crystal
lamps, which are placed alonﬁlthe streets at intervals ;
but their number and the light they afford has never
been accounted sufficient for the convenience of the
inhabitants.

The application of gas extracted from coal to light-
ing public streets and manufactories having been at-
tended with much success in other places, an associa-
tion was formed in Edinburgh in 1817, under the title of
“ The Edinburgh Gas Li;gt Company,” for the pur-
pose of introducing that mode of lighting into this
city. The capital of this compan% is L. 100,000, di-
vided into shares of L.25 each. The association was
incorporated by act of parliament carly in 1818 ; and
on the 20th April of that year, the necessary prepara-
tions having been previously made, the company com-
menced giving this brilliant light to such shops as
had taken branches from the pipes in the S:lncipal
streets. The theatre commenced lighting with gas on
the 8d of December 1818.

The premises of the company are situated in the
low ground at the south base of the Calton Hill, and
to the north of the Canongate. Upwards of 600,000
%n.llons of gas are distilled daily, which is contained in
our ml::;t;n Or Teservoirs. 'l;fhe old and ne:"tlown
are supplied by separate ran; pipes, extending in
all to about twelye miles ige‘;ength?aThe principal
p‘i})e is 12 inches in diameter, and it is calculated will
aftord light equal to one million of candles when the
works are completed. The works were constructed
under the superintendence of John Grafton, Esq. the
engineer of the company. :

nh
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Paving.

The pavement of the streets of Edinburgh is re-
markably durable, and regularly laid. Of the time of
the first paving of the streets of the city we have no
account. In 1532, however, the magistrates
with John Mayser and Bartilme Foliot, French pa-
viours, to make a causeway in the principal streets, at
the rate of 20s. Scots per rood, the town furnishing
carriage and sand. In the middle of the High Street,
opposite the Tron Church, there was formerly a mo-
nument, in the shape of a stone coffin, under which, it
is said, one Marlin, a French paviour, was interred,
and who is likewise reported to have been the first
who paved the streets of Edinburgh. Whether the
former ns, or this Marlin, be entitled to the ho-
nour of being the first who paved the streets, we pre~
tend not to determine. The causeways of Edinburgh
are formed of the hard basalt or greenstone, quarried
in mang‘ghees in the neighbourhood of the city, which
is admirably adapted for this pu ; and the foot-
pavement next to the houses and shops is formed of
excellent sandstone flag, chiefly brought from Hailes
Quarry, about four miles west g’om Edinburgh.
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LEITHS

Lerra is the sea town of Edinburgh. At
what time it was first built is uncertain ; but in the
charter of erection of the Abbey of Holyroodhouse,
founded by David I.in 1128, it is mentioned by the
name of Inverleith. Robert I., in the tzenr 1829,
granted to the magistrates of Edinburgh the harbour
of Leith, and its mills ; and in 1398 they acquired all
the other rights and privileges of it by purchase from

of Restalrig. In the year 1485, the magis«
utx:;e-, to prevent the inhabitants of Leith fmntll:"nl-
them in trade, passed an act, ordaining, 1o
merchant of Edinburgh should presume to take an in-
habitant of Leith into partnership, under the penalty
of forty shillings Scots, and to be deprived of the free~
dom of the city for one year ; and that none of the re-
venues of the city of Edinburgh should be farmed to
any inhabitant of Leith.
he town of Leith shared in the general calamity
which desolated the country when the Earl of Hart«
:‘«ln'd invntgegdlSeodmd in m{’.mo:am;m occasion,

ong wil inburgh, it was t
thengnglish soldiers. On the arrival of w
troops to the assistance of Mary of Guise, then regent
of Scotland, in 1549, Leith was taken possession of
by them, and fortified on behalf of the queen. Leith
was at this time erected by the queen into a burgh of
barony ; and the inhabitants purchased the iori
ty of their town from Logan of Restalrig for L, 3000
Scots. They likewise received promises of an exten«
sion of their privileges by its erection into a royal
burgh ; but the queen having died before this could
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be accomplished, Francis and Mary sold the superiori-
ty of it to the citizens of Edinburgh for the sum of
10,000 merks Scots. This was only a partial acquisi-
tion to Edinburgh, for the town-council, many years
after, &urchued the reversion of it from Lord Thirl-
stane for 14,000 merks Scots. The dread of the re-
forming party at the introduction of French troops in-
to Leith, induced them to require the assistance of
Queen Elizabeth for their expulsion ; and the English
army having accordingly joined that of the reformers;
Leith was besieged in April 1560 ; but a peace being
concluded, the French troops returned liome. Soon
after this, the council of the kingdom, to prevent
any danger to the liberties of the country from the
introduction of foreign troms into the kingdom, or-
dered the magistrates of Edinburgh to demolish the
fortifications which had been erected by the French

troo,

Lg?th was, however, fortified by Oliver Cromwell ;
and a citadel with five bastions was built by dmtusll:z-
er. This citadel was, in a great measure, demolish-
ed at the Restoration, and the site of it given to the
Duke of Lauderdale, from whom the magistrates of
Edinburgh purchased it for the enormous sum of
1.6000. Soon after the appearance of Paul Jones in
the Frith of Forth, (Sept. 1779,) which excited a con-
siderable degree of alarm on the coast, a battery of
nine guns was erected, a little to the westward of the
citadel, for the defence of the harbour and shipping. It
is now the héad-quarters of the royal artillery in lfonh
Britain,” two_companies being stationed here under
the command of a field-officer. The barracks are ca-
pable of containing 350 men, and there are stables for
150 horses. The harbour of Leith is besides defend-
ed by a martello tower, rising from the sea at the dis-
tance of about three quarters of a mile from the pier.
This tower was built during the late war by Govern-
ment, at an expence, it is said, of nearly L. 17,000.

The history of Leith affords few facts, besides those
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mentioned, worthy of particular remark. Connected as
it is with Edinburgh, the history of the one necessari=
ly includes that of the other. Its tide harbour, which
is principally formed by the estuary of the Water of
Leith, has at different times been improved, and piers
erected ; but the want of a sufficient depth of water
prevents the admission of ships of great burden. About
the beginning of the last century, the magistrates im=
proved the harbour at a great expence, by extending a
stone pier into the sea ; and in the year 1777 they far=
ther enlarged it, by the erection of a stone quay to=
wards its west side, having wet and dry docks.
Leith Docks.

The trade of Leith had long suffered great incon=
venience from the waat of a basin, in which the shi
ping of the port might lie afloat at all times of the
tide. Various plans had been proposed at different
periods to remedy this defect, which at induced
the magistrates and council of Edinb to obtain
an act of parlianf:‘entdiln 1788, eml?wering them to bor=
row L. 30,000 for the purpose of constructing a basin
or wet dock of seven E th acres above the dam of the
Saw-mills at Leith, a at Sheriff-brae, and a canal
of communication between the lock and basin. This
plan, however, of Mr Robert Whitworth, engineer,
was ultimately abandoned, and the magistrates applied
again to parliament, and obtained an act in 1799, au«
thorizing them to borrow L. 160,000 to execute a part
of the magnificent design by John Rennie, Esq. civil
engineer, of an extensive range of docks stretchi
from the north pier of Leith to Newhaven, with an
entrance at each of these places.

The eastern wet dock next the tide harbour of Leith
was begun in 1800, and finished in 1806, and the mid«
dle wet dock was in 1810, and completed in
1817. Each of these is 850 yards long, and 100
yards wide, both amounting to more than ten English
acres of water, and mﬂici;nt to contain 150 ships of

whe
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the ordinary classes that frequent the port. On the
north sides of the two wet docks there are three dry or
graving docks, each 136 feet long and 45 wide at bot-
torn ; 150 feet long by 70 feet wide at top, and the
width of the entrance 36 feet. All the works about
T.eith docks have been constructed of excellent mate-
rials in a very substantial manner, under the immediate
superintendence of Mr John Paterson, resident en-
gineer.

In the Appendix to the “ Report from the Select
Committee, to whom the several petitions from the
Royal Burghs of Scotland were referred,” presented to
the House of Commons on 12th July 1819, it is stated
that the two wet docks cost about 1.175,086; the three
graving docks L. 18,198 ; the draw-bridges L. 11,281 ;
and the areas for the sites of the docks and warchouses
1..80,543 ; making ther about T.. 285,108 Sterling,
exclusive of L. 8000 for building the bridge, which is
nearly finished, over the Water of Leith, in the line of
the new street leading from the foot of Leith Walk to
the west end of the middle wet dock.

The western or large wet dock, which is not yet
begun, is to be 500 yards long and 100 yards wide,
extending to the spacious deep tide-harbour at New-
haven. Tt is very desirable to have the whole den'gn
of Mr Rennie completed as soon as ible, as the
depth of water on tl‘;e bar of 1.eith harm, in ordi-
nary spring tides, is only 15 feet, and only 9 feet at or-
dinary neap tides.

Regardini the revenue of the docks, it likewise ap-
pears from the same appendix, that the gross amount
of the dock-duties, crane dues, pontage, and feu-duties
of warchouses in the year 1818, was nearly L.9874,
and will likely amount this year to L.11,335.

A ight-house, with ing lamps, is erected at
the mouth of the harbour, another, with a re~
volving:?ht, on the small island of Inchkeith, in the
!fi"l:},le the Frith of Forth, about four miles, from

eith.

1
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Leith is two miles distant from Edinburgh, but the
splendid road to it is now on both sides so much co-
vered with buildings, that it seems rather an exten-
sive street than a road. The Water of Leith divides
the town into two parts, which, from their situations,
are named South and North Leith, but both parts of the
town are connected by draw-bridges. One of these,
opposite the foot of the Tolbooth Wynd, was erected by
authority of an act of parliament passed in 1788. Prior
to this period the communication between South and
North Leith was by an old stone-bridge of three arches,
a little farther up the river, built bz Robert Bahntfvlzl‘;:,
abbot of Holyroodhouse, about the year 1493. e
abutments of this bridge, at the north end of which
stands the old Church of North Leith, are still to
be seen. The second draw-bridge is opposite the
foot of Bernard’s Street, and was erected in 1800,
for a communication with the new docks. A third
bridge is now finished, which connects the new streets
at Hillhousefield and the Docks with Leith Walk.

The streets in Leith are narrow, irregularly laid
down, and most of the old buildings paltry. The
new streets to the south and east, however, as well
as those to the north-west, are finished with much
clegance.  As the irregalarity of the streets would
render any attempt at a description of their relative
situations unintelligible to a stranger, their disposition
will be best understood by reference to the map.

In South Leith the principal streets are named the
Kirkgate and Constitution Street, both of which enter
from the great road from Edinburgh called Leith Walk.
On the west side of the Kirkgate stands the

; T'rinity House.

The Trinity House was built in 1817, in the Gre-
cian style of architecture, at an expence of L.2500.
The old Trinity House, which occupied the same site,
was an ancient building, with this inscription on a
stone which is still preserved in the gable of the new
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house :=~ In the name of the Lord ve masteris and
marenelis bylis this hous to the pour, anno 1555."
Nearly opposite to this building stands King James’s
Hospital, founded by the Kirk-session of South Leith
in 1614, for the reception of aged women. This
building was long occupied as the grammar-school of
Leith ; but the increase of scholars rendering a more
commodious building necessary for this purpose, a
new school-house was erected by subscription in 1805.
Grammar-School,

This building stands on the south-west part of the
links or downs of Leith. It is surmounted with a small
spire and clock, and the rooms for the different classes
are elegant and commodious.

Churck of South Leith.

On the east side of the Kirkgate stands the Church
of South Leith, an ancient Gothic building, with a spire
an?h c]occl’:“; nn} a little to the north-east of the churl;:lh
is the 1 of Ease, a commodious building, capable
of aceomu’fodating u;nmtds of 1500 people at dg:me

worship.
Tolbooth.

The Tolbooth or Town-house of Leith is situated at
the lower end of the lane called from it the Tolbooth
Wynd ; and the Weigh-house on the west side of St
Bemk:r;}'l ﬁ?met. ulNeither of these bui:g:'gp aorg re-
markable for any t as being edifices of an-
cient erection. “e%% built in 1565 ; the lat-
ter was repaired in 1649, and the front rebuilt in 1752.

Leith Bank.

This neat small edifice stands in St Bernard’s Street,
and was founded in 1805, and finished in the year fol-
Jowing. It consists of two floors; a handsome dome
rises the north front; and a projection, orna-
mented with four Ionic columns, and having three
pilasters of the same on each side, decorates the build-
ing.—Besides the Leith Banking Company, a branch
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of the British Linen Company and the Commercial
Banking Company is established in Leith.
Eaxchange Buildings.

At the east end of Bernard’s Street, in Constitution
Street, stands the Exchange Buildings, the largest pub-
lic buildings in Leith. They contain an assemgly-room
of large dimensions, a coffee-room, a sale-room, a sub-
seription library, and reading-room. These buildings
are in the Grecian style of architecture, three stories
in height, and are ornamented in front with five
Ionic columns. They cost L. 16;000:

The Custom-House.

This building, which contains also the Excise Office,
stands on the mnorth side of the harbour, and was
erected in 1812. The expence of this building was
about L. 12,617.

Church of North Leith.

This church stands to the westward of the town of
Leith, and the foundation of it was laid in March
1814, [tis a handsome building, in the Grecian style
of architecture, and was designed lzeMr William
Burn, architect: The front is 78} feet in breadth,
and; from the columns to the back wall, its length is
1164, It is surmounted with a handsome spire and
clock, the first compartment of which is of the Doric,
the second of the Ionic, and the third of the Corin-
thian order ; the remainder of the spire is fluted, and
its height, from the ground to the top of the cross,
is 158 feet. The proportions of the portico, which is
very handsome, is said to be taken from the little
Tonic temFleton the Ilyssus, near to Athens. The
expence of the building ‘was about L. 9000, and it ac-
commodates, with ease, upwards of 2000 persons.

Seafield Baths.
The baths at Seafield were erected in 1813, at the
eastern extremity of T eith Links. The expence of their
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erection was about L. 8000, which was raised in shares
of 50 guineas, the proprietor or one member of their
families having a right to the use of the baths. The
building is very elegant, with fronts to the west and
north, and a handsome porch. The lower floor is
fitted up with baths, and contains in all 17, hot, tepid,
cold, pump and shower baths, besides a large plunge
bath.  The rest of the building is occupied as a hotel.

In Constitution Street a new Episcopal Chapel was
erected in 1806.

A little to the westward of Leith lies the populous
fishing village of Newhaven, whence the ets of
Edinburgh are principally supplied with fish. A new
pier h::ﬁeen recently built at the west end of the
vilh(ﬁ)fbr boats to the opposite coast; and
handsome steam- i

ts sail dail thmlplneefor
Stirling, and the intermediate places on the Frith.

Leith is governed by a baron-bailie, with the title
of Admiral, appointed by the magistrates of Edinburgh,
who, under him, nominates three tﬂemtms residing in
Leith, as his deputies, with the title of Resident Bai«
lies. 'The resident bailies hold baron-courts for the de=
cision of petty offences. There are four incorporations in
Leith, viz. the mariners, maltmen, trades, and traffick=
ers ; the first including the masters of ships and sail«
meo?us; i e ey g bl

ers, smi i ights, weavers 3
and the fourth merchants, g::.’ e s

Thb:euf‘.sﬂl:o l.Me(t:chant Company in Leith, and a
number of Shippi ompanies. e smacks
vvhichunai‘li tbeslt?egg th:;.s and &'L:y n are most
elegantly fitted up ; an isa to the oppo-
site coast of Fife,Pv:ith commodious passage-boats, un-
derl::ldnechon of commissioners appointed by act of
parliament.

; Thesﬂc_hm';:le instx;‘:tizm oflxithofm';heg&m-
titute iety e purpose i per-
sons' who, by &emi»onr, distress, are rendered inca-
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pable of supporting themselves, and who have no
claim on any other charitable institution; a Female
Society for relieving sick and indigent women, insti-
tuted in 1798 ; a Female Charity School of Industry,
instituted in 1802 ; and a Boys™ Charity School ; be-
sides several Bible Societies.

The markets of Leith, a commodious place for which
has been lately built, have the same articles as those
of Edinburgh, and in equal variety. Their water is
principally ht in pipes from the small lake of
Lochend.” But it has been formerly suggested, and
it is still practicable, to turn to the use of the inhabit-
ants of Leith a fine spring which rises at the bottom
of Salisbury Crags, and which, as ascertained by Mr
Jamies Jardine, civil-engineer, delivers about 112 pints
per minute.

TRADE OF EDINBURGH AND:LEITH.

In Edinburgh there are few general merchants, most
of them residing at the port of Leith. There are,
however, a vast number of shopkeepers, and the sup-
port of the city, in this respect, depends on the con-
sumption of the necessaries and superfluities of life.
The country gentlemen, and those who have made
fortunes abroad, generally reside a great part of the
year in the town, and most of the rents of the coun-
try gentlenien are drawn and circulated among the
bankers of Edinburgh. A Merchant Company was
instituted in Edinburgh by royal charter in 1681 ; and
in 1786 a Chamber of Commerce was established by
charter for protecting and encouraging the commercial
and manufacturing interests of the country. This in-
stitution has led the public attention to many useful
objects, and has obtained many salutary regulations
and laws respecting the general commerce of the
country.

The British parliament, in the year 1727, passed an
act, ‘enabling his Majesty to appoint trustees for en=
couraging the fisheries and manufactures of Scotland,
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and for this purpose large sums, destined by the arti-
cles of Uniol?, were lodged in their hands. The an-
nual premiums given by the trustees, which amount
to about L. 4000, baveiad a great influence in diffus-
ing industry, and in exciting emulation among the
Scottish manufacturers.

Before the Union, Edinburgh had but a very limit-
ed trade. The unfortunate termination of the Darien
expedition had a considerable share in damping the
ardour of commercial enterprise. Since that time,
however, the trade of Edinburgh has been extending
by slow and imperceptible degrees; and the present
enlargement of the harbour of Leith, by the erection of
new and splendid docks, promises a still farther increase.

The following statement of the shipping belonging
to and engaged in the trade of Leith at three different
periods, will give an idea of its progressive increase
during the first part of the last century.

Number of’ yessels in 1692, - 29, tonnage 1702
in 1740, .- . 47, 2628

in 1752, - 68, 6935

In the year 1784, the trade of Leith was estimated

at half a million Sterling.—Ships cleared at the Cus-
tom-house in that year:

From foreign ports - a7
gvuh P P ARy~

oasters, - - 782
JIn ballast, - - 384

Total, - 1774

From the 13th November 1786 to the 13th Novem-
ber 1787, there arrived in Leith the following vessels:
Foreign.  English.  Scottish.  Total.
Ships, = — 17 10 1
Brigs, - 11 22 92 125
Sloops, - 19 . 282 1,407 1,708
Tons, 3,244 26,170 72,809 105,223
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. During the same period, there came into Leith har-
bour from ports within the Frith of Forth 383 vessels
with coals, measuring 14,956 tons, and the same num-
ber of vessels with other goods, measuring 16,139 tons.

In the year 1791, the registered tonnage amounted
t0"130,000 tons ; and in 1804, the number of vessels
of different descriptions which arrived in Leith har-
bour was 2652, which makes the increase mhii‘,’f':ﬁ
nearly double since 1787. The shore-dues at Lei
amounted, in 1763, to L.580; in 1789 they were
1..3455; in 1798 L.4499, 10d.; and in 1818 they
were said to be L. 11,334, 18s. 4d.

The trade of Leith is pretty extensive. Ten ves-
sels are employed in the whale fishery ; and an exten-
sive trade is carried on with Russia, Denmark,-and
Sweden, and with Hamburgh, Ostend, and Holland.
The merchants of Leith also trade extensively to the
Mediterranean, West Indies, and America.

Account of the total number of British and foreign
vessels, their ton and number of men, that trade
at the port of Leith, to and from foreign ports, for
the year ending 5th January 1818.

Ships. Tons. Men.
British, 679 87,822 5431
Foreign, - 170 21,779 1258
Total, 849 109,601 6689

Coasting trade for the year ending 5th January 1818.

Ships. Tons. Men.
Inwards, 2115 156,783 10,508
Outwards, 1447 119,610 $,103
Total, 3602 275,393 18,611

Manufactures of different kinds are carried on in
Edinburgh and Leith toa considerable extent. There
are several cast-iron founderies in the neighbourhood of

i
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the city, and many large houses for the manufacture
of glass-flint and bottles. The distillation of malt-
spirits occupies several large capitals; and the manu-
facture of candles and soap is carried on extensively.
In the environs of Edinburgh are many large paper-
mills, where large quantities of writing and printing-
Ea rs are made. A good deal of printing is done in

inburgh, and there is an extensive foundery for
printing types. The manufacture of shawls and linens
is carried on to a considerable extent. Ship-building
in Leith occupies a number of hands; and there are
manufictories of sailcloth andfcordage. There are be-
sides sugar refining houses, and several saw-mills
erected on the Water of Leith by the celebrated en-
gineer Mr Brunell.

CLIMATE, DISEASES, &e.

EpiNnurcH, as before mentioned, is situated upon
three parallel ridges of elevated ground, running near-
ly east and west, about two miles from the Frith of

orth, and about 250 feet above itslevel. The central
ridge is terminated by the precipitous rock on which
the Castle is built on the west; and the Calton Hill
and Arthur Seat rise on its eastern extremity. From
its elevated position, its vicinity to the sea, and the ir-
regular surface of the surrounding country, it is ex~
posed to currents of wind even in the est wea=
ther ; and in some seasons the winds are so high as
to make it difficult to walk in the more exposed situa-
tions. Mr Arnot mentions, that, in January 1778, a
guard of soldiers was blown off the Castle Hill; a
wooden erection on the Earthen Mound was swept
aw:gein 1808 ; and in 1818 the projecting ornaments
of the tower of the new episcopal chapel in Prince’s
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Street were thrown down, Notwithstanding the nar-
rowness of the lanes or closes in the old part of the
town, they are not in general ill aired ; and had at-
tention been paid, in the original construction of the
houses, to the advantages which this part of the city
affords for cleanliness, no situation for a crowded popu-
lation could have been more desirable.

As Edinburgh is not a place of extensive trade or
manufacture, the proportion of the labouring classes
and of the poor is comparatively small ; and they are
not exposed to those fluctuations in their circuma
stances to which manufacturing communities are
;o oﬂgl liable. houtsfs ot;d thesef o

rom the t change in the modes o iving whi
has taken gl?ée in this city within the last fifty years,
are in general better that what elsewhere falls to the
lot of this class, From the removal of the more weal-
thy inhabitants to the streets and squares erected to
the north and south, houses in the old town
are chiefly occupied by the middling aud lower
classes. }{ut their t height, and the number of
families residing u one roof, every floor in gene«
ral being occupied by two families, and, in many cases,
amo! e poorest inhabitants, every room being held
by a fanily, render it impossible to preserve that at-
tention to cleanliness which is so desirable. Few or
none of these houses are accommodated with water-
pipes, the scanty supply obtained being carried from
the common wells, The want of common sewers
has also long been felt as contributing to the same
eause.

The climate of Edinburgh, though variable, is tem-
perate, and continued extremes of cold, heat, or mois-
ture, seldom occur. The wind, for nearly nine
months in the year, blows from the west or south-
west, and, for the other three months, from the east or
north-east. The winter, which may he said to last
for four months, is, from the vicinity to the sea, ge-
nerally open and variable, and snow seldom lies longer
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than for a few days. In some seasons, however, as in
1795, the streets were not clear of snow till the month
of May. In spring the weather is generally very in-
constant ; the variation of the wind from east to west
producing alternations in temperature very Erejudiciul
to invali ‘When the wind is easterly at this season,
it is often accompanied with fogs, drizzling mist,
and frost ; but when it blows from the opposite direc-
tion, the temperature is .genial, and. vegetation pro-
ceeds rapidly. These alternations are very frequent,
and often succeed one another in the course of the
same day. At this period of the year, a material dif=
ference of temperature has been observed in different
uarters of the town ; the southern division, sheltered
om the east wind by Arthur Seat, the Calton Hill,
and the central ridge of the Old Town, being consi-
derably warmer than the northern division, which
stands exposed unsheltered to the sea. A difference
of two or three degrees in the thermometer during the
day has been frequently observed. In general, the
summer cannot be said to commence till June, and
from this period till October the weather is steady,
fair, and temperate, the heat beiel:ig seldom op ive,
and the droughts long continued. But such is the
variableéness of the seasons, that, in winter, days and
weeks, with all the genial temperature of spring, oc-
cur,—while the occasional falling of the thermometer,
in spring and summer, often indicate a temperature
which belongs only to the winter months. It has
been remarked by an intelligent French traveller,
however, and he mentions it as a desirable Wm
of our climate, that scarcely a day occurs in whi
one may not enjoy & walk in the open air. The
annual temperature of Edinburgh, on an average of
ten years, is 46.°6, the thermometer seldom standing
above 75° in summer, or falling below 20° in winter ;
the medium height of the barometer 29.62 inches.
Occasional showers are ﬁﬁ::m at all times of the
year, but the fall of rain is m long continued.
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The following register, which was kept by Mr
Alexander Adie, optician, exhibits the amount of rain
which fell in Edinburgh for ten years, viz. from 1795
to 1804.

3 K
z|e||a(8|a a2 |8z ¢
- <
Van, | 2.75| 3.28 1.80] 0.89| 2.98] 1.75| 0.71] 0.80} 5.7 1.
Feb, | 5.87| 1.4 0. 157 0.49] L.44f L87} 1.56) 0.57| 1
Mar, | 1.57] 0.43] 1 1.5 0.41J 1,34 0.82] 0.59) 0.74] 2. 1.
April | 2.11] 1.09) 1.56] 2.15| 2,05| 0.€0] 0.73| 1.16] 2.04f 1.
May | 1.20] 1.43] 1 1.62| 3.27| 2 1.99| 0.86] 1.13} 1 1.
Dune | 3.92{ 1.05 2,55 0.87| 0.55| 0.20f 2.21} 1.55} 1.3 1.
uly | 2.52| 2,77 2.10] 2.60] 0.40] 5.25| 4.19| 0.86] 1.86f 2.
A 3.62| 0.45 2 5. 1.26| 0,88] 2.15| 2.004 5.91] 2.7
Sept. | 1.12] 2.21 2.28] 1,02 2.55| 2.66] 2.37| 1.82] 0.51] 2.254
det, | 4.87| 1.19 2.15| 1.99] 5.33| 1 2.43| 1.00} 2.37] 2.41
Nov, | 4.58] 1.51 2,07} 1.79, 0.98 1 2.09 2.26} 1.92] 1.926|
5.81| 1.06 141 1.25 2,91] 2.17] L 15| 1.96] 1.796
Total |35.72(17.65] 6.5 21 1. [24.57125,271

The following table, also from the register kept by
Mr Adie, shows the state of the winds for the same
period. 'The north-east and south-west being the pre-
vailing winds, the north is included under the head of
cast, and the south under that of west. ,

Winds. Winds.
lYeul- East. |West, Years. | East. |[West.
1795 | 135 | 230 1800 | 138 | 227
1796 | 119 | 247 1801 | 141 | 224
1797 | 115 | 250 1802 | 104 | 261
1798 | 116 | 249 1803 | 139 | 226
1799 | 157 | 208 1804 | 177 | 188

The markets of Edinburgh are plentifully supplied
with all the necessaries of life, (see Markets, p. 350 ;
and the vicinity of the sea ensures the supply of
of excellent quality, and at a moderate price. But
though all the luxuries of the table may be easily ob«

112
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tained by persons in moderate circumstances, the diet
of the poor is chiefly composed of oatmeal porridge,
bread, potatoes, and milk. The bread formerly in
use among the labouring classes was composed of bar-
ley, pease, and oat meal, and coarse flour ; and these,
in many families, still form the species of bread us-
ed ; but wheaten bread has, among the greater num-
ber, displaced these substitutes. As the w: of the
labouring poor enable them to procure but little but-
cher’s meat, their dinners are generally composed of a
broth, in which beef bones, (or uer,g vegetables, and
barley, are the chief ingredients. Fresh herrings, at the
periodical return of the shoals to the Frith, afford an
excellent and cheap food ; but fresh white fish, though
often to be had at a moderate price, they seem little
in the habit of using. They at all times consume,
with their potatoes, a considerable quantity of cured
herrings anf%sh. Tea is a favourite beverage, and
malt liquors, which were formerly used to a greater
extent, have given place, in a t measure, to the
pernicious practice of dram-drinking.

Of the diseases which formerly prevailed in Edin-
bmﬁ:,m’ which seems to have been common in
Scotland at one time, is now unknown, though at no
very distant period hospitals were frequent for the re-
ception of people affected with this disease. King Ro-
bert ?:l“ee wt;suidto}mvebeenafﬂictedwith TO-
sy ; and in the reign of James I. it was so general as
uy> be the subject of iegislation. An hospital was found-
ed by a merchant of Edinburgh for lepers in 1591,
and seven citizens of Edinburgh were admitted toit in
one day. It was situated on the north base of the
Calton Hill; and such was the opinion of its contagious
nature, that u gallows was erected at the end of the
hospital for the summary execution of those who
should disregard the orders of the magistrates, which
prohibited them from leaving the house after sunset.

The Plague was another of the diseases which for-
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merly desolated Edinburgh, but which fortunately
has lon&; unknown in the island. It prevailed
in 1514, and again in 1520 ; and the magistrates,
supposing the infection to have been spread in the last
of these yearsfrom the barnsand houseson the Borough-
moor, where those affected had been removed in 1514,
ordered them to be demolished.

In 1568 it again occurred, and in a manner so
alarming, that the council were under the necessity of
publishing numerous regulations on the subject, which
seem well caleulated to arrest the &erogreu of the dis-
case. 'The chief of these were instant removal
of the sick, and purifying the houses of the infected,
by people appointed for that purpose. “ 10. That
with all diligence possible, sa sone as ony houss sall
be infectit, the hail houshold with their gudds be
despecit towert the mure, the deid bureit, and with
lik;a dlhgenf; thehh;:s clenzit.”

n 1574 the e again appeared in Edinburgh,
and also in 1602, when it continued for upwards of
two years. So dreadful was the mortality at this
time, and so great the alarm excited, that James VL.
was under the necesit{‘, in the first of these years, of
procuring an order of his privy-council, that the per-
sons nominated as magistrates should officiate in that

capacity under the pain of rebellion.

‘In 1645 this dreadful disease appeared in Edinburgh
for the last time, All the debtors in the prisons, on
this occasion, were set at liberty, and council

with Joannes Paulitius, a foreign empiric, to
nsi;;h}hel infmecced for L. 80 Scots perE;lo;gsh o
Syphilis its ap) ce in Edin in 1497,
and was the subject oll various municipal regulations.
The mode of treatment was summary enongh. The
patients were sent to the small island of Inchkeith,
in the middle of the Frith of Forth, there to remain
g ill God provide for their health;” and their
clothes and were dispatched to the Pow-burn to
undergo purification *“ by fire and water.”
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The habits of the people, and little attention to
cleanliness, in these distant times, must have power=
fully aided the propagation of contagious diseases. In
Edinburgh, the state of the public streets was such,
that, in 1553, the magistrates found themselves com=
pelled to order all the dunghills to be removed from
them, and swine kept from ing thereon.

The first accurate account of the diseases prevalent
in Edinburgh is contained in the “ Medical Essa
and Observations,” the first volume of which was pu
lished in 1732. From this valuable work it appears
that tertian agues began to appear annually in March,
were epidemic in April, May, and June, generally,
ho:es'f;i: declining is &Il::e, or occurring in detached
and slight cases, and disappearing in July. Erysipe«
latic swellings prevailed in Jul:eg, July, and August,
1781 ; and in November of the same year, and in Au~
gust, September, and October, 1732, a fever is men-
tioned as occurring in the suburbs, atte with vio-
lent pain in the head, raving, and watchfulness. This
fever is perhaps the same with that which prevail«
ed epidemically over Great Britain in 1817 and 1818,
and which is never entir;l{ banished from great cities.
Pleuritic dueu:.rml in October 1781, and more
generally in March, April, and May, 1732; and in
November and December, catarrhs, diarrheas, and
rheumatic complaints, seem to have been then, as now,
very nt. In December 1732, fevers of the cold,
or influenza, occnrred epidemically, and continued till
the middle of January 1783, when they began to de<
crease, and diminished daily till the end of that month.
This epidemic prevailed at this time over all Europe.

In F 1782, rheumatic and pleuritic fevers sue-
ceeded to the colds, and continued all March ; and
slow fever was likewise frequent.

Intermittent fevers, or agues, which, from the pre«
‘cul.iEnglmtemenu, appear to have annually appeared
in 'nbmghinthewl;ptnofthehneenmg,
have, since the draining of the marshy grounds on the
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south and north of the city, entirely disappeared, and
are now rarely seen.

The Synochus, or common continued fever of this
country, always prevails more or less, particularly in
summer ; and from this circumstance it is accordingly
denominated the Summer Fever. It attacks persons of
all ages; but the young and plethoric seem mere liable
to it than others. It is seldom dangerous, though in
some cases the feverish symptoms continue for weeks.

But by far the most severe species of fever, and that
from which, perhaps, populous towns are seldom or
never free, is the continued fever of a contagious na-
ture, commonly denominated Typhus or Nervous Fe-
ver, 'This fever, which has prevailed epidemically in
Edinburgh, as well as over the whole ki , for
these two years past, occurred in Edinburgh to such
an extent, that &a: fever wards in the Infirmary were
not sufficient-for the number of patients. It took its
rise in Edinburgh, as far as could be ascertained, in
one of-those mendicant lodging-houses in the Grass«
market, where s rs, vagrants, or beggars, take up
their temporary residence.

The variable climate, and exposed situation of Edin-
buril:, render its inhabitants peculiarly liable to ca~
tarrhs and pectoral complaints; and the alternations
of temperature, which so frequently occur, render
chronic rheumatism a very common disease. Pulmon-
ary consumptions, from same causes, are not un-
fteqnetlxt. fe casles, and h vail

Scarlet-fever, m ani i , prevai
epidemically in Edinburgh as m ; but
small-pox, since the introduction of vaccination, is
less formidable now than formerly.

Upon the whole, there isno disease to which it can
be said the inhabitants of Edinburgh are peculiarly
liable; the situation of the city is favourable to health ;
and the mortality, it is believed, is small in proportion
to the population.



352 FOPULATION.

POPULATION.

Frowm a paper in the possession of the Session-clerk
of Edinburgh, entitled, ““ A list of the haill possessors
$°f houses) in the different parishes,” the number of
1amiliea in the year 1678 appears to have been as fol«
ows:

In the N. W. or Tolbooth parish, - 513
N. or High Church ditto, = 389

N. E. or College ditto, - 470
S. W. or Old Greyfriars ditto, 672
S. or Old Church ditto, - 625
S. E. or Tron ditto, = . 664

Total, 3333

Ff el ey v e
of the above six pari ence the i
e e e
roperly to cl . Su

gxgtha{thae were atth:{ﬁmc nxmdmdnm
every family, (and this has not been thought by some
an average too for Edinburgh,) the total number
of persons would amount to 19,998. If the suburb of
Canongate is reckoned to have contained 2500 inhabit~
an parish of St Cuthbert’s 7000, and those of
South and North Leith 6000 persons, the total number
of individuals in Edinburgh and its neighbourhood
was, in the year 1678, 35,500.

In a paper communicated by the late Dr Blair, and
copied into the  Statistical Account of b
containing an enumeration of families and exami
persons.in the city of Edinburgh, apparently taken in
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the year 172, the numbers, including the usual pro-
portion of one fourth of the examinable persons for
children, amounted to 25,420 ; and if 15,000 is allow-
ed for the suburbs and the environs, the total number
of inhabitants would be 40,420.

Maitland, in his ¢ History of Edinburgh,” found-
ing his computation on the register of burials, makes
the number of inhabitants in the city to amount to at
least 48,000 in 1753. But that calculation is not
much to be regarded, as, in 1755, an enumeration was
made, at the desire of the late Dr Webster, when the
numbers appeared to be as follows :

In the 0ld Town of Edinburgh, 31,122
- 4,500

" In the Canongate, -
In the parish of St Cuthbert’s, 12,168
In South Leith, - - 7,200
In North Leith, - - 2,205

Total, 57,195

Mr Arnot’s comPutation in 1775 is still more con-
siderable. According to his account, the number of
families in Edinburgh, Leith, and the environs, a-
mounts to 18,806, which, calculating at the rate of six
persons to each family, makes the number of inhabit-
ants to be 82,836, which, added to 1400 for the cas-
tle, hospitals, &c. amounts in all to 84,236. But six
to a family b;\)'rbeil: :)ecko;em some t:d largemonfw-
Vi even for Edin 5 in as the fa-
me?lig:there are; and‘iltriu been recE::ed nearer the
truth to take five as the average number of a family.
This, adding 1400 for the castle, &c. would bring the
number of inhabitants in the city and suburbs, includ-
ing Leith, in 1775, to 70,430.

The enumeration made in 1791 for the Statistical
report of the city, states the total number of inhabit-
ants in the city, suburbs, and town of Leith, at
84,886, of which 88,109 were males, and 45,444 fee
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males. This enumeration is allowed rather to be un~
der than above the real amount. In some of the pa-
rishes lodgers were not included ; and it is probable,
that, had the computation been more complete, from
two to three thousand individuals might have been add-
ed to the sum total.

In the enumeration made in the year 1801 of the
population of Scotland, Edinburgh, its suburbs, and
Leith, is stated to contain 82,560 inhabitants. Were
this enumeration correct, it would appear that the po-
pulation of Edinburgh, in the course of ten years, had
diminished no less than 2526 ; but this is impossible,
as during that period the city had extended greatly in
size, and every house was occupied.

The population in 1811, by the parliamentary re-
turns, was as follows :

Number of families, 23,104.
Males, - - 43,982
Females, - - 59,005

—_—

Total, 102,987

OBJECTS OF
5 NATURAL HISTORY
IN THE IMMEDIATE NEIGHBOURHOOD OF EDIN-
BURGH.*

EpiNrurcH is a favourable station for the practical
student of Natural History. From London it is a

* Communicated by an eminent naturalist, who also fur-
nished the article M
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day's journey to get ond the garden-grounds.
Here, the exZursiongf)f :e({ny, or even of a feﬂwurs,
may fill the box of the botanist with no contemptible
spoil. The immediate neighbourhood offers to the
beginner, indeed, a profusion of objects in all the
three kingdoms of nature. As the most convincin,
proof, we shall select a few articles belonging to eac
division, and shall specify their habitats, or the places
where they are found.

L—Aximar Kincpom.

Of the small number of the Mammaria which
Scotland produces, a very few only can be expected
nedr so large a city. The Fox and the Hare are oc-
casionally seen on the southern declivities of Arthur
Seat hills. The Otter inhabits the banks of the Wa-
ter of Leith, but is rare. The Whitret*® or Weasel is
common ; as is also the Hurchin or Hedgehog. The
common Bat is abundant. The Squirrel (Sciurus
vulgaris) is naturalized in the nearest woods. In the
cellars and common sewers, the Norway Rat is too
common ; the Black Rat still inhabits the garrets of
the high houses in the old city. In the Frith of
Fonh.?he Seal (Phoca vitulina) is continually shew-
ing its black head, and the Porpesse (Delphinus pho-
cena) is ever rolling about.  Both are sometimes en-
tangled in the nets of the Newhaven fishermen, and
considerable rnntitiea of oil are extracted from their
blubber and liver. The Whalebone-Whale (Balena
mysticetus), and the Grampus (Delphinus orca), are
occasionally seen. About forty years a Cachalot
Whale, of great size (Physeter microps), was strand-

‘Wh;nthenm iate Scottish names we have
thought it might be useful to adopt them : at the same time,
we have distinguished them by Italics, and_have subjoined
cither the Engli onthill:mnnlme. t

x k
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ed on Lord Rosebery’s grounds near Cramond, and
attracted thousands of e'xﬁectators from Edinburgh.
The enormous size of the head, and the excessive
smallness of its eyes, are circumstances still talked of
by old le ; and its tongue is still often compared
to a well-filled feather bed.

A very considerable variety of stationary Birps is
to be found around Edinburgh. Among these the
most beautiful is the Kingsfisher, which inhabits the
river Leith, and the Blue-backed Shrike, which
haunts about Arthur-Seat hills. The Kestril yearly
breeds in the high precipitous rocks of the Castle
fronting Prince’s Street. Some uncommon birds vi-
sit us in summer, as the Goat-sucker (Caprimulgus
Europeus) ; the Corn-Crake or Land-rail, &c. The
call of the Cuckoo or Gouk is first heard about the
lake of Duddingstone, whose neighbourhood, it fre-
quents, about May-day, and it continues till the
middle of June. About this last period, great num-
bers of Swifts (Hirundo apus) seem to delight to
spend the evening in darting backward and forward
among the lofty buildings of the Old Town of Edin-
burgb, uttering tual shrieks. Other migratory
birds spend a o;l the winter with us; as the Snow-
Sfalke (grllber iza nivalis), the Feltifer or Fieldfare
(Turdus pilaris), with its constant companion the
Red-wing (Turdus iliacus), and sometimes the Bohe-
mia Chatterer. The Golden Oriole (Oriolus gal-
bula) has been shot in the immediate neighbourhood
of the city. A flock of the beautiful little Nor-
wegian bird Fringilla flammea, alighted on the light-
house of Inchkeith one evening in winter 1804-5, be-
i!ﬁnttncted by the light: several, which were stun-
ned by striking against the ?nes of glass, were pick=
ed up by the light-house keepers. Woodcocks, in
like manner, frequently perch on this light-house u
on their arrival from the forests of Norway, in the
dark evenings of October. The islands in the Frith
are, during summer, frequented by the Kitty-wake
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(Larus tridactylus) ; and the Pictarny (Sterna hirun-
do) ; which b on the Bass rock along with the
Gannet or Solan-goose (Pelecanus Bassanus). The
Cormorant (P. carbo) ; the Scart or S| P, gracu-
lus) ; Scout (Colymbus troile), and Razor-bill or Mar-
rot (Alea torda), frequent the Frith at all times. A
few pairs of the Dunter-goose or Eiderduck (Anas mol-
lissima) breed annually on Inchkeith, Inchcolm, and
the May Island. The Malmock or Fulmar (Procel-
laria glacialis) makes his appearance in the Frith in
verqurd winters; but d very early in the
sﬁn to the northward. The Stormy Petrel or Mo-
ther Carey’s Chicken (P. pelagica) has been observed
within Leith harbour in very stormy weather. The
Northern Diver (Colymbus glacialis) also comes in
severe winters, and has been taken in the Frith as
late as April. The Velvet Duck (Anas fusca) is
common, as is also the Puffin or Willick (Alca puffi
nus). Duddingstone lake is inhabited by the Coot
and Water-hen (Fulica atra and chloropus), and by
the variety of the latter called Fulica fusca by the late
Dr Walker.

The poultry-market of Edinburgh is worth a fre«
quent visit from the ornithologist. Some of the rarer
aquatic birds, seut from different parts of the ooungé
occasionally occur on the stalls during winter ;
Long-tailed Duck or Caloo (Anas glacialis), and the
Golden-eye (A. clangula), are not uncommon. The
White-fronted A. albiﬁ«zm), the Beln) %

A. 3
oceur ; together with the M Mergus serra-
tor), and the Dusky Grebe }Col n.iﬂmm).
Ptarmigan, Snipes, and small hm{:l are sold.
Among what the poulterers call Snipes, birds of the
genus Tringa, particularly T. cinerea, morinella, and
Grenovicensis, are often included. (See Poultry Mar-
ket, p. 851).

Of the reptile Ampuisia we have in the King's
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Park four ies of lizard (Lacérta agilis, vulgaris,
palustris, :l!):lc maculata of(Shigpanl), here m
asks—an abbreviation of askers, the old English name,
but often confounded with the name asps, to the t
hurt of the harmless lizards. The Blind-worm (An-
guis fragilis) is sometimes found in banks of loose

Frsnes.—A specimen of the rare Opah (Zeus lu-
na) was, a few years ago, taken near Cramond, and is

reserved in the museum of Sir Patrick Walker.

he short Diodon or Sun-fish (Diodon mola) has
also been caught at Cramond, and is preserved in the
same gentleman’s museum. The S Acipen-
ser sturio) frequently enters the mouth of the river
Almond, and is sometimes killed. The Gar (Esox
belone) is occasionally caught, but is by no means
common. The Saury-pike (Esox saurus), which, it
seens, is hardly known in the south, sometimes en-
ters our Frith in vast shoals during winter. It is ge-
nerally named the Gowdanook. At ebb-tide it is of-
ten found alive with its long curved nose sticking in
the sludge, as if it considered itself sufficiently hid
when its head was immured. The Sea-cat or Wolf-
fish (Anarhichas lupus) is pretty common ; sometimes
it is got five feet long. The Bergil, or Labrus bala-
nus of Dr Shaw, is found in the Frith during sum-
mer ; together with the Brassy or L. cornubius.
The Basse (Perca labrax), and the Bib (Gadus lus-
cus), are caught at the same season. The Gemmeous
and Sordid Dragonet (Callionymus lyra and dracun-
culus) are very common in the mouth of the Frith.—
From observations made at Newhaven, it seems pro-
bable that these fishes, though ranked as distinet spe-
cics by Linné and Pennant, are merely male and fe-
male of the same The male when in the
water, or when newly caught, shines with the most
brilliant azure and en tints, and is much admired
by the fishers, who call it gowdie or chanticleer.
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A large species of Gilt-head, of a fine silvery hue
SlSpm-us dentatus, Sp. Raii of Dr Shaw), is sometimes,

ough rarely, caught.

'Il!ﬁe Smooth-hound and the Tope (Squalus muste-
lus and galeus), with the angel-fish (Sq. squatina), are
oceasionally entangled in the fishing nets, and carried
into Newhaven for the sake of the oil to be got b
boiling their livers. The latter is the animal whi
has sometimes been described as a mermaid. Piked
dog-fishes (S&. acanthias) accompany the shoals of
herring into the Frith, and are oftener caught than
the fishermen could wish, as they prove very destruc-
tive to their nets.

Conger-eels, nine or ten feet in length, are some-
times, though not very frequently, taken in the
Frith.

The lakes of Duddingstone and Lochend contain
Pike and Perch ; theriver of Leith, the Loche, the nines
eyed-eel or River-Lamprey, &c. ; but trout are nearly
expelled from this river, at least in the vicinity of the
city, by the refuse from the numerous distilleries
established on its banks.

The fish-market will oecasionalliyield the ichthyo-
logist some curious objects. The Saury-pike and
Sea-pike may be expected in winter. The Lumgﬁsh,
Sparling, and Sea-lamprey occur in spring: And the
Gilt-head and Wrasse during summer. (See article
Fish-market, p. 353.)

Insecra.—~The en ist finds the objects of
his study in every place. The Julus oniscoides of
Townson, at first sight resembling Oniscus armadillo, is
found under stones in the King’s Park, generally about
an ant hill. Papilio Artaxerxes has been seen in the
marshy grounds of Arthur’s Seat hills, overlooking
the vi of Duddingstone ; this is accounted one of'
the T;eu B:-lizi;h butterflies. P] ium hirsutum
may be foun ynlmma?ng' among the refuse of the

xke2
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Newhaven oyster-boats. In the same way may be
got a variety of crustaceous insects ; Cancer araneus;
C. depurator ; C. longicornis ; C. strigosus ; C. locus-
ta; and C. bernardus, or hermit crab, so named from
its always inhabiting a turbinated shell. But the
most curious of the small caneri is the C. ph ium,
which, in order to deceive its prey, dresses itself with
tender marine plants or zoophytes. = It may sometimes
be found at Newhaven disguised as a plant of fucus
sinuosus ; at other times neatly out like the
zoophyte called Flustra truncata. In the skate-nets,
which the Newhaven fishers sometimes sink near the
mouth of the Frith, C. N icus is often entangled.
Large and fine specimens of the rare C. horridus are
sometimes thus taken. C. symnista is found on
the shores after heavy east winds. The lobster is oc-
casionally caught ; the edible erab or partain (C. pa-
gurus) is very common. Prawns and Shrimps are
not unfrequent.

Of the VeamEes infesting, Leith sands afford the
Lumbricus marinus, dug up by the fishwomen for
bait, under the name of werm ; and the Hirudo
muricata is not unfrequently found entwined among
the roots of the great angle (Fucus digitatus.)

] 0f;hp allaics, the: Cuttlefsli or hose-fisk (Sepin
oligo) is common ; the Sepia octopodia is ound,
but is more rare. Thebs:xl:esof S. officinalis are fre-
uently cast ashore. Doris argo, Aphrodita aculeata,
ichimu esculentus and spatagus, are frequently cast
upon the beach after winter storms, and i y af-
ter east winds. - The Holothuria pentacula is at times
dredged up in fishing for o; The Sea Anemones
(particularly Actinia crassicornis) every where adhere
to the rocks left uncovered at ebb-tide. Two speci
of vaxelmg sea-worms are occasionall: I:rw;t up
from deep water of the roadstead ‘y the oyster
dredges; one is the Nereis flabelligera, the other is a
black animal, perhaps nondescript, known to the fish-
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ers by the name of the Black worm. It is often be-
tween twenty and thirty feet in length. It may be
found in the Newhaven oyster-boats in the spring sea-
son. This black worm has been described in the
Naturalist’s Miscellany under the title of Linea longis~
sima. :

Of T'estacea about sixty different species are found
t})ﬁn :l:le sh(ore, some) of thelll)l not oopr;mon. Vlemu I;—

ndica, ("gawkie,) Strombus ecani, Solen -
lucidus, Tellina férroensis, mgeéypma pediculns,P:re
got at Figget Whins after storms. Cardium echina-
tum and ciliare, and Nerita glaucina, are occasionally
cast up on the sandy beach behind the glass-works at
Leith during winter. Bulla aperta is not uncommon
at Carolina Park, where its very light, almost mem-
branaceous shells, are tossed about by the wind. Pa-
tella lwevis and pellucida, with Mytilus discors, are
found adhering to the stalks and leaves of the
sea weeds that arefttl;lmwn asl;ore in Win::i] while the
roots or claspers of these es are generally invested
with Lepas striata, whi‘:!?g is raregin England. In
short, if the conchologist search the rejectamenta on
the beach after high winds, which communicate to
the Frith the agitation of the German Ocean, he will
never fail to make some acquisitions. From among
the refuse of the Newhaven oyster-boats some rare
shells may be often picked ; such as Mytilus discrepans,
of a large size; Arca nucleus, Mya inequivalvis,
&c.  Mytilus cygneus inhabits Lochend ; Mytilus
anatinus the Water of Leith.

Zoophyta are to be found in great variety on the
shores of the Frith after high winds. But the oyster-
boats at Newhaven afford the best and rarest speci-
mens. The oym-dtedg alw;r entangles quantities
of Sertularie, Flustre, &ec. which the fishermen call
Summer-growth. About thirty ies of Sertularie
may thus be got; among others the beautiful Sertu-
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laria operculata, abietina, cupressina, and fastigiata ;
the curious hottlebrush, or Sertularia thuya ; with ver;
large specimens of Sertularia antennina; to whi
may be added some species that are less general-
1y noticed, particularly Sertularia polyzonias, lendi-
gera, and muricata. Small specimens of the Fan-
coral, Gorgonia flabellum, are sometimes, though
rarely, got in the Frith. The coral of the shops (Co-
rallina officinalis) is common. Several species of Flus=
tra are dredged up with the oysters, particularly F.
eal;basea, which, according to authors, is rare in many
places.

II.—=VEeceTasLE KiNeDOM.

The hills, rocks, lakes, and shores, which diversify
the neighbourhood of Edinburgh, offer a rich field to
the botanical inquirer. Even Arthur’s Seat hills alone
present him with about four hundred different spe-
cies. Among these some pretty rare plants are num-
bered ; Asplenium septentrionale, Arenaria verna, Po-
tentilla verna, Salvia verbenaca, Thalictrum minus,
Gnaphalium dioicum, and others. Besides these may
be found, in the King’s Park, two of the rarer of the
British gramina, Poa rigida and Hordeum pratense ;
and among the cliffs may be seen two uncommon
native shrubs, the Spindle-tree (Euonymus Eu-
ropeus) and the White-beam (Pyrus aria.) Several
plants remarkable for their buntBnnadom these hills ;
among these, the Maiden-pink, (Dianthus deltoides,)
the Dropwort, (Spirea filipendula,) and the Catchlgg;
(Lychnis viscaria,) deserve particular notice.
margin of i ne Lake is enlivened by Ranun-
culus lingua, and Stellaria glauca, together with the
elegant Butomus umbellatus or Flowering-rush. In
B e

plants growing in the King’s Park, Edi 5 in=
cluding Anhur"lsgsm and b o this
list may be added, Circea alpina, Sanicula Europea,

10
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Viola lutea, Saxifraga tridactylites, Alisma ranuncu-
loides, Juniperus communuis, and many Musci, Alge,
and Fungi.  Among the Musci, Phascum piliferum,
a very minute and rare moss, growing on the bank be-
low the columnar greenstone rocks; and Grimmia
acuta, observed there by the late Mr Don. Among the
Alge, Lichen coccineus, like drops of blood upon the
rocks ; and among the Fungi, Agaricus terreus, grow-
ing in large semicircular tracks on the middle ri ge of
hills, the deleterious spawn of this mushroom seeming
here to occasion those withered traces in the
which have commonly been denominated Fairy rings.
Pentland Hills, as might be expected, afford some
rare plants ; in particular Listera ovata in Swanston
Wood ; Primula farinosa in marshy spots above Wood-
houselee ; Eriophorum polystachion, Scirpus multi-
caulis, and Vaccinium oxycoccos, or cran -bush,
i(r;laﬁent marshes ; with Epilobium angustifolium and
um pusillum, at the spot generally called Hab-
bie’s How. In a wood on the banks of the Water of
Leith, near Colinton, the magnificent species of Va-
lerian, Valeriana pyrenaica, is common, and seems to
be indigenous. Two poisonous umbelliferous plants
occur in the vicinity of Edinburgh. 1. Cicuta virosa,
gsng-leaved water hemlock or cowbane,) too plenti-
on the margin of the lake of Lochend ; here it fre-
quently proves destructive to cows who browse it, and
instances are on record of its proving fatal to the hu-
man species. In “ Birrel’s I%::y" fhis entry occurs:
“ 1568, April 20. Two women eat h at Res-
talrig, and immediately died.” Now, as Renta.lrig is
in the immediate neighbourhood of Lochend, and as
the water-hemlock is much more virulent the
common hemlock, (Conium maculatum,) we may with
probability ascribe the death of these women to their
incautiously gathering the roots of the cicuta. 2.
Phellandrivm aquaticum (horse-bane or water-hem-
lock.) 'This is not so deleterious as the cicuta, and it
is a rave plant. Ttis mentioned by Lightfoot as found
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in the Lock of Corstorphine ; that loch has long been
drained, but the Phellandrium still exists in the ﬁ'in-
cipal drain of Corstorphine meadow. Cherophyllum
aureum is another rarity found in that neighbour-
hood. Roslin and Ravelstone Woods afford some of the
rarer mosses and other Cryptogamia. A considerable
number of curious plants is found on the shores of the
Frith; particularly Ligusticum Scoticum and Hieracium
umbellatum at Figget Whins. The turf along the shore
is finely decked, during summer, with the le cocks-~
head (A'xfdm h ottis) ; and the dri sand
is variegated with the elegant sea-rocket, (Bunias ca~
kile,) and the curious plant called prickly glass-wort,
(Salsola kali,) which is one of those from which ba-
rilla is made.” Inchkeith affords Glecoma hirsuta
ingly, and Grimmia maritima in abundance.

Frith yields a considerable variety of submarine plants,
above thirty species of Fuci, and a great many Ulve
and Conferve. Among the rarer of the fuci, may be
mentioned Fucus ligulatus, F. asparagoides, F. cor=
neus, and the minute one, F. pygmeus.

IIL.—MiNerarL KiNcpoM.

The great mass of compact blue whin-rock or ba-
salt on which the Castle of Edinburgh is built con-
tainsmuch Zeolite, compact, fibrous, and sometimesfine-
Iyradiated (mesotype) ; together with Tremolite, which
is exwedinglg phosphorescent, and amorphous Preh-
nite. Beds o qturtﬁ sandstone alternate with the ba-
salt. The Calton Hill offers a huge mass of trap and por-
shyry to the inspection of the mineralogist, having at

rst view little appearance of stratification. The sec~
tions made, however, in the course of forming the
new roads on the south and north sides of the hill,
(shhow d'ihxtincdy ﬁt the whole rocks are stratified, and

ip to the eastward at an angle, varying from 18° to
20° with a general direction southward and northward.
The lowest bed, to the westward, is sandstone, and the
highest, to the eastward, is also sandstone; and the
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whole intermediate rocks may be considered as belong-
ing to the Coal Formation of Mid Lothian ; for, on
the new London road, where it overlooks the palace
of Holyroodhouse, the strata consist of thin beds of
wacke, bituminous shale, clay ironstone, and sand-
stone repeatedly alternating with each other ; and the
operations in various parts of the hill have afforded
evidence that all thg rocks composing the hill gradual<
lf'pm into each other, or have had their o'xii’gin ina
deposition from one grand menstruum. e por-
phyry, in one place, was seen passing into greenstone,
the stone, in another, making a transition into
wacke, the wacke again passing into bituminous shale,
and the shale both into clay-ironstone and sandstone.
The mural face of an old quarry immediately below
Nelson’s monument displays a section of the u

part of the hill to a cousiderable depth; the of
porphyry is here forty feet thick ; immediately over
this lies a bed of amygdaloid, in calcareous cavities
of which is found the reddish variety of Cubical
Zeolite, called Sarcite by Mr Townson on. account
of its flesh colour. Small nests of glance-doal have
also been found in this rock, very near to the sum-
mitmof the hill. An}:ur's ?leet hills exhibit on the
south fine columns o yritic greenstone, some
groups upright, others m horizontally, and pre-
senting their bases or ends. ese are in some p!

invested with a coating of Prehnite, shewing on its
surface mamillary crzstals, of an apple-green colour.
In the fissures of the columns the same mineral is
found in amorphous masses, and of a reddish hue.
Over the porphyritic greenstone a vast platform of
trap-tuff is incumbent, the upper part of which forms
what is called the Lion’s Back. Imbedded in this
tuff' considerable masses of siliceous sandstone may
in different parts be observed. The trap-tuff'is sur-
mounted by the peak of the mountain, eonm::ig
of basalt. Near the lake of Duddingstone, s
of quartzy sandstone, and of siliccous limestone, crop
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out; and in the basalt here, grains of Olivin and of
Augite, together with crystals of Basaltic Hornblende,
are abundant.

The bold and lofty amphitheatre of rock called Salis-
bury Crags consists of greenstone, incumbent on beds
of sandstone, slate-clay, and clay-ironstone. In a ho-
rizontal layer in the midst of the nstone bed, nu-
merous beautiful crystals of cubicite are found. The
beds are distinctly seen only in one or two places,
being generally concealed by the extensive talus,
which is acenmulated against the front of its crags.
In one place, however, a quarry of sandstone has
been opened under the greenstone. The superior
hardness of the sandstone at the line of contact has
been considered as an argument in favour of that
theory which ascribes the consolidation of such
rocks to the action of heat, and which views the com-
mon whinstone rocks of Scotland as the unerupted
lavas of former ages of the world. In another quarry,
near Holyroodhouse, beautiful radiated Heamatites has
been foupd, intermixed with Steatite, green fibrous
calcareoys spar, and a kind of clay-ironstone approach-
ing to e. Beds of greenstone and sandstone are
here seen to alternate several times. Masses of Heavy-
spar (sulphate of baryta) may here be often found ad-
hering to the sandstone. Lac lun® may also be observ-
ed lining the fissures of the rocks, and amethystine

uartz crystals are not unfrequent. Near to St An-
ony’s Chapel some very beautiful spotted Jasper has
been dugsbif the Edinburgh lapidaries ; but the vein, as
far as_easily accessible, has been exhausted. Crystals
and pgelrains of Augite are abundant in the rock near the
cha

The sandstone strata which have at different times
been laid open in digging foundations of houses in the

New Town, particularly near the Customhouse, have

been found to be traversed by azenvein of green-

stone, from fifty to sixty feet wide, running east and |
west, from the Customhouse to ,Mnnhallss Entry,

Teith Walk. Greenstone veins are well known in
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coal districts by the name of whin-dikes. Two such
dikes are excellently seen in the bed of the Water of
Leith, crossing the horizontal strata transversely ; the
one vein‘is immediately below St Bernard’s Well ;
the other a little higher up the river. The great vein
above mentioned was formerly worked at Broughton,
for paving-stones and road-metal ; and at that time
smaYla specimens of Cobalt-ore, of a peach-blossom co-
lour, were found it its walls.

Greenstone or whinstone occurs also in regular
beds. In a thick bed of this rock, near Bell’s Mills,
a large mass of coarse dmwi:f-slate may be seen.*

Upon Leith shores, nodules of Agate, Carnelian,
and Chalcedony, with masses of Chlorite imbedded in
Quartz, may occasionally be picked up. The large gran-
ite tumblers scattered here and there along the beach,
will not fail to attract the attention of the geologist,
there being no granite rocks to a great distance around,
and the masses being too considerable to admit of the
supposition of their having been brought hither as

ast. At Carolina Park, about a mile west from
Newhaven, the rocks are finely exposed by the action
of the sea ; beds of greenstone here ap to alternate
with beds of sandstone, of Ch{i and of clay-ironstone.
The trap rock of Craigiehall Hills abounds with An-
alcime, and with greenish fibrous Zeolite. The Pent-
land Hills present to the northward large rocks of Fel-
spar in mass, pretty much decomposed, which, from
its resemblance to the Petunse of the Chinese, or ma-
terial from which poreelain is manufactured, has been
called Petunse Pentlandica. Where some spots of Lo-
gan Hill, not far from Habbie’s How, are by
the action of a rivulet, Chalcedony, striped Jasper,

* A detailed description of the rocks in the neighbourhood
of Edinburgh, and an account of their geognostical relations,
by Professor Jameson, may be scen in Nos. I. and II. of the
Edinburgh Philosophical Journal.

Ll
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and Chlorite, are found. At the waterfall of Hab-
bie’s How the rivulet has cut through a very curious
breccia, or puddingstone-rock, of great thickness.
Large veins of Heavy-spar are observed in different
laces of the Pentlands. At Gilmerton, the strata
[;a'ng mwuch inclined, have been cut h in
mining, and have disclosed a series of mineral beds
about a mile in thickness. The beds are of -
stone, limestone, clay-ironstone, sandstone, and coal.
Of the last there are sixty different seams, thick or
thin, twenty of which have been worked. St Catha-
rine’s Well, at the seat of Lord Advocate Rae, about
three miles south from Edinburgh, is continually co-
vered with a scum of Naphtha or Petroleum ; and to
the supposed virtues of this mineral oil is to be
ascribed the fame of this well in former times, when
;:sddeeomtion was an object to the monarch of Scot-
and.

REMARKABLE OBJECTS
IN THE VICINITY OF EDINBURGH,

The Castle Hill,

A high terrace at the western extremity of the Old
Town, commands an extensive view of the subjacent
country and the buildings of the city ; and the pro-
spect from the Castle i takes in a still wider range.
On the north the Frith of Forth, the opposite coast
of Fife, with its fishing towns scattered along the mar-
gin of the sea, are distinctly seen ; on the east Arthur’s
Seat and the cultivated fields of East Lothian, with
the conical hill called North Berwick Law, and the
Bass rock in the distance ; and on the south the hills |
of Braid and Craiglockhart, and the Pentland Hills.
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The Calton Hill

Is a rocky eminence almost within the city. The
ascent is now easy by the new road and Regent
Bridge ; and the walks lately formed around and near
its summit present at every step views of unparalleled
variety sudg)eauty. The city from this eminence is
seen below as if it were delineated on 2 map ; and the
Frith of Forth with its shipping, and the mountain
scenery around, present a succession of objects which
are rarely seen in combination. The Observatory and
Nelson’s Monument crown the highest part of the
hill; and farther down, on the south, are the New
Prison and Bridewell. In the Calton burying-ground,
at the entrance to the hill from the west, is a large
circular monument, the burial-place of David Hume.
The late celebrated Professor Playfair was also interred
in this cemetery.

The King's Park.

The King’s Park, at the eastern extremity of the
city, affords many beautiful walks. This park is in-
closed with a wall built by James V., and is about
three miles in circumference. It consists chiefly of
rocky and steep hills, or rather of one hill which rises
into three tops. The highest of these tops, called
Arthur's Seat, rises with a rugged and steep ascent, to
the height of 822 feet above the level of the sea.
From the top of this eminence the view is grand, and
remarkably extensive. The metropolis, the German
Ocean, the course of the Forth, the Grampian moun-
tains, and a large portion of the most populous and
best cultivated part of the kingdom, form a landscape
at once beautiful and sublime. That part of the hill
on the west which overlooks the city, and is denomi-
nated Salisbury " ts a semicircular range of
precipitous rocks, which has much the appearance of
a mural crown. At the northern extremity of the
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eastern division of this hill, stand the ruins of the
Chapel and Hermitage of St Antliony.

On the south side of the hill is a small ridge of
rocks, noted for a remarkable echo; and a little to the
eastward of this, above the footpath which leads to
the village of Duddingstone, is a superb range of por-
phyritic greenstone columns, of a pentagonal or hexa-

onal form, from 50 to 60 feet in length, and five in

iameter. At the bottom of the hill in this place is
the Lake of Duddingstone, on the north side ot which
is the parish church. The greenstone, of which these
hills are oomtpom, afford an excellent and inexhausti~
ble supply of stones for paving the streets of the city.

The Meadows.

On the south side of the city is the retired walk
called 7The Meadows. This was formerly a lake
called the South Loch, which was drained about the
beginning of the 18th century, by Thomas Hope, to
whom it was let on lease. Hope became bound, by
the terms of this lease, not only to drain the lake or
marsh, but to make a walk round it of 24 feet in
width, with a hedge and a row of trees; and a walk
across, from north to south, bordered with lime-trees.
This is the origin of the present beautiful walks. The
cixl-glemference of the Meadows is about one mile and
a half.

To the south-west of the Meadows lie the downs
called Burnisfield Links, where the citizens in sum-
mer amuse themselves at the favourite Scottish game
of Golf, and where the troops stationed in the city ge-
nerally perform their exercises.

Farther to the south and west is what was formerly
called the Borough Moor, a large tract of ground, sup=~
Eosed to have been granted to the citizens of Edin-

urgh by David I. This ground, in the year 1513,
appears to have been covered with wood, as at that
times certain privileges were granted to the citizens
who built their houses of the wood of this moor. In
the Borough Meor James IV. reviewed his gallant ar-
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my, (in which were many of the inhabitants of Edin-
burgh, with their chief magistrate at their head,) be-
fore he marched to the fat:fl field of Flodden, and the
stone still exists, built in the wall of a dike, to which
the royal standard was affixed.

Near the head of Burntsfield Links stand Gillespie’s
Hospital and Free-school, the former of which occu-
pies the site of an old castellated building, removed a
few years ago, called Wryte's House. A little to the
south-west of this building stands Merchiston Tower,
an ancient building, and once the seat of the celebrat-
ed inventor of the logarithms. To the westward of
this building rises Craiglockhart Hill, which is worthy
the attention of the stranier, from the natural beauties
which it displays, and the prospect which is afforded
from its summit. Farther on, at the distance of four
miles, is the picturesque village of Colinton, and the
seat of Sir William Forbes. North-east from this rises
the hill of Corstorphine, beautifully variegated with
gentlemen'’s seats, and ornamental plantations. On
one part of the hill, famed for the landscape it com-
mands, have been built two walls, crossing each other
at right angles, and in each of the four angles thus
formed a seat is placed, which altogether commands as
fine and as varied a selection of objects as is any where
to be met with.

St Bernard's Well.

On the northern side of the city, the walk along
the Water of Leith to St Bernard’s Well is peculiarly
beautiful. St Bernard’s Well had been long distin-
guished for the medicinal virtues of its waters, which
are of the sulphureous kind. The qualities of this
ulpnn' g falling under the notice of the late Lord Gar-
denstone, his lordship purchased the property of the
well, and erected a temple over it, consisting of 2
circle of columns, surmounted by a neat dome. In
the middle is a statue of Hygeia, the Goddess of
Health. The figure is lv\n.-ll proportioned ; but it

Li2
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is too large for a near view. Nearly opposite to this

temple, on the other side of the water, stands a tower,

erected by the late Mr Walter Ross, which is almost

entirely composed of stones with ancient sculptured

ornaments, collected from ruinous buildings.
Hermitage of Braid.

South from the Boroughmoor, about two miles dis-
tant from Edinburgh, is the Hermitage of Braid, the
sweetly retired residence of Mr Gordon. It is buried
in a narrow vale, between two ranges of low and irre-
gular hills, and is surrounded with wood. The small
rivulet called Braid Burn meanders through the middle
of the vale in which it stands.

About a mile to the north-east from the Hermitage
of Braid stands the House of Grange, a turreted man-
sion, formerly the seat of the well-known military eom-
mander in the reign of Queen Mary, William Kirkal-
dy. In this house, too, the celebrated historian, Dr
Robertson, spent the last months of his life.

Craigmillar Castle.

Craigmillar Castle, now in ruins, stands about three
miles south from Edinburgh. A barmkyn, or thick
rampart wall, thirty feet high, with parapets and tur-
rets, encom tﬁe building. At what time Craig-
millar Castle was built is unknown. It occurs, how-
ever, in record, as a fortalice, in a charter in the reign
of Alexander 1I., in 1212, by William, son of Henry
de Craigmillar, to the monastery of Dunfermline.
An inscription on the gate of the outer rampart bears
the date 1427. In the year 1477, John Earl of Mar,
a younger brother of James I1I., was confined in this
castle. It was also the residence of James V. for some
time during his minority. In 1543 this castle was
burnt and plundered by the English. Cn;gmillar
was the frequent residence of Mary Queen of Scots,
after her return from France in 1561. Her French
retinue were lodged at a small distance, at the village,

1
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which, from that circumstance, still retains the
name of Little France. In the immediate neighbour-
hood of the castle are some excellent freestone quarries.

Duddingstone House.

Duddingstone House, a seat belonging to the Mar=
quis of Abercorn, is situated about a mile distant from
Edinburgh, on the south-east, near the village of Dud-
dingstone. The situation of the house is low ; but the
building is elegant, and the surrounding grounds are
finely laid out.

Portobello.

Portobello, two miles east from Edinburgh, on the
coast of the Frith of Forth, is the favourite bathing-
place of the inhabitants. Hot and cold baths were erect-
ed here in 1807 ; and it has a chapel, connected with
the establishment, to which a clergyman was appoint-
ed under the sanction of the presbytery of Edin%)urgh,
in 1818. It contains some neat streets and many
handsome villas ; and the resort to it in the summer
season is considerable. A pottery and brickworks have
long been established at Portobello.

Beyond Portobello, and about five miles from Edin«
burgh, is the village named Fisherrow, immediatel
adjacent to the town’ of Musselburgh, of which it
forms a part. The links or downs of Musselburgh
contain a stand and excellent turf racing-ground, where
the Edinburgh races are now held.

Gilmerton.

At the village of Gilmerton, about three miles south
from Edinburgh, is a subterraneous house cut out of
the solid rocl:gb George Paterson, a blacksmith, and
finished, after five years’ incessant labour, in 1724.
This village is also celebrated for its sand quarry,
which brings to the proprietor L. 200 per annum, but
which is subset to a class of carters for L.865. By
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a regulation among these people eighty-four carts per
wcee){?:ne driven to Edingfxr';h, wgicz sell for abt’:'xt
12s. per cart, for sprinkling on the pavements of kit-
chens and cellars.  Yellow sand is one of the regular
cries of Edinburgh.

Dreghorn Castle,

The seat of Alexander Trotter, Esq. stands on the
north side, and at the foot, of the Pentland Hills,
about three miles south-west from Edipburgh. 1t is
in the Gothic style of architecture, and very elegant.
The view from the grounds is singularly rich and
beautiful.

Dalkeith House.

Dalkeith House, the seat of the Duke of Buccleugh,
is about six miles distant from Edinburgh, on the
southern bank of the river North Esk, and in the im-
mediate vicinity of the town of Dalkeith. This build-
ing stands on the site of a;‘n :‘:rﬁflm ;aslt)l::lgv;alich was
long in the possession of the family o The
Earl of Morton, regent of Scotland during the mino-
rity of James VI., used frequently to reside at this
castle, and it was then commonly styled the ¢ Lion's
Den.”  The present edifice was built by the family of
Scott, about the end of the uevemeentl century. It
consists of a main house and two wings, with orna-~
ments of the Corinthian order in front. The hall, the

d staircase, and the several suites of rooms withe
in, are $pacious and elegantly finished. In Dalkeith
House is a fine collection of paintings. The garden
is l::ﬁe, and the park around 1s extensive. The river
North Esk passes immediately under the walls, and a
splendid bridge has been built over it.

Newbattle Abbey.

A little farther up, on the same river, is Newbattle
Abbey, a seat belonging to the Marquis of Lothian.
It stands on the northern bank of the North Esk,
about seven miles south from Edinburgh, and one
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mile south-west from Dalkeith. It is situated on
the spot where formerly stood the ancient Abbey of
Newbattle, founded here for Cistertian monks by Da-
vid I. The house contains many fine paintings, and
before it, on the bank of the river North Esk, opens a
verdant lawn, interspersed with some straggling trees
ofa verﬂ great size. Close by the wall of the park
stands the church of Newbattle, with a small village
which has risen around it. The town of Dalkeith is
within sight ; and, by ascending an eminence on either
side, a prospect may be obtained of the city of Edin-
burgh, and its rich and populous environs.

Preston Hall, nine miles from Edinburgh, the seat
of Mr Callender of Crichton, and Dalhousie Castle,
on the north bank of the South Esk, the seat of the
Earl of Dalhousie, are worthy of a visit.

The massive ruins of Borthwick Castle, twelve miles
south-east from the city, is also an object of considera-
ble interest.

Roslin Chapel.

One of the most favourite excursions of the citizens
of Edinburgh, and of travellers who visit it, is to the
vil of Roslin, seven miles south from Edinb 5
which is celebrated for its romantie scenery and in-
teresting runs. The first thing to which a stran-
ger visiting Roslin is directed, is the elegant antique
chapel, which stands in the immediate vicinity of
the village. This chapel was founded by William
St Clair, Earl of Orkney and Caithness, in the year
1446. In the inside, the chapel is decorated with
a vast number of sculptured figures, chiefly repre-
senting pieces of Scripture history. Round the
range of Gothic pillars * which encircle it are thirteen

* The pillars appear of a verdigris colour, owing to their
being covered by a minute plant of rare occurrence, called by
Linnaus Byssus @ruginosa.
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niches, which most probably were filled with statues
of our Saviour and the twe{ve apostles. At the east
end, a little elevated above the rest-of the floor, the
high altar has stood ; and at the west end is a monu-
ment, in fine preservation, erected to the memory of
George Earl of Caithness, who died in 1582. At the
front of the third and fourth pillars, between them
and the north wall, is a large flag-stone, covering the
family vault. Ten barons of Roslin are buried here.
BI the side of this is a stone, upon which is sculptur-
ed a knight, with his legs crossed, and a dog, the
emblem of fidelity, at his feet. Leading from the
high altar, at the east end of the chapel, is an un-
der-ground apartment, or small chapel, founded by
Elizabeth, Countess of Buchan, the wife of William
above mentioned.

Roslin Castle.

A little way from the chapel stand the ruins of
Roslin Castle, most romanticafley situated upon a ris-
ing ground above the North Esk. It is uncertain
when this castle was built. Abeut the year 1100
William de Sancto Clero, son of Waldernus Compte
de Clair, who came to England with William the
Conqueror, obtained from Malcom Canmore a great
Eﬂ. of the lands and barony of Roslin. It migllln

bly be built about that time. In history lit
no mention of this castle occurs till the year 1455,
when we read of Sir James Hamilton being confined
in it by James II. It wasburnt down in 1544 by the
English forces under the Earl of Hertford. In 1650
it surrendered to General Monk. The modern part of
the castle was rebuilt in the year 1563. The other parts
of the castle present only a ruin of great magnitude ;
large masses of the walls, which are of immense thick-
ness, having here and there fallen down. The access
to the castle is by a narrow bridge, over a deep natu-
ral ravine, the sides of which are solid rock. Roslin
Castle gives its name to a beautiful Scottish song.
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Hawthornden.

Hawthornden stands about two miles below Roslin,
on the top of a steep impending precipice of freestone
rock, overhanging the river North Esk. In the face
of the rock are seen the loop-holes and windows of the
caves or dens from which, in 1341, the brave Alex-
ander Ramsay often sallied out, with his gallant com-
panions, in his predatory excursions :Saimt the Eng-
lish invaders. Hawthornden is a building of consi-
derable antiquity. It is mentioned as a fortalice in
the year 14383, but it is apparently much older. One
part of it is a large vaulted tower, grafted on the na-
tive rock. In the upper part of this building there is
a kpla.ne-ttee growinﬁ, of considerable size. The gate
of entrance, though of more modern date than the
tower, is probably older than the dwelling-house ; the
iron gate was lately remaining. Under and near the
mansion are two ranges of caves scooped out of the
rock, probably places to secure the people and their
effects in the wars between the Scots and E:Yhsh %
The buildings now inhabited were partly rebuilt by
William Drummond of Hawthornden, the celebrated
historian and poet, in the year 1638. Drummond
spent the greater part of his life in this beautiful re-
tirement, and here wrote the History of the Jameses,
and his Poems.

The scenery around Hawthornden, as, indeed, all
along the banks of the North Esk, is beautiful and ro-
mantic ; and a walk by its banks will well reward the
trouble of the stranger.

Melville Castle.

Melville Castle, the seat of Lord Viscount Melville,
stands on the northern bank of the North Esk,
near to the village and parish church of Lasswade, at
the distance of about five miles south-west from Edin-
burgh, and about three miles west from Dalkeith.
The principal part of the building is of a square form,
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with circular towers at the anglles, of clegant work-
manship. Two wings, of a less height than the
other parts of the edifice, but of equal elegance, are -
attached to it.

Pennycuick House.

This elegant mansion is situated about nine miles
between west and south-west from Edinburgh, on the
northern bank of the river North Esk, and not far
from the village of Pennycuick. The principal rooms
within are large, and finely proportioned. But there
is a peculiar attraction to visit Pennycuick House,
This is the apartment denominated Ossian’s Hall, the
ceiling of which is decorated with paintings by the pen-
cil of Runciman, representing scenes from tie Poems
ascribed to Ossian. In the pleasure grounds is-a small
rotund building, a model of the temple of Terminus
which formerl{nstood on the banks of the Carvon, and
was generally known by the name of Arthur’s Oven.

The house and grounds of Barnton, about four
miles from Edinburgh ; the scenery at Craigie Hall,
the seat of James Hope Vere, Esq.; Dalmeny Park,
the seat of the Earl of Rosebery, seated on the shore
of the Frith of Forth, are worthy of a visit; and
Hopetoun House, the superb seat of the Earl of Hope-
toun, twelve miles north-west from Edinburgh, is still
more so.

It would require a larger space than the limits of'this
volume admits, to point out all the interesting scen-
and remarkable objects within a short distance of
ginburgh. A few of the princinl onlzahave been
noticed. Local information will be the best guide to
the remainder.
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